THE INFLUENCE OF SEX HORMONES ON CARDIAC AND SKELETAL MUSCLE FUNCTION IN THE *MDX* MOUSE MODEL OF DUCHENNE MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY



ΒY

## **CONNIE BOOKLESS**

## BSc (with Distinction) PGDipAppSci PhD

Submitted for the completion of the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

At

The Department of Biological and Physical Sciences

**Faculty of Sciences** 

**University of Southern Queensland** 

2006

## ABSTRACT

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is a fatal recessive genetic human disease affecting one in 3500 live male births. DMD is progressive. there is no cure, and patients typically die of respiratory or cardiac failure in their second decade of life. Clinical disease symptoms are exacerbated at the onset of puberty and the physiological basis of this is unknown. The mdx mouse is the preferred experimental animal model of DMD, although aspects of the model remain poorly understood. This dissertation characterises physiological and histological features of the dystrophic mdx mouse in response to manipulations of hormonal status including testosterone treatment, surgical castration, and oestrogen treatment. Sex-specific differences in the *mdx* were also examined. Furthermore, physiological and histological features of the dystrophic mdx mouse model throughout the mdx lifespan were evaluated. Cardiac muscle contractility, left atrial response to exogenous calcium, and the contractile properties of both fast-twitch (EDL) and slow-twitch (SOL) skeletal muscles were examined in male mdx mice ranging from 14 to 330 days of age. Testosterone treatment produced a nonsignificant trend towards a dose-dependent decrease in both basal and maximal left atrial contractility in the mdx. Surgical castration produced no significant cardiac effects within mouse strains. The mdx castrates had a 45% lower maximum atrial force of contraction than control castrates (p<0.05). Conversely, oestrogen treatment significantly improved cardiac contractility in the mdx. An increase in basal left atrial contractility was evident at doses of 0.08 mg/kg/day (p<0.05) and 0.16 mg/kg/day (p<0.01) and in maximum left atrial contractility at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day (p<0.01). Gender studies showed cardiac forces in mdx were not different between males and females at any age tested and that both sexes in mdx had a dampened cardiac responsiveness to exogenous calcium. Skeletal muscle function studies showed that castration produced a 25% increase in mdx EDL specific force generation (p<0.01) and no increase in SOL forces. Oestrogen treatment produced a non-significant trend towards increased EDL forces and a 29% increase in SOL specific force at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day (p<0.05). Gender studies revealed no differences between male and female *mdx* in terms of skeletal muscle force production. Further to the hormonal investigations, lifespan characterisation studies revealed that the mdx mouse showed reduced basal and maximal left atrial contractility specifically at ages 14 and 90 days (p<0.05). Skeletal muscle studies showed that specific tetanic force production was significantly lower than controls at 19 (p<0.05), 21, 23, 27, and 330 days of age (p<0.01) for EDL muscles and at 19, 21, and 23 days of age in SOL muscles (p<0.01). These studies further improve our understanding of the mdx mouse as an experimental model of DMD and emphasises that the model is most appropriate a specific ages for specific muscles. These studies further illustrate that testosterone does not improve cardiac contractility in the mdx mouse but that oestrogen improves both cardiac and skeletal muscle function. Further research is warranted into the potential of oestrogen as a therapeutic agent in the treatment of both cardiac and skeletal muscle manifestations of DMD.

## **CERTIFICATION OF DISSERTATION**

This thesis is my own work, except where otherwise acknowledged, and the work is original and has not been previously submitted for any other award at any other University or Institution of Tertiary Education.

Signature of Candidate

Date

ENDORSEMENT

Signature of Principal Supervisor

Date

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This was a very personal and challenging journey and I wish to acknowledge and thank wholeheartedly the following people for their generosity in time and spirit that made the completion of this important work and subsequent dissertation possible. Firstly, to my supervisor Professor Andrew Hoey who has continued to inspire me from my earliest undergraduate studies with his passion for learning, his inspirational lecturing style, and ethical approach to research. To my husband Dr Gregory Bookless and our children, I love you and thank you. My friend and colleague Dr Christel van Erp, never change. To Dr Renee Cornford-Nairn and the members of the Muscle Research Laboratory USQ who always encouraged perserverance even in the toughest times. Special thanks go to Christine Bartlett (USQ Office of Research and High Degrees) who was just wonderful in her tireless encouragement, to Julie Murphy and Sandra Sharp whose professionalism and dedication in the USQ Animal House breeding facility ensured that my experimental animals were always cared for with the utmost concern for their welfare. In addition, the technical expertise and knowledge imparted by the following people greatly enhanced my skills and facilitated the completion of this project; Ilona Iberle (USQ Librarian), Paul Addison (UQ Histologist), Dr Peter Dunn (USQ Statistician), Oliver Kinder (USQ Technician), Maggie Fryer, Anne Woodroffe and Julie Pember (USQ IT Services), Debbie and Steven White (USQ Administrators), Chris de Byl, Phil Hallas, and Sammy Quatromani (USQ IT Services). I wish to make special mention of Mrs Debbie Robbins and Mrs Pat Furlong whose tireless work for the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Parent Project is an inspiration to us all. It is an honour to have known you and your courage and dedication moves mountains. Finally, and most importantly my love goes to every boy with DMD. You are the reason I strove for excellence and I hope that my work, in some small way, might just contribute to a better understanding of this devastating disease and may help to make your lives a little better.

#### "Motion is life....."

Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne

# **GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS**

AAV	adeno-associated virus
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
AO	antisense oligonucleotide
AR	androgen receptor
BW	body weight
C57	C57BL/10ScSn mouse
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	calcium
[Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] <sub>i</sub>	intracellular calcium concentration
CHF	congestive heart failure
СК	creatine kinase
CNF	centronucleated fibre
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
CRC	concentration response curve
CSA	cross-sectional area
CV	cardiovascular
cxmd	canine X-linked muscular dystrophy
DFZ	deflazacort
DGC	dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex
DHT	dihydrotestosterone
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECG	electrocardiogram
EDL	extensor digitorum longus muscle
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EOM	extraocular muscles
ER	oestrogen receptor
EtOH	ethanol
FOC	force of contraction
FSH	follicle stimulating hormone
FXMD	feline X-linked muscular dystrophy
g	gram
GH	growth hormone

GI	gastrointestinal
GnRH	gonadotrophin releasing hormone
GRMD	Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy
H&E	haematoxylin and eosin
HFMD	hypertrophic feline muscular dystrophy
HR	heart rate
HW	heart weight
HW%	heart weight as a percentage of body weight
Hz	Hertz
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP	intraperitoneal
IQ	intelligence quota
K⁺	potassium ion
kb	kilobase(s)
kDa	kilo Dalton(s)
KPSS	Krebs physiological salt solution
LA	left atria/left atrium
Lf	absolute muscle length
LH	leutinising hormone
LIF	leukaemia inhibitory factor
Lo	muscle length
LV	left ventricle/ventricular
LV+S	left ventricle and septum
Μ	molar
MDSC	muscle-derived stem cell
mdx	muscular dystrophy X-linked
mg	milligram
min	minute(s)
mL	millilitre
mM	millimolar
mN	millinewton
msec	millisecond(s)
μΜ	micromolar

μm	micrometre
n	number of animals in experimental group
Na⁺	sodium ion
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
nNOS	neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NMJ	neuromuscular junction
O <sub>2</sub>	oxygen
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
%	percent
PK	pyruvate kinase
Ро	tetanic force
Pt	twitch force
Po:Pt	tetanus to twitch ratio
RA	right atria/right atrium
REM	rapid eye movement
rpm	revolutions per minute
RV	right ventricular free wall
RyR	ryanodine receptor
SC	subcutaneous
SEM	standard error of the mean
SERCA	sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase
SHR	spontaneously hypertensive rat
SOL	soleus muscle
sPo	tetanic force normalised for cross-sectional area
sPt	twitch force normalised for cross-sectional area
SR	sarcoplasmic reticulum
TGF	transforming growth factor
TPSS	Tyrode physiological salt solution
U/L	units of active enzyme per litre of serum
USQ	University of Southern Queensland
VC	vital capacity
vs	versus

# CONTENTS

ABSTR	RACT		I	
CERTI	CERTIFICATION OF DISSERTATION			
ACKNO	OWLEDG	EMENTSII	I	
GLOSS	SARY OF	ABBREVIATIONS	/	
CONTE	ENTS		<	
LIST O		-S XI	,	
LISTO	FFIGUR	ESXVI	I	
1 LI	TERATU	RE REVIEW 1	l	
1.1	History c	f Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD)1	I	
1.2	Genetics	and inheritance	3	
1.3	Detection	n, diagnosis and clinical disease features5	5	
	1.3.1	Genetic testing	5	
	1.3.2	Serum creatine kinase (CK) and pyruvate kinase (PK) levels6	3	
	1.3.3	Muscle biopsy7	7	
	1.3.4	Disease onset	7	
	1.3.5	Initial clinical signs	3	
	1.3.6	Skeletal muscle involvement 8	3	
	1.3.7	Biomechanics of movement in DMD	)	
	1.3.8	Gowers' manoeuvre10	)	
	1.3.9	Cardiac muscle involvement11	I	
	1.3.10	Skeletal system involvement13	3	
	1.3.11	Respiratory muscle involvement14	ł	
	1.3.12	Smooth muscle involvement16	3	
	1.3.13	Intellectual and behavioural impairment16	3	
1.4	Muscle a	nd system sparing17	7	
1.5	Female I	DMD carriers	)	
	1.5.1	Serum CK and PK levels in female DMD carriers19	)	

	1.5.2	Female DMD carrier cardiac and skeletal muscle involvement	20
1.6	Life expe	ctancy and mortality	22
1.7	Physical t	herapies	23
	1.7.1	Prolongation of ambulation	23
	1.7.2	Orthopaedic management of scoliosis	24
	1.7.3	Prevention of pulmonary mortality	25
	1.7.4	Prevention of cardiac mortality	26
1.8	Dystrophi	n and the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex (DGC)	27
	1.8.1	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide synthase	29
1.9	Animal m	odels of DMD	30
	1.9.1	The X-linked muscular dystrophy ( <i>mdx</i> ) mouse	31
	1.9.2	Alternative mouse models	34
	1.9.3	Feline disease models	35
	1.9.4	Canine disease models	36
	1.9.5	Zebrafish model	38
	1.9.6	The Caenhorhabiditis elegans worm	39
1.10	Pathology	/ and histology of DMD	39
	1.10.1	Calcium homeostasis	41
	1.10.2	Centronucleated fibres	42
1.11	Therapeu	tic agents and strategies in DMD treatment and research	43
	1.11.1	Dampening the inflammatory response	43
	1.11.2	Corticosteroids	44
	1.11.3	Natural remedies	47
	1.11.4	Tumour necrosis factor-α	47
1.12	Nitric oxic	le based therapeutics	47
	1.12.1	L-arginine	48
	1.12.2	Utrophin upregulation	48
1.13	Improving	protein synthesis	49
	1.13.1	Anabolic steroids	49
	1.13.2	Growth factors	49

1.14	Decreasing proteolysis through reducing calpain activity49		
1.15	$\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonists		
1.16	Increasing proliferation and regeneration of muscle cells5		
	1.16.1	Myostatin inhibition	50
	1.16.2	Leukaemia inhibitory factor	51
1.17	Gene bas	sed therapies	57
	1.17.1	Aminoglycoside antibiotic therapy	58
	1.17.2	Antisense oligonucleotides	59
1.18	Sex horm	nones and DMD	59
	1.18.1	Testosterone	60
	1.18.2	Oestrogens	64
1.19	Aims of s	study	67
2 ME	ETHODO	DLOGY	68
0.4			00
2.1	Ethical co		8
2.2	Experimental animals		
2.3	Ireatmer	nt of animals - allometric scaling	68
2.4	Individua		69
	2.4.1		69
	2.4.2	Sex (gender) trial	69
	2.4.3	Castration trial	69
	2.4.4	Oestrogen trial	70
	2.4.5	Influence of age trial	71
2.5	Euthanas	sia	71
2.6	Dissection of tissues71		
2.7	Organ bath (functional) experiments72		72
2.8	Skeletal ı	muscle experiments	72
2.9	Cardiac r	nuscle experiments	74
2.10	Histology	protocol	75
2.11	Histologio	cal analysis	76
2.12	Data ana	lysis	76

3	TESTOST	ERONE TRIAL	78
3.1	Influence	e of testosterone on body weight	78
3.2	Influence	e of testosterone on testes weight	
3.3	Influence	e of testosterone on cardiac characteristics	
	3.3.1	Cardiac morphometry	
	3.3.2	Cardiac function	80
3.4	Influence	e of testosterone on skeletal muscle morphometry	83
3.5	Discussi	on	84
4	SEX (GEN	DER) TRIAL	89
4.1	Influence	e of sex on body weight and heart weight	89
4.2	Influence	e of sex on cardiac characteristics	
	4.2.1	Cardiac morphometry	
	4.2.2	Cardiac function	92
4.3	Influence	e of sex on EDL characteristics	96
	4.3.1	EDL morphometry	96
	4.3.2	EDL function	97
	4.3.3	EDL histology	
4.4	Influence	e of sex on SOL characteristics	101
	4.4.1	SOL morphometry	101
	4.4.2	SOL function	
	4.4.3	SOL histology	104
4.5	Discussi	on	
5	CASTRAT	ION TRIAL	114
5.1	Influence	e of castration on body weight	114
5.2	Influence	e of castration on cardiac characteristics	114
	5.2.1	Cardiac morphometry	114
	5.2.2	Cardiac function	115
5.3	Influence	e of castration on skeletal muscle morphometry	117
5.4	Influence	e of castration on EDL characteristics	118

	5.4.1	EDL function	
	5.4.2	EDL histology	119
5.5	Influence	of castration on SOL characteristics	120
	5.5.1	SOL function	120
	5.5.2	SOL histology	121
5.6	Discussio	on	122
6	OESTROG	EN TRIAL	127
6.1	Influence	of oestrogen on body weight	
6.2	Influence	on oestrogen on testes weight	
6.3	Influence	of oestrogen on cardiac characteristics	
	6.3.1	Cardiac morphometry	
	6.3.2	Cardiac function	
6.4	Influence	of oestrogen on skeletal muscle morphometry	130
6.5	Influence	of oestrogen on EDL characteristics	131
	6.5.1	EDL function	131
	6.5.2	EDL histology	132
6.6	Influence	of oestrogen on SOL characteristics	132
	6.6.1	SOL function	132
	6.6.2	SOL histology	133
6.7	Discussio	on	135
7	INFLUENC	E OF AGE TRIAL	152
7.1	Influence	of age on body weight	
7.2	Influence	of age on testes weights	152
7.3	Influence	of age on cardiac characteristics	
	7.3.1	Cardiac morphometry	
	7.3.2	Cardiac function	
7.4	Influence	of age on skeletal muscle morphometry	
7.5	Influence	of age on EDL characteristics	
	7.5.1	EDL function	

	7.5.2	EDL histology	170
7.6	Influence	of age on SOL characteristics	172
	7.6.1	SOL function	172
	7.6.2	SOL histology	173
7.7	Discussio	on	175
8	CONCLUS	IONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	182
9	REFEREN	CES	187
10	APPENDIX	(1	243
10.1	Krebs ph	ysiological salt solution (KPSS) recipe	243
10.2	Tyrode's	physiological salt solution (TPSS) recipe	243
10.3	Haemato	xylin stain (Mayer's Haematoxylin) recipe	244
10.4	Eosin sta	in recipe	244

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1	Landmarks in the history of DMD 2	2
Table 1-2	Reported manifestations in female DMD carriers22	)
Table 1-3	Currently understood roles of the DGC	}
Table 1-4	Disease features of the GRMD canine model of DMD37	,
Table 1-5	Therapeutic benefits and theoretical mechanism(s) of action of	
	corticosteroids in the treatment of DMD46	;
Table 1-6	Therapeutics agents in DMD treatment and research53	}
Table 1-7	Known physiological effects of oestrogen(s) in non-dystrophic animals and	
	humans65	5
Table 2-1	Definitions and mathematical formulae used in skeletal muscle results	
	calculations	ŀ
Table 3-1	Weight of SOL and EDL muscles in male C57 and <i>mdx</i> mice at varying	
	testosterone doses	ŀ
Table 4-1	EDL muscle function in 90 day old mice	\$
Table 4-2	EDL muscle function in 180 day old mice98	\$
Table 4-3	EDL muscle function in 330 day old mice99	)
Table 4-4	SOL muscle function in 90 day old male and female mice	\$
Table 4-5	SOL muscle function in 180 day old male and female mice	\$
Table 4-6	SOL muscle function in 330 day old male and female mice104	ŀ
Table 5-1	Body and cardiac weights in entire and castrated mice115	;
Table 5-2	Cardiac function of entire and castrated mice117	,
Table 5-3	Skeletal muscle morphometry of entire and castrated mice	\$
Table 5-4	EDL skeletal muscle function of entire and castrated mice	}
Table 5-5	SOL muscle function in entire and castrated mice	
Table 6-1	Body and cardiac weights at varying oestrogen doses128	3
Table 6-2	EDL and SOL muscle morphometry at varying oestrogen doses	
Table 6-3	EDL muscle function at varying oestrogen doses	
Table 6-4	SOL muscle function at varying oestrogen doses	}
Table 7-1	Body and cardiac weights of 14 day old male mice153	}
Table 7-2	Body and cardiac weights of 19 day old male mice154	ŀ
Table 7-3	Body and cardiac weights of 21 day old male mice154	ŀ
Table 7-4	Body and cardiac weights of 23 day old male mice155	;
Table 7-5	Body and cardiac weights of 27 day old male mice155	;

Table 7-6	Body and cardiac weights of 34 day old male mice	155
Table 7-7	Body and cardiac weights of 40 day old male mice	156
Table 7-8	Body and cardiac weights of 90 day old male mice	156
Table 7-9	Body and cardiac weights of 180 day old male mice	156
Table 7-10	Body and cardiac weights of 330 day old male mice	157
Table 7-11	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 14 day old male mice	161
Table 7-12	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 19 day old male mice	162
Table 7-13	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 21 day old male mice	162
Table 7-14	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 23 day old male mice	163
Table 7-15	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 27 day old male mice	163
Table 7-16	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 34 day old male mice	164
Table 7-17	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 40 day old male mice	164
Table 7-18	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 90 day old male mice	165
Table 7-19	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 180 day old male mice	165
Table 7-20	Skeletal muscle morphometry of 330 day old male mice	166

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1	Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne and the first observed case of DMD	2
Figure 1-2	Pathways of X-linked recessive inheritance in DMD	1
Figure 1-3	Schematic diagram of the dystrophin gene5	5
Figure 1-4	Pseudohypertrophy of the calf muscles in DMD	)
Figure 1-5	Classical Gowers' manoeuvre (sign)11	I
Figure 1-6	ECG pattern in a nine year old boy with DMD12	2
Figure 1-7	Progressive body posture changes in DMD13	3
Figure 1-8	Severe scoliosis of the spine in a boy with DMD14	ļ
Figure 1-9	Dystrophin and the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex (DGC)28	3
Figure 1-10	Vicious cycle of muscle degeneration in DMD	)
Figure 1-11	C57BL/10ScSn (C57) and X-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) mice32	2
Figure 1-12	Human skeletal muscle biopsies of unaffected and DMD	
	affected individuals40	)
Figure 1-13	H&E stained sections of DMD affected human skeletal muscles41	I
Figure 1-14	H&E stained SOL muscles in a C57 and an <i>mdx</i> mouse43	3
Figure 1-15	Vector based therapeutic strategies in DMD58	3
Figure 1-16	Oestrogen activation of eNOS	3
Figure 3-1	Body weights of C57 and <i>mdx</i> mice at varying testosterone doses78	3
Figure 3-2	Testes weights of C57 and mdx mice at varying testosterone doses79	)
Figure 3-3	Left atrial weights of C57 and mdx mice at varying testosterone doses80	)
Figure 3-4	Basal force of contraction of left atria at varying testosterone doses81	I
Figure 3-5	Concentration response curves to calcium at varying testosterone doses82	2
Figure 3-6	Maximum force of contraction of the LA at varying testosterone doses83	3
Figure 4-1	Influence of sex on body weight and heart weight between strains	
	and sexes	)
Figure 4-2	Effects of age on cardiac tissue weights between strains and sexes	2
Figure 4-3	Basal FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) in <i>mdx</i> and C57 males and	_
	temales across ages	5
Figure 4-4	Concentration response curves to calcium comparing male and female 90	
	day old mice	ł
Figure 4-5	Concentration response curves to calcium comparing male and female 180	1
		ŀ
Figure 4-6	220 day old	=
Figure 4-7	Maximum EQC of LA (normalized for LA weight) in male and famale, miss	י
i iyule 4-7		2
	uoroos ugos	,

Figure 4-8	EDL skeletal muscle morphometry comparing mouse strains and sexes97		
Figure 4-9	Percentage of CNFs and maximum tetanic forces in EDL muscles at var	ying	
	ages and between sexes.	100	
Figure 4-10	EDL cell diameters and maximum tetanic forces at varying ages and bet sexes.	ween 100	
Figure 4-11	SOL skeletal muscle morphometry comparing mouse strains and sexes.	102	
Figure 4-12	Percentage of CNFs and sPo in SOL muscles at varying ages and sexes. 10		
Figure 4-13	Cell diameters and sPo in SOL muscles at varying ages and		
	between sexes	105	
Figure 5-1	Influence of castration on body weight in C57 and <i>mdx</i> mice	114	
Figure 5-2	Concentration response curves to calcium in entire and castrated mice11		
Figure 5-3	EDL percentage CNFs and sPo for entire and castrated mice	119	
Figure 5-4	EDL cell diameter and sPo between strains and for entire and		
	castrated mice	120	
Figure 5-5	SOL percentage CNFs and sPo between strains and for entire and		
	castrated mice	121	
Figure 5-6	SOL cell diameters and sPo between strains and for entire and		
	castrated mice	122	
Figure 6-1	Body weights at varying oestrogen doses	127	
Figure 6-2	Testes weights at varying oestrogen doses.	128	
Figure 6-3	Basal FOC of the LA (normalised for LA weight) at varying		
	oestrogen doses.	129	
Figure 6-4	Ca <sup>2+</sup> CRCs at varying doses of oestrogen	130	
Figure 6-5	Maximum FOC of the LA (normalised for LA weight) at varying		
	oestrogen doses.	130	
Figure 6-6	EDL percentage of CNFs at varying oestrogen doses.	132	
Figure 6-7	EDL cell diameter at varying oestrogen doses.	132	
Figure 6-8	SOL percentage of CNFs at varying oestrogen doses.	134	
Figure 6-9	SOL cell diameter at varying oestrogen doses	134	
Figure 6-10	Pathways of testosterone action and the conversion to oestradiol	136	
Figure 7-1	Body weight comparison between C57 and <i>mdx</i> mice at varying ages	152	
Figure 7-2	Influence of age on testes weights across varying ages	153	
Figure 7-3	Basal FOC of the LA across ages	158	
Figure 7-4	Concentration response curves to calcium across varying ages	160	
Figure 7-5	Maximum FOC of the LA across ages.	161	
Figure 7-6	SOL weight between strains across varying ages.	166	
Figure 7-7	SOL CSA between strains across varying ages	167	

Figure 7-8	EDL weight between strains across varying ages16	
Figure 7-9	EDL CSAs between strains across varying ages.	168
Figure 7-10	EDL sPt across varying ages.	169
Figure 7-11	EDL sPo across varying ages.	170
Figure 7-12	EDL percentage of CNFs and sPo across varying ages in male C57 and	
	mdx mice.	171
Figure 7-13	EDL cell diameters across varying ages	171
Figure 7-14	SOL sPt across varying ages	172
Figure 7-15	SOL sPo across varying ages	173
Figure 7-16	SOL percentage of CNFs and sPo across varying ages	174
Figure 7-17	SOL cell diameters across varying ages	174
Figure 7-18	Periods of peak skeletal muscle necrosis in the <i>mdx</i> mouse	178

## **1 LITERATURE REVIEW**

### 1.1 History of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD)

In 1858 the French physiologist Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne (Duchenne) became interested in 13 specific clinical cases (consisting of 11 males and two young females) (Figure 1-1). Duchenne reviewed these cases, together with 15 ostensibly similar cases described in the German medical literature. Initially, the condition observed was termed *paralysie pseudo-hypertrophique* (pseudo-hypertrophic muscular paralysis). In 1868 the disease was further clinically defined and subsequently re-named Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) in recognition of the French physiologist's work.

By 1870 Duchenne had witnessed in excess of 40 cases of DMD and proceeded to describe the disease as being characterised by progressive weakness of muscle movement (first affecting the lower limbs and eventually the upper limbs), a gradual increase in the size (hypertrophy) of many affected skeletal muscles, an increase in interstitial connective tissue within affected muscles, and the production of abundant fibrous and adipose tissues in the latter stages of the disease. The onset of DMD was determined as occurring in childhood or early puberty, was more prevalent in males than females, and potentially affected several children in the same family. Finally, and as a result of muscle biopsy techniques, Duchenne concluded that the fundamental anatomical lesion in DMD was hyperplasia of the interstitial connective tissue (Emery 1993).

Over a century passed before DMD would be defined genetically. In 1986, an historical milestone in muscular dystrophy research resulted from the isolation of the DMD gene locus (Kunkel 1986; Monaco *et al.* 1986; Koenig *et al.* 1987).



Figure 1-1 Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne and the first observed case of DMD

(A) Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne (1806-1875) and (B) A sketch of the original clinical case of DMD observed by Duchenne (Reproduced from Emery 1993)

DMD was shown to be caused by mutations in the gene encoding the protein dystrophin, thus resulting in the total absence or the expression of a mutant form of dystrophin (Hoffman, Brown and Kunkel 1987).

A chronology of historical landmarks in DMD research and knowledge are summarised in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1Landmarks in the history of DMD

1830-79	DMD emerges as	(Meryon 1852; Duchenne 1868; Gowers
4007	a distinct clinical disease	1879a, Gowers 1879b)
1867	Duchenne defines the actions of human	(Duchenne 1867)
1051 50	muscles	(Demos <i>et al.</i> 1956)
1954-58	Serum adolase activity	
	found to be raised in DIMD boys	
	resulting in the emergence of	
	'leaky membrane' theory	
1959	Serum creatine kinase (CK)	(Ebashi 1959)
	levels demonstrated to be	
	elevated in DMD patients (boys)	
1960	Serum CK levels found to be	(Schapira 1960)
	raised in female DMD carriers	
1975	Evidence of plasma membrane	(Mokri and Engel 1975)
	lesions and increased sarcoplasmic	(Cullen and Fulthorpe 1975)
	reticulum (SR) Ca <sup>2</sup> levels	
1978-79	DMD mapped to Xp21	(Verellen 1978; Lindenbaum 1979)
	by X/A translocations	
1982-83	DMD mapped to Xp21	(Murray 1982; Davies 1983)
	by deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) markers	
1984	mdx mouse discovered	(Bulfield <i>et al.</i> 1984)
1985	Gene-specific probes for	(Kunkel 1985; Ray 1985)
	DMD developed	
	Gene deletions in DMD detected	(Monaco 1985)
1986	Isolation of the DMD	(Kunkel <i>et al.</i> 1986; Monaco <i>et al.</i> 1986)
	gene locus	
1987-88	Cyclic deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) cloned	(Koenig et al. 1987; Koenig, Monaco and
	and sequenced	Kunkel 1988)
	Gene specific probes developed	
1987-88	Dystrophin protein product identified	(Hoffman, Brown and Kunkel 1987)

	Dystrophin localisation functional	(Sugita 1988; Zubrzycka-Gaarn et al. 1988)
	studies commence	
1989	Myoblast transfer research	(Partridge 1989)
	commences in mice	
1990	Myoblast transfer research	(Karpati 1990)
	commences in humans	
	Direct gene transfer	(Wolff 1990)
	therapy first attempted	
1991	Direct gene transfer	(Dickson 1991)
	research further developed	
	Isolation and definition of	(Ervasti and Campbell 1991; Ohlendieck
	the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC)	and Campbell 1991)
1992	Utrophin discovered	(Tinsley <i>et al.</i> 1992)
1995	Adhalin (a protein located in the DGC)	(Mendell <i>et al.</i> 1995)
	found to have a role in DMD	
1996	Recombinant vectors shown to	(Petrof <i>et al.</i> 1996)
	be able to deliver therapeutic genes	
1997	DMD gene cloned	(Davies 1997)
	Potential therapeutic value of	(Smith and Schofield 1997)
	stem cells identified	
1998	Sarcoglycans found to	(Urtasun <i>et al.</i> 1998)
	have a role in DMD	
	Dystroglycans found to	(McDearmon <i>et al.</i> 1998)
	have a role in DMD	
1999	Antisense oligonucleotides (AOs)	(Wilton <i>et al.</i> 1999)
	shown to have the ability to	
	facilitate dystrophin expression	

### **1.2 Genetics and inheritance**

Pedigree studies, statistical methods, and evidence from affected females with X chromosome abnormalities has resulted in the accepted conclusion that DMD is an X-linked inherited recessive trait (Emery 1993) (Figure 1-2). All DMD patients are male except for a small percentage of female patients whose disease condition is a direct consequence of chromosomal abnormalities (Nonaka 1998).

The DMD gene locus is located at Xp21 on the short arm of the X chromosome (De La Porte, Morin and Koenig 1999). This 1800 kilobase (kb) gene contains 79 exons (mean size 150 base pairs (bp)) separated by introns of approximately 16 kb (Chelly *et al.* 1988) and is currently the largest identified human gene (Koenig *et al.* 1987; Koenig, Monaco and Kunkel 1988; Roberts *et al.* 1993). The dystrophin gene occupies almost two percent of the total human X chromosome (Coffey *et al.* 1992; Monaco *et al.* 1992) and accounts for between 0.05% (Brown and Hoffman 1988) and 0.1% (Hoffman and Kunkel 1989) of the total human genome.





#### Figure 1-2 Pathways of X-linked recessive inheritance in DMD

In this example the DMD carrier woman (mother) carries one copy of the gene mutation for the X-linked recessive disorder (such as DMD). She has a DMD affected son, an unaffected daughter (who also carries one copy of the DMD mutation), and two unaffected children who do not have the mutation. Reproduced from the US National Library of Medicine. Available from http://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/info=img,inheritance\_patterns/show/XlinkRecessiveMother

The 14 kb dystrophin transcript is expressed in all forms of muscle tissue and in certain neurones (Hoffman *et al.* 1988). The dystrophin protein is expressed to the greatest and equal extent in skeletal and cardiac muscles (Hoffman *et al.* 1988), lower levels are expressed in smooth muscle (Beam 1988), with the lowest levels being expressed in the brain (Monaco *et al.* 1986; Chamberlain *et al.* 1988; Nudel, Robzyk and Yaffe 1988; Nudel *et al.* 1989) (Figure 1-3).



Figure 1-3 Schematic diagram of the dystrophin gene.

Schematic diagram of the dystrophin gene. (a) represents the location of the various promoters and (b) illustrates the various dystrophin isoforms and the tissues in which they are preferentially expressed (Winder 1997).

### 1.3 Detection, diagnosis and clinical disease features

DMD manifests in the unborn child with significant histological and histochemical abnormalities detectable in muscle tissues from DMD affected foetuses (Emery 1993). The presence of dystrophin in foetal muscle depends on the embryonic and foetal maturation of muscle cells (myocytes) (Miranda *et al.* 1988; Clerk, Strong and Sewry 1992). Dystrophin is detectable in unaffected foetuses as early as nine gestational weeks (Patel *et al.* 1988) and these foetuses develop relatively mature skeletal muscle resulting in significant dystrophin expression after 20 weeks gestation (Bieber, Hoffman and Amos 1989).

#### 1.3.1 Genetic testing

In cases where intragenic duplication or deletion of the dystrophin gene occurs (approximately 65% of cases) (Koenig *et al.* 1987; Den Dunnen *et al.* 1989) prenatal diagnosis of DMD is feasible using DNA from chorionic villi or amniotic fluid cells (Evans *et al.* 1991). In the remaining 35% of cases, diagnosis by linkage analysis may be an option (Bakker *et al.* 1989). However, only approximately 33% of cases are inherited through a carrier mother, with the remaining 67% being sporadic, *de novo* mutations of the

dystrophin gene (Moser 1984). The dystrophin gene has a high mutation rate (one in 10,000) (Muller *et al.* 1992), which may simply be resultant of the large size of the gene (Koenig *et al.* 1987). In both *de novo* mutations and small families linkage analysis may be rendered impractical (Bieber, Hoffman and Amos 1989; Clerk *et al.* 1992). Lalic *et al.* (2005) have designed a multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification assay (MLPA) which simultaneously screens all 79 DMD gene exons for deletions and duplications that occur in DMD patients. This assay outperforms the Beggs and Chamberlain multiplex-polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test and may currently be argued as the preferred method of choice in the initial DNA analysis of DMD patients (Lalic *et al.* 2005).

#### **1.3.2 Serum creatine kinase (CK) and pyruvate kinase (PK)**

#### levels

Serum creatine kinase (CK) measurements are also predictors of DMD. CK is a muscle enzyme released into the blood serum in response to muscle damage, therefore an elevation in serum CK levels is observed in DMD affected neonates, DMD patients, and a percentage of DMD carriers (Emery 1993). Even at birth, and as a direct consequence of muscle degeneration, DMD neonates possess elevated serum CK levels (Bogdanovich et al. 2004). Serum CK levels may also be elevated as a result of skeletal muscle injury such as is induced by intramuscular (IM) injection, excessive exercise, myositis, myopathy, rhabdomyolysis, or hypothyroidism. Conversely, serum CK levels are actually lowered in females during pregnancy. In an unaffected adult, the normal range of serum CK is 22 to 198 units of active enzyme per litre of serum (U/L). In DMD serum CK levels may be 3000 to 3500 U/L and during acute episodes of muscle degeneration (rhabdomyolysis) serum CK levels may escalate to 50000 to 200000 U/L (available from http://www.mdausa.org). DMD carriers may also have elevated serum CK levels and it is estimated that approximately 67% of obligate carriers have elevated CK levels.

DMD patients may have elevated serum pyruvate kinase (PK) levels which potentially reach three to 125 times that of unaffected age matched controls. Normal PK levels are approximately 6.0 µmol/mL/h (Zatz *et al.* 1978). Researchers have also found abnormal fatty acid composition and disorganization of the erythrocyte membrane in DMD patients (Piperi *et al.* 2004).

#### 1.3.3 Muscle biopsy

Foetal muscle biopsy *in utero* is an option when DNA molecular diagnosis is ambiguous and where linkage analysis is inconclusive or impractical (Ginjaar *et al.* 1991; Evans *et al.* 1993). Post natal detection of DMD may also be substantiated by means of muscle biopsy in which case a dystrophin level of less than 3% of normal is considered diagnostic of DMD (Brooke 2000).

#### 1.3.4 Disease onset

DMD boys are within the reference range with respect to length and weight at birth. Delayed growth starts during the first years of life and DMD children have a mean approximate decrease of six centimetres according to the expected height of the unaffected population (Rapaport *et al.* 1991). Mothers occasionally describe that their affected son appears 'floppy' at birth and during infancy (Emery 1993). A perceived 'failure to thrive' may be associated with the development of DMD (Call and Ziter 1985), as may delay in speech and slowed progress in learning to walk. Parents often, retrospective to diagnosis, confirm a history of delays in achievement of motor milestones (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004). Bushby, Hill and Steele (1999) report the average age at diagnosis is four years and eight months, not dissimilar to some 20 years ago (Bushby, Hill and Steele 1999).

The mean walking age in unaffected boys is 13 months of age with 97% of children walking by 18 months old (Neligan and Prudham 1969). Only 56% of DMD boys commence walking at 18 months whilst some 25% of

7

DMD boys do not take their first steps until at least two years of age (Emery 1993).

#### 1.3.5 Initial clinical signs

The initial physical signs of DMD skeletal muscle degeneration typically emerge around two to five years of age (Dubowitz 1975; Jennekens *et al.* 1991). DMD affected children may exhibit a waddling gait, unsteadiness in walking, a perceived increased risk of falling, toe walking, difficulties in climbing stairs, a tendency to 'throw out a leg' when walking, turning in of the feet, and some problems in maintaining balance whilst running (Emery 1993).

#### **1.3.6 Skeletal muscle involvement**

An initial and obvious clinical sign of DMD is enlargement of the calf muscles (gastrocnemius and soleus) which, upon palpation, are often described by clinicians as feeling 'firm' or 'woody'. This skeletal muscle enlargement is characteristic of DMD and is actually pseudohypertrophy and not a true hypertrophy of muscle fibres (Figure 1-3). Ultrasound imaging of these pseudohypertrophic muscles reveals a bright and speckled echo pattern which confirms the deposition of adipose and connective tissue (Heckmatt, Dubowitz and Leeman 1980; Heckmatt, Pier and Dubowitz 1988). Pseudohypertrophy is progressive in the early stages of DMD but is eventually followed by atrophy and a decrease in size of most of the affected skeletal muscles. The exception to this trend is with the gastrocnemii and, to a lesser extent, the quadriceps and deltoids (De Bruin et al. 1997). The enlarged pseudohypertrophic muscles are weaker and more hypotonic than unaffected muscles of the equivalent size (Adams and Victor 1989) and the pseudohypertrophic changes in skeletal muscles are not correlated to either age or severity of the disease (Jones et al. 1983).



Figure 1-4Pseudohypertrophy of the calf muscles in DMDExtensive pseudohypertrophy of the calf muscles in four boys with DMD. (A) availablefrom www.neuro.wustl.edu (B) and (C) ( Reproduced from Emery 1993)

DMD affected boys occasionally complain of cramps and stiffness in the gastrocnemius muscles. Skeletal muscle involvement in DMD is both bilateral and symmetrical. In the early stages the lower limbs are affected more than the upper limbs, proximal muscles to a greater extent than distal muscles, quadriceps more than the hamstrings, triceps more than biceps, wrist extensors more than flexors, neck flexors more than extensors, and feet dorsi flexors more than plantar flexors. Differential involvement also occurs within individual muscles; the sterno-costal head of the pectoralis major muscle is more affected than the clavicular head and the clavicular head of the sternomastoid muscle is more affected than the sternal head. Other affected muscles may include the deltoids and serrati anterior. DMD affected muscles are not tender to touch and there is no voluntary or percussion myotonia. Tendon reflexes become depressed with ankle jerks being the last tendon reflexes to disappear. Plantar responses always remain flexor. Finally, there is no sensory loss thus indicating that the depression of reflexes in DMD is not neuronal in origin (Emery 1993).

#### 1.3.7 Biomechanics of movement in DMD

The resultant biomechanical effects of muscle weakness in DMD are complex (Sutherland *et al.* 1981). Prior to age four years, boys are typically unable to rise from a sitting position on the floor without the aid of the arms to assist by pushing on the thighs or on the floor (whereas

unaffected boys are able to accomplish this task at this age). At this age, DMD boys typically cannot be held up by the clinician placing their hands inside the child's upper arms as there is a tendency for the child to 'slide through' the examiners arms.

Weakness of the gluteus medius and minimus muscles result in the pelvis tilting down toward the unsupported side when the DMD child raises his leg from the ground. The DMD child subsequently inclines towards the supporting leg and as he moves forward this repeated action results in a 'waddling gait'. In addition, weakness of the gluteus maximus muscle results in a forward tilting pelvis and subsequent development of lumbar lordosis. An imbalance between development of the dorsi flexors and plantar flexors progresses and, in order to maintain their balance, DMD boys then tend to walk on their toes. As the disease further progresses, winging of the scapulae becomes apparent (Emery 1993), proximal muscles are further affected, and DMD boys become nonambulatory around 10 to 12 years of age as a result of the loss of critical lower limb strength (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004).

#### 1.3.8 Gowers' manoeuvre

As described, in the first three years of life, the DMD child is typically unable to rise from a sitting position on the floor with his arms folded. By four or five years of age, weakness of proximal limb muscles, the hip extensors, and the knee extensors results in the necessary use of the DMD child's arms to climb from a lying position to a standing position. The DMD child climbs up his thighs in order to extend the hips and push up the trunk (Emery 1993). This sign is known as the classical Gowers' manoeuvre (Gowers 1888) and typically further supports a clinical diagnosis of DMD (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004) (Figure 1-5).



Figure 1-5 Classical Gowers' manoeuvre (sign).

Gowers noted that the boys first put the hands on the floor, then stretched their legs far apart behind them. The chief weight of the trunk then rested on the hands. By keeping their toes on the ground and pushing their body backwards, they managed to get the knees extended so that the trunk was supported by the hands and feet, all placed as widely apart as possible. Next the hands are moved alternatively along the ground backwards so as to bring a larger portion of the weight of the trunk over the legs. Then one hand is placed upon the knee and a push with this and the other hand on the ground is usually sufficient to enable the hip extensors to bring the trunk into the upright standing position (as cited in Gowers 1879a).

### 1.3.9 Cardiac muscle involvement

There is overwhelming clinical, physiological, and pathological evidence that the cardiac muscles are significantly affected in both DMD patients and DMD carriers (Hunter 1980; Hunsaker *et al.* 1982; Hoffman *et al.* 1992). From early childhood cardiac arrhythmias and murmurs may persist. Sinus tachycardia is present in most DMD boys after age five years and persists throughout life (Engel, Yamamoto and Fischbeck 1994). Nocturnal oxygen desaturation occurs during rapid eye movement (REM) sleep in DMD patients and this may progress to severe nocturnal hypoxaemia and resultant life threatening cardiac arrhythmias (Carroll *et al.* 1991).

General cardiac problems in DMD develops progressively from age 10 years (Cox and Kunkel 1997) with 62% of boys showing conduction changes in the electrocardiogram (ECG) consisting of a shortened PQ segment, and an increased QT:PQ ratio (prolonged QT interval). Clinically observable cardiomyopathy may become evident around 10 years of age and is progressive (Nigro *et al.* 1990). Although most DMD patients remain asymptomatic, the incidence of clinical cardiac involvement (predominantly cardiomyopathy) continues to increase over the teenage years, affecting approximately 33% of patients by age 14 years, 50% by 18 years, and arguably 100% of adult patients (Cox and Kunkel 1997). However, there is some variation in the reported incidence of cardiac involvement between researchers with Nigro (1990) reporting clinical cardiac symptoms in 28% of patients under age 18 years and cardiac symptoms in only 57% of adult patients. From 10 to 20 years of age dilated cardiomyopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and conduction system abnormalities such as arrhythmias, bundle branch block, and heart block have also been reported (Nigro *et al.* 1990).

In DMD patients the most common ECG pattern consists of a prominent R wave in lead V<sub>1</sub> and the right precordial and limb leads (anterior QRS pattern) (Cox and Kunkel 1997) (Figure 1-6). This ECG pattern reflects selective atrophy and scarring of the posterobasal region and adjacent lateral wall of the left ventricle (LV) (as opposed to right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy) (Perloff *et al.* 1967). Further ECG abnormalities are often observed in DMD patients and the presence of LV systolic dysfunction detected on echocardiography is a powerful predictor of mortality in DMD (Corrado *et al.* 2002).



Figure 1-6 ECG pattern in a nine year old boy with DMD



X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy in DMD typically presents as congestive heart failure (CHF) in adolescent to young adult males. The disease course is rapidly progressive and results in cardiac transplantation or death within one to two years of presentation (Cox and Kunkel 1997). Khan (1994) reports an overall 10% incidence of death due to cardiac failure whilst Ishihara (2004) reports an incidence of 12.5% of cardiac related deaths in DMD (Ishihara 2004).

#### 1.3.10 Skeletal system involvement

DMD patients may present with numerous skeletal system abnormalities including progressive narrowing of the shafts of the long bones (due to a reduction in the size of the medullary cavity and subsequent thinning of the cortices), lumbar lordosis, scoliosis, coxa valga, and impaired development of the pelvic bones and scapulae. As DMD progresses there is an absence of the normal developmental stresses imposed by muscular attachments together with the adoption of abnormal body postures and compromised limb positions (Emery 1993) (Figure 1-7).



Figure 1-7 Progressive body posture changes in DMD

As DMD progresses there is an absence of the normal developmental stresses imposed by muscular attachments together with the adoption of abnormal body postures and compromised limb positions (Emery 1993).

The bones of the skeletal system undergo rarefaction and decalcification as a result of prolonged disuse and this ultimately progresses to osteoporosis (Walton and Warrick 1954). An estimated 20% to 25% of DMD boys experience a long bone fracture at some time in their lives, the risk of which increases with loss of ambulation and increased age. In the latter stages of the disease, movements of the wrists and shoulders become limited. Talipes equinovarus deformity also becomes marked with the talus bone protruding under the skin of the dorsum of the foot (Emery 1993).

Approximately 90% of DMD boys develop such severe scoliosis that is not amenable to control by nonsurgical means such as bracing or adaptive seating and 95% of scoliosis cases occur after loss of ambulation (Cambridge and Drennan 1987). Currently, it may be argued that the most effective treatment for severe scoliosis in DMD is early surgical prevention with spinal fusion utilising segmental instrumentation as soon as significant spinal curves are ascertained and before the onset of severe pulmonary or cardiac dysfunction (Sussman 2002). Prednisone treatment potentially slows the progress of scoliosis in DMD patients (Alman, Raza and Biggar 2004).



Figure 1-8Severe scoliosis of the spine in a boy with DMDSevere scoliosis of the spine and an equinovarus deformity of both feet in a 15 yearold DMD boy (Forbes and Jackson 1997).

#### 1.3.11 Respiratory muscle involvement

In DMD patients a characteristic pattern of progressive respiratory muscle weakness is seen during early childhood and adolescence (Smith et al. 1987). Respiratory vital capacity (VC) increases as predicted until around 10 years of age. A plateau of VC then occurs followed by a steady fall as respiratory muscle weakness progresses. In the majority of cases respiratory compromise is accompanied by the development of a thoracic scoliosis (see Figure 1-8). The annual decrease in VC may be as much as 250 mL in the late teenage years (Baydur et al. 1990). Once VC falls below 20% (one litre) predicted ventilatory failure is almost inevitable (Rideau et al. 1983; Rideau, Glorion and Duport 1983). In reportedly 10% (Khan and Heckmatt 1994) to 12.5% (Ishihara 2004) of DMD cases the cause of death is cardiac failure which may be exacerbated by chronic hypoxaemia and hypercapnia. Hypoventilation, at times associated with obstructive approas (Khan and Heckmatt 1994), first occurs during sleep as a result of the reduction in intercostal muscle tone, lowered accessory muscle tone, and a decrease in the ventilatory drive which is most prominent in rapid eye movement (REM) sleep. Untreated, nocturnal hypoventilation progresses to daytime ventilatory failure and ultimately *cor pulmonale*. Acute hypercapnic exacerbations complicate the clinical course of DMD and are usually exacerbated by chest infections as inspiratory muscle weakness predisposes the individual to atelectasis, and the ability to cough is impaired by expiratory muscle insufficiency. De Bruin (2001) reported a significant reduction in inspiratory flow reserve and a less negative maximum static inspiratory pressure in DMD boys compared to unaffected boys with force VC related to largest inspiratory flow during an inspiratory forced VC manoeuvre (De Bruin *et al.* 2001). In advanced DMD 'row-a-boat' phenomenon develops as a spontaneous upperbody movement displayed when sitting upright supported by a belt around the body in a wheelchair. This movement is a resultant compensation for atrophied respiratory muscles in advanced stages of the disease (Yasuma *et al.* 2001).

Analogous to the skeletal muscle pseudohypertrophy observed in DMD patients, the resting diaphragm muscle thickness is increased in DMD patients (under 12 years of age) with impaired respiratory muscle force (De Bruin *et al.* 1997). Infiltration of connective tissue (fibrosis) and the subsequent deposition of adipose tissue (as are discernable in DMD skeletal muscles) have also been observed in intercostal muscle biopsy specimens from DMD patients (Stern *et al.* 1975).

Prognosis is poor and life expectancy is generally less than 12 months once patients develop diurnal hypercapnia (Simmonds *et al.* 1998). Hypercapnic respiratory failure occurs when the inspiratory muscles fail to sustain adequate ventilation and this is the most common cause of death in patients with DMD (Inkley, Oldenburg and Vignos 1974; Braun, Arora and Rochester 1983; Cox and Kunkel 1997). From autopsy findings, Ishihara (2004) reports that the primary cause of death is respiratory failure in approximately 75% of DMD fatalities (Ishihara 2004). In addition, some 90% of episodes of respiratory failure and subsequent death in DMD patients occur during the treatment of intercurrent chest colds and death ultimately results from the DMD patient's inability to adequately cough out chest secretions (Bach, Ishikawa and Kim 1997).

#### 1.3.12 Smooth muscle involvement

Autopsy studies have demonstrated that the smooth muscle of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract in DMD patients shows both loss and atrophy of muscles, variation in muscle fibre size, and regions of fibrosis (Huvos and Pruzanski 1967; Leon *et al.* 1986; Barohn *et al.* 1988). Involvement of the GI tract in DMD may also include clinical symptoms such as recurrent diarrhoea, malabsorption (Patterson, Ong and Drake 1964; Huvos and Pruzanski 1967), impaired colonic transit (Gottrand, Guillonneau and Carpentier 1991), oropharyngeal, oesophageal, and gastric dysfunction (Jaffe *et al.* 1990), together with delayed gastric emptying (Barohn *et al.* 1988).

Compared to cardiac and skeletal muscle involvement, smooth muscle manifestations occur relatively late in the course of DMD. Boland (1971) purports that clinical GI symptoms related to smooth muscle function most often are secondary to surgery or a respiratory illness (Boland *et al.* 1996). The functional impairment of smooth muscle in the GI tract of DMD patients can cause acute gastric dilatation and intestinal pseudo-obstruction that may prove fatal (Barohn *et al.* 1988).

#### 1.3.13 Intellectual and behavioural impairment

DMD patients may present with varying degrees of cognitive impairment, indicating that the disease affects brain function (Engel, Yamamoto and Fischbeck 1994). Intellectual impairment reportedly occurs in approximately 19% of boys and DMD patients present a specific cognitive profile, regardless of their general level of cognitive function. Specifically, boys with DMD perform more poorly on tests requiring attention to complex verbal information than they do on other verbal or memory measures. Intellectual impairment in DMD is not progressive and does not correlate with the severity of the musculoskeletal symptoms (Hinton *et al.* 2000). The mean intelligence quota (IQ) for DMD patients is generally one standard deviation below the normal mean but ranges from IQs above 130 points to severe mental retardation (Emery 1993). One third of DMD children have an IQ below 75 points. The IQ effects associated with DMD result from a pleiotropic

effect of dystrophin mutation and the site or size of the associated gene deletion has no correlation with the severity of intellectual impairment (available from http://www.indegene.com). The basis of IQ impairment in DMD remains unclear but studies have revealed both abnormal dendritic development and the treelike branching of nerve axons (arborisation) as a possibility (Jagadha and Becker 1988). There is no difference in the IQs of boys born to carrier mothers and those who result from a spontaneous gene mutation compared to unaffected children of the equivalent age (Emery 1993). Unaffected siblings of DMD boys have normal intellect, however, there is a positive correlation between affected brothers (Kozicka, Prot and Wasilewski 1971; Ogasawara 1989) and female DMD carriers reportedly have normal IQ (Prosser, Murphy and Thompson 1969). In DMD, verbal ability appears most affected and is due to a defect in memory for numbers, patterns, and verbal labels (Karagan, Richman and Sorensen 1980). Interestingly, Miller (1985) (Miller, Tunnecliffe and Douglas 1985) reported that DMD boys with least verbal IQ depression actually survived longest.

Behavioural and emotional disturbances in DMD boys have been extensively reported (Schorer 1964; Cohen, Molnar and Taft 1968; Leibowitz and Dubowitz 1981; Pullen 1984; Smith, Sibert and Harper 1990). Allowing for age and IQ, DMD boys have a higher incidence of emotional disturbances than other physically handicapped children without cerebral involvement (Leibowitz and Dubowitz 1981).

### 1.4 Muscle and system sparing

In DMD, specific muscles and physiological systems may be clinically spared. For example, visual and hearing acuity are unaffected in DMD patients (Allen 1973) as are sphincter control, chewing, and swallowing (Emery 1993). Enigmatically, the extraocular muscles (EOM) appear clinically unaffected in DMD (Kaminski *et al.* 1992; Khurana *et al.* 1995).

The EOM are muscles responsible for eye movements and possess functional and morphological characteristics that set them aside from other skeletal muscles. The mechanism by which the EOM are spared the deleterious effects of DMD is unknown and it is thought that this may be due to a broken mechanical or signalling linkage between the cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix that uniquely occurs in EOM (Andrade, Porter and Kaminski 2000).

Specifically, dystrophic EOM lack the pathological manifestations of dystrophin deficiency such as fibrotic scarring, fatty infiltration, central nucleation, fibre splitting, fibre size variation, and hypertrophy that are witnessed in DMD skeletal and cardiac muscles (Khurana et al. 1995). Ringel et al.(1978) and Khurana et al.(1995) showed that haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained EOM tissues from dystrophin-deficient humans (DMD patients), dystrophic canines (cxmd), and dystrophic mice (mdx) were histologically indistinguishable from those of unaffected controls in each species (Ringel et al. 1978; Khurana et al. 1995). Khurana et al. (1995) found no upregulation of the dystrophin-associated protein in humans, utrophin in mdx, cxmd, or DMD EOM thus concluding that utrophin upregulation was not responsible for the sparing of dystrophin-deficient EOM. This is in direct contrast to the work of Matsumura et al. (1992) who actually found up-regulation of the above mentioned respective dystrophin-associated proteins (Matsumura et al. 1992). Khurana et al. (1995) further demonstrated that dystrophin deficiency in EOM did not result in myonecrosis or pathologically elevated levels of intracellular calcium [Ca2+], but that dystrophin-deficient EOM are spared the pathological consequences of dystrophin deficiency due to their inherent ability to more efficiently maintain calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) homeostasis. Uncovering the specific mechanisms by which the EOM protect themselves (avoid or adapt to the cascade of events leading to myofibre degeneration) in DMD should further contribute to knowledge of both pathogenesis and treatment of the disease (Andrade, Porter and Kaminski 2000).

Interestingly, clinical and experimental evidence indicates that muscle fibres, whose diameter is below a certain level (estimated at approximately 20 to 25 micrometres ( $\mu$ m) in diameter in *mdx* mice) are not susceptible to necrosis. This apparent anatomical 'protection against necrosis' has been observed in other muscle fibres that are naturally of smaller diameter (including the EOM), and in fibres that have been prevented from growing normally by experimental procedures (in hamsters and mice),

18
or by pathological processes (in DMD patients). The molecular basis by which these relatively small diameter muscle fibres are resistant to necrosis remains elusive. Karpati (1986) proposes that, in smaller diameter muscle fibres, the normal contraction-related mechanical strains per unit surface area are relatively less than in larger fibres and leads to their relative resistance to necrosis in DMD (Karpati *et al.* 1986).

#### **1.5 Female DMD carriers**

DMD is an X-linked inherited recessive trait (Emery 1993) with the affected gene being carried from the mother to the affected son (Figure 1-2). Mothers of DMD affected males have approximately a 33% chance of carrying a dystrophin mutation (Ligon *et al.* 2000). Emery (1993) clearly defines three categories of DMD carrier status;

obligate carriers - mothers of an affected son who possess an affected brother, affected nephew by their sister, or an affected maternal uncle or other maternal male relative.

probable carriers - mothers of two or more affected sons but no other affected relatives and

possible carriers - mothers of an isolated case as well as their sisters and other female relatives

Histologically, manifesting female carriers exhibit myocyte changes consistent with those observed in DMD patients. In addition, a higher ratio of male to female stillbirths and infant deaths in DMD carriers has also been reported (Lane, Robinow and Roses 1983).

#### 1.5.1 Serum CK and PK levels in female DMD carriers

Due to X-inactivation (the phenomena in which heterozygous females do not phenotypically express their X-linked recessive genotype or do so only randomly) DMD carriers are often clinically unaffected. A proportion of myocytes (including cardiac cells) will, however, have the mutant allele on the active X chromosome and will therefore release CK, resulting in elevated serum CK levels in DMD carriers. Dystrophin immunostaining and Western blot analysis of muscle biopsy samples from asymptomatic carriers is also often abnormal (Clerk *et al.* 1991).

Serum CK levels may be used to give an indication as to DMD carrier status and measurement of serum CK is currently the most commonly applied test for DMD carrier detection (Lange and Zatz 1979). The use of CK with serum levels in combination mutual dystrophin immunohistochemistry and muscle biopsy significantly improves the accuracy of carrier diagnosis (Oliveira et al. 1992). It must be noted that whilst elevated serum CK levels are a predictive diagnostic indicator, a low CK result does not preclude carrier status (Gruemer et al. 1985). Serum PK levels have also been found to be elevated in DMD carriers (Falcao-Conceicao et al. 1983). Of obligate female DMD carriers 71% have increased serum PK levels in addition to elevated serum CK levels. Thus, when used concomitantly, the predictive value of these tests (in terms of carrier detection) improves (Zatz et al. 1980).

# 1.5.2 Female DMD carrier cardiac and skeletal muscle involvement

Female DMD carriers show an increased incidence of cardiac involvement that manifests predominantly as cardiomyopathy and progresses with age (Cox and Kunkel 1997). The progression of carrier cardiac involvement develops through a pre clinical stage, to myocardial hypertrophy or dysrhythmias, and ultimately eventuates in hypertrophic or dilated cardiomyopathy (Politano *et al.* 1996). Dilated cardiomyopathy is more common in male DMD patients whilst hypertrophic cardiomyopathy is more common in female DMD carriers.

A 10 year study by Politano *et al.* (1996) of 152 DMD carriers found preclinical and clinical cardiac involvement in 55% of carriers younger than 16 years of age and in 90% of carriers over age 16 years. Results concluded that under age 16 years, 12% of female carriers had hypertrophic cardiomyopathy whilst 3% had dilated cardiomyopathy. Over the age of 16 years, 30% of carriers had hypertrophic cardiomyopathy whilst 11% of

carriers had dilated cardiomyopathy. Carrier X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy typically presents as atypical chest pain in middle-aged females without clinical muscle weakness. The condition typically progresses over several years and frequently becomes fatal (Cox and Kunkel 1997). Politano *et al.* (1996) also found carriers showed clinical signs of skeletal muscle involvement. Skeletal muscle biopsies showed a significant number of dystrophin-negative fibres present together with a mosaic pattern of absent dystrophin immunoreactivity (Politano *et al.* 1996). Hoffman *et al.* (1992) reported that, in contrast to cardiac myocytes, skeletal myocytes in DMD female carriers actually may become progressively dystrophin-negative fibres with dystrophin-positive myoblasts through the process of genetic normalisation or the intracellular diffusion of dystrophin from dystrophin-positive nuclei along the myocyte syncytium via a biochemical normalisation pathway (Hoffman *et al.* 1992).

Adachi *et al.*(1997) reported that the levels of plasma brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) was elevated in 53% of DMD carriers and the BNP levels correlated with indices of cardiac function. In one carrier, BNP levels were elevated one year prior to the development of cardiac symptoms, increased with the display of clinical cardiac symptoms, and eventually decreased after treatment for cardiac failure, thus suggesting that BNP levels may be useful indicators of cardiac dysfunction and for evaluating the efficacy of cardiac treatment in female DMD carriers (Adachi *et al.* 1997). A list of reported physiological manifestations in female DMD carriers are summarised in Table 1-2 below;

Table 1-2 Reported manifestations in female DMD carriers

carrier manifestation	reference
<ul> <li>clinical muscle weakness (ranging from mild clinical weakness to inability to walk)</li> </ul>	(Moser and Emery 1974) (Kaladhar Reddy, Anandavalli and Reddi 1984)
<ul> <li>clinical cardiomyopathy</li> <li>abnormal muscle histology</li> <li>abnormal muscle histochemistry (elevation of myonuclear Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels)</li> </ul>	(Wiegand <i>et al.</i> 1984) (Bertolotto <i>et al.</i> 1981) (Maunder-Sewry and Dubowitz 1981)
<ul><li>altered muscle ultrastructure</li><li>MLPA analysis show a</li></ul>	(Fisher <i>et al.</i> 1972) (Afifi, Bergman and Zellweger 1973) (Rott, Breimesser and Rodl 1985) (Stern <i>et al.</i> 1985) (Gatta <i>et al.</i> 2005)
<ul> <li>deletion or duplication</li> <li>ribosomal protein synthesis and collagen synthesis raised</li> <li>abnormal ECG patterns</li> </ul>	(Ionasescu, Burmeister and Hanson 1980) (Lane, Gardner-Medwin and Roses 1980) (Grain <i>et al.</i> 2001)
<ul> <li>abnormal echocardiogram</li> <li>defective lymphocyte capping</li> <li>elevated PK levels</li> <li>elevated CK levels</li> <li>elevated serum myoglobin</li> <li>muscle provocation test (MPT) elicits</li> <li>an increased elevation in CK</li> </ul>	(Grain <i>et al.</i> 2001) (Ho <i>et al.</i> 1980) (Falcao-Conceicao <i>et al.</i> 1983) (Moser and Emery 1974) (Nicholson 1981) (Herrmann and Spiegler 1983)

(Adapted from Emery 1993)

### **1.6 Life expectancy and mortality**

There are conflicting opinions on life expectancy and mortality rates in DMD. As a result of the improved treatment of respiratory infections (Mukoyama *et al.* 1987), scoliosis treatment (Brooke *et al.* 1989; Galasko, Delaney and Morris 1992; Galasko and Delaney 1993), special care programs (Satoyoshi 1992; Galasko, Williamson and Delaney 1995), or the use of respirators in terminal care (Fukunaga *et al.* 1993), an improved life expectancy in DMD patients has been suggested by several authors. Some researchers maintain that no increased life expectancy is currently evident (Cambridge and Drennan 1987; Miller, Moseley and Koreska 1992; Kennedy *et al.* 1995). With respect to mortality, several authors have reported no significant changes in mortality over the years. It is, however, generally agreed that death generally occurs between 15 and 25 years of age and most commonly from respiratory or cardiac failure (Gilroy *et al.* 1963; Inkley, Oldenburg and Vignos 1974; Newsom-Davis 1980). An extensive study of 197 DMD patients by Eagle *et al.* (2002) concluded that improved co-ordinated care improved patients' chance of survival to 25 years of age from nil in the 1960s to four percent in the 1970s and 12% in the 1980s. However, since 1990, the significant impact of nocturnal ventilation has improved the chances of DMD patients living to 25 years of age to 53% (Eagle *et al.* 2002). Patterson *et al.*(1990), in determining mode of death, concluded that boys generally die both peacefully and often unpredictably (Patterson, Morrison and Hicks 1991).

#### **1.7 Physical therapies**

The concourse of an interdisciplinary team in the physical management of DMD can facilitate a more satisfactory patient outcome. Healthcare professionals including general practitioners, physicians, orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists, dieticians, psychologists, social workers, and teachers have an integral role in the management of this disease for the patients, their families, and the community. Integral to primary care strategies in DMD are the adoption of physical therapies.

#### 1.7.1 Prolongation of ambulation

In terms of physical therapy strategies, prolongation of ambulation in DMD may be achieved by the use of light-weight ankle foot orthoses or by surgically releasing contractures (Heckmatt *et al.* 1985). In contrast, Manzur *et al.* (1992) reported surgical treatment of contractures failed to substantiate prolongation of ambulation.

In a study of 144 DMD patients Vignos (1996) found contractures of the lower extremities were controlled best when patients were managed with a combination of daily passive stretching exercises, prescribed periods of standing and walking, tenotomy of the Achilles tendon, posterior tibial-tendon transfer, and application of knee-ankle-foot orthoses. Approximately two years after bracing, the severity of the contracture of the heel cords was found to be similar in DMD patients who had had an operation and those who had not. By the fourth year after bracing, however, DMD patients who have had an operation have less severe contractures than those who had had bracing alone. Five to seven years after the operation and bracing, control of contractures was considered good, especially for the patients who had had posterior tibial-tendon transfer. Contracture of the knee was well controlled five to seven years after bracing in all patients who had had bracing, with or without an operation. This surgical program enabled the patients who had been managed with bracing to walk until a mean age of 13.6 years. After loss of the ability to walk with bracing, the ability to stand continued for an additional two years with use of orthoses. The findings of this study demonstrated the value of traditional methods of operative treatment and bracing for controlling contractures of the lower extremities in DMD patients and for prolonging their ability to walk (Vignos et al. 1996).

Heckmatt *et al.* (1985) concluded that the prolongation of walking (ambulation) in DMD further prevented the development of scoliosis, joint contractures and deformities together with benefiting DMD patients psychologically.

#### **1.7.2 Orthopaedic management of scoliosis**

Spinal deformity (and resultant scoliosis) is common in DMD and predictably occurs after loss of ambulation. In DMD scoliosis (in contrast to idiopathic scoliosis) there is no side preference of the convexity (Furderer *et al.* 2000). Due in part to the varying severity of the clinical course of DMD the orthopaedic management of scoliosis in the disease is not clinically standardised. Management strategies range from no treatment, to the use of customised body jackets, wheelchair inserts or braces, through to surgical spinal fusion (Colbert and Craig 1987).

The use of spinal orthoses (bracing) minimally slows the progression of scoliosis but ultimately fails to prevent a substantial curve

developing (Colbert and Craig 1987) with significant curves developing in some 94% of DMD patients (Cambridge and Drennan 1987).

Hopf (1994) argues that early surgical correction and spinal stabilisation (Cobb angle greater than 20 degrees) is the treatment of choice for scolioses in DMD. In addition, the use of multi-segmental instrumentation methods enables rapid mobilisation and postoperative care without bracing. This approach allows a prophylactic operation affording improvement of sitting position, prevention of rapid deterioration of respiratory function including assisted mechanical ventilation in late stages, and ultimately prolongation of life expectancy (Hopf *et al.* 1994). Early surgical intervention in DMD scoliosis also minimises anaesthetic, perioperative and postoperative complications (Gayet 1999).

Lumbar fixation to L5 is adequate if the scoliosis surgery is performed appropriately early and with minimal curves and pelvic obliquity. The use of pedicle screws in the lumbar spine provides a sufficient foundation to maintain the necessary surgical correction over the period of relatively short life expectancy of DMD boys (Sengupta *et al.* 2002).

Surgical pelvic fixation may be necessary in older DMD patients, who have larger spinal curves and established pelvic obliquity; however, in the presence of deteriorating respiratory function, this surgery is associated with both a greater morbidity and higher complication rate (Sengupta *et al.* 2002). In advanced DMD cases (where surgical intervention is absolutely contraindicated) orthotic treatment (such as a double plaster cast or brace) may offer an acceptable compromise (Heller *et al.* 1997)

Ultimately, nocturnal ventilation is the most important factor in the improvement in survival of patients with late stage DMD and the best prognosis remains for older DMD patients who have had both scoliosis surgery and have nocturnal ventilation (Eagle *et al.* 2004).

#### 1.7.3 Prevention of pulmonary mortality

Respiratory failure is the primary cause of mortality in DMD, may occur suddenly, and is often precipitated by an acute respiratory infection. Researchers estimate that between 55% (Mukoyama *et al.* 1987; Brooke *et* 

*al.* 1989) and 90% of DMD patient mortality results from respiratory failure between 16.2 and 19.0 years of age (Emery 1980; Rideau, Glorion and Duport 1983). Eagle *et al.* (2002) reports that the implementation of nocturnal ventilation has improved survival rates from 19 years of age in non-ventilated DMD patients in 1967 to 25 years of age in ventilated patients (Eagle *et al.* 2002).

The first clinical signs of respiratory insufficiency are sleep-related breathing disorders and are manifested in nocturnal hypoxia with symptoms including nightmares, restless sleep patterns, headaches, morning confusion, and daytime hypersomnolence (Smith, Edwards and Calverley 1989). In DMD patients with advanced respiratory compromise, row-a-boat phenomena is a respiratory movement adopted to compensate for atrophied respiratory muscles (Yasuma *et al.* 2001).

A respiratory vital capacity of less than one litre is currently considered to be the best single predictor of non-survival in DMD patients (Phillips *et al.* 1999). When respiratory failure becomes evident, assisted nasal ventilation is considered a paramount treatment option (Simmonds *et al.* 1998). Therefore, the provision of adequate nocturnal mechanical ventilation is the most important factor in the improvement in survival of patients with late stage DMD (Eagle *et al.* 2004).

#### 1.7.4 Prevention of cardiac mortality

The mortality incidence of cardiac origin in DMD reportedly varies from 10% (Gulati *et al.* 2005) to 12.5% (Ishihara 2004). A 2005 retrospective study of the ECGs of 111 DMD patients under 21 years of age concluded that the progressive decline in cardiac function of patients with DMD can be positively altered by corticosteroid treatment, that the positive cardiac effects elicited by corticosteroids appear to be sustained beyond the duration of treatment, and that the benefits of corticosteroid treatment are independent of steroid type (prednisone or deflazacort) (Markham *et al.* 2005).

Jefferies *et al.* (2005) found that the early diagnosis and treatment of dilated cardiomyopathy in DMD lead to ventricular remodelling, and a subsequently improved prognosis, in patients (Jefferies *et al.* 2005). Overall it appears that the development of improved diagnostic techniques (Ashford *et al.* 2005) and early detection of cardiac involvement leading to appropriate treatment is a major factor in preventing or delaying cardiac morbidity in DMD patients (Gulati *et al.* 2005).

# 1.8 Dystrophin and the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex (DGC)

Dystrophin is a rod-shaped cytoskeleton protein with a molecular weight of 427 kilo Daltons (kDa), making it one of the largest known human proteins (Koenig *et al.* 1987; Koenig, Monaco and Kunkel 1988). The protein consists of 4 domains; an amino-terminal actin-binding domain, a central rod domain (containing spectrin-like repeats), a cysteine-rich domain, and a unique carboxy-terminal domain (Figure 1-3). Dystrophin is located on the inner surface of the plasma membrane in cardiac, skeletal, and smooth muscle cells.

Ervasti and Campbell (1991) demonstrated that dystrophin is tightly linked to a 156 kDa extracellular glycoprotein by way of a complex of transmembrane proteins known as the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex (DGC). The cysteine-rich and C-terminal domains of dystrophin interact with the DGC which is divided into two protein groups; sarcoglycans and dystroglycans. The DGC thus provides a link between the cytoskeleton and laminin-2 which is the extracellular matrix protein linking dystroglycan (Ervasti and Campbell 1991) (Figure 1-12).





The DGC forms a transmembrane link between the extracellular matrix (laminin  $\alpha$ -2 chain) and the intracellular skeleton (actin filaments), which is thought to mechanically stabilise the plasma membrane of muscle cells. Available from http://www.neuro.wustl.edu/ neuromuscular

The currently understood roles of the DGC are listed in Table 1-3

below;

Table 1-3 Currentl	y understood r	roles of the DGC
--------------------	----------------	------------------

Role of	f the DGC	Reference
•	stabilisation of the plasma membrane against mechanical	
	stresses organisation of membrane	(Petrof <i>et al.</i> 1993)
	proteins	(Brenman <i>et al.</i> 1995)
•	signal transduction	(Brenman <i>et al.</i> 1995)
•	Ca <sup>2+</sup> regulation	(Song <i>et al.</i> 1996)

In DMD patients the DGC appears drastically reduced at the membrane (Sakuraba *et al.* 1993). The absence of dystrophin thus leads to a disruption of the DGC, a loss in the integrity of the plasmalemma, and subsequent myocyte necrosis (Hoffman 1996). Exactly how the disruption of the DGC leads to myocyte necrosis is not clearly understood, but several lines of evidence suggest that oxidative stress may play an important role in the process (Brown 1995). Mendell, Engel, and Derrer (1971) first proposed that an imbalance of free radicals contributes to the necrotic processes in DMD. This theory was further substantiated by Mizuno (1984) who reported elevated levels of free radical-scavenging enzymes in dystrophic muscle (Mizuno 1984).

# 1.8.1 Neuronal nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide synthase

Neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) in skeletal muscle is anchored to the sarcolemma via the DGC and produces free radicals (Brenman *et al.* 1995; Brenman *et al.* 1996). The PDZ domain of dystrophin interacts directly with syntrophin which, in turn, is directly associated with dystrophin (Brenman *et al.* 1996) (Figure 1-12). The absence of dystrophin subsequently leads to a cytosolic mislocalisation of nNOS to the interior of the myocyte where it continues to produce nitric oxide (NO) and maintains some of its enzymatic activity (Brenman *et al.* 1995; Chang *et al.* 1996), namely the conversion of arginine to citrulline and NO (Crosbie *et al.* 1998).

In addition, there is insufficient counterbalance by NO of  $\alpha$ adrenergic vasoconstriction in DMD patients and the *mdx* mouse model further suggesting that the mechanical stress in DMD is worsened by the existing functional ischaemia (Thomas *et al.* 1998; Sander *et al.* 2000; Hoffman and Dressman 2001; Rando 2001). NO is a highly reactive molecule that can modify lipids, proteins, and DNA through various biochemical mechanisms (Beckman 1991; Moncada and Higgs 1993; Marletta 1994; Nathan and Xie 1994; Yun, Dawson and Dawson 1996). This knowledge has led to the hypothesis that free radical toxicity resulting from mislocalised nNOS may significantly contribute to DMD muscle pathology (Taylor *et al.* 1980; Crosbie *et al.* 1998). Regulation of nNOS activity, which normally occurs via Ca<sup>2+</sup>-calmodulin, may be altered by elevated levels of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> in *mdx* mouse muscles (Bertorini *et al.* 1982; Jackson, Jones and Edwards 1985; Turner 1991).

Damage to the sarcolemma, an increase in cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations, and ischaemia can all lead to an inflammatory response and the subsequent activation of inflammatory cells and increased production of inflammatory mediators (Spencer and Tidball 2001). Wehling, Spencer and Tidball (2001) (Wehling, Spencer and Tidball 2001) concluded that the over expression of NOS in *mdx* mouse muscles reduces the concentration of

cytotoxic macrophages. This mechanism had been shown to be diseasespecific as nNOS is linked directly (via  $\alpha$ -syntrophin) to dystrophin (Thomas *et al.* 1998; Sander *et al.* 2000; Hoffman and Dressman 2001; Rando 2001). A chronic inflammatory state exists in DMD which further contributes to progressive tissue degeneration and a vicious cycle of muscle degeneration is repeated as shown in Figure 1-13.



Figure 1-10 Vicious cycle of muscle degeneration in DMD

#### 1.9 Animal models of DMD

Various animal models of DMD, both naturally occurring and genetically engineered, are available to muscular dystrophy researchers (Cooper 1989; Allamand and Campbell 2000; Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004). The utilisation of these animal models constitutes an invaluable asset, allowing extensive pre-clinical studies on the efficacy, safety, and functionality of therapeutic strategies (Nonaka 1998). However, although these experimental models possess mutations in the dystrophin gene and may present similarly to the biochemical dystrophinopathy observed in humans, there is marked disparity in terms of pathological severity and phenotype between species. Animal models of DMD may differ considerably in terms of their suitability as experimental models of the human disease. Collins and Morgan (2003) maintain that it is only possible that a successful treatment will eventually be

identified through the integration of studies in multiple species differentially suited to addressing particular research questions (Collins and Morgan 2003). Therefore, it is imperative that researchers thoroughly determine the suitability of specific animal models when determining their applicability as valid research tools in DMD studies.

#### 1.9.1 The X-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) mouse

In 1984, Bulfield *et al.* identified the naturally occurring *mdx* mouse. The *mdx* mouse is a spontaneous mutation of the C57BL/10ScSn (C57) control mouse strain with elevated serum CK levels and dystrophic muscle lesions. The *mdx* mouse was described as a murine glycolytic mutation with histological myopathy (Bulfield *et al.* 1984).

The external appearance of the *mdx* mouse is similar to the nonmutant C57 mouse strain, with no muscle wasting evident visibly, and minimal muscular weakness (Nonaka 1998) (Figure 1-14). Molecular features of the *mdx* mouse were investigated by Sicinski *et al.* (1989) who determined that a replacement of a cytosine by a thymine at position 3185 of the sequence coding of the gene produced a stop codon that permanently terminates the translation of dystrophin. The truncated protein comprises the N-terminal domain and seven repetitive sequences of the central domain. The rest is absent, and it is unknown as to whether the residual protein is actually stable and functional (Sicinski *et al.* 1989).

Points of similarity with the *mdx* mouse model and human DMD are the X-linked mode of inheritance, mutations in the dystrophin gene, elevated serum CK levels, primary skeletal muscle involvement, cardiac muscle involvement, smooth muscle involvement, and the absence of dystrophin (Emery 1993).



#### Figure 1-11 C57BL/10ScSn (C57) and X-linked muscular dystrophy (*mdx*) mice. Visual classification of *mdx* mutant mice is difficult due to the mild phenotype. The mouse shown lower left is a control (C57) mouse with the *mdx* mouse positioned upper right. Available from http://jaxmice.jax.org/library/notes/446c.html

However, there are significant discrepancies between the *mdx* mouse model and the human disease form. Muscle histology differs between humans and *mdx* mice in that, although muscle degeneration is evident early on in the *mdx* mouse, regeneration subsequently occurs (Dangain and Vrbova 1984). Furthermore, there is no evidence of fibre loss or progressive necrosis in the *mdx* mouse as there is in DMD (Emery 1993), and despite elevated serum CK levels, the *mdx* mouse expresses a mild phenotype (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004).

In the *mdx* mouse, onset of the first necrotic wave is reported at around 14 to 21 days of age and continues for approximately one month. Active and efficient regeneration of skeletal muscle appears to then compensate for the repeated cycles of muscle degeneration. This progression is in distinct contrast to DMD in humans in which skeletal and cardiac muscle is progressively damaged and replaced by fibrotic tissue and scarring (Dangain and Vrbova 1984). This disparity extends through the lifecycle of the *mdx* mouse (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004).

In aged *mdx* mice the respiratory diaphragm muscle pathology resembles muscle from DMD patients (Stedman *et al.* 1991). *Mdx* muscle exhibits susceptibility to damage by eccentric contractions and has lower specific force (Sacco *et al.* 1992; Moens, Baatsen and Marechal 1993; Petrof *et al.* 1993). The skeletal muscle of the *mdx* mouse shows dystrophic changes with active myocyte necrosis and regeneration. Necrotic fibres are frequently aggregated with tens to hundreds of fibres simultaneously undergoing necrosis (Tanabe, Esaki and Nomura 1986; Torres and Duchen 1987; Woo *et al.* 1987).

Further similarities and anomalies exist between DMD and the *mdx* mouse model. Similarities include the absence of dystrophin, a reduction in the complex of associated glycoproteins, and the presence of utrophin along the muscular membrane (not restricted to the neuromuscular junction (NMJ) as in unaffected muscle). The most significant anomaly lies in the fact that in the *mdx* mouse regeneration compensates for the degeneration of skeletal myocytes, whereas, in DMD the regeneration process is diminished and myocytes are progressively replaced with fatty and connective tissues (De La Porte, Morin and Koenig 1999).

However, due to the wide availability, low mouse breeding costs, speed of reproduction, the fact that the original mouse homozygous/hemizygous cross in this X-linked condition means that all the off spring are homozygous or hemizygous for the *mdx* mutation, and despite the obvious differences between the *mdx* mouse and the human disease, the *mdx* mouse remains the preferred DMD experimental animal model (Emery 1993; Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004)

Currently all studies involving *mdx* mice use mice from a separate wild type colony of controls such as the C57 mouse strain. This leaves researchers on the *mdx* mouse open to the criticism that after over 20 years of separate mouse straining that the experimental controls and *mdx* mice may have a different genetic background and that any reported differences may be the result of a genetic mutation other than the one on the dystrophin gene.

In order to solve this problem Kueh, Head, and Morley (2004) generated a new line of *mdx* mice (N1F1 *mdx* mice). Male C57BL/10ScSn-DMD (*mdx*) mice were bred with female C57BL/10ScSn mice, the offspring produced were mated to produce the following offspring: 50% females homozygous (*mdx/mdx*); 50% females heterozygous (*mdx/+*); 50% males hemizygous (*mdx/Y*) and 50% males wild type (+/Y). Kueh (2004) also showed that the litter mates can be conveniently phenotyped by serum CK measurements, skeletal muscle histology, and/or western blots for dystrophin using a polyclonal dystrophin antibody. N1F1 *mdx* mice provide an inexpensive and convenient method of generating male *mdx* mice with male litter mate controls on a genetically identical background, thus improving the

appropriateness of the *mdx* as an experimental model of DMD (Kueh, Head and Morley 2004).

#### 1.9.2 Alternative mouse models

Other mutations in the dystrophin gene have been found in mice including the *mdx*2-5<sup>cv</sup> mouse that develops a dystrophic phenotype (Chapman et al. 1989; Cox et al. 1993). Araki et al. (1997) observed an exon 52 knockout (52KO) mouse with high serum CK activity, an absence of dystrophin in myocytes, skeletal muscles of hypertrophic appearance, and yet only mild muscular weakness at age 12 months (Araki et al. 1997). The overall pathological findings in the skeletal muscles of the 52KO mouse are similar to the mdx mouse with marked variation in fibre size, active fibre necrosis, and active fibre regeneration. In the 52KO mouse there is no interstitial fibrosis, regeneration appears to compensate for necrosis, and the diaphragm is substantially involved (Nonaka 1998). The dystrophic (dy/dy) mouse and DMD patients both possess a calmitine deficiency (the absence of an inhibitor of calmitine-specific mitochondrial protease). This inhibitor is believed to prevent protein degradation (Lucas-Heron 1997). A double mutant lacking both dystrophin and utrophin, the mdx/utn mouse, has also been generated and displays a phenotype closer to that of DMD patients (including cardiomyopathy) thus appearing to be an improved mouse model of the disease (Deconinck et al. 1997; Grady et al. 1997).

Mouse models only partially resemble human disease with currently no naturally occurring mouse models associated with loss of other DGC components available to researchers. This has encouraged the generation of genetically engineered mouse models for DGC-linked muscular dystrophy. Not only have analyses of these mouse models led to a significant improvement in our understanding of the pathogenetic mechanisms for the development of DMD, but they are potentially valuable tools for the augmentation of novel therapeutic approaches for the disease (Durbeej and Campbell 2002).

#### 1.9.3 Feline disease models

In 1989, Carpenter et al. described a pair of male, two year old, sibling cats that presented with walking difficulties. Despite the absence of progressive muscular weakness, serum CK levels were raised, dystrophic muscular changes were apparent, dystrophin was not expressed, and yet no genomic deletion could be found (Caron et al. 1999). As two female siblings and the queen were unaffected, the disorder appeared to be X-linked. The condition described was progressive and histopathologically resembled DMD in displaying hypercontraction of myocytes, necrosis, phagocytosis, and a regenerative process. The cats differed from DMD in showing only a mild increase in endomysial connective tissue together with a lack of fatty infiltration. Marked muscle hypertrophy associated with hypertrophy and splitting of myocytes was present. Ultrastructurally there was distension of the SR and T-tubule system, swelling of the mitochondria, disorganisation and disarray of the myofilaments, and perforation of the plasma membrane. The histopathology was remarkable for hypertrophy and splitting of fibres, with progressive accumulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  deposits within the muscle. Unfortunately, this lineage of cats could not be further investigated as a potential DMD model as the entire family was neutered prior to original diagnosis (Cullen and Watkins 1993). The disease was termed feline Xlinked muscular dystrophy (FXMD). FXMD is characterised by marked dystrophin deficiency, muscle hypertrophy, conservation of strength, moderate fibrosis, and an absence of fatty infiltration (Caron et al. 1999).

Subsequently, two male cats with markedly reduced dystrophin expression were investigated. They exhibited reduced level of activity, stiff gait, and general skeletal muscle hypertrophy involving the tongue and diaphragm. Due to the presence of extensive muscle hypertrophy, the diagnosis for this disease in felines was proposed as hypertrophic feline muscular dystrophy (HFMD) (Gaschen *et al.* 1992). The dystrophin gene involving the muscle and Purkinje neuronal promoters and their respective first exons was found to be deleted in the HFMD (Winand *et al.* 1994). HFMD cats are characterised by hypertrophy of the axial and appendicular musculature (Gaschen and Burgunder 2001). HFMD exhibits similar clinical

symptoms to human DMD (Carpenter *et al.* 1989). Histopathology shows muscle hypertrophy with progressive Ca<sup>2+</sup> accumulation. Clinically, the diaphragmatic and glossal hypertrophies are predominant features. However, in the dystrophic cat, there is no progressive loss of myocytes, fibrosis, or muscle weakness (Hoffman and Gorospe 1991) thus limiting the applicability of the feline DMD model for experimental purposes.

#### 1.9.4 Canine disease models

In 1958, Meier described a degenerative muscle disease in golden retriever dogs (Meier 1958). The disease was suspected as being homologous with DMD, however, a precise diagnosis of canine muscular dystrophy could not be made until the dystrophin gene was isolated in 1987 (Hoffman, Brown and Kunkel 1987; Koenig et al. 1987). Canine X-linked muscular dystrophy models include the Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy dog (GRMD) (Cooper et al. 1988; Kornegay et al. 1988), the German shorthaired pointer (Schatzberg et al. 1999), the wire-haired fox terrier (Gorospe et al. 1991), the Belgian shepherd, Irish terrier, miniature schnauzer, Samoyed, and Rottweiler. Specifically, in the GRMD a point mutation within the splice acceptor site of intron 6 leads to deletion of exon 7 from the dystrophin mRNA, and the consequent frameshift causes early termination of translation and resultant muscular dystrophy (Bartlett et al. 2000). Western blot analysis of skeletal muscle from GRMD dogs reveals a slightly truncated 390 kDa protein that is approximately 91% the size of normal dystrophin (Schatzberg et al. 1998).

Kornegay (1990) (Kornegay *et al.* 1990) used an affected golden retriever male dog to establish two colonies of GRMD canines. One colony was sent to Western Australia (Howell *et al.* 1997) and the first Australian carrier bitches were born in 1992. Specifically, GRMD has been shown to be an excellent model for the study of gene therapy in dystrophin deficient myopathies (Howell *et al.* 1997). GRMD disease features are tabulated in Table 1-4.

Estimating the serum CK activity tentatively identifies affected canines within the first 48 hours of life but carrier detection cannot be

determined by serum CK activity. For definitive carrier diagnosis, an exon seven specific genomic PCR product is used (Bartlett *et al.* 1996). Diagnosis of affected and non-affected canines may also be determined immunocytochemically in muscle (Howell *et al.* 1997). GRMD pups usually suckle less well and are weaker than non-affected pups. They tend to have decreased weight gain, with more specific clinical signs appearing at six to eight weeks of age (Table 1-4).

RMD	disease features	reference
•	elevated serum CK levels (>10,000	(Cullen and Watkins 1993)
	U/L compared with 100 U/L in controls)	(Emony 1003)
-	cardioniyopany	(Enlery 1995) (Korpogov et al. 1994)
-	dooth commonly on a result of cardion	(Notified and Cooper 1080)
•	failure	(valentine, Cummings and Cooper 1969)
	difficulty in swallowing due to	
	hypertrophy of the tongue and	
	temporal muscle atrophy	
•	functional benefits but	(Liu <i>et al.</i> 2004)
	histopathological adverse effects with	
	prednisone treatment	(Beltran <i>et al.</i> 2001)
•	electroretinogram abnormalities not	
	the same as in DMD	(Childers <i>et al.</i> 2002)
•	eccentric muscle contractions induce	
	controls	
	gross cardiac muscle lesions as the	(Howell <i>et al.</i> 1997).
	disease progresses	
	histologically prominent muscle	(Emery 1993)
	necrosis	
•	necrosis and calcification of muscle	(Hoffman <i>et al.</i> 1994)
•	necrosis and calcification of the	(Howell, Kakulas and Pass 1994)
	diaphragm muscle	
•	progressive muscle atrophy	(Kornegay <i>et al.</i> 1994)
•	regeneration of myocytes	(Hoffman <i>et al.</i> 1994)
•	revertant myocyte formation	(Howell <i>et al.</i> 1997)
•	severely reduced transcripts from the	(Sharp <i>et al.</i> 1992)
	dystrophin gene	
	shortened lifespan	(Valentine, Cummings and Cooper 1989).

Table 1-4Disease features of the GRMD canine model of DMDGRMD disease featuresreference

Gait abnormalities are displayed as early as 10 weeks, which worsen gradually. Initial clinical signs include a progressive stiffness of the limb muscles, with the hind limbs affected more severely than the fore limbs, and as the pup walks or runs the hind limbs often advance simultaneously (bunny hopping). During the first year the gait becomes progressively more restricted with the canines tiring easily. Overextension at the carpus, overflexion at the tarsus, and abduction of the paws occurs. Affected animals may die within days, months, or years of birth (with some canines living for six years or more). Pups may actually die within days of birth with a fulminating neonatal form of GRMD (Cullen and Watkins 1993). Mature GRMD canines usually die as a result of degeneration of the cardiac muscle (Valentine, Cummings and Cooper 1989).

Currently, the GRMD canine disease model appears the most appropriate due to the progressive nature of the disease and the clinical, pathological, and histological similarities to human DMD (Emery 1993). However, individual variation in phenotype, shorter lifespan than unaffected siblings, cost, and size prohibit large-scale canine straining and widespread research use. Subsequently, the use of canine models is largely restricted to comparative pathophysiological experiments and evaluation of DMD treatments that have previously been successful in amelioration of the *mdx* phenotype (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004).

#### 1.9.5 Zebrafish model

The zebrafish is rapidly emerging as an excellent model for specific human disease traits (Dooley and Zon 2000). Bassett *et al.* (2003) demonstrated that the *sapje* class of recessive lethal zebrafish mutations disrupts the zebrafish orthologue of the dystrophin gene. The progressive muscle degeneration phenotype of *sapje* mutant zebrafish embryos was found to result from the failure of embryonic muscle end attachments, thus potentially providing a model for pathological mechanisms in DMD muscle. Guyon *et al.* (2003) concluded that the zebrafish was an appropriate model for the study of dystrophin and its associated proteins, in that zebrafish; are small vertebrates (thus beneficial for genetic studies requiring large numbers of animals), possess a body of predominantly skeletal muscle (making the model attractive for studying muscle protein function), have potential orthologs to human DGC proteins, express sarcoglycans, dystroglycan, and dystrophin, and can be manipulated from diploid to haploid thus making the

model suitable for screening recessive genetic traits (Postlethwait and Talbot 1997).

#### 1.9.6 The Caenhorhabiditis elegans worm

Invertebrate DMD animal models, including the *Caenhorhabiditis elegans* worm (*C. elegans*), are inexpensive, rapidly growing, and amenable to large genetic studies (Gaud *et al.* 2004). *C. elegans* possesses a dystrophin-like gene (*dys-1*) encoding a protein displaying the equivalent structural features as human dystrophin (Bessou *et al.* 1998; Roberts and Bobrow 1998) together with body-wall muscles with sarcometric structure and protein composition closely related to mammalian striated muscles (Schnabel *et al.* 1997).

In addition, the *C. elegans* model has been used to identify genes specific to counteracting the absence of dystrophin (Gieseler, Grisoni and Segalat 2000; Mariol and Segalat 2001; Gieseler *et al.* 2002). In a sensitised *MyoD* genetic background, *dys-1* mutations result in progressive locomotion impairment with widespread degeneration of body-wall muscles (Gieseler, Grisoni and Segalat 2000). The *C. elegans* model has limitations in that the *C. elegans* striated muscles differ in two ways to mammalian striated muscle in that they do not fuse and do not regenerate. Gaud *et al.* (1963) maintained that the *C. elegans* model was appropriate for performing large compound screens as a first pass with a view to eventually testing selected compounds on the *mdx* mouse. Luca (2004) argues that drug screening using the *C. elegans* model cannot have pre-clinical implications due to the lack of mechanistic support the model offers due to the significant differences between nematodes and mammals.

#### 1.10 Pathology and histology of DMD

Significant abnormalities in muscle pathology are evident in DMD skeletal muscle prior to the observation of clinical symptoms. At the preclinical stage of the disease, histological changes may simply include increased variation in myocyte diameter and an increase in the number of

*eosinophilic fibres* (identified as densely eosin stained rounded fibres containing increased levels of  $Ca^{2+}_{i}$ ), which are ordinarily absent or artefactual in unaffected skeletal muscle. Emery (1993) maintains that the accumulation of  $Ca^{2+}_{i}$  in DMD affected skeletal muscle typically precludes muscle necrosis. This increase in  $Ca^{2+}_{i}$  in DMD muscle has been demonstrated by a number of researchers using several methods including X-ray microanalysis (Maunder-Sewry and Dubowitz 1979), biochemical (Bertorini *et al.* 1982), and histochemical techniques (Bodensteiner and Engel 1978; Emery and Burt 1980).

In the preclinical stages of DMD, regenerating myocytes are observed as possessing small cell diameter, basophilic cytoplasm, increased ribonucleic acid levels, and large vesicular nuclei with prominent nucleoli (Emery 1993). Then, as the disease progresses, regenerating fibres are observed less frequently, necrotic myocytes become more obvious, and invasion by macrophages occurs (Cullen and Fulthorpe 1975). The pathological changes observed in DMD patients may also present in manifesting female DMD carriers (Emery 1993).

In cases of clinically established DMD, the histological changes in the quadriceps and gastrocnemius muscles include increased variation in fibre diameter, fibre necrosis, invasion by macrophages, and the eventual infiltration of adipose and connective tissue (Emery 1993) (Figure 1-12).



### Figure 1-12 Human skeletal muscle biopsies of unaffected and DMD affected individuals.

Skeletal muscle biopsies of (A) unaffected individual at three years (b) DMD patient three years old (C) DMD patient nineteen years old (post mortem). The haematoxylin and eosin stained muscle biopsy shows marked variation in myocyte diameter, large hyaline fibres, and increased connective tissue in DMD affected muscle tissues (B) (C) compared to that of the unaffected individual (A). Available from http://www.rehabinfo.net

Figure 1-13 illustrates examples of typical pathological features of DMD affected muscles including the presence of numerous immature muscle fibres (Figure 1-13A), intermediate sized regenerating muscle fibres (Figure 1-13B), and the occurrence of elevated numbers of small regenerating fibres (Figure 1-13C). Pathological features of late stage DMD (Figure 1-13D) include an increase in endomysial connective tissue, variable myocyte size, elevated numbers of small rounded myocytes, and an abundance of hyper contracted myocytes.



Figure 1-13 H&E stained sections of DMD affected human skeletal muscles. The H&E stained tissues show features of (A) basophilic fibres (B) macrophage invasion (C) regenerating fibres and (D) late pathology in DMD. Available from www.neuro.wustl.edu

Interestingly, Karpati, Carpenter and Prescott (1988) concluded that smaller diameter myocytes appear more resistant to necrosis than myocytes of larger diameter, however, the cellular or molecular basis by which smaller calibre muscle fibres are resistant to the necrotizing effect of the dystrophic gene expression remains unknown.

It must be noted that muscle histology differs between DMD patients and *mdx* mice in that, although muscle degeneration is evident early on in the *mdx* mouse, regeneration subsequently occurs (Dangain and Vrbova 1984) that does not occur in humans. Therefore, it is imperative that this difference be born in mind when extrapolating experimental data between the species.

#### 1.10.1 Calcium homeostasis

Bodensteiner and Engel (1978) reported that the muscle biopsies of DMD patients revealed 43 times the level of non-necrotic Ca<sup>2+</sup> positive fibres of controls (Bodensteiner and Engel 1978). It is widely accepted that myocyte degeneration in DMD is related to the mechanical role of dystrophin, with the consequence that its absence would enhance contraction-induced focal

sarcolemmal damage. This, in turn, can increase cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, leading (via a positive feedback loop) to activation of mechano-sensitive and leak Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, of Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent proteases, and ultimately necrosis in DMD muscle (Ruegg and Gillis 1999; Alderton and Steinhardt 2000; Mallouk, Jacquemond and Allard 2000; Imbert *et al.* 2001; Robert *et al.* 2001).

#### 1.10.2 Centronucleated fibres

Centronucleated fibres (CNFs) are myofibres with their nuclei located in the central region of the cytoplasm (not peripherally) and are generally recognised as being regenerated myofibres. CNFs are commonly observed in the histopathology of both DMD patients and animal models of the disease (Narita and Yorifuji 1999). In DMD patients the population of CNFs is considered to be lower than in milder forms of muscular dystrophy (Tohgi *et al.* 1994).

In the histopathology of the *mdx* mouse (Figure 1-14), muscle degeneration occurs at three to five weeks of age, after which myofibres regenerate (presenting predominantly as CNFs) and the mouse lives a relatively normal life compared with the control strain. In contrast, the muscles of the *mdx* mouse diaphragm show progressive myofibre degeneration and interstitial fibrosis throughout the animal's lifespan (Stedman *et al.* 1991; Dupont-Versteegden and McCarter 1992; Louboutin *et al.* 1993; Gillis 1996; Carter *et al.* 1997; Anderson *et al.* 1998; Yang, Luo and Petrof 1998). Narita (1999) concluded that the failed CNF formation in the diaphragm muscles of *mdx* mice may actually be the equivalent phenomena as observed in human DMD patients (Narita and Yorifuji 1999).

Vital staining with Evans Blue (EB) dye shows that the sarcolemmal strength of CNFs compensates for the fragility of muscle tissue (Matsuda, Nishikawa and Tanaka 1995; Straub *et al.* 1997). CNFs are larger than non-CNFs (possibly further explaining their resistance to mechanical stresses) and have been shown to clearly be able to compensate for the fragility of muscle tissue. However, the mechanism by which CNFs acquire resistance to mechanical stress and grow into peripherally nucleated normal muscle fibres is still not known (Narita and Yorifuji 1999).



Figure 1-14 H&E stained SOL muscles in a C57 and an mdx mouse.

Histological slides of H&E stained skeletal muscles in (A) a control C57 mouse and (B) an *mdx* mouse at four weeks of age. Note the presence of peripheral nuclei in unaffected muscle (A), whereas (B) possesses necrotic and regenerating regions which are characterised by infiltrating lymphocytes (inflammatory/necrotic areas) and areas of regenerating myofibres with central nucleation (CNFs). Available from http://www.unige.ch/sciences/pharm/fagie/research/necrosis.html

### **1.11 Therapeutic agents and strategies in DMD**

#### treatment and research

Current therapeutic strategies for the treatment of DMD specifically target components of the disease pathology with a specific view to prolonging ambulation, improving quality of life, and extending longevity. Five dominant approaches currently exist with respect to DMD therapeutics and research; dampening the inflammatory response, improving protein synthesis, inhibiting proteolysis, increasing muscle cell proliferation and regeneration, and gene based therapies. Typically the pharmacological strategies contrastingly involve either (a) the promotion of muscle growth, regeneration, and anabolism or (b) the inhibition of muscle lysis, cell death, and catabolism. The gene based therapies focus on repairing the primary genetic defect in DMD.

#### **1.11.1** Dampening the inflammatory response

Inflammatory cells including mast cells (Gorospe *et al.* 1994), T cells, and macrophages (Spencer *et al.* 2001; Wehling, Spencer and Tidball 2001) have all been demonstrated to have a role in the inflammatory responses exhibited in *mdx* and DMD pathology. Therapeutics aimed at decreasing the inflammatory response in DMD focus primarily on eliciting immunosuppression through corticosteroids (prednisone, prednisolone,

dexamethasone, azathioprine, and deflazacort). In addition, natural remedies (Chinese herbal medicine and green tea extract) and cytokine modulation (TNF- $\alpha$  transgene, infliximab, nNOS transgene, and L-arginine) have also been investigated as anti-inflammatory strategies and treatments.

#### 1.11.2 Corticosteroids

The administration of corticosteroids to ameliorate the progression of DMD was initiated in the 1970s (Demos et al. 1976). Over the past 30 years research studies (involving over 1000 DMD patients) have reported positive effects of corticosteroids in DMD (Emery 2001). Significant functional improvement in DMD patients has been observed as early as seven to 10 days after treatment (Sansome, Royston and Dubowitz 1993; Dubowitz et al. 2002; Emery 2002). Multiple, randomised trials have found improved function and strength in patients treated with prednisone (Mendell et al. 1989; Fenichel, Florence et al. 1991; Griggs et al. 1991; Griggs et al. 1993) and it has been estimated that the progress of the disease can be slowed by at least 3 years with long-term prednisone treatment (Fenichel, Florence et al. 1991). It should be noted that high dose of corticosteroids can, in fact, stimulate proteolysis & inhibit protein synthesis in skeletal muscle (Odedra, Bates & Millward 1983). Furthermore, prednisone was shown not to improve muscle repair and fibre growth in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD (Anderson, McIntosh and Poettcker 1996) and Burrow (1991) found no difference in dystrophin expression when the number of somatic dystrophin reverent fibres were compared from muscle biopsies of DMD patients treated with prednisone and controls (Burrow et al. 1991).

However, a methyloxazoline derivative of prednisone, deflazacort (DFZ), improves muscle repair and fibre growth in *mdx* mice (Anderson, McIntosh and Poettcker 1996). Clinically, DFZ has demonstrated similar positive effects to prednisone with an improved side effect profile when used in several clinical conditions (Aicardi *et al.* 1991; Gray *et al.* 1991; Loftus *et al.* 1991; Arizon, Anguita, Valles, Lopez-Rubio *et al.* 1993; Arizon, Anguita, Valles, Montero *et al.* 1993; Broyer *et al.* 1997) and in DMD (Biggar *et al.* 2001). Biggar *et al.* (2001) concluded that DFZ can preserve gross motor and

pulmonary function in boys with DMD with limited side effects. Angelini *et al.* (1994) further reported a significantly longer period of ambulation in DFZ-treated patients. DFZ is not currently commercially available in Australia.

The specific mechanisms through which corticosteroids produce a clinical benefit in DMD remain elusive. Systemic side effects are significant and include weight gain, cataracts, hypertension, diabetes, behavioural changes (Bogdanovich et al. 2004), and an increased risk of vertebral fractures as a result of bone demineralisation (Bachrach 2005). Glucocorticoid therapy further provokes bone fragility by increasing urinary Ca<sup>2+</sup> loss, altering vitamin D metabolism, and impairing osteoclasts (Bachrach 2005). The side effect profile and risks involved in long-term use of steroids precludes their administration by some clinicians (Dubrovsky et al. 1998) and for those who opt to prescribe corticosteroids there remain controversial aspects to the treatment. Debate continues as to the specific age at which to commence treatment, the correct dose of corticosteroid to administer, the appropriate length of treatment and regime to adopt, when withdrawal is appropriate, and realistically what functional benefits can be expected (Dubrovsky et al. 1998; Muntoni et al. 2002). A comparatively small group of DMD patients (usually the most severely affected) fail to respond to corticosteroid therapy at all (Dubrovsky et al. 1998). However, despite the side effect profile, the controversy surrounding the specific therapeutic regimen, and the fact that a percentage of DMD patients fail to positively respond to treatment, corticosteroids (specifically prednisone) continue to be the first-line drugs of choice in the palliative treatment of DMD. A list of reported therapeutic benefits and proposed mechanisms of action of various corticosteroids in DMD research and treatment are presented in Table 1-5.

•	Preservation of muscle strength (prednisone)	(Mendell <i>et al.</i> 1989) (Fenichel, Pestronk <i>et al.</i> 1991) (Fenichel, Florence <i>et al.</i> 1991) (Fenichel, Mendell <i>et al.</i> 1991)
•	Preservation of muscle strength (DFZ)	(Bonifati <i>et al.</i> 2000)
•	Anabolic effect on muscle (prednisone)	(Rifai <i>et al.</i> 1995)
•	Stabilisation of myocyte membranes (prednisone)	(Jacobs <i>et al.</i> 1996)
•	Attenuation of muscle necrosis (prednisolone)	(Takagi, Watanabe and Kojima 1998)
•	Improved Ca <sup>2+</sup> homeostasis (prednisolone)	(Metzinger <i>et al.</i> 1995) (Vandebrouck <i>et al.</i> 1999)
•	Positive immunosuppressive effect with a reduction in cytotoxic CD8 <sup>+</sup> cells	(Kissel, Burrow and Rammohan 1991)
•	Reduction of infiltration of inflammatory	(Wehling-Henricks, Lee and Tidball 2004)
•	No immunosuppressive effects (azathioprine)	(Kissel <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Griggs <i>et al.</i> 1993)
•	Positive effect on myogenesis (dexamethasone and prednisolone)	(Guerriero and Florini 1980) (Passaquin <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Sklar and Brown 1991) (Hardiman, Sklar and Brown 1993)
:	Utrophin accumulation (dexamethasone) Increase in utrophin expression	(Pasquini <i>et al.</i> 1995) (Courdier-Fruh <i>et al.</i> 2002)
•	No increase in utrophin expression (prednisone)	(Kinali <i>et al.</i> 2002)
•	Myoblast proliferation and differentiation	(Ball and Sanwal 1980)
•	Inhibition of muscle proteolysis (prednisone)	(Rifai <i>et al.</i> 1995)
•	Slowed progression of scoliosis	(Alman, Raza and Biggar 2004)
•	Preservation of ventilatory function	(Yilmaz, Karaduman and Topaloglu 2004)
•	Down-regulation of the expression of genes involved in the immune response (prednisone)	(Gosselin and McCormick 2004) (Muntoni <i>et al.</i> 2002)

### Table 1-5Therapeutic benefits and theoretical mechanism(s) of action of<br/>corticosteroids in the treatment of DMD.

#### 1.11.3 Natural remedies

Both Chinese herbal medicines and green tea extract have been proposed as potential therapeutic agents in the treatment of DMD. Experimental results (in *mdx* mice) were mixed and inconclusive for green tea extract (Buetler *et al.* 2002). Chinese herbal treatments (including oral medications, decoctions, therapeutic massages and acupuncture) elicited minimal functional improvements with significant side effects including shortness of stature, hirsutism, cushingoid appearance, and weight gain (Urtizberea *et al.* 2003).

#### 1.11.4 Tumour necrosis factor-α

Tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) is a cytokine that is up-regulated in DMD (Porreca *et al.* 1999) and enhances the inflammatory response via direct toxicity. Research strategies attempting to modulate TNF- $\alpha$  levels in *mdx* mice (thus controlling cell-mediated damage to dystrophic muscle) to date have produced unpredictable and conflicting results (Tidball and Wehling-Henricks 2004) (Table 2-6).

#### **1.12 Nitric oxide based therapeutics**

The loss of NOS from dystrophic muscle significantly contributes to muscle pathology. This effect has been demonstrated to be a result of processes including the loss of both NO regulation of the inflammatory response (Wehling, Spencer and Tidball 2001) and NO-mediated vasodilation (Thomas *et al.* 1998; Sander *et al.* 2000). NO has been shown to have roles in both the scavenging of cytotoxic free radicals (Clancy, Leszczynska-Pizia and Abramson 1992; Kubes and Granger 1992; Wink *et al.* 1995) and the activation of satellite cells (Tatsumi *et al.* 2002). Wehling *et al.* (2001) demonstrated an anti-inflammatory effect, the normalisation of NO production in *mdx* mice, reduced concentration of macrophages, and reduction in muscle damage with NOS transgene expression. NO based therapeutics thereby has the potential to both decrease damage and promote

repair of DMD muscle (Table 1-6). NO also plays a role in signalling pathways in cardiac myocytes (Massion and Balligand 2003).

#### 1.12.1 L-arginine

L-arginine is the substrate for NOS and research has indicated its potential use in DMD treatment via mechanism of utrophin upregulation. Researchers have demonstrated that L-arginine causes an increase in levels of utrophin in *mdx* mice and controls that is specifically muscle membrane localised to the sarcolemma (Chaubourt *et al.* 1999; Chaubourt *et al.* 2000; Voisin *et al.* 2005). Most recently, Voisin (2005) reported an up to three fold increase in utrophin levels, a 57% reduction in CK levels, a 35% reduction in lower limb muscle fibre necrosis, lowered collagen levels, and decreased lipid overloading in *mdx* mice treated with L-arginine (Voisin *et al.* 2005). Exceeding normal NO levels in muscles may be cytotoxic and this needs be born in mind when considering the potential use of NO upregulation in DMD treatment (Zhuang *et al.* 2001) (Table 1-6).

#### 1.12.2 Utrophin upregulation

Utrophin is a cytoskeleton protein with over 80% homology with dystrophin and is expressed, at the NMJ, in normal and DMD muscles (Chaubourt *et al.* 1999). Dystrophin and utrophin are believed to have distinct roles in muscle with dystrophin responsible for a predominantly mechanical function and utrophin a predominantly architectural function (Rivier *et al.* 1997). The finding that the over expression (upregulation) of utrophin can functionally replace dystrophin in transgenic *mdx* mice has fuelled interest in developing pharmacological therapies that will increase endogenous utrophin expression in DMD patients (Tinsley *et al.* 1996). Increased levels of utrophin have been observed previously in DMD patients albeit in levels insufficiently raised to produce a positive clinical effect (Vainzof *et al.* 1995). The identification of molecules or drugs that potentially up regulate utrophin provides an opportunity for DMD researchers (Table 1-6).

### 1.13 Improving protein synthesis

Loss of functional muscle mass ultimately reduces both quality of life and longevity in DMD patients. Various therapeutic strategies aim to maintain the integrity of muscle mass through augmenting protein synthesis. The conservation of muscle mass in DMD also protects the potential for gene or stem cell therapies as the primary target muscle cells are preserved (Tidball and Wehling-Henricks 2004) (Table 1-6).

#### 1.13.1 Anabolic steroids

The therapeutic use of anabolic steroids (such as norethandrolone, methandrostenolone, and oxandrolone) in the treatment of DMD has been extensively investigated (Charash 1965, Dowben and Perlstein 1961, Gamstorp 1964) and the challenge remains in isolating agents producing desirable therapeutic outcomes with minimal androgenic side-effects (Table 1-6).

#### 1.13.2 Growth factors

Results with growth hormone (GH) therapy have been mixed and unpromising. However, insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) has been demonstrated to have a potent anabolic effect in mouse skeletal muscle *in vivo* (Bark *et al.* 1998; Musaro *et al.* 2001; Musaro *et al.* 2004) via the promotion of cell regeneration (Barton *et al.* 2002) and increased protein synthesis (Adams and McCue 1998; Barton-Davis *et al.* 1998), presenting promise as a potential pharmacological treatment in DMD (Table 1-6).

# 1.14 Decreasing proteolysis through reducing calpain activity

Proteolysis may be decreased via inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent proteases (calpains) or inhibition of the ubiquitin/proteasome system. Antiproteolytic strategies potentially slow catabolic processes and reduce the degradation of substrates integral to maintaining muscle function (Tidball and Wehling-Henricks 2004).

 $Ca^{2+}$  influx into dystrophic muscles is elevated (Bodensteiner and Engel 1978; Turner *et al.* 1988; Turner 1991; McArdle, Edwards and Jackson 1992). A 1995 study by Spencer, Croall and Tidball demonstrated that calpains in *mdx* mouse muscles have greater activity levels than in the C57 control strain and further work by Spencer and colleagues has shown that the over expression of a calpastatin (endogenous inhibitors of calpain) transgene in *mdx* mice reduced dystrophic pathology (Spencer and Mellgren 2002; Tidball and Spencer 2002) (Table 1-6).

#### 1.15 β<sub>2</sub>-adrenergic agonists

On the basis that  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonists potentially increase calpastatin expression in muscle, Spencer *et al.* (2002) investigated albuterol as a potential therapeutic agent. Results indicated an increase in muscle strength despite no improvement in muscle function tests.  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonists may not mediate their effects exclusively via calpains as it has also been demonstrated that  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonists inhibit the activation of macrophages and T cells (Sekut *et al.* 1995; Panina-Bordignon *et al.* 1997; Malfait *et al.* 1999) which have been shown to exacerbate muscle pathology in *mdx* mice (Spencer *et al.* 2001; Wehling, Spencer and Tidball 2001) (Table 1-6).

## 1.16 Increasing proliferation and regeneration of muscle cells

#### 1.16.1 Myostatin inhibition

Myostatin (growth determining factor-8) is a member of the transforming growth factor (TGF)  $\beta$  superfamily of proteins that regulate the proliferation and differentiation of specific cell types (McPherron, Lawler and Lee 1997). The myostatin gene is genetically well conserved throughout

evolution and is identical between human and mouse species (Lee and McPherron 2001). Myostatin is expressed from developing somites through adulthood and is a highly conserved negative regulator of muscle mass (Bogdanovich *et al.* 2004). A double-muscle phenotype-Is observed in mice expressing dominant negative transgenes (Zhu *et al.* 2000; Lee and McPherron 2001; Yang *et al.* 2001; Nishi *et al.* 2002) or carrying a targeted myostatin deletion (McPherron, Lawler and Lee 1997).

Studies have shown that endogenous myostatin blockade using anti-myostatin antibodies results in biochemical, anatomical, and physiological improvement in *mdx* mice (cited in Ruegg *et al.* 2002). Wagner et al. (2002) showed improved phenotype in dystrophin and myostatin mutated mice. Myostatin inhibition also has been shown to induce muscle hypertrophy and/or hyperplasia with a corresponding decrease in body fat (Hamrick, McPherron and Lovejoy 2002; McPherron and Lee 2002; Ruegg et al. 2002; Zimmers et al. 2002). Researchers have shown increases in muscle mass and strength coupled with no adverse side effects in both mdx mice that are null mutants for myostatin (Wagner et al. 2002) and mdx mice treated with anti-myostatin antibodies (Bogdanovich et al. 2002). A case report of a child with a mutated myostatin gene and no detectable myostatin in his sera imply that anti-myostatin treatments in children may be without deleterious effects (Schuelke et al. 2004). As with other pharmacological treatments, myostatin inhibition fails to correct the underlying genetic defect and the muscles remain dystrophin deficient with any hypertrophy of the muscle increasing vulnerability to potential mechanical damage. Despite this, myostatin inhibition remains a potential therapeutic strategy for DMD treatment (Table 1-6).

#### 1.16.2 Leukaemia inhibitory factor

Leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) is a potent mitogen of primordial germ cells (Resnick *et al.* 1992), haematopoietic stem cells (Leary *et al.* 1990; Verfaillie and McGlave 1991), and embryonic stem cells (Williams *et al.* 1988). Three major studies have found the following positive effects of LIF; LIF increases muscle regeneration in acutely injured muscles (Barnard *et al.* 

1994), LIF prevents muscle damage after denervation (Finkelstein *et al.* 1996), and mice that are null mutants for LIF show decreased muscle repair (Kurek *et al.* 1997). Challenges in developing a safe method for systemic delivery of LIF to muscle continue to impede its use in the clinical treatment of DMD (Table 1-6).

Table 1-6 Therapeutics agents in DWD treatment and researc	Table 1-6	Therapeutics agents in DMD treatment and research
--	-----------	---

Therapeutic agent	Mode of action	DMD or <i>mdx</i>	Reported benefits	Adverse effects reported	Reference(s)
Norethandrolone	anabolic pathways	DMD	modest improvement in muscle strength	negative rebound effect, androgenic effects (priapism, acne, hair growth)	(Dowben and Perlstein 1961)
methandrostenolone	anabolic pathways	DMD	modest improvement in muscle strength	negative rebound effect, androgenic effects (priapism, acne, hair growth)	(Gamstorp 1964) (Charash 1965)
oxandrolone	anabolic pathways, activates gene transcription, antagonises cortisol binding to glucocorticoid receptors	DMD	lean body mass increase, improvement in quantitative muscle function	minor androgenic effects in children, no improvement in function, no significant adverse effects	(Fenichel <i>et al.</i> 1997) (Fenichel <i>et al.</i> 2001) (Wong and Christopher 2002) (Zhao <i>et al.</i> 2004) (Church 2004)
growth hormone (GH)	anabolic pathways	DMD	small improvement in cardiac function	no effect or a catabolic effect on skeletal muscle	(Rudman <i>et al.</i> 1972) (Cittadini <i>et al.</i> 2003)
mazindol	inhibits GH	DMD	increased muscle function	no improvement in muscle function, slowed growth, sleep disturbances, increased heart rate (HR)	(Zatz, Betti and Frota-Pessoa 1986) (Zatz <i>et al.</i> 1987) (Coakley <i>et al.</i> 1988) (Zatz <i>et al.</i> 1989) (Griggs <i>et al.</i> 1990)
IGF-1	anabolic pathways, satellite cell proliferation	mdx	increased whole body muscle mass and strength, reduced pathology, hyperplasia, improved respiratory muscle strength, decrease in the catabolic effects of prednisone, reduced fibrosis in <i>mdx</i>	none reported	(Mauras and Beaufrere 1995) (Barton <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Gregorevic <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Day <i>et al.</i> 2002) (De Luca <i>et al.</i> 2003)

Therapeutic agent	Mode of action	DMD or <i>mdx</i>	Reported benefits	Adverse effects reported	Reference(s)
calpastatin transgene	inhibits proteolysis by calpains in muscle	mdx	reduced necrosis	none reported	(Tidball and Spencer 2002)
albuterol	inhibits proteolysis, inhibits activation of macrophages and T cells, $\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonist	DMD	increased muscle strength	none reported	(Fowler <i>et al.</i> 2004) (Spencer <i>et al.</i> 2002)
MG132	inhibits proteolysis via the ubiquitin/proteasome system	mdx	reduced muscle pathology	none reported	(Bonuccelli <i>et al.</i> 2003)
prednisone (see also Table 2-4)	immunosuppressant, inhibits proteolysis, enhances myogenesis, modulates Ca <sup>2+</sup> handling, inhibits apoptosis	DMD and <i>mdx</i>	maintenance of strength and function, preservation of respiratory function, reduction in inflammation	weight gain, slowed longitudinal growth, behavioural disturbances, hirsutism, bone demineralisation (lowered density)	(Kissel <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Kawai <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Connolly <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Dubowitz <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Kinali <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Muntoni <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Merlini <i>et al.</i> 2003) (Wehling-Henricks, Lee and Tidball 2004) (Yilmaz, Karaduman and Topaloglu 2004)
		mdx	improved cardiac contractility		(Gosselin and McCormick 2004) (Hoey <i>et al.</i> 2002)
DFZ	immunosuppressant	DMD	similar to prednisone	similar to prednisone but generally less severe, cataracts	(Angelini <i>et al.</i> 1994) (Bonifati <i>et al.</i> 2000) (Biggar <i>et al.</i> 2001) (Silversides <i>et al.</i> 2003) (Alman, Raza and Biggar 2004) (Biggar <i>et al.</i> 2004)
Therapeutic agent	Mode of action	DMD or <i>mdx</i>	Reported benefits	Adverse effects reported	Reference(s)
--	---	--------------------------	--	--	---
					(Alman 2005)
azathioprine	inhibits DNA synthesis (not an immunosuppressant per se)	DMD	reduces inflammatory cells in muscle	no functional improvement	(Arizon, Anguita, Valles, Lopez- Rubio <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Griggs <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Kissel <i>et al.</i> 1993)
cyclosporine	inhibits calcineurin myoblast transfer	DMD and <i>mdx</i>	increased muscle strength	no effect or a detrimental effect on muscle function and histology, inhibition of muscle growth	(Weller <i>et al.</i> 1991) (Law <i>et al.</i> 1992) (Sharma, Mynhier and Miller 1993) (Law <i>et al.</i> 1993) (Mendell <i>et al.</i> 1995) (Miller <i>et al.</i> 1997) (Stupka <i>et al.</i> 2004)
herbal medicine	unknown	DMD	improved muscle function	weight gain, short stature, hirsutism, cushingoid appearance	(Urtizberea <i>et al.</i> 2003) (Courdier-Fruh <i>et al.</i> 2003)
green tea extract	antioxidant	mdx	reduced muscle necrosis (EDL)	no reduced muscle necrosis (SOL)	(Buetler <i>et al.</i> 2002)
tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) transgene	TNF-mediated processes in muscle and inflammatory cells	mdx	reduced muscle pathology at some stages, improved respiratory function	worsened muscle pathology at some stages	(Spencer, Marino and Winckler 2000) (Gosselin <i>et al.</i> 2003)
anti-TNF-α therapy (infliximab/remicade®)	blocks TNF function	mdx	delayed muscle pathology	none reported	(Grounds and Torrisi 2004)
nNOS transgene	NO-mediated processes in muscle	mdx	reduced muscle pathology and inflammation	none reported	(Wehling, Spencer and Tidball 2001)
L-arginine	increased NO production by NOS	mdx	reduced muscle pathology, increased utrophin expression	none reported	(Chaubourt <i>et al.</i> 1999) (Chaubourt <i>et al.</i> 2000) (Voisin <i>et al.</i> 2005)

Therapeutic agent	Mode of action	DMD or <i>mdx</i>	Reported benefits	Adverse effects reported	Reference(s)
NO	vasodilatation and mediation of the inflammatory response			excess level of NO are cytotoxic	(Zhuang <i>et al</i> . 2001)
anti-myostatin	myostatin function blockade	mdx	muscle hypertrophy, hyperplasia, reduced pathology, improved muscle function	none reported	(Bogdanovich <i>et al.</i> 2002) (Wagner <i>et al.</i> 2002)
LIF	increased muscle cell growth and proliferation	mdx	muscle hypertrophy, hyperplasia, reduced fibrosis, improved muscle strength	none reported	(Austin <i>et al.</i> 2000) (White <i>et al.</i> 2001) (White <i>et al.</i> 2002)
perindopril					
	angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor	DMD	delayed onset and progression of prominent left ventricle dysfunction	consistent with ACE inhibitors	(Duboc <i>et al.</i> 2005)

#### 1.17 Gene based therapies

Gene therapy can be broadly divided into two categories; somatic gene therapy and germ-line gene transfer. Somatic gene therapy aims to correct a gene defect in somatic cells and involves either the introduction of a normal gene directly to the affected tissue or *ex vivo* gene transfer to cells in culture followed by reimplantation into the patient. Germ-line gene transfer involves the introduction of genetic material to fertilised ova (thus integrating the DNA permanently into somatic and germ cell lines) (Turner, Dunckley and Dickson 1997).

Gene therapy in the treatment of DMD has met a number of obstacles, including immune reaction to viral vectors, difficulty in penetrating through the basal lamina, and the limited spread of action to a relatively small number of fibres (Dubrovsky *et al.* 1998). DMD affects muscles body-wide and an effective treatment ideally requires dystrophin induction in all muscles. For example, an adeno-associated virus (AAV) vector-mediated gene transfer has a limitation in insertion size up to 4.9 kb. Therefore, a full-length dystrophin cDNA (14 kb) cannot be incorporated into an AAV vector (Takeda 2004).

Another genetic approach involves regeneration of muscle using stem cells. There are many barriers to overcome in attempts to treat patients with bone marrow isolated stem cells. The most difficult challenge is in culturing the stem cells to increase their numbers (proliferate) for application and how to then introduce the normal dystrophin gene into these cells (Nonaka 2004). A 2005 study by Payne *et al.* demonstrated that murine skeletal muscle-derived stem cell (MDSC) transplantation into the hearts of *mdx* mice resulted in the expression of dystrophin-positive myocytes and concluded that MDSC transplantation warranted further investigation as a potential therapy for cardiac dysfunction in DMD.

The current vector based research and treatment strategies in DMD are illustrated in Figure 1-16.



Figure 1-15 Vector based therapeutic strategies in DMD

Vector--based therapeutic approaches in DMD. Viral or non-viral vectors may be used for (i) *in vivo* gene therapy and may be delivered either directly into skeletal muscle or systemically; and (ii) *in vitro* gene therapy where they are used for infecting cultured cells that are then transplanted into the recipient animal. Ad, (adenovirus), AAV (adeno-associated virus), DNA (naked plasmid DNA), and HSV-1 (herpes simplex virus) (Allamand and Campbell 2000).

#### 1.17.1 Aminoglycoside antibiotic therapy

Aminoglycoside antibiotic therapy aims to bypass the primary genetic defect in DMD and represents a novel treatment regimen for DMD cases specifically caused by premature stop codon mutations (approximately 15% of cases) (Bogdanovich et al. 2004). In vitro, gentamicin (an aminoglycoside antibiotic) has been shown to increase the frequency of erroneous insertion of nonsense codons hence permitting the translation of alleles carrying nonsense mutations to continue reading to the end of the gene thus allowing translation to suppress a gene mutation (Wilschanski et al. 2000; Hamilton 2001). Barton-Davis et al. (1999) further identified a gentamicin mdx mouse treatment regime that resulted in a 10% to 20% dystrophin increase in expression and functional improvement (demonstrating that aminoglycosides potentially suppress stop codons in vivo). However, Dunant et al. (2003) (Dunant et al. 2003) failed to replicate the results of Barton-Davis (1999). To date, no human gentamicin trials have demonstrated improved dystrophin expression (Dunant et al. 2003). It is also known that the specific isomeric structure of gentamicin has profound effects on the drug's propensity for inducing stop codon misreading (Loveless,

Kohlhepp and Gilbert 1984; Yoshizawa, Fourmy and Puglisi 1998). This may further limit the current therapeutic application of gentamicin treatment and it is clear that additional research is required to fully evaluate the potential of aminoglycoside therapy of DMD (Dunant *et al.* 2003).

#### 1.17.2 Antisense oligonucleotides

Antisensense oligonucleotides (AOs) are targeting vectors designed to repair genetic mutations, to modify genomic sequences in order to compensate for gene deletions, or to modify ribonucleic acid (RNA) processing in order to ameliorate the effects of the underlying gene mutation (Rando 2002). AOs induce the specific skipping of a single exon, permitting the restoration of the reading frame, and allowing the synthesis of a largely functional dystrophin protein (Aartsma-Rus *et al.* 2004).

Increased levels of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 associated with decreased myoblast proliferation may be involved in the dystrophic process in DMD. Improved proliferation of primary myoblasts in DMD patients may result by a reduction in p21 using AOs.

Endesfelder *et al.* (2005) found that 80% of dystrophin-deficient cell culture samples revealed an 8% and 36% increase in muscle cell proliferation in untransfected control cells compared to cells transfected with scrambled AOs. Fletcher *et al.* (2005) further demonstrated dystrophin expression in *mdx* mouse tissues after localised and systemic delivery of an AO designed to target the dystrophin exon 23 donor splice site thus concluding that AOs are eminently suitable for consideration for therapeutic exon skipping in dystrophin mutations (Fletcher *et al.* 2005).

#### 1.18 Sex hormones and DMD

Steroid and peptide hormones, together with nutrition and exercise are the primary regulators of muscle growth and maintenance in humans yet there is limited knowledge as to the effects of steroid hormones on individual muscle types (Sciote *et al.* 2001).

Glenmark *et al.* (1992) showed that whilst fibre areas remain constant there is a different development of fibre-type composition with increased age in women and men: the type-I percentage tends to increase in the women and decrease significantly in men (suggesting a sex related fibre adaptation to increased age). Zatz *et al.* (1988) evaluated the relationship between height and rate of clinical progression in boys with DMD. Ninety two DMD patients with age ranging from two to 23 years (mean 8.2 ± 3.4 years) were assessed. Clinical course was determined through Vignos scale of functional disability, motor ability, and timed functional tests. All patients had grossly elevated serum CK and PK levels. When height was adjusted for patients' age, a statistically significant correlation was found between height and clinical course (positive with Vignos scale and negative with motor ability), suggesting that smaller boys have a better clinical course than taller DMD patients of comparable age. These results support the suggestion that growth inhibition may be effective in diminishing the clinical progression of DMD (Zatz *et al.* 1988).

In 2003, a growth hormone (GH) deficient DMD patient was reported by Ghafoor *et al.* The patient was clinically asymptomatic in terms of DMD. GH replacement therapy was initiated with the resultant emergence of clinical DMD symptoms including proximal muscle weakness and increased fatigability. Serum CK levels subsequently confirmed a diagnosis of DMD.

#### 1.18.1 Testosterone

Testosterone is the primary androgen in the human body and its biosynthesis in males takes place primarily in the testis with lower level synthesis occurring in the adrenal cortex. The testosterone levels resulting from adrenal cortex production alone are insufficient in maintaining masculine characteristics. Testosterone is present in very low levels in prepubertal boys. At puberty, pulsatile secretion of gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) causes the anterior pituitary to produce leutinising hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH). Circulating LH induces the Leydig cells of the testis to produce testosterone. As circulating testosterone levels rise, there is a negative feedback on the production of GnRH at the hypothalamic level, and LH and FSH at the pituitary level. Circulating testosterone is present in several forms. The highest testosterone concentration is bound to sex hormone binding globulin (SHBC) and is not bioavailable. Testosterone may also circulate unbound (or bound weakly to albumin), and this unbound testosterone is bioavailable and responsible for exerting androgenic effects.

Testosterone is converted to other clinically important compounds in the peripheral circulation and/or tissues. Oestradiol is produced by esterification of testosterone. Elevated levels of oestradiol can downregulate (via a negative feedback mechanism) the hypothalamic pituitary gonadal axis, resulting in decreased GnRH secretion and decreased circulating testosterone levels. Subsequently, increased testosterone levels can stimulate the conversion of testosterone to oestradiol. In males, serum testosterone levels vary hourly (ultradian rhythm) together with a diurnal rhythm in which highest levels occur in early morning.

Testosterone is known to act differentially on skeletal muscle from different regions of the body. Two genes likely to mediate the testosterone effect are IGF-I (growth regulator acting in an autocrine and paracrine way) and the androgen receptor (AR) (receptor density may determine differential muscle growth).

Androgens stimulate myogenesis, but it is not known what specific cell types within human skeletal muscle express the AR protein or which specific cells are the target of androgen action (Sinha-Hikim *et al.* 2004). In 2002, the first study demonstrating that androgens induce skeletal muscle fibre hypertrophy in healthy young human males showed that the cross-sectional areas (CSAs) of type-I and type-II fibres increased with increased testosterone concentrations (whilst the proportion of type-I and type-II fibres remained constant). These results were consistent with findings from rodent studies that reported an increase in fibre diameter in levator ani muscle in response to androgen treatment (Sinha-Hikim *et al.* 2002). However, Souccar *et al.* (2005) showed that testosterone does not prevent the progress of muscle disease in the *mdx* levator ani muscle, but androgen withdrawal accelerates muscle wasting suggesting a nominal beneficial effect. Gonadectomy of young adult *mdx* mice caused atrophy of the levator ani muscle, accelerated muscle wasting, and reduced tetanic force by 31%.

The mechanisms by which testosterone causes muscle hypertrophy are unknown, as are the effects of testosterone on muscle fibre size and composition in humans. Data from animal studies are limited and contradictory (Sinha-Hikim *et al.* 2002).

In human males, the linear growth and increase in muscle and bone mass during puberty are mediated predominantly through the action of testosterone (Mauras 1995a). In DMD, the exacerbation of symptoms clearly coincides with the onset of puberty and arguably the most prominent clinical event is the loss of ambulation which occurs between seven and 13 years of age (Dubowitz 1978). Eagle *et al.* (2002), in a study of 197 DMD patients reported no significant differences in the mean age that walking independently ceased, and concluded that loss of ambulation occurred at age 9.3 years.

In 1981 Zatz et al. reported a unique case of a 13 year old Japanese boy who possessed both an idiopathic GH deficiency and DMD. Clinically, the child presented with hypertrophied calves, no visible muscle wasting, waddling gait, Gowers' manoeuvre when rising from the floor, short stature (104 cm), weight 21 kg, normal IQ, a bone age of four and a half years, and normal thyroid hormone levels. GH deficiency was confirmed insulin tolerance testing and un-responsiveness through to Ldihydroxyphenylalanine (L-dopa) (Liberman, Cesar and Wajchenberg 1979). Serum CK and PK levels were grossly elevated, electromyography (EMG) and muscle biopsy results were consistent with progressive muscle disease, and pedigree analysis confirmed DMD. The child had two younger male siblings and seven other male relatives with DMD, all of which showed a typical clinical course of the disease and were non-ambulant by 12 years old. The fascinating thing about this unique case is that the child showed an uncharacteristically benign clinical course of DMD, thus suggesting that the GH deficiency was, in some way, contributing to the slowed progression of the neuromuscular disease. This hypothesis was further supported by the work of Chyatte et al. (1973, 1974) who found that GH produced a catabolic response in DMD patients and not the expected anabolic response as occurred in controls (Chyatte et al. 1973; Chyatte et al. 1974). Titsuka et al. (1981) further reported that muscular dystrophy was not expressed in

genotypically dystrophic mice which were growth compromised by a dwarfism (dw) gene and that dystrophic symptoms could be alleviated in mice if bone lengthening was arrested (Totsuka, Watanabe and Kiyono 1981). In 1986 Zatz reported a five year follow-up study of the original abovementioned case. The patient, at 18 years of age, had a height of 120 cm, weighed 41 kg, a bone age of seven years, genitalia of pre-pubertal appearance, raised serum CK and PK levels, normal thyroid and adrenal function, and hypogonadism due to gonadotrophin deficiency. Extraordinarily the patient, despite being grossly obese, was still ambulant and able to walk short distances unaided. Zatz *et al.* (1986) reaffirmed the original hypothesis which suggested that the overtly benign course of DMD in the original case was in some way related to GH deficiency.

Based on the conclusions of Zatz et al. (1981), Collipp et al. (1984) evaluated the effect of the GH inhibitor mazindol in nine DMD boys. These researchers had previously observed that GH affected both zinc levels (Cheruvanky et al. 1982; Collipp et al. 1982) and, in turn, cell membrane lipid composition and function (Clejan, Collipp and Maddaiah 1980; Clejan et al. 1981; Maddaiah et al. 1981; Clejan et al. 1982). Mazindol treatment resulted in no significant change in baseline GH levels, no improvement in muscle strength, and no improvement in peak expiratory flow. However, mazindol did reduce weight gain and significantly increased serum selenium levels but the researchers concluded that the effect of GH suppression through mazindol treatment in DMD was inconclusive and required further study. In 1986 Zatz et al. conducted a therapeutic trial of mazindol in a pair of seven and a half year old monozygotic twins with DMD. After one year the study was aborted due to the overwhelming evidence that the disease course in the control child was significantly worse than the mazindol-treated twin and it was strongly suggested that GH inhibition may potentially have a role in DMD treatment (Zatz, Betti and Frota-Pessoa 1986). To date the specific mechanism of action of both GH and testosterone on normal human muscle remains unknown and even less information is available on the role of GH and testosterone in the *mdx* mouse model and DMD affected muscles.

#### 1.18.2 Oestrogens

The biosynthesis of oestrogens from C19 steroids is catalysed by the aromatase cytochrome P450, a product of a single gene, *cyp*19. This enzyme is widely expressed in many tissues, including Sertoli and Leydig cells of the testes in males (Kelch *et al.* 1972), the brain (Ryan *et al.* 1972), adipocytes, liver, muscle (Longcope *et al.* 1978), hair follicles (Schweikert, Milewich and Wilson 1975), and bone (Sasano *et al.* 1997). Oestrogens play a major role in many metabolic processes in both men (De Ronde *et al.* 2003) and women.

Androgen and oestrogen hormones influence skeletal muscle size and the characteristics of skeletal myocyte types. Specific androgen levels are necessary for sex-specific patterns of growth in male muscles. Hypogonadism in this murine model generally retards muscle development in males, but has no apparent influence or enhances muscle development in females. Type-IIB fibres are most dependent upon sex hormones for appropriate development, but this relationship is muscle-specific (Sciote *et al.* 2001).

Oestrogens appear to have significant effects in the male biological system. Oestrogens produce significant beneficial effects on skeletal growth and bone maturation. In old age oestrogens are better predictors of bone fractures than androgens. Oestrogens exert positive effects on the brain: on cognitive function, co-ordination of movement, pain and affective state. The positive effects of oestrogen on the cardiovascular (CV) system include those on lipid profiles, fat distribution, endocrine/paracrine factors produced by the vascular wall (such as endothelins, NO), blood platelets, inflammatory factors and coagulation (Gooren and Toorians 2003). A number of the known physiological effects of oestrogens in non-dystrophic animals and humans are described in Table 1-7. Oestrogens also play a role in eNOS expression as summarised in Figure 1-17.

# Table 1-7Known physiological effects of oestrogen(s) in non-dystrophic animals<br/>and humans

Reported physiological effects of oestrogen(s)	Reference
<ul> <li>antioxidant and membrane stabiliser, protects against peroxidative damage of membrane lipids and low density lipoproteins (LDLs)</li> </ul>	(Tiidus 1995)
<ul> <li>at high doses exert an immunosuppressan effect (rats)</li> </ul>	t (Baral, Kwok and Berczi 1991)
<ul> <li>enhances immunological responses (anti- inflammatory) in humans at lower doses</li> </ul>	(Sorachi <i>et al.</i> 1993)
<ul> <li>the stimulation of GH secretions in males during puberty is via the oestrogen receptor (ER) after aromatisation</li> </ul>	(Metzger and Kerrigan 1994)
<ul> <li>stimulates muscle protein deposition and skeletal muscle growth in cattle</li> </ul>	(Hayden, Bergen and Merkel 1992)
<ul> <li>produces an increase in GH production in prepubertal and postmenopausal females</li> </ul>	(Mauras, Rogol and Veldhuis 1990) (Veldhuis <i>et al.</i> 2004)
<ul> <li>a facilitatory role in the neuroendocrine control of the somatotrophic axis during male puberty</li> </ul>	(Metzger and Kerrigan 1994)
<ul> <li>no anabolic effect on skeletal muscles in prepubertal females</li> </ul>	(Mauras 1995a)
<ul> <li>beneficial effects on neurones, bone, the CV system, and body composition</li> </ul>	(Persky <i>et al.</i> 2000).
<ul> <li>no effect on fatigability in EDL muscles</li> </ul>	(Tiidus, Bestic and Tupling 1999)

In order to elucidate the relationship between DMD and gonadal hormones, Usuki *et al.* (1989) measured the levels of serum oestrogens and other sex-related hormones in humans diagnosed with DMD. The values were compared with those for age-matched controls. The baseline levels of serum oestradiol were significantly higher in all DMD patients compared to age-matched unaffected subjects. Serum baseline testosterone, LH and FSH levels were all essentially normal, whereas FSH levels were low. The patients had no weight, liver or glandular abnormalities, thus it was concluded that the elevated serum oestradiol levels resulted from increased peripheral androgen-to-oestrogen conversion in DMD patients.



Figure 1-16 Oestrogen activation of eNOS.

In addition to the physiological roles and functions of testosterone and oestrogen discussed above, steroid hormones have a major influence on vascular cells. In various cells of the vascular wall, testosterone can exert direct effects either by activation of the AR or by nongenomic effects on plasma membrane receptors and channels. However, the expression of aromatase and 17ß-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and macrophages opens the possibility of local conversion of testosterone (and DHEA) to oestradiol. Both the classic oestrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) and the alternative oestrogen receptor  $\beta$  (ERß) are expressed by various vascular cells, so that testosterone can also modulate vascular physiology indirectly via local oestradiol production (Wu and Von Eckardstein 2003).

Oestrogen activation of eNOS involves oestrogen receptor (ER) coupling to the enzyme in a steroid receptor fast-action complex (SRFC) in endothelial cell caveolae. Oestrogen binding to ER leads to G protein activation, which mediates downstream events. After oestrogen exposure, eNOS translocates from the membrane to intracellular sites, resulting in diminished NOS activity (change from *green* to *red*) (Nuedling *et al.* 1999).

# 1.19 Aims of study

This dissertation aimed to examine the role of sex hormone status in cardiac and skeletal muscle function in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD through the co-quantification of muscle-, sex-, and age-specific differences in the *mdx* mouse. Initially, the effects of testosterone-treatment were examined, followed by an investigation of sex (gender) differences, determination of the effects of surgical castration, in addition to the effects of oestrogen treatment in both the *mdx* and C57 control strains. Furthermore, cardiac and skeletal muscle function was characterised across a range of ages in order to improve the applicability of the *mdx* mouse model for research. Representative muscles included the left atrium (cardiac muscle), extensor digitorum longus (fast-twitch skeletal muscle, type-I), and soleus (slow-twitch skeletal muscle, type-II).

# 2 METHODOLOGY

# 2.1 Ethical considerations

Ethical approval for all procedures was obtained from the Animal Ethics Committee at the University of Southern Queensland (USQ). All experiments complied with the ethical guidelines of the USQ Animal Ethics Committee and the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Australian Code of Practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes 7<sup>th</sup> Edition 2004 (available from http://www.nhmrc.gov.au).

# 2.2 Experimental animals

Both male and female C57BL/10ScSn (C57) mice and mutant C57BL/10ScSn (*mdx*) mice were used. Mice were obtained from the Animal Resource Centre (ARC), Nedlands, Western Australia and the USQ breeding colony. The *mdx* mouse strain was obtained by mating homozygous (*mdx/mdx*) females to hemizygous (*mdx/Y*) males. Genetic variation was considered insignificant throughout as both mouse colonies were initiated from the same genetic pool. Animals were fed standard mouse chow with water *ad libitum* and housed at 21-24 °C under a 12 hour light-dark cycle (6 am to 6 pm).

# 2.3 Treatment of animals - allometric scaling

In preliminary trials, to establish dosage regimes and experimental protocols, human equivalent clinical doses were administered to animals without apparent functional effect. The concept of allometric scaling was then investigated (Kim, Kim and Lee 1998; Mahmood 1999a; Mahmood 1999b; Mahmood and Balian 1999; Mahmood and Yuan 1999; Christiansen 2002) suggesting that responsiveness to drugs may optimally be transferred between species on the basis of relative surface areas and not simply on the basis of weight. It was concluded, therefore, that clinical and physiological responses potentially occur in higher doses in mice than in humans. The

fundamental principles of allometric scaling were then applied in order to determine future dosage regimes for experimental animals.

Subcutaneous (SC) injections were consistently limited to volumes not exceeding 0.1 mL in order to minimise potential irritability.

## 2.4 Individual trial methodologies

#### 2.4.1 Testosterone trial

In the testosterone trial male mice were weaned at 21 days of age and treatment commenced at 25 days of age. Mice were administered an SC injection of testosterone (Sigma Chemical Company, St Louis USA) dissolved in sesame oil, at an equivalent dose rate of 0.2, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day. Animals were treated over a ten day period with the total dose divided into two treatments which were administered on Day 1 and Day 5. Control *mdx* and C57 mice were administered an equivalent volume of sesame seed oil. Animals were then euthanased at 35 days of age (the conclusion of 10 days treatment).

#### 2.4.2 Sex (gender) trial

Male and female C57 and *mdx* mice were weaned at 21 days of age. Adult mice at the following ages were utilised for the trial: 90, 180, and 330 days. C57 female mice aged 180 days were not available for the trial. No drug treatments were administered prior to euthanasia.

#### 2.4.3 Castration trial

The castration trial utilised male mice weaned at 21 days of age. Surgical castration or sham operation (as detailed below) occurred at 42 days of age. Prior to the administration of drugs, mice were weighed and the anaesthetic and post operative drug doses calculated. For castration and sham operations mice were anaesthetised with an intraperitoneal (IP) injection of ketamine 10  $\mu$ g/g (Ketamav, Mavlab, Slacks Creek, Australia) and xylazine 50  $\mu$ g/g (Xylazil, Troy Laboratories, Smithfield, Australia). Once surgical anaesthesia was established a single drop of sterile saline was placed on each eye of the mouse and the eyes covered to prevent them from drying. Throughout the anaesthesia the mouse was carefully monitored with attention to paw pinch reflex (to maintain sufficient depth of anaesthesia) and body temperature (the animal was kept warm under a lamp).

The scrotal area was close clipped using electric clippers and the testes area and groin swabbed with chlorhexidine gluconate (Hibiclens®, Regent Medical, USA). A longitudinal (3–5 mm) incision was made in the right scrotum exposing the right testicle. The testicular cord was then clamped with mosquito forceps prior to ligation on the distal side, then excised. The forceps remained clamped in position for 2 minutes before removal. The remaining tissues were re-inserted into the right scrotal sac and the wound closed with a single suture of 5/0 silk surgical suture thread (Dysilk<sup>™</sup>, Dynec Pty Ltd, South Australia). The identical surgical procedure was then repeated on the left side. Anaesthesia was reversed by administration of a 1.0 µg/g SC injection of atipamazole (Antisedan®, Ciba Geigy, Basel, Switzerland). Postoperative analgesia was provided by a 0.05 µg/g SC injection of buprenorphine (Temgesic®, Reckitt and Coleman, West Ryde, Australia). For recovery, the animal was placed on its side, head extended, in clean, dry cage under a lamp and monitored continuously until full recovery from anaesthesia was apparent. All procedures were conducted under standard veterinary operating theatre conditions. Control (sham operated) animals were exposed to the same surgical procedures albeit without the ligation of the testicular cord and subsequent removal of the testes. Mice were postoperatively monitored twice daily for 10 days and euthanased at 6 months of age.

#### 2.4.4 Oestrogen trial

In the oestrogen trial male mice were weaned at 21 days of age with drug treatment commencing at 25 days of age. During the 10 day treatment period, mice were administered a daily SC injection of  $17\beta$ -oestradiol (Sigma

Chemical Company, St Louis, USA) dissolved in sesame oil, at a concentration sufficient to deliver 0.08, 0.16, and 0.32 mg/kg/day. Control *mdx* and control C57 mice were administered an equivalent SC volume of sesame seed oil. Animals were euthanased at 35 days of age.

#### 2.4.5 Influence of age trial

In the influence of age trial, mice 14 to 21 days of age were not weaned prior to experimentation. Mice from 23 to 330 days of age were weaned at 21 days of age. Male mice were utilised and no drug treatments were administered prior to euthanasia. In order to minimise the use of mice, the *mdx* mice at 90, 180, and 330 days of age were the same as those used in the gender trial.

#### 2.5 Euthanasia

In all trials euthanasia was achieved by exsanguination (decapitation) under general anaesthesia. Only the method of general anaesthesia varied. In the testosterone trial mice were anaesthetised with an IP injection of ketamine 75  $\mu$ g/g (Ketamav®, Mavlab, Slacks Creek, Australia) and xylazine 15  $\mu$ g/g (Xylazil®, Troy Laboratories, Smithfield, Australia). In all other trials general anaesthesia was achieved using IP zolazepam 50  $\mu$ g/g (Zoletil, Virbac, Peakhurst, Australia).

#### 2.6 Dissection of tissues

Post euthanasia, the whole heart was dissected and placed in carbogenated (95%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ ) ice-cold Tyrodes physiological salt solution (TPSS) (see Appendix I). The left atrium (LA) was dissected and retained for functional experiments. The right atrium (RA), left ventricle with septum (LV+S), right ventricle (RV), left soleus (SOL), left (EDL) muscles were dissected out and stored in a volume of 10% neutral buffered formalin (Amber Scientific, Belmont, Australia) - with a minimum ratio of 10 times

formalin volume to tissue volume - and stored at room temperature (22° C-23° C). The testes were dissected free and stored at -70° C.

The right SOL and right EDL limb muscles were dissected and placed into carbogenated (95%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ ) ice-cold Krebs physiological salt solution (KPSS) (see Appendix I). Particular care was taken to ensure that both the proximal and distal tendons were sufficiently intact and of appropriate length to enable the tendons to be tied with a silk suture thread (Dysilk<sup>TM</sup>, Dynec Pty Ltd, South Australia) without contacting or damaging any functional skeletal myocytes.

# 2.7 Organ bath (functional) experiments

Force transducers and pipettes used in organ bath experiments were calibrated in order to maintain experimental accuracy. Prior to the commencement of new protocols, organ baths were cleaned with concentrated nitric acid and manually scrubbed and rinsed repeatedly with reverse osmosis water at the completion of each experiment.

#### 2.8 Skeletal muscle experiments

EDL and SOL skeletal muscles were maintained briefly in ice-cold carbogenated KPSS until they were mounted in individual 25 mL glass waterjacketed organ baths. A 5/0 silk surgical (Dysilk<sup>™</sup>, Dynec Pty Ltd, South Australia) thread was tied to the tendon at each end of the muscle. The skeletal muscle was then mounted with the proximal end connected to a force transducer (FT-102, CB Sciences, Milford, MA, USA) and the distal end anchored to a fixed pin securing the muscle in a vertical position. Secured muscles were then immersed in organ baths containing 25 mL carbogenated KPSS and maintained at 23.0±0.5° C. Skeletal muscle preparations were positioned between two platinum electrode pins along the length of the muscle (care was taken to ensure that muscles did not touch the electrodes directly).

Muscles were field stimulated via a Grass S48 stimulator (W. Warwick, RI, USA) and current intensity was amplified using a pre-amplifier

(EP500B. Audio Assemblies, Campbellfield, Victoria, Australia). Data were collected via a PowerLab system and analysed using Chart 4.1.1 software (AD Instruments, Castle Hill, New South Wales, Australia).

An initial preload of 10 mN was placed on each skeletal muscle during the equilibration period. Preliminary equilibration of preparations was achieved by washing muscles with 25 mL fresh Krebs physiological solution at 10 minute intervals (total 30 minutes). Skeletal muscles continued to be washed at 10 minute intervals throughout the duration of the experiment.

The optimum preload was established by eliciting twitch contractions (20 V) at a range of preloads (10, 7, 5, 3, and 1 mN) and, once determined, was then maintained for subsequent procedures. The optimum voltage, to induce maximum absolute twitch force (Pt) was determined by delivering a single stimulation at incremental voltages ranging from 1.5 to 30 V.

Having determined optimal preload and voltage, 3 distinct Pt readings were recorded. These readings were then averaged to establish a final value for absolute Pt (sPt).

For the tetanic protocol, optimum preload and optimum voltage was utilised as determined in the protocol described above. All tetanic stimuli occurred at 3 minute intervals throughout the experiment and, where necessary, optimal preload was re-established before further electrical stimulation of the muscle.

Optimum frequency (pulse duration 0.5 ms, frequency range 10 to 180 Hertz (Hz)) was determined for the point of maximum tetanic force (Po). At optimum preload, voltage, and frequency, maximum tetanic force was recorded 3 times. These readings were then averaged and a value for maximum tetanic force normalised for cross-sectional area (sPo) was determined.

At the completion of the twitch and tetanic recordings, muscle length (Lo) and midpoint diameter were recorded at optimum preload using a digital micrometer (Mitutoyo, Japan). Muscles were then removed, tendons dissected free, muscles blotted for approximately 3 seconds and weighed.

Muscle length (Lf) was calculated by multiplying Lo by fibre length to muscle length ratios as determined by Brooks and Faulkner (0.71 for SOL

and 0.44 for EDL) (Brooks and Faulkner 1988). The mean CSA of each skeletal muscle was then calculated by dividing muscle weight by the product of myocyte length and 1.06 mg/mm<sup>3</sup>, the density of mammalian skeletal muscle (Mendez and Keys 1960).

Twitch force normalised for cross-sectional area (sPt) was calculated by normalising Pt for muscle CSA and specific maximum tetanus (sPo) was calculated by normalising Po for CSA. The respective mathematical formulae used are defined in Table 2-1 below;

cuit	culations		
Symbol	Definition	Mathematical formulae	
		SOL muscle	EDL muscle
Pt (mN)	absolute twitch force		
Lo (mm)	muscle length at optimum preload		
Po (mN)	maximum tetanic force		
Lf (mm)	standardized muscle length	Lo x 0.71	Lo x 0.44
CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> )	total fibre CSA	weight (mg)/Lf x 1.06	weight (mg)/Lf x 1.06
sPt (mN/mm <sup>2</sup> )	absolute twitch force (Pt) normalised	Pt/CSA	Pt/CSA
(((((()))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))			
sPo (mN/mm²)	maximum tetanic force (Po) normalised for CSA	Po/CSA	Po/CSA

Table 2-1 Definitions and mathematical formulae used in skeletal muscle results calculations

(Adapted from Brooks and Faulkner 1988).

## 2.9 Cardiac muscle experiments

A 5/0 silk surgical suture thread (Dysilk, Dynec Pty Ltd, South Australia) was tied to the proximal end of the atria and attached to a force transducer (FT-102, CB Sciences, Milford, MA, USA). A stainless steel hook attached to the distal end of the muscle secured the LA in a vertical position. Atria were positioned between two platinum electrode pins with care taken to ensure that they did not directly contact the electrodes. Each LA was mounted in an individual water-jacketed glass organ bath containing 25 mL TPSS at 35.0±0.5° C, under optimal preload of approximately 5 mN. During a 30 minute equilibration period the atria were washed with fresh TPSS at 10 minute intervals.

The initial calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) concentration in the organ baths was 1.8 mM. Throughout the duration of the experiment, the LA were field stimulated (at 20% above threshold) via an AMPI Master 8 stimulator at a frequency of 1 Hz and pulse width 5 ms. A concentration response curve (CRC) to calcium (Ca<sup>2+)</sup> was generated in order to determine the maximum force of contraction (FOC) of the LA. At 3 minute intervals CaCl<sub>2</sub> was added cumulatively to the organ bath resulting in final CaCl<sub>2</sub> concentrations of 1.8, 2.4, 3.2, 4.0, 5.6, 7.2, 9.0, and 12.0 mM. Prior to the addition of each subsequent volume of CaCl<sub>2</sub> the mean maximum FOC was recorded.

Data were collected via a PowerLab system and analysed using Chart 4.1.1 software (AD Instruments, Castle Hill, New South Wales, Australia). At the conclusion of each experiment the LA was removed, blotted for 3 seconds and weighed.

# 2.10 Histology protocol

The histological techniques involved fixing, pre-blocking, blocking, cutting, de-waxing, rehydrating, staining, mounting, and analysis procedures. Tissues were stored in formalin and prepared by being placed sequentially in 70% ethanol (EtOH) for 24 hours, 90% EtOH (12-16 hours), 100% EtOH (120 minutes), 100% EtOH (60 minutes), and twice in toluene (20 minutes) (Asia Pacific Specialty Chemicals Limited, Seven Hills, New South Wales, Australia).

Tissues were then embedded in paraffin wax blocks and 10 µm sections cut with a Reichert-Jung 2035 Biocut microtome (Cambridge Instruments, West Germany) using a stainless steel Feather S35 microtome blade (Feather Safety Razor Company Limited, Medical Division, Japan). Ribbons were floated via a water bath (Electrothermal, London) at 50° C on to a Polysine<sup>™</sup> microscope slide (Menzel-Glaser® GmbH, Braunschweig, Germany) and dried overnight on a warming plate (Thermoline Scientific Equipment Pty Ltd, Wetherill Parke, Australia) at 40° C.

To achieve de-waxing, rehydration, and haematoxylin and eosin staining of slides, the following method was adopted;

Slides were placed in a Labmaster oven at 56° C (60 minutes), then, in a fume hood at room temperature (22° C-23° C), before the following washes were undertaken; three xylene (Asia Pacific Specialty Chemicals Limited, Seven Hills, Australia) washes (five minute intervals), two 100% EtOH washes (three minute intervals), 90% EtOH (three minutes), 70% EtOH (three minutes), water bath (two minutes), double distilled water (ddH<sub>2</sub>O) (one minute), haematoxylin stain (see Appendix I) (seven minutes), water bath (one minute), Scott's solution (see Appendix I) (0.5 minute), water bath (four minutes), 70% EtOH (one minute), eosin stain (see Appendix I) (11 minutes), 95% EtOH (0.5 minute), and three 100% EtOH treatments (0.5 minute intervals) were completed.

For mounting, slides initially underwent three xylene washes (5 minute intervals). A small amount of DePeX mountant (BDH Chemicals Australia Pty Limited, Kilsyth, Australia) – thinned with xylene - was then applied to the tissue surface of the slide and a Deckglaser 100 glass cover slip (Menzel-Glaser® GmbH, Braunschweig, Germany) was placed on top of the slide and stored at room temperature (22° C to 23° C). All slides were coded randomly to minimise experimenter bias during histological analysis.

# 2.11 Histological analysis

Histological slides were viewed using a Nikon Eclipse E600 microscope. Muscle fibre sizes were determined using the minimal Ferets diameter method as described by Briguet *et al.* 2004 (Briguet *et al.* 2004). Approximately 20-100 fibres (limited by the quality of the histological slide) of SOL and EDL muscles were analysed using AnalySIS (Soft Imaging System, GmbH, Münster, Germany) software determining mean cell diameter and percentage of cells with centralised nuclei. Upon completion of the analysis the code was broken to permit statistical analysis.

## 2.12 Data analysis

Data was compiled initially in Microsoft Excel 2000. Results were then converted to Statistical Product for Service Solutions (SPSS) 11.0 for Windows Student version format for further analyses. Means (expressed as the mean  $\pm$  the standard error of the mean (SEM)) were calculated. One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) statistical analyses were used to determine differences between experimental groups. A result with a p value less than 0.05 (p<0.05) was deemed statistically significant.

# **3** Testosterone trial

# 3.1 Influence of testosterone on body weight

All groups of C57 mice were significantly heavier than mdx mice (p<0.01). C57s were 50%, 51%, 29%, 25%, and 33% heavier than corresponding mdx mice across increasing doses of testosterone, respectively. Testosterone treatment did not, however, cause any significant change in body weight (BW) in either mouse strain over the 10 day treatment period (Figure 3-1).



Figure 3-1 Body weights of male C57 and *mdx* mice at varying testosterone doses.

Comparison of male mouse body weights between strains and within mouse strains at varying testosterone doses. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice.

#### 3.2 Influence of testosterone on testes weight

Testosterone treatment had no significant effect on absolute testes weight within C57 mice. In contrast, absolute testes weights in *mdx* decreased with 0.2 mg/kg/day testosterone and increased at 1.0 and 1.5 mg/kg/day treatment, compared to controls. The testes of C57 mice were consistently heavier than *mdx* equivalents. This was not significant at doses of 1.0 and 1.5 mg/kg/day despite C57s having significantly higher BW than *mdx* across all treatments. Control, 0.2 mg/kg/day, and 2.0 mg/kg/day C57

mouse testes were 3.63-, 7.42-, and 2.25-fold heavier (p<0.01) than *mdx* mice testes, respectively (Figure 3-2).



Figure 3-2 Testes weights of male C57 and *mdx* mice at varying testosterone doses.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice.

# 3.3 Influence of testosterone on cardiac

#### characteristics

#### 3.3.1 Cardiac morphometry

Despite a significant difference in the BWs of C57s compared to *mdx* mice across all treatments (p<0.01), there was no significant difference in the weight of the LA of control, 1.0, 1.5, or 2.0 mg/kg/day testosterone-treated mice between strains. Testosterone treatment at 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day did cause an increase in LA weight in *mdx* mice (p<0.05) but not in C57s. An aberration occurred at a dose of 0.2 mg/kg/day testosterone in which the *mdx* LA weight was 58% lower than C57s (p<0.05) and 38% lower than control *mdx* (p<0.05) (Figure 3-3).



Figure 3-3 Left atrial weights of male C57 and *mdx* mice at varying testosterone doses.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice.

#### 3.3.2 Cardiac function

Controls, and doses of 0.2 and 1.0 mg/kg/day testosterone, showed no significant difference in basal force of contraction (FOC) between *mdx* and C57 LA. Due to the variability between LA contractility of different mice there was also no significant difference in force when comparing LA from testosterone-treated mice to controls within each strain. Testosterone treatment did, however, produce a non-significant trend of decreased forces (for doses over 1.0 mg/kg/day) in the *mdx* with increasing doses that was not evident in C57s.

At testosterone doses of 1.5 mg/kg/day (p<0.05) and 2.0 mg/kg/day (p<0.01) C57s had a significantly higher basal FOC (normalised for LA weight) than *mdx* mice (Figure 3-4).



Figure 3-4 Basal force of contraction of left atria in male mice at varying testosterone doses.

Comparison between strains depicting basal FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) versus testosterone dose (mg/kg/day). \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice. Force values normalised for LA weight.

The analysis of  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs revealed no significant difference between strains at a dose of 0.2 mg/kg/day (Figure 3-5B). In controls, and at all other testosterone doses, C57s had a significantly greater atrial FOC at  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations of 4.0, 5.6, and 7.2 mM, respectively compared to *mdx* (Figure 3-5).



Figure 3-5 Concentration response curves to calcium at varying testosterone doses in male mice.

(A) controls (B) 0.2 mg/kg/day testosterone (C) 1.0 mg/kg/day testosterone (D) 1.5 mg/kg/day testosterone and (E) 2.0 mg/kg/day testosterone. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice. Force values normalised for LA weight.

The maximum LA FOC (normalised for LA weight) was significantly higher (p<0.05) in C57s for controls and all doses of testosterone except 0.2 mg/kg/day. In the *mdx*, testosterone treatment caused a trend of decreased maximum FOC (non-significant) with increasing doses similar to that seen in basal forces, but again this was not evident in C57s (Figure 3-6).



Figure 3-6 Maximum force of contraction of the LA at varying testosterone doses in male mice.

Comparison between strains of maximum FOC of the LA (normalised for LA weight) across testosterone doses (mg/kg/day). \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice. Force values normalised for LA weight.

# 3.4 Influence of testosterone on skeletal muscle

# morphometry

There was no significant difference in SOL weights between mdx and C57 mouse strains or between the groups of C57 mice. All treated mdx mice had heavier SOL muscles than control mdx with this reaching significance for doses of 1.0 and 1.5 mg/kg/day testosterone where SOL weights were 43% and 62% heavier than control mdx (p<0.05).

In C57s, EDL weights in treated mice were not significantly different to control mice. However, in *mdx* mice, all testosterone-treated mice had heavier EDL muscles than controls but this was only significant (p<0.01) for 1.5 mg/kg/day treated mice which had 46% heavier EDL muscles than control *mdx*. *Mdx* EDL muscle weights in controls, 0.2 mg/kg/day, and 2.0 mg/kg/day treated mice were significantly lower (35%, 24%, and 24%) than C57 equivalents (p<0.01) (Table 3-1).

testosterone (mg/kg/day)	C57 SOL weight (mg)	<i>mdx</i> SOL weight (mg)	C57 EDL weight (mg)	<i>mdx</i> EDL weight (mg)		
Control	4.9±0.9	3.7±1.2	5.4±1.1	3.5±1.1**		
0.2	4.9±0.8	4.1±1.1	4.9±0.5	3.7±0.8**		
1.0	4.9±0.9	5.3±1.1†	5.0±0.9	4.5±1.2		
1.5	5.8±1.2	6.0±1.8†	5.3±0.9	5.1±0.8††		
2.0	5.3±1.0	4.8±0.8	5.4±0.7	4.1±0.8**		

Table 3-1Weight of SOL and EDL muscles in male C57 and *mdx* mice at varying<br/>testosterone doses.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison within same strain. age = 35 days old. n = 9-16 mice.

#### 3.5 Discussion

In human males, the linear growth and increase in muscle and bone mass during puberty are mediated predominantly through the action of the sex steroid hormone testosterone (Mauras 1995b). In DMD, the exacerbation of clinical symptoms clearly coincides with the onset of puberty with arguably the most prominent clinical event being the loss of ambulation which typically occurs between seven and 13 years of age (Dubowitz 1978).

In 1981 Zatz, Betti and Levy reported a unique case of a 13 year old Japanese boy who possessed both idiopathic GH deficiency and DMD. Clinically, the child presented with hypertrophied calves, no visible muscle wasting, a waddling gait, positive Gowers' manoeuvre when rising from the floor, short stature (104 cm), weight 21 kg, normal IQ, a bone age of four and a half years, and normal thyroid hormone levels (Zatz, Betti and Levy 1981). GH deficiency was confirmed through insulin tolerance testing and unresponsiveness to L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-dopa) (Liberman, Cesar and Wajchenberg 1979). Serum CK and PK levels were grossly elevated, electromyography and muscle biopsy results were consistent with progressive muscle disease, and pedigree analysis confirmed DMD. The child had two younger male siblings and seven other male relatives with DMD, all of which showed a typical clinical course of the disease and were non-ambulant by 12 years of age. The fascinating thing about this unique case is the fact that the child showed an uncharacteristically benign clinical course of DMD. In 1986 Zatz reported a five year follow-up study of the

original abovementioned case. The patient, at 18 years of age, short stature (120 cm), weighed 41 kg, had a bone age of seven years, genitalia of prepubertal appearance, raised serum CK and PK levels, normal thyroid and adrenal function, together with hypogonadism resulting from gonadotrophin deficiency. Extraordinarily, the patient, despite being grossly obese, was still ambulant and able to walk short distances unaided. Zatz et al. (1986) reaffirmed their original hypothesis which suggested that the overtly benign course of DMD in the case was in some way related to GH deficiency in this boy. Furthermore, the clinical observation in the case study by Zatz, Betti, and Levy (1981) that a GH deficient DMD patient had "genitalia of prepubertal appearance" was further thought-provoking in that it implied that the boy potentially had compromised androgen (testosterone) levels. This raises the question as to whether it is possible that lowered testosterone levels had a role in the benign nature of this case and, conversely whether increased levels of testosterone potentially exacerbate the clinical symptoms of DMD. This study investigated the effects of testosterone treatment in mdx and C57 control strain mice on cardiac muscle function and response to exogenous Ca<sup>2+</sup>.

In this study all groups of 35 day old C57 mice were heavier than mdx equivalents and testosterone treatment failed to produce any significant BW change within either strain over the 10 day treatment period. Despite C57s being heavier in BW, testes weights were consistently greater than in *mdx*. This may be indicative of an inherently raised peripheral aromatisation of testosterone to oestradiol in mdx. Spearow et al. (1999) found that oestrogen treatment of C57 mice during juvenile development resulted in the lowered testes weights therefore an increase in serum oestrogens would predictably lower testes weight. In human studies, Usuki et al. (1989) reported that DMD patients had significantly higher baseline levels of serum oestrone than age-matched unaffected boys. Serum baseline testosterone, LH and FSH levels were all essentially normal in DMD, but FSH levels were significantly lowered. This led to the conclusion that the elevated serum oestrone levels resulted from an increased peripheral conversion of testosterone to oestrogen in DMD boys. A possible increase in the conversion of testosterone to oestradiol in mdx (as in DMD boys) could

explain the lowered testes weights in control *mdx* compared to C57 equivalents.

In terms of cardiac morphometry, LA weights were not different between control mice (despite differences in body weight). Testosterone treatment caused no change in C57 LA weight whereas *mdx* mice responded differently with increases in LA weights at 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day treatments (p<0.05), further suggesting a unique responsiveness to testosterone in the *mdx* strain. Testosterone produced an overall hypertrophic response in *mdx* LA that was not evident in C57s. Testosterone is a risk factor for cardiac hypertrophy as abundant binding to the AR (Marsh *et al.* 1998) and its translocation into the nucleus may lead to exaggerated cardiac-specific gene expression (Morano *et al.* 1990). Lin, McGill, and Shain (1981) showed that tissue-specific metabolism of testosterone can also lead to the production of high-affinity ligands of the AR such as DHT (Lin, McGill and Shain 1981). Increased DHT synthesis may accelerate cardiac hypertrophy via the AR signalling pathway.

With respect to cardiac contractility studies, some researchers have argued that the LA is poorly representative of ventricular function in the heart. Despite this, Sanyal (1980) demonstrated gross histological and ultrastructural changes in all heart chambers of DMD patients compared to unaffected age and sex-matched children. Minajeva et al. (1997) showed atrial and ventricular cardiac tissues exhibit the same sensitivity to Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Alloatti et al. (1995) and Lu and Hoey (2000a) have shown cardiac abnormalities in the *mdx* mouse model using LA preparations. On the basis of this it was deemed appropriate to use LA preparations as a model of cardiac function in the *mdx* mouse. Results showed that *mdx* absolute basal forces were 61% lower than C57s and 29% lower than C57s when corrected for LA weight (non-significant). It must be noted that there was large variability in basal FOC of LA generated by mdx compared to C57s and this was reflected in the large SEMs in the results. The lack of significance in these findings is inconsistent with a number of previous studies that have reported significant differences in basal LA contractility between strains however this may also be reflective of age-specific differences. For example, Woolf et al. (2006) reported a significant decrease in basal LA contractility in

male 12 week and 12 month old *mdx* mice compared to C57 equivalents. The mice in this study were 35 days old so age-matched comparisons are not possible. Most importantly, these results (albeit non-significant) indicate that LA basal contractility is compromised in the *mdx* mouse and that despite the fact that testosterone produced significant LA hypertrophy this did not translate to an increase in muscle contractility.

Testosterone also had an impact on LA response to  $Ca^{2+}$  with the form of  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs showing a varied pattern between strains. Compared to the C57 control strain, *mdx* showed a more flattened  $Ca^{2+}$  CRC (rather than the traditional sigmoid curve shown in the control strain). This implies a dampened responsiveness to  $Ca^{2+}$  and is consistent with the findings of Lu and Hoey (2000). Furthermore, maximum LA forces generated by C57s were significantly greater than *mdx* forces for controls, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day testosterone doses (p<0.05) although testosterone treatment did not significantly alter maximum LA contractility in either strain.

It is known that normal cardiac function is dependent on efficient Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis. During a cardiac action potential, the influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> through Ltype Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels activates the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the SR. Relaxation occurs when the influx of  $Ca^{2+}$  ceases and  $Ca^{2+}$  is transported from the cytoplasm by the  $Na^+/Ca^{2+}$  exchanger and sequestered in the SR by the sarcoplasmic endoplasmic calcium ATP-ase (SERCA) (Bers and Perez-Reves 1999; Bers 2000; Bers 2002). However, Alloatti et al. (1995) showed that isolated mdx cardiac myocytes have elevated  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ . This elevated  $Ca^{2+}$ results in cardiac myocyte necrosis and diminished cardiac function (Bia et al. 1999) as a direct consequence of  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent (calpain mediated) proteolysis (Tidball and Spencer 2000). In addition to increased [Ca<sup>2+</sup>], mdx cardiac myocytes exhibit altered  $Ca^{2+}$  handling (Lucas-Heron *et al.* 1987). It has been hypothesised that the  $Ca^{2+}$  overload in the *mdx* heart could be due to a 'leaky membrane' similar to that observed in mdx skeletal muscle in which increased leak channel activity has been reported (Turner et al. 1991). Alternatively, mdx cardiac Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload may encompass physiological processes involved in Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, Ca<sup>2+</sup> efflux, Ca<sup>2+</sup> handling, and functions of the SR. Golden (2004) provided the first evidence that testosterone regulates gene expression of the major Ca<sup>2+</sup> regulatory proteins in isolated rat ventricular myocytes. Testosterone treatment (six to 24 hours) induced an increase in  $\beta_1$ -adrenergic receptor density, L-type calcium channel mRNA levels, Na<sup>+</sup>/Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchanger mRNA levels, and stimulated a 300-fold increase in androgen receptor (AR) message abundance. In 2005 Golden (2005) showed that acute testosterone treatment resulted in an increase in peak shortening and a decrease in time to peak shortening in isolated rat cardiac myocytes. Based on the results of Golden in 2004 and 2005 one would expect testosterone treatment to produce an increase in cardiac contractility. However, this study showed that in the *mdx* mouse testosterone treatment produced no significant change in basal LA contractility, no effect on maximum LA contractility, and a dampened response to Ca<sup>2+</sup> as evidenced by the shape of Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs.

Skeletal muscle morphometry showed no difference in SOL weights between strains or between treatment groups of C57s. Conversely, *mdx* mice showed a differential response to testosterone treatment with all testosterone-treated *mdx* SOLs being heavier than control *mdx* (significant for 1.0 and 1.5 mg/kg/day doses).

Importantly, this study showed that testosterone failed to produce an increase in cardiac contractility in the *mdx* mouse and, in fact, appeared to have a deleterious effect on LA cardiac contractility and responsiveness to  $Ca^{2+}$ . These results warrant extensive further investigation as to the specific physiological effects of testosterone in the *mdx* mouse in both cardiac and skeletal muscles.

# 4 Sex (gender) trial

#### 4.1 Influence of sex on body weight and heart weight

In 90 day old mice, *mdx* were significantly heavier in BW than C57s of the same sex and age. *Mdx* males were 9% heavier than C57 males (p<0.05) but not different in BW to *mdx* females. C57 males were 29% heavier than C57 females (p<0.01) and *mdx* females were 30% heavier than C57 females (p<0.01). In 180 day old mice there was no difference in BWs between mice. In 330 day old mice, *mdx* males and females were 19% and 23% respectively heavier than their C57 age and sex-matched controls (p<0.01). C57 males were 6% heavier than C57 females (p<0.05) which was in contrast to the *mdx* mice (where there was no significant difference in BWs between sexes) (Figure 4-1A).

For all groups there was a trend of increasing HW with age (nonsignificant) (Figure 4-1B). In 90 day old mice males had no difference in HW. Female *mdx* hearts were 16% heavier than C57 female hearts (p<0.01). Male and female *mdx* had no difference in HW whereas C57 male hearts were 20% heavier than C57 female hearts (p<0.01). In 180 day old mice C57 males and *mdx* females had a 15% (p<0.05) and 24% (p<0.01) respectively heavier HW than *mdx* males. Male 330 day old mice had no difference in HW. Female *mdx* hearts were 39% heavier than C57 female hearts (p<0.01). Male and female *mdx* had no difference in HW whilst C57 male hearts were 19% heavier than C57 female hearts (p<0.01).



Figure 4-1 Influence of sex on body weight and heart weight between strains and sexes.

Comparison of mouse body weights (A) and heart weights (B) at varying ages between strains of the same sex and within mouse strains of different sexes. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison at equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison within same strain and age. n = 6-10 mice.

#### 4.2 Influence of sex on cardiac characteristics

#### 4.2.1 Cardiac morphometry

In 90 day old mice there was no significant difference in heart weight as a percentage of body weight (HW%) between males. Conversely, C57 females had a 13% (p<0.01) and 7% (p<0.05) higher HW% than *mdx* females and C57 males, respectively. There was no difference in RA weight between mice (Figure 4-2A) and the only difference in LA weight between mice was the fact that *mdx* males had 48% heavier LA than C57 males (p<0.01). LA weights of C57 females and males did not differ as did the LA weights of C57 females and *mdx* females (Figure 4-2B).

With respect to right ventricular free wall (RV) weight, there was no difference between males or between *mdx* males and females. Both C57 males and *mdx* females had 24% and 43% heavier RVs than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-2C). *Mdx* males had a 6% heavier left ventricle plus septum (LV+S) than C57 males (p<0.05). *Mdx* females were 12% heavier in LV+S weight than C57 females (p<0.01). C57 males and *mdx* males had a 12% (p<0.01) and 11% (p<0.05) higher LV+S weight than their same strain females (Figure 4-2C).
In 180 day old mice there were no differences between males in any of the measured cardiac parameters despite differences in BW (Figure 4-2). C57 males and *mdx* females had 18% and 21% respectively higher HW%s than *mdx* males (p<0.01). There was no difference in RA weight between mice (Figure 5-2A) or in LA weight between males. The LA of *mdx* females were 60% heavier than *mdx* males (p<0.01) (Figure 4-2B). There was no difference in RV weight between mice (Figure 4-2C). C57 males and *mdx* females had a 20% (p<0.05) and 27% (p<0.01) respectively heavier LV+S than *mdx* males (Figure 4-2C).

In 330 day old mice; *mdx* males had an 11% lower HW% than C57 males (p<0.01). There was no difference in HW% between females. The *mdx* mice did not differ in terms of HW% whereas C57 males were 11% higher in HW% than C57 females (p<0.05). The LA of *mdx* females were 40% (p<0.05) and 48% (p<0.01) heavier than *mdx* males and C57 females, respectively. All other cardiac parameters measured showed no differences between strains or sexes of the same mouse strains (Figure 4-2).

There was no difference in RA weight between males. *Mdx* females had an 84% heavier RA weight than C57 females (p<0.05). Neither mouse strain differed between sexes in terms of RA weight (Figure 4-2A). There was no difference in LA weight between males. *Mdx* females were 148% heavier in LA weight than C57 females (p<0.01). *Mdx* males had a 29% lower LA weight than females (p<0.05). There was no sex difference in LA weight with C57s (Figure 4-2B). *Mdx* males and females had a 22% (p<0.05) and 57% (p<0.01) higher RV weight than C57 males and females, respectively. Neither mouse strain differed between sexes in terms of RV weight (Figure 4-2C). There was no difference between males in terms of LV+S weight. *Mdx* females were 33% heavier in LV+S weight than C57 males had an 18% higher LV+S weight than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-2C).



Figure 4-2 Effects of age on cardiac tissue weights between strains and sexes.

Comparison of mouse RA weights (A), LA weights (B), RV weights (C), and (D) LV+S weights at varying ages; between strains of the same sex and within mouse strains of different sexes. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison at equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison within same strain and age. n = 6-10 mice.

### 4.2.2 Cardiac function

At 90 days of age basal cardiac FOC in C57 males was 48% (p<0.05) and 112% (p<0.01) higher than *mdx* males and C57 females, respectively. The differences were even greater for normalised FOC with C57 males being 129% (p<0.01) and 184% (p<0.01) higher than *mdx* males and C57 females, respectively. There were no differences in basal FOCs in *mdx* between sexes in any age groups, with a trend toward convergence of values at 330 days of age (Figure 4-3).



Figure 4-3 Basal FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) in *mdx* and C57 males and females across ages.

Comparison between strains (same sex) and within mouse strains (different sexes) at varying ages. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison at equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison within same strain and age. n = 6-10 mice.

Figure 4-4 illustrates that, at 90 days of age there was no difference in Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs between females or between *mdx* mice. Interestingly, C57 males showed significantly higher (p<0.01) forces than both *mdx* males and C57 females across all Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations.

Figure 4-5A shows 180 day old *mdx* males generating some lower forces than age-matched C57 males. However, there was no difference between *mdx* males and *mdx* females in terms of  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs (Figure 4-5B).

Results showed no difference in  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs between males of different mouse strains (Figure 4-6A) or between *mdx* sexes at 330 days of age (Figure 4-6D). At  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations of 9.0 mM and 12.0 mM C57 males have a higher normalised FOC of LA than C57 females (p<0.05, Figure 4-6B) and C57 females had a higher FOC than *mdx* females (p<0.05, Figure 4-6C).



Figure 4-4 Concentration response curves to calcium comparing male and female 90 day old mice.

Comparison between strains and sexes for 90 day old mice. Comparisons between (A) C57 males and *mdx* males (B) C57 males and C57 females (C) C57 females and *mdx* females and (D) *mdx* males and *mdx* females. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 8-9 mice.



Figure 4-5 Concentration response curves to calcium comparing male and female 180 day old mice.

Comparison between strains and sexes for 180 day old mice. Comparisons between (A) C57 males and *mdx* males and (B) *mdx* males and *mdx* females. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 8-10 mice.



Figure 4-6 Concentration response curves to calcium comparing male and female mice 330 day old.

Comparison between strains and sexes for 330 day old mice. Comparisons between (A) C57 males and *mdx* males (B) C57 males and C57 females (C) C57 females and *mdx* females and (D) *mdx* males and *mdx* females. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 7-10 mice.

Figure 4-7 shows that, in 90 day old mice, there was no difference between mice in maximum FOC of LA. However, when adjusted for LA weight, maximum FOC (normalised for LA weight) results show C57 males with 87% higher forces than *mdx* males (p<0.01) and 71% higher forces than C57 females (p<0.01) with still no difference between *mdx* males and *mdx* females. There were no significant force differences between groups at other ages.



# Figure 4-7 Maximum FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) in male and female mice across ages.

Comparison between strains of the same sex and within mouse strains of different sexes across varying ages. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison at equivalent sex and age; p<0.05, p<0.01 sex comparison within same strain and age. n = 6-10 mice.

# 4.3 Influence of sex on EDL characteristics

### 4.3.1 EDL morphometry

In 90 day old mice; *mdx* males had 31% heavier EDL than C57 males (p<0.01) but were not significantly different to *mdx* females. C57 males and *mdx* females had 59% and 72% heavier EDL than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-8A). At the same age, *mdx* males had a 22% larger EDL CSA (CSA) than C57 males (p<0.01) but were not different to *mdx* females. C57 males and *mdx* females had a 34% and 49% larger EDL CSA than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-8C).

In 180 day old mice; *mdx* males had 30% heavier EDL than C57 males (p<0.01) but were not significantly different to *mdx* females (Figure 4-8A). *Mdx* males had a 27% larger EDL CSA than C57 males (p<0.01) but were not different to *mdx* females (Figure 4-8C).

330 day old *mdx* males had 73% and 52% heavier EDL weight than C57 males and *mdx* females respectively (p<0.01). C57 males had a 26% heavier EDL weight than C57 females (p<0.01). *Mdx* female EDL weight was almost double (+94%) that of C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-8A). *Mdx* 

males had a significantly larger (+18%) EDL CSA than C57 males (p<0.01), with no significant difference to mdx females. C57 males and mdx females had a 24% and 68% larger EDL CSA than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-8C).





\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age;  $\dagger$  p<0.05,  $\dagger$  p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. A = EDL weight, B = EDL Lo and C = EDL CSA. n = 8-9 mice.

### 4.3.2 EDL function

In 90 day old mice; *mdx* males had a 24% and 27% higher Pt than C57 males (p<0.05) and *mdx* females (p<0.01). C57 males and *mdx* females had a 51% (p<0.01) and 50% (p<0.05) higher Pt than C57 females. There was no difference in Po between males or between *mdx* males and females. C57 males and *mdx* females had a 45% and 49% higher Po than C57 females (p<0.05). There were no significant differences in sPt, sPo, or

tetanus to twitch ratio (Po:Pt) between strains or between sexes of the same strain (Table 4-1).

mouse strain	C57	mdx	C57	mdx
sex	male	male	female	female
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	25.93±0.43	28.33±0.77*	20.14±0.32††	26.52±0.67**
Pt (mN)	38.99±2.73	48.17±2.39*	25.76±3.64††	38.26±2.87*††
Po (mN)	158.94±15.03	205.71±17.74	109.54±14.84†	163.13±20.16*
sPt (mN/mm²)	17.95±1.71	17.70±0.75	15.55±2.33	15.71±1.56
sPo (mN/mm²)	73.55±8.60	75.79±6.76	65.68±8.79	67.15±9.55
Po:Pt	4.05±0.21	4.26±0.31	4.30±0.20	4.20±0.35

Table 4-1EDL muscle function in 90 day old mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 8-9 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

Table 4-2 confirms no significant changes in any of the measured EDL parameters between strains or between sexes of the same strain in 180 day old mice.

Table 4-2EDL muscle function in 180 day old mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx	mdx
sex	male	male	female
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	31.82±0.76	32.82±0.57
Pt (mN)	39.54±2.64	43.64±3.90	48.21±3.00
Po (mN)	155.74±12.85	179.25±20.76	191.69±15.19
sPt (mN/mm²)	15.32±1.71	12.87±1.24	15.93±1.10
sPo (mN/mm²)	60.58±7.19	53.55±6.98	63.57±5.74
Po:Pt	3.97±0.23	4.09±0.30	3.97±0.19

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age;  $\dagger$  p<0.05,  $\dagger$  p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 8-10 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

In 330 day old mice, C57 males had a 43% higher Pt than C57 females (p<0.01). C57 males had a 45% higher Po than C57 females (p<0.01). *Mdx* females had a 32% higher Po than C57 females (p<0.05). *Mdx* males had a 30% lower sPt than C57 males (p<0.01) but no difference to *mdx* females. *Mdx* males had a 33% lower sPo than C57 males (p<0.01) but no difference to *mdx* females. Other comparisons between strains or within strains and between sexes revealed no significant differences in EDL parameters (Table 4-3).

mouse strain	C57	mdx	C57	mdx
sex	male	male	female	female
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	29.44±0.73	35.16±0.82**	27.65±0.65†	33.94±0.73**
Pt (mN)	43.02±1.66	44.83±3.00	30.01±3.88††	39.22±2.50
Po (mN)	200.87±12.73	202.64±15.71	138.37±12.35††	182.80±9.45*
sPt (mN/mm²)	18.99±3.50	13.20±2.56**	16.48±2.27	12.69±9.45
sPo (mN/mm²)	89.02±23.59	59.46±12.10**	76.09±8.16	58.96±3.27
Po:Pt	4.62±0.51	4.64±1.44	4.78±0.27	4.71±0.20

Table 4-3EDL muscle function in 330 day old mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

### 4.3.3 EDL histology

Figure 4-9 shows that, at all ages, mdx male and female muscle tissues had a significantly higher percentage of centrally nucleated fibres (CNFs) than their C57 equivalents (p<0.01). Age-matched males and females of same strain were not significantly different with respect to percentage of CNFs with the exception of 180 days of age where mdx females had a significantly higher percentage of CNFs than mdx males (p<0.01).

Figure 4-10 shows that there was no difference in EDL cell diameter between strains or between sexes within the same mouse strain at either 90 or 180 days of age. However, at 330 days of age *mdx* males and females had significantly larger (p<0.01, p<0.05) EDL cell diameters than C57 equivalents.



Figure 4-9 Percentage of CNFs and maximum tetanic forces in EDL muscles at varying ages and between sexes.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice.



Figure 4-10 EDL cell diameters and maximum tetanic forces at varying ages and between sexes.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice.

# 4.4 Influence of sex on SOL characteristics

### 4.4.1 SOL morphometry

Figure 4-11A clearly depicts that, at 90 days of age, *mdx* males had 50% (p<0.01) and 22% (p<0.05) heavier SOL than C57 males and *mdx* females, respectively. C57 males and *mdx* females had 26% and 66% heavier SOL than C57 females (p<0.01). 180 day old *mdx* males had a 23% larger SOL weight than C57 males (p<0.05) but were not different to *mdx* females. *Mdx* males had a 16% larger SOL CSA than C57 males (p<0.05) but were not different to *mdx* females. *Mdx* males had a 16% larger SOL CSA than C57 males (p<0.05) but were not different to *mdx* females. *Mdx* males, at 330 days old, had a SOL weight of more than double (2.13-fold) that of C57 males (p<0.01). Similarly, *mdx* females had a 70% higher SOL weight than C57 females (p<0.01). There was no difference between male and female C57 with respect to SOL weight whereas *mdx* males had a 37% higher SOL weight than *mdx* females (p<0.01).

*Mdx* males had a 75% and 28% larger SOL CSA than C57 males and *mdx* females respectively (p<0.01). There was no difference in SOL CSA between C57s. *Mdx* females had a 6% larger SOL CSA than C57 females (p<0.01) (Figure 4-11C).



Figure 4-11 SOL skeletal muscle morphometry comparing mouse strains and sexes.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. A = SOL weight, B = SOL Lo, and C = SOL CSA. n = 8-9 mice.

### 4.4.2 SOL function

Table 4-4 shows that in 90 day old mice, *mdx* males and females have significantly higher SOL Pt and Po values than C57s of equivalent sex (p<0.01). However, when normalised for CSA (namely sPt and sPo values), these differences lose statistical significance.

mouse strain	C57	mdx	C57	mdx
sex	male	male	female	female
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	25.93±0.43	28.33±0.77*	20.14±0.32††	26.52±0.67**
Pt (mN)	18.26±1.80	27.35±1.60**	15.65±1.65	25.10±1.05**
Po (mN)	109.24±14.05	173.58±8.60**	102.61±11.70	166.55±5.23**
sPt (mN/mm²)	17.50±1.88	20.75±0.98	21.29±2.83	22.08±1.77
sPo (mN/mm²)	104.06±12.91	132.00±6.79	139.21±18.79	146.52±11.05
Po:Pt	5.90±0.38	6.42±0.35	6.60±0.35	6.68±0.22

Table 4-4SOL muscle function in 90 day old male and female mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 8-9 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

In 180 day old mice; *mdx* males had a 25% (p<0.01) and 21% (p<0.05) higher SOL Pt than C57 males and *mdx* females, respectively. *Mdx* males had 43% higher Po than C57 males (p<0.01) but no difference to *mdx* females. There were no differences in sPt . *Mdx* males had a 22% higher sPo than C57 males (p<0.05) but no difference to *mdx* females. *Mdx* males had a 15% higher Po:Pt than C57 males (p<0.05) but no difference to *mdx* females (Table 4-5).

Table 4-5SOL muscle function in 180 day old male and female mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx	mdx
sex	male	male	female
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	31.82±0.76	32.82±0.57
Pt (mN)	21.09±1.95	26.35±0.87**	21.85±1.54†
Po (mN)	126.75±11.12	181.52±5.07**	160.97±10.89
sPt (mN/mm²)	14.34±1.54	15.39±0.74	13.39±1.32
sPo (mN/mm²)	85.73±8.44	104.84±3.07*	98.64±9.30
Po:Pt	6.09±0.31	6.99±0.27*	7.42±0.28

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age;  $\dagger$  p<0.05,  $\dagger$  p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 8-10 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

In 330 day old mice; there was no difference in SOL Pt between males or C57s. *Mdx* males had an 18% higher Pt than *mdx* females (p<0.05). *Mdx* females had a 36% higher Pt than C57 females (p<0.01). *Mdx* males had a 42% higher Po than C57 males (p<0.01) but no difference to *mdx* females. There was no difference between C57s in Po. *Mdx* females had an 88% higher Po than C57 females (p<0.01). *Mdx* males had an 81% lower sPt than C57 males (p<0.05). There was no difference in sPt between males and

females in respective mouse strains or between females. There was no difference in sPo between males, females, or between the sexes in the respective mouse strains. *Mdx* males and *mdx* females had an 11% (p<0.05) and 34% (p<0.01) higher Po:Pt compared to C57 males and C57 females respectively. There was no difference in Po:Pt in C57s whereas *mdx* males had a 10% lower ratio to *mdx* females (p<0.05) (Table 4-6).

mouse strain sex	C57 male	<i>mdx</i> male	C57 female	<i>mdx</i> female
BW (a) <sup>1</sup>	29.44±0.73	35.16±0.82**	27.65±0.65†	33.94±0.73**
Pt (mN)	20.93±1.77	24.77±1.43	15.52±1.81	21.06±0.64**†
Po (mN)	125.58±12.14	178.16±11.58**	89.72±10.38	168.48±5.59**
sPt (mN/mm <sup>2</sup> )	19.60±1.72	13.60±1.35*	16.42±2.79	14.32±0.50
sPo (mN/mm²)	116.61±10.97	98.42±11.15	94.23±16.08	115.02±5.80
Po:Pt	6.05±0.39	7.19±0.22*	5.97±0.51	8.02±0.20**†

 Table 4-6
 SOL muscle function in 330 day old male and female mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 4-1A.

# 4.4.3 SOL histology

At all ages, *mdx* male and female muscles had a significantly higher percentage of CNFs than their C57 equivalents. Across the ages, males and females of same strain were not significantly different with respect to percentage of CNFs (Figure 4-12).





\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice. No 180 day old C57 females were available.

There was no difference in SOL cell diameters between males and females within the same mouse strain at any age. Cell diameters were not different between strains at 90 or 180 days of age, however, at 330 days of age *mdx* males and females had significantly larger (p<0.05, p<0.01) cell diameters than C57 equivalents (Figure 4-13).





p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent sex and age; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 sex comparison with same strain and age. n = 7-12 mice. No 180 day old C57 females were available.

### 4.5 Discussion

This trial examined the body weight, cardiac, and skeletal muscle differences between sexes and mouse strains across specific ages. Despite no significant differences in birth weight between sexes in humans, males are significantly heavier than age-matched females throughout human adulthood (Hamill et al. 1979; Brainard and Burmaster 1992; Murray and Burmaster 1992; Burmaster and Crouch 1997). This study showed that BWs in the mdx mouse do not correlate with human growth patterns, particularly with respect to sex differences. All mice in the study had reached adulthood and at 90 days of age mdx males were heavier than C57 males and females. Lu and Hoey (2004) found no difference in BW between *mdx* and C57 males at 12 to 14 weeks old. There were no differences in BWs between mice at 180 days of age but at 330 days mdx mice were actually heavier than age- and sexmatched controls. This was in contrast to Lu and Hoey (2000) who found 12 month old C57 males heavier than *mdx* age-matched males and Laws (2005) who reported no difference in BWs between *mdx* and C57s from six months to 12 months of age but that C57s were heavier than mdx from 15 to 24 months of age .

At all age groups C57 males were heavier than females but there were no sex differences in mdx BWs. The maintenance of 'male-equivalent' weight in 330 day old female mdx may be due to the increased deposition of adipose tissue in ageing mdx females as has been reported by Salimena *et al* (2004).

The incidence of cardiac involvement in human female DMD carriers is extremely high and manifests predominantly as cardiomyopathy and progresses with age (Cox and Kunkel 1997). Sex-related differences in cardiac function have been well documented in normal humans (Harrison and Smith 1980; Liao *et al.* 1995; Yamasaki *et al.* 1996) and rats (Watanabe 1988; Vizgirda *et al.* 2002) and yet extremely limited data is available on sex differences in cardiac function in the *mdx* mouse. CV disease in humans shows a male to female ratio of 2.2 across different populations (Kalin and Zumoff 1990) and the sex disparity in cardiac disease has been interpreted primarily as reflecting oestrogen-mediated protection against the deposition

of intra-arterial plaque (atherogenesis) (Liu, Death and Handelsman 2003). It is important to study the sex differences in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD with a view to providing valuable research information directly applicable to female DMD carriers and to further elucidate the role of sex hormones (both male and female) in the disease.

At 90 days old *mdx* males had lower LV+S and LA weight compared to C57s, whereas, at this age *mdx* males had a higher LV+S and HW compared to *mdx* females. These results are in contrast to findings by Lu and Hoey (2000) who found that 12 to 14 week old male *mdx* actually had lower LV+S weights than C57s. At 180 days old, *mdx* males had lower LV+S, whole heart, and HW as a percentage of BW compared to C57 males and *mdx* females, in addition to a lower LA weight than *mdx* females. In 330 day old mice *mdx* males had heavier RVs but lower HW as a percentage of BW compared to C57s males and lower LA weight and heart rate (HR) as a percentage of BW compared to *mdx* females. Lu and Hoey (2000) also reported lower RV weights in 12 month old *mdx* males despite lower BWs.

When comparing females aged 90 days, *mdx* RV, LV+S, HW, and HW as a percentage of BW values were higher than C57s. Then, in the oldest groups (330 days of age), all cardiac tissues measured in females were heavier in *mdx* compared to C57s. In 12 month old females, Lu and Hoey (2000) found that despite C57s being heavier in BW than *mdx*, the RV of *mdx* females was heavier than age-matched C57 females.

Cardiac abnormalities are well documented in DMD patients and it is thought that the left ventricular posterobasal and lateral walls are most extensively affected, sparing the right ventricle and the atrium (Finsterer and Stollberger 2003). Therefore, one would expect to see lowered LV+S weights in *mdx* compared to C57s, particularly in groups where BWs are not different. This occurred in two groups; 180 day old *mdx* males when compared to both C57 males and *mdx* females. In other groups where there was a significant difference in LV+S values there was a corresponding significant difference in BW which confounds interpretation. It must be noted that the LV+S differences were not mirrored by functional results or response to exogenous  $Ca^{2+}$  as reflected by  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs.

The comprehensive 2000 study by Lu and Hoey examined atrial function in 12 to 14 week old *mdx* and C57 males and 12 month old *mdx* and C57 females. This study was the first research to show both age-related deterioration of  $\beta_1$ -adrenoceptors in the male *mdx* heart and differences in  $\beta_1$ -adrenoceptor function between male and female *mdx* (Lu and Hoey 2000b).

This study found significant differences in basal LA FOC between strains was evident at 90 days of age at which C57 males generated higher forces than both C57 females and *mdx* males. This concurs with the work of Woolf (2003) who found basal contractility in *mdx* was lower than C57s in 12 to 14 week old male LAs . LA forces in *mdx* were not different between males and females at any age tested. The work of Lu and Hoey (2000) also illustrated reduced responsiveness to Ca<sup>2+</sup> in both male and female *mdx*. This study supported their work in that it showed that C57 males (across all ages) generated higher forces than both *mdx* males and C57 females, and that both sexes in *mdx* had a dampened responsiveness to Ca<sup>2+</sup> as shown by Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs generated. No differences in Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs between *mdx* males and females were seen at any age. These results suggest that both male and female and female *mdx* males and female *mdx* mice from 90 to 330 days of age have cardiac abnormalities not evidenced by C57 control mice.

Despite the fact that this study did not measure serum CK levels in experimental animals, the results of studies which have found sex differences in serum CK activity in *mdx* mice are notable. In 2004 Salimena *et al.* found that at six weeks of age *mdx* males showed non-significant increased serum CK levels compared to age-matched females, by 12 weeks of age *mdx* males had an over 100% increase in CK levels compared to *mdx* females, whereas, by the age of 48 weeks, *mdx* males actually had an approximately 4.5-fold decrease in CK activity compared to age-matched females. Valentine (1988) found that in the *cxmd* dog, females had lower serum CK levels than hemizygous males but that muscle damage was greater in elderly (24 week old) *mdx* female dogs (Valentine *et al.* 1988).

Some researchers (Amelink, Kamp and Bar 1988; Tiidus *et al.* 2001; Tiidus 2003) suggest that human sex differences are such that female skeletal muscle has a greater regenerative capacity after exercise induced damage, compared to males. Tiidus (2001) concluded that female hormones

had an anti-inflammatory role in muscle protection, Paroo *et al.* (2002) showed that men have higher levels of stress protein HSP70 and CK levels in response to exercise, than women (Paroo, Dipchand and Noble 2002) and Komulainen (1999) reported no changes to the architecture of muscle fibres in females compared with males immediately after exercise and up to six hours later, thus indicating female muscles are protected against membrane damage (Komulainen *et al.* 1999).

Bar (1988) showed that oestrogen (in rats) had a protective role in skeletal muscles of both males and females (Bar *et al.* 1988) and two studies, specifically using the *mdx* mouse model, showed that oestrogen could attenuate the inflammatory-related leucocyte infiltration into muscles (Wise and Dubal 2000; Zhai *et al.* 2000).

EDL morphometry at 90 days of age revealed that *mdx* males and females had higher BWs, EDL weights, and EDL CSAs than sex-matched C57s, this results was mirrored in a comparison between C57 sexes, whilst there was no difference in EDL muscle weight or CSAs between *mdx* sexes despite males having higher BW. At 180 days old *mdx* males were not different in EDL morphometry to females but had heavier EDLs with greater CSAs than C57 males. At 330 days of age both *mdx* males and females had greater BWs, EDL weights and CSAs than sex-matched C57s, with the same differences occurring between C57 males and females. *Mdx* males at this age had heavier EDLs but not different BWs or EDL CSAs than *mdx* females. Clearly, both male and female *mdx* showed hypertrophy of the EDL muscles across the ages studied.

Functional studies were then conducted to determine whether the EDL muscle hypertrophy seen in *mdx* males and females actually translated to increased forces in these fast-twitch muscles. Protocols were developed and incorporated the optimisation of muscle preload, stimulation voltage, and stimulation frequency and these were consistently used for the remainder of the project. Kaminski (1992) argued that fast-twitch, extremity muscles (such as EDL), are affected preferentially in DMD (Kaminski *et al.* 1992). Clearly, *mdx* EDL muscles were hypertrophied but the results showed no differences in EDL forces generated (when normalised for CSA) at 90 or 180 days of age when compared to females or male controls. At 330 days of age EDL muscle

weakness became apparent in *mdx* males. These males did not generate different EDL forces to *mdx* females but had a 33% lower sPo than C57 males, despite being heavier in BW and EDL weight. Conclusively, hypertrophied EDL muscles did not generate greater forces than controls in either male or female *mdx*.

In 330 day old mice, SOL skeletal muscle morphometry mirrored the results for EDL muscles except that C57 males and females differed only in BW and *mdx* males had larger SOL CSAs than *mdx* females. Both fast-twitch (EDL) and slow-twitch (SOL) skeletal muscles were hypertrophied in *mdx* males and females. As in EDL studies, there were no functional differences (normalised for CSA) for 90 or 180 day old mice. Again, at 330 days of age there were no SOL functional differences (normalised for CSA) between *mdx* males and C57 males, *mdx* males and *mdx* females, or *mdx* females and C57 females. As with EDL muscles, hypertrophied SOL muscles did not translate to muscles capable of generating larger mechanical forces *in vitro*. As with EDL muscles, hypertrophied SOL muscles seen in male and female *mdx* did not generate greater forces than control C57 males and females.

This is the first study to show sex-specific differences in skeletal muscle function between *mdx* and C57 mice.

At the 76th European Neuromuscular Centre (ENMC) International Workshop in The Netherlands 2000 it was agreed that, in order to compare emerging treatment strategies, standardisation of protocols for the assessment of functional and histological parameters in *mdx* mouse research be a priority (Rudel and Brinkmeier 2002). It can be argued that this is yet to be achieved (Harper *et al.* 2002; Nguyen *et al.* 2002), however, Briguet *et al.* (2004) has developed a method of reliably determining muscle fibre diameter in the *mdx* mouse and this method was utilised in this project (Briguet *et al.* 2004).

Since 1987, the histopathological changes in *mdx* skeletal muscle over the lifespan of the mouse have been determined by a number of researchers (Carnwath and Shotton 1987; Torres and Duchen 1987; Coulton *et al.* 1988; Pastoret and Sebille 1995a). Limited data was available that specifically addressed the issue of sex differences in *mdx* and C57s. However, Salimena *et al.* (2004) noted that six week old *mdx* males showed more extensive sarcolemmal damage in EDL muscle than age-matched females whereas the situation was reversed at 24 weeks of age. Histological analysis showed consistent differences between age-matched *mdx* sexes. Twelve week old *mdx* females showed less muscle inflammation and necrosis than males and at all ages studied (six, 12, and 24 weeks of age) female *mdx* showed a higher percentage of regenerating fibres compared to age-matched males. These researchers also found that 48 week old *mdx* females presented an 80% increase in fibrosis and deposition of fatty tissue compared to age-matched males. Salimena *et al.* (2004) thus concluded that the characteristic histological features of *mdx* skeletal muscles may be influenced by sex dimorphism.

Organ bath functional studies showed hypertrophy of both fasttwitch (EDL) and slow-twitch (SOL) *mdx* muscles failed to translate to increased forces *in vitro* when compared to age- and sex-matched controls. Histological analysis showed that across the ages studied, both *mdx* males and females had significantly higher percentages of CNFs compared to sexmatched C57s. This is clearly consistent with the current literature.

Throughout the lifespan of the *mdx* there is a vicious cycle (Figure 2-14) of degeneration and regeneration which has been documented by a number of researchers (Zacharias and Anderson 1991; Beilharz *et al.* 1992; Grounds and McGeachie 1992; Pacioretty, Cooper and Gilmour 1992; Lefaucheur, Pastoret and Sebille 1995; Pastoret and Sebille 1995a). The presence of mononuclear cells located in epimysial space of *mdx* muscle cells indicates that an inflammatory processes is occurring in response to continual vicious cycles as described above (Anderson, Bressler and Ovalle 1988; Coulton *et al.* 1988; Pastoret and Sebille 1993; Lefaucheur, Pastoret and Sebille 1995). Elevated numbers of CNFs are commonly observed in the histopathology of both DMD patients and animal models of the disease including the *mdx* mouse (Narita and Yorifuji 1999), however in DMD patients the population of CNFs is considered to be lower than in milder forms of muscular dystrophy (Tohgi *et al.* 1994).

This project examined the histological differences between strains and sexes with respect to CNFs and cell diameters with a view to

determining whether correlations existed between functional and histological results. Percentages of CNFs were determined for both EDL (fast-twitch) and SOL (slow-twitch) skeletal muscles. Consistent with the literature (Narita and Yorifuji 1999) both muscle types in *mdx* showed exponentially higher percentages of CNFs compared to C57 sex-matched controls. In EDL muscles, percentages of CNFs did not differ between age-matched strains, the exception being 180 day old female *mdx* which had higher percentages than *mdx* males. At all ages, *mdx* SOL muscles had a significantly higher percentages of CNFs than sex-matched C57s and, across all ages, males and females of same strain did not differ with respect to percentage of CNFs.

In DMD and *mdx* mice, the fundamental deleterious consequence of dystrophic gene expression is segmental necrosis of skeletal muscle fibres. The nature of the gene defects and the pathogenesis of muscle fibre damage are not clear. However, clinical and experimental evidence indicates that muscle fibres, whose girth is below a certain level (estimated at approximately 20 to 25 µm in diameter in mdx mice) are not susceptible to necrosis. This apparent protection against functional damage has been observed in muscle fibres that are naturally of small diameter (such as the EOMs), and in mouse muscle fibres that have been prevented from growing normally by experimental procedures or by pathological processes in DMD patients (Karpati, Carpenter and Prescott 1988). Briguet (2004) also noted that both small diameter and large diameter muscle fibres were more abundant in mdx dystrophic muscle than in age- and sex-matched controls (Briguet *et al.* 2004). This suggests that even in situations where there may be no significant difference in muscle cell diameter between strains there may, in fact, be a greater variance in *mdx* values. This was supported by this trial and reflected in larger standard error values (SEMs) seen in histological results of mdx compared to C57s. This trial offered the first opportunity to test that hypothesis that small diameter fibres were in some way immune to disease progression in *mdx* mice.

Results for both fast-twitch (EDL) and slow-twitch (SOL) muscles showed no difference in cell diameters between strains or sexes at 90 or 180 days of age. A difference between strains emerged at 330 days where both *mdx* males and females had significantly larger cell diameters than sex-

matched C57s. Groups that had EDL mean cell diameters below 25  $\mu$ m included 90 day old C57 males, C57 females, and *mdx* females, together with C57 males and females at 330 days of age. None of the 90 day old groups (with cell diameters below 25  $\mu$ m) showed statistically significant difference in function when compared to sex-matched mice. However, C57 males and females at 330 days old showed higher EDL sPo values than *mdx* sex-matched mice. Groups with SOL muscles of diameters less than 25  $\mu$ m included all mice at 90 days of age together with both male and female 330 day old C57s. None of these groups showed and statistically significant difference in function (sPo values) when compared to sex-matched mice. Neither fast-twitch (EDL) or slow-twitch (SOL) skeletal muscle function correlated with histological findings within or between strains and the study did not find a direct link between muscle cells of diameters less than 25  $\mu$ m and skeletal muscle function.

# **5** Castration trial

# 5.1 Influence of castration on body weight

Castration caused a lower BW at age 6 months as evident in Figure 5-1. However, there was no difference in BW between mdx and C57 entire males or castrated males. Mdx and C57 entire mice were 29% heavier than castrated mice of the same strain (p<0.01).



Figure 5-1Influence of castration on body weight in C57 and mdx male mice.

Comparison within mouse strains as to the influence of castration on BW . \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 treatment comparison in same strain. Age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice.

# 5.2 Influence of castration on cardiac characteristics

### 5.2.1 Cardiac morphometry

C57 entires had a 15% higher HW than *mdx* entires (p<0.05). *Mdx* and C57 entires had a 20% and 47% heavier HW than castrated mice of the same strain respectively (p<0.01), however, these mice also had a higher overall BW. Normalisation of their HW to BW revealed that castration caused this to be reduced to 11% in C57 and no difference at all in *mdx*. This suggests that the difference in HW is largely due to the difference in BW. As shown in Table 5-1, *mdx* have a lower HW% than C57s, however, castration negated this effect completely. This was because castration reduced the HW% in C57s whereas castration had no effect on HW% in *mdx*.

C57 entires had an 18% higher HW% than *mdx* entires (p<0.01). Castration in the C57 mouse strain caused an 11% decrease in HW% (p<0.05) in contrast to *mdx* where castration produced no difference in HW%. In addition, there was no difference in HW% between castrated mouse strains.

RA weights between strains of entires or between entire and castrated *mdx* were not significantly different. C57 entires had a 64% heavier RA than C57 castrates (p<0.01). Castrated *mdx* had an 80% heavier RA than C57 castrates (p<0.05). There was no difference in LA or RV weights between strains or as a result of castration within mouse strains. Castration caused no difference in RV in *mdx* whereas C57 castrates had a 29% lower RV than C57 entires (p<0.01). *Mdx* entire had a 20% heavier LV+S than C57 entires (p<0.05) whereas there was no difference in LV+S between strains in castrates. C57 and *mdx* entires had a 23% and 55% heavier LV+S than their respective castrates (p<0.01).

mouse strain status	C57 entire	C57 castrated	<i>mdx</i> entire	<i>mdx</i> castrated
BW (g)	30.74±0.54	23.78±0.83††	31.82±0.76	24.67±1.01††
HW (mg)	139.24±6.58	94.87±6.61††	121.10±4.49*	100.57±3.24††
HW% (%)	0.45±0.01	0.40±0.02†	0.38±0.01**	0.41±0.01
RA weight (mg)	3.45±0.30	2.10±0.19††	3.34±0.26	3.77±0.59*
LA weight (mg)	1.06±0.11	0.81±0.11	1.12±0.13	1.02±0.10
RV (mg)	25.31±1.62	17.90±1.15††	25.82±1.51	25.07±4.99
LV+S (mg)	90.81±3.28	74.06±5.45††	109.42±6.12*	70.72±3.79††

 Table 5-1
 Body and cardiac weights in entire and castrated male mice.

### 5.2.2 Cardiac function

There was no difference in both basal FOC of LA between strains for entires or castrates and normalised FOC between strains of entires or between entires and castrates of the same strain (Figure 5-2). *Mdx* castrates had a 38% lower normalised FOC than C57 castrates (p<0.05). There was no difference in maximum basal FOC between strains or between entires or castrates.

Castration caused no significant functional cardiac effect within mouse strains (Figures 5-2B and 5-2D). Castrated C57s did have

<sup>\*</sup> p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; + p<0.05, + p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. n = 6-7 mice.

significantly higher forces than mdx castrates across all Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations (p<0.05) (Figure 5-2C).



Figure 5-2 Concentration response curves to calcium in entire and castrated male mice.

(A) C57 entire versus *mdx* entire (B) C57 entire versus C57 castrated (C) C57 castrated versus *mdx* castrated and (D) *mdx* entire versus *mdx* castrated. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice.

There was no difference in maximum FOC (normalised for CSA) between strains of entires or between entires and castrates of the same strain. The *mdx* castrates had a 45% lower maximum FOC (normalised) than C57 castrates (p<0.05) (Table 5-2).

mouse strain	C57	C57	mdx	mdx
status	entire	castrated	entire	castrated
	30.74±0.	23.78±0.83	31.82±0.	24.67±1.01
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	54	††	76	††
	1.06±0.1		1.12±0.1	
LA weight (mg)	1	0.81±0.11	3	1.02±0.10
	1.62±0.1		1.54±0.2	
FOC (mN)	6	1.48±0.11	2	1.20±0.17
FOC (normalised for LA weight)	1.67±0.2		1.37±0.1	
(mN/mg)	7	1.95±0.18	6	1.21±0.18*
	3.72±0.3		3.08±0.4	
maximum FOC (mN)	6	3.44±0.46	1	2.47±0.42
maximum FOC	3.72±0.4		2.74±0.2	
(normalised for LA weight) (mN/mg)	5	4.46±0.51	7	2.47±0.41*

 Table 5-2
 Cardiac function of entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; + p<0.05, ++ p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain.

### age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 5-1.

# 5.3 Influence of castration on skeletal muscle morphometry

*Mdx* entires and castrates had a 30% and 29% higher EDL weight than C57 entires and castrates (p<0.01). *Mdx* and C57 entires had a 54% and 52% higher EDL weight than their respective castrates (p<0.01). *Mdx* entires and castrates had a 27% and 26% higher EDL CSA than C57 entires and castrates (p<0.01). *Mdx* and C57 entires had a 51% and 50% higher EDL CSA than their respective castrates (p<0.05). *Mdx* entires and castrates had a 23% and 32% higher SOL weight than C57 entires (p<0.05) and castrates (p<0.01). *Mdx* and C57 entires had a 32% (p<0.05) and 41% (p<0.01) higher SOL weight than their respective castrates. There was no difference in SOL CSA within mouse strains of entires or castrates. *Mdx* and C57 entires had a 28% (p<0.05) and 36% (p<0.01) higher SOL CSA than their respective castrates (Table 5-3).

mouse strain status	C57 entire	C57 castrated	<i>mdx</i> entire	<i>mdx</i> castrated
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	23.78±0.83††	31.82±0.76	24.67±1.01††
EDL weight (mg)	12.79±0.66	8.43±0.32††	16.66±0.99**	10.85±0.39**††
EDL Lo (mm)	10.19±0.35	10.00±0.25	10.30±0.25	10.24±0.41
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> )	2.73±0.18	1.82±0.10††	3.46±0.18*	2.29±0.12*††
SOL weight (mg)	10.47±0.52	7.40±0.39††	12.89±1.03*	9.77±0.30**†
SOL Lo (mm)	9.21±0.21	8.89±7.96	9.68±0.28	9.60±0.38
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> )	1.52±0.08	1.12±0.07††	1.76±0.11	1.37±0.08†

 Table 5-3
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 5-1.

# 5.4 Influence of castration on EDL characteristics

# 5.4.1 EDL function

Castration resulted in a lower final BW in both mdx and C57 mice (p<0.01). This was reflected by a proportional decrease in the weights of their EDL muscles. Despite the lower muscle weights, there were no differences in absolute twitch or tetanic forces between any of the four groups tested. However, when the forces are normalised to CSA, castrated mice had a significantly larger tetanic force in both C57 (+52%) and mdx (+25%) (Table 5-4).

C57 C57 mouse strain mdx mdx status entire castrated entire castrated BW  $(q)^1$ 30.74±0.54 31.82±0.76 24.67±1.01++ 23.78±0.83†† Pt (mN) 39.54±2.64 34.24±2.21 43.64±3.90 36.51±1.31 Po (mN) 155.74±12.85 165.43±7.07 179.25±20.76 166.00±9.77 sPt (mN/mm<sup>2</sup>) 15.32±1.71 18.83±0.67 12.87±1.24 16.20±1.14 sPo (mN/mm<sup>2</sup>) 60.58±7.19 53.55±6.98 92.01±4.58†† 73.53±7.26\* Po:Pt 3.97±0.23 4.09±0.30 4.50±0.21 4.93±0.32†

 Table 5-4
 EDL skeletal muscle function of entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; + p<0.05, ++ p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain.

age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 5-1.

### 5.4.2 EDL histology

For both entire and castrated mice, *mdx* had a significantly (p<0.01) higher percentage of EDL CNFs than C57 equivalents. However, castration did not produce a significant difference in CNFs within either mouse strain (Figure 5-3).







There was no difference in EDL cell diameters between strains of entire or castrated mice. Interestingly, castration produced a significant decrease in cell diameter in mdx mice (p<0.05) that was not evident in C57s (Figure 5-4).



Status (entire or castrated)

Figure 5-4 EDL cell diameter and sPo between strains and for entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment;</li>
† p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain.</li>
age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice.

# 5.5 Influence of castration on SOL characteristics

### 5.5.1 SOL function

*Mdx* entires had a 25% higher Pt than C57 entires (p<0.05) whilst there was no difference in Pt between C57s, *mdx*, or castrates. *Mdx* entires had a 43% higher Po than C57 entires (p<0.01). There was no difference in Po in castrates between strains. *Mdx* entires had a 33% higher Po than *mdx* castrates (p<0.05) whereas there was no difference in Po as a result of castration in C57s. There was no difference in sPt between strains of entires or between entires and castrates of the same strain.

Table 5-6 shows no difference in sPo or in Po:Pt between strains of entires or castrates or between mdx entires and mdx castrates. C57 castrates had a 45% higher sPo than C57 entires (p<0.05) (Table 5-5).

mouse strain	C57	C57	mdx	mdx
status	entire	castrated	entire	castrated
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	23.78±0.83††	31.82±0.76	24.67±1.01††
Pt (mN)	21.09±1.95	20.36±1.80	26.35±1.27*	20.81±3.29
Po (mN)	126.75±11.12	133.14±14.15	181.52±7.40**	136.73±21.97†
sPt (mN/mm²)	14.34±1.54	18.59±1.83	15.39±1.08	15.35±2.54
sPo (mN/mm²)	85.73±8.44	124.54±17.11†	104.84±4.47	100.88±17.18
Po:Pt	6.09±0.31	6.59±0.54	6.99±0.39	6.48±0.39

 Table 5-5
 SOL muscle function in entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 5-1.

### 5.5.2 SOL histology

For both entire and castrated mice, *mdx* mice had a significantly higher percentage of CNFs (p<0.01). Castration produced no difference in SOL percentage of CNFs in either mouse strain (Figure 5-5).



Status (entire or castrated)

Figure 5-5 SOL percentage CNFs and sPo between strains and for entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice. There was no difference in SOL cell diameters between castrated and entire mice of the same mouse strain or between strains of the same status (Figure 5-6).



Figure 5-6 SOL cell diameters and sPo between strains and for entire and castrated male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison with equivalent treatment; † p<0.05, †† p<0.01 treatment comparison with same strain. age = 6 months. n = 6-7 mice.

# 5.6 Discussion

Extremely limited data is available on the effects of castration on cardiac muscle function in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD. Studies on the cardiac effects of castration in male rats have shown various results. Scheuer *et al.* (1987) evaluated cardiac performance in isolated perfused rat hearts. Stroke work, ejection fraction, fractional shortening, and mean velocity of circumferential fibre shortening were all lowered in castrates. Papillary muscle studies showed increases in time to peak tension and one-half relaxation time and isotonic shortening studies showed decreased velocity of shortening in castrates (Scheuer *et al.* 1987). Golden *et al.* (2003) showed alterations in cardiac myocytes four months post-castration and provided the first evidence that androgens regulate functional expression of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and the sodium-Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchanger in isolated rat ventricular myocytes (Golden *et al.* 2003). Testosterone treatment of castrated animals completely reversed the effects of castration allowing Golden *et al.* (2003) to conclude that testosterone may play a role in modulating cardiac performance in males

and thereby contribute to previously observed differences in cardiac function between males and females.

In the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) model males have been shown to have higher blood pressure than females (Masubuchi *et al.* 1982). Sainz *et al.* (2004) investigated the effect of castration on  $N_{**}$ -nitro-Larginine methyl ester (L-NAME) induced hypertensive rats and found that castration lowered blood pressure. Masubuchi (1982) demonstrated the same physiological effect of castration in SHRs. Finally, Schaible (1984) demonstrated that both left ventricular filling and left ventricular function were impaired in hearts of castrated male rats (Schaible *et al.* 1984).

Studies by Cattanach *et al.* (1977) and Sciote *et al.* (2001) showed that hypogonadal male mice were of significantly lower BW than unaffected males (Cattanach *et al.* 1977; Sciote *et al.* 2001). In this trial, castration caused a significantly lowered BW at six months within both *mdx* and C57 mouse strains whilst there was no difference in BWs between entires or castrates in both mouse strains.

The hearts of C57 entires were heavier than *mdx* entires and, although the entires of both strains were heavier than strain-equivalent castrates, normalisation of HW to BW negated the effect in *mdx*. Castration appeared to have a greater impact on cardiac tissue weights in C57s than *mdx*. For instance; BW, HW, HW%, RA weight, RV weight, and LV+S weights were all significantly lowered in C57 castrates compared to entires. Castration only produced significantly lowered BW, HW, and LV+S weights in *mdx*.

Castration caused no significant functional cardiac effect between mouse strains and yet *mdx* castrates showed consistently lower forces than entires whereas C57 castrates showed higher LA forces than entires. Despite showing no functional difference in basal or maximum LA FOC between strains, the cardiac results demonstrated that the cardiac response to  $Ca^{2+}$ was altered in *mdx* castrates compared to C57 castrates. Therefore, this is the first study to demonstrate that castration produces a differential cardiac response to exogenous  $Ca^{2+}$  between *mdx* and C57 mouse strains.

The specific role of hormones in skeletal muscle growth and function remains unclear. It is known that skeletal muscle size is influenced

by sex hormones and skeletal muscle growth is maintained by the balance of nutrition, exercise, peptide hormones, and sex hormones. Androgens (predominantly testosterone and dihydrotestosterone (DHT)) induce skeletal muscle hypertrophy in individual muscle fibres and this has been clearly demonstrated by the endogenous depletion of testosterone through surgical castration of animal models (Sciote *et al.* 2001). The physiological role of testosterone in skeletal muscle is believed to be secondary to that of GH whose effects are mediated by IGFs (Florini, Ewton and Coolican 1996). However, testosterone can act directly on skeletal muscle to increase IGF-1 expression and mediate muscle hypertrophy (Urban 1999). Furthermore, both oestradiol and testosterone (after conversion to oestradiol by aromatase) can promote GH release via non-genomic pathways (Sciote *et al.* 2001).

It has also been shown that castration differentially affects skeletal muscle mass and androgen receptor (AR) levels in rat skeletal muscles (Antonio, Wilson and George 1999). A study of castrated versus entire bovines concluded that AR expression is muscle-specific and may be modulated by circulating testicular hormones and that divergent hormone sensitivities in skeletal muscles may account for the differential growth rates of individual muscles (Brandstetter *et al.* 2000).

Kaminski (1992) argued that fast-twitch, extremity muscles (such as EDL), are affected preferentially in DMD (Kaminski *et al.* 1992). The results of this study indicate that EDL and SOL muscles respond differently to the effects of castration in the *mdx* mouse compared to C57 controls. Entire *mdx* had heavier BWs, EDLs, and SOLs than entire C57s. Castration caused a decrease in BWs, EDL muscle weights, SOL muscle weights and subsequent muscle CSAs in both *mdx* and C57 mouse strains. Despite lowered EDL muscle weights in castrates results actually showed that castrated mice generated significantly larger EDL tetanic forces (as reflected by sPo values) than entires in both *mdx* (+37%) and C57s (+52%). SOL function studies showed that castration resulted in an increase in sPo values for C57s (+45%) but not in *mdx* mice. Castration produced a functional improvement in fast-twitch (EDL) muscles in both mouse strains but no functional improvement in slow-twitch (SOL) muscles in *mdx*.

Castration studies examining the influence of androgens on skeletal muscle fibre-types in mice have produced variable results (Sciote *et al.* 2001). Vaughan *et al.* (1974) found that castration in mice produced significant fibre-type changes in the SOL muscle. They concluded that, although muscle fibre-type is probably determined genetically and well established post-puberty, the proportion of different fibre-types can be modified by androgens (Vaughan *et al.* 1974). However, Jiang *et al.* (1989) found that castration, despite causing decreased FOC in EDL muscles in ReJ 129 mice, actually produced no difference in muscle fibre-types (Jiang and Klueber 1989).

Characteristics of skeletal muscle fibre-types are influenced by androgen (predominantly testosterone and DHT) and oestrogen hormones (Sciote *et al.* 2001). A single research paper (Salimena, Lagrota-Candido and Quirico-Santos 2004) has addressed histological parameters in *mdx* castrates. Salimena *et al.* (2004) castrated *mdx* and C57 mice at 21 days of age. The animals were then euthanased four weeks after surgery (at seven weeks of age) and results showed that castrated males did not show changes in the pattern of skeletal muscle regeneration and fibrosis as evidenced by the morphometry and histological findings in the gastrocnemius (mixed type-I and type-II fibres) muscles.

For entire and castrated mice, *mdx* had exponentially higher percentages of CNFs in both EDL and SOL skeletal muscles compared to C57s. Castration did not produce a significant change in percentage CNFs in either mouse strain. Interestingly, castration produced a 17% decrease in EDL cell diameter in *mdx*, not seen in C57s.

In SOL muscles there was no cell diameter difference between castrates and entires or within strains. All groups (both castrated and entire) had muscle cell diameters below 25  $\mu$ m and no correlation was found between cell diameter and skeletal muscle function for EDL or SOL muscles in either *mdx* or C57s.

This project was unique and the first to report that castration alters the response to exogenous  $Ca^{2+}$  in *mdx* hearts, that castration results in different functional responses in fast-twitch (EDL) and slow-twitch (SOL) *mdx* 

muscles, and that castration produced a significant decrease in EDL cell diameters in *mdx* mice.
# **6 OESTROGEN TRIAL**

# 6.1 Influence of oestrogen on body weight

Figure 6-1 shows a significant decrease in *mdx* male mouse BW at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen compared to controls (p<0.01). Conversely, at doses above and below this there was no change in mouse BW with oestrogen treatment.



Figure 6-1 Body weights at varying oestrogen doses in male mice. Comparison of BWs at varying oestrogen doses in *mdx* male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

# 6.2 Influence on oestrogen on testes weight

Figure 6-2 shows that oestrogen caused a trend towards decreased testes weight, significant only at 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen (p<0.01) where a 34% decrease in testes weight was evident.





Comparison of testes weights at varying oestrogen doses in mdx male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

# 6.3 Influence of oestrogen on cardiac characteristics

#### 6.3.1 Cardiac morphometry

A dose of 0.08 mg/kg/day oestrogen caused no significant change in body and cardiac weights. A dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day caused significantly decreased values (p<0.01) across all measured parameters other than RV weight which remained unchanged. Statistical significance was lost at a dose of 0.32 mg/kg/day (the exception being HW% which remained significantly (p<0.01) lower than that of controls (Table 6-1).

-		-		
mouse strain	mdx	mdx	mdx	mdx
oestrogen (mg/kg/day)	control	0.08	0.16	0.32
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	15.00±1.45	15.56±0.79	13.44±0.64**	16.77±0.66
HW (mg)	71.84±5.90	74.18±3.03	58.60±3.15**	74.34±4.58
HW% (%)	0.49±0.01	0.48±0.01	0.44±0.01**	0.44±0.01**
RA weight (mg)	2.16±0.15	2.14±0.47	1.80±0.17**	2.03±0.36
LA weight (mg)	0.84±0.13	0.88±0.10	0.55±0.06**	1.11±0.86
RV weight (mg)	14.49±1.32	16.83±1.47	14.71±1.10	16.90±1.96
LV+S weight (mg)	54.35±4.45	54.34±3.04	41.54±2.23**	54.30±2.75

 Table 6-1
 Body and cardiac weights at varying oestrogen doses in male mice.

Comparison of body and cardiac muscle weights at varying doses of oestrogen in *mdx* mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; age = 35 days old (prepubertal). n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 6-1.

#### 6.3.2 Cardiac function

Figure 6-3 depicts a trend of increased basal FOC of LA in response to oestrogen treatment. Significant force increases occurred at doses of 0.16 mg/kg/day (p<0.01) and 0.08 mg/kg/day (p<0.05) compared to controls.





\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

There was no difference in  $Ca^{2+}$  CRCs of control C57s compared to *mdx* controls (Figure 6-4). However, a significant increase (p<0.01) in FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) occurred at an oestrogen dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day in *mdx*.

As with basal FOC, maximum FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) increased with oestrogen treatment. Figure 6-5 shows the increase in force was only significant (p<0.01) at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen compared to controls.



Figure 6-4 Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs at varying doses of oestrogen in male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; A = controls, B = 0.08 mg/kg/day oestrogen, C = 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen, and D = 0.32 mg/kg/day oestrogen. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.





\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = *mdx*. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

# 6.4 Influence of oestrogen on skeletal muscle morphometry

There were no significant differences between skeletal muscle parameters depicted in Table 6-2 in mice treated at dosage rates of 0.08 or 0.32 mg/kg/day oestrogen compared to controls. The exception to this was

SOL Lo at 0.08 mg/kg/day but this did not impact on the resultant CSA. Interestingly, at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day, all parameters were significantly lower than that of controls but this may simply be reflective of the lowered BW at the same dosage.

treatment (mg/kg/day oestrogen) control 0.08 0.16 0.32 BW  $(g)^1$ 15.00±1.45 15.56±0.79 13.44±0.64\*\* 16.77±0.66 SOL weight (mg) 4.89±0.62 4.81±0.40 3.41±0.19\*\* 4.09±0.66 SOL Lo (mm) 5.78±0.27 5.92±0.11\* 5.45±0.16\* 5.50±0.13 SOL CSA (mm<sup>2</sup>) 0.78±0.07 0.76±0.06 0.59±0.03\*\* 0.71±0.12 EDL weight (mg) 5.53±0.57 6.75±0.61 4.99±0.37\*\* 6.70±0.56 EDL Lo (mm) 3.69±0.06 3.76±0.12 3.54±0.06\*\* 3.78±0.09 EDL CSA (mm<sup>2</sup>) 1.40±0.13 1.67±0.11 1.33±0.09\* 1.68±0.15

 Table 6-2
 EDL and SOL muscle morphometry at varying oestrogen doses in male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = *mdx*. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 6-1.

#### 6.5 Influence of oestrogen on EDL characteristics

#### 6.5.1 EDL function

In contrast to the results found in SOL muscles as shown in Table 6-3, EDL muscle parameters measured were not significantly different to control values compared to any oestrogen doses. This applied to a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen despite the significantly lower BW (p<0.01) in these treated mice compared to controls (Figure 6-1).

Table 6-3	EDL muscle function at varying oestrogen doses in male mice.
-----------	--

treatment (mg/kg/day oestrogen)	control	0.08	0.16	0.32
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	15.00±1.45	15.56±0.79	13.44±0.64**	16.77±0.66
Pt (mN)	18.59±2.26	26.20±3.16	18.48±1.09	24.32±3.50
Po (mN)	79.46±10.93	133.46±17.29	88.19±10.25	116.81±16.75
sPt (mN/mm²)	13.64±1.53	15.32±1.09	14.14±0.71	14.73±2.11
sPo (mN/mm²)	58.20±7.43	77.76±7.00	67.11±6.45	70.66±10.06
Po:Pt	4.21±0.15*	5.03±0.16	4.71±0.37	4.92±0.30

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = *mdx*. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 6-1.

#### 6.5.2 EDL histology

Oestrogen treatment resulted in a non-significant trend of decreasing percentages of CNFs in EDL muscles with oestrogen treatment compared to controls (Figure 6-6).



Figure 6-6 EDL percentage of CNFs at varying oestrogen doses in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = mdx. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

Oestrogen treatment resulted in a trend towards decreasing EDL cell diameters. However, this was only significant (p<0.05) at an oestrogen dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day (Figure 6-7).



Figure 6-7 EDL cell diameter at varying oestrogen doses in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = mdx. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

# 6.6 Influence of oestrogen on SOL characteristics6.6.1 SOL function

A dose of 0.08 mg/kg/day oestrogen produced no functional effect in SOL muscles compared to controls. However, despite a significantly lowered (p<0.01) body weight, SOL weight, and SOL CSA (Table 6-4) in 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen-treated mice compared to controls there was a significant increase in Pt (p<0.01), Po (p<0.01), sPt (p<0.05), and Po:Pt (p<0.01), together with a non-significant increase in sPo in treated mice (Table 6-4). Interestingly, despite there being no significant differences in the SOL parameters measured in 0.32 mg/kg/day treated mice compared to controls, this oestrogen dose produced a significant increase (p<0.05) in sPt and sPo compared to controls.

 Table 6-4
 SOL muscle function at varying oestrogen doses in male mice.

treatment (mg/kg/day oestrogen)	control	0.08	0.16	0.32
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	15.00±1.45	15.56±0.79	13.44±0.64**	16.77±0.66
Pt (mN)	17.22±1.06	16.43±1.61	15.11±0.72**	18.82±1.15
Po (mN)	88.68±5.35	89.06±7.71	71.88±3.10**	96.12±6.48
sPt (mN/mm²)	24.00±3.37	21.64±2.00	26.11±1.99*	30.84±4.59*
sPo (mN/mm²)	120.85±14.54	117.54±8.79	124.91±10.63	155.46±21.84*
Po:Pt	5.22±0.34	5.51±0.18	4.78±0.17**	5.10±0.15
*		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ald	144.1

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = *mdx*. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>this information is described in Figure 6-1.

#### 6.6.2 SOL histology

Oestrogen treatment resulted in a 41% decrease in SOL CNFs at a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day (p<0.05) compared to controls (Figure 6-8).



Figure 6-8 SOL percentage of CNFs at varying oestrogen doses in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = mdx. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.

Oestrogen treatment produced no significant difference in the SOL cell diameters compared to controls (Figure 6-9).



Figure 6-9SOL cell diameter at varying oestrogen doses in male mice.\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01; mouse strain = mdx. age = 35 days old. n = 7-8 mice.</td>

#### 6.7 Discussion

Oestrogens have numerous significant physiological functions in humans and beneficial effects have been noted on the skeletal, nervous, and CV systems. Oestrogens produce positive effects on skeletal growth and bone maturation. Nervous system and brain oestrogenic effects include improved cognitive function, co-ordination of movement, and pain responses. Oestrogens are also known to produce cardioprotective effects which include improvements in lipid profiles, fat distribution, endocrine/paracrine factors produced by the vascular wall (i.e. endothelins and NO), blood platelets, inflammatory factors, and coagulation mechanisms (Gooren and Toorians 2003).

In males, oestrogens are predominantly the products of peripheral aromatisation of testicular and adrenal androgens (Figure 6-10). In man, testosterone synthesis declines with ageing whilst levels of total plasma oestradiol do not decline. This is thought to be due to an increase in adipose tissue (cholesterol being the substrate of peripheral aromatisation) and an associated increase in aromatase activity. However, as men age, bioavailable oestrogens may decline due to an increase in sex hormone binding globulin (Gooren and Toorians 2003).

Usuki *et al.* (1989) found that in DMD patients the baseline levels of serum oestrone were significantly higher than in age-matched unaffected boys. Serum baseline testosterone, LH and FSH levels were all essentially normal, but FSH levels were significantly lowered. This led to the presumption that the elevated serum oestrone levels resulted from increased peripheral conversion of testosterone to oestrogen in DMD (Figure 6-10) (Usuki *et al.* 1989). This is interesting in that, despite the progressive pathology of DMD, affected boys may actually be physiologically protected by increased oestrone levels, suggesting that disease progression may actually be worse in the absence of increased peripheral aromatisation of testosterone.



#### Figure 6-10 Pathways of testosterone action and the conversion to oestradiol

Rudman *et al.* (1972) reported that DMD patients were hyperresponsive to the anabolic effects of oestrogens. They speculated that this may be due to the summation of the weak intrinsic anabolic effect of oestrogen with a peripheral inhibition (by oestrogen) of the catabolic effect of endogenous GH in dystrophic muscle cells and concluded that oestrogens may have therapeutic potential in DMD (Rudman *et al.* 1972).

All DMD patients are male except for a small percentage of female patients whose disease condition is a direct consequence of chromosomal abnormalities (Nonaka 1998). Several cases of DMD affected females with X-autosome translocation have been reported in the literature (Boyd and Buckle 1986; Boyd *et al.* 1986). Zatz *et al.* (1981) documented the case of a female DMD patient that commenced menstruation at 12 years of age, underwent a normal puberty, and died at age 16 (Zatz *et al.* 1981). This suggested that the oestrogen surge associated with female puberty did not arrest the dystrophic process in the female DMD patient. However, these results failed to eliminate the potential benefits of oestrogen therapy in DMD.

There is strong support in the literature of the cardioprotective effects of oestrogen in humans (Kalin and Zumoff 1990; Grohe *et al.* 1997; Zhai *et al.* 2000; Gooren and Toorians 2003) and it is known that women with functional ovaries have a lower CV disease risk than both men and

postmenopausal women (Ren *et al.* 2003). A novel study found that in isolated perfused hearts, female rats with aortocaval fistula-induced chronic volume overload which were fed a diet of phyto-oestrogens had increased ventricular contractility compared to controls (Gardner, Brower and Janicki 2005). In male congestive heart failure (CHF) patients, oestrogen administration improves the indices of cardiac systolic performance and decreases pulmonary and systemic vascular resistance. These findings imply a beneficial effect of oestrogen in selected patients with chronic heart failure (Adamopoulos *et al.* 2002).

Cardiac myocytes contain functional oestrogen receptors (ERs) (Grohe *et al.* 1997) and oestrogen exerts CV effects via both genomic and non-genomic pathways (Curl, Wendt and Kotsanas 2001). Johnson *et al.* (1997) studied ER knockout mice and demonstrated that cardiac L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels are regulated by the ER. This suggests that decreased oestrogen may result in an increase in the number of cardiac L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, abnormalities in cardiac excitability, and increased risk of cardiac arrhythmia and CV disease (Johnson *et al.* 1997). Curl, Wendt and Kotsanas (2001) showed that, under a variety of conditions, male rat cardiac myocytes had consistently higher [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> levels than females.

Oestrogen has a potential role in limiting Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry into myocardial cells. Currently known non-genomic cardiac effects of oestrogen include protection against Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload through the reduced expression of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Curl, Wendt and Kotsanas 2001), the inhibition of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel currents (Meyer *et al.* 1998), and downregulation of  $\beta$ -adrenergic responsiveness (Fregly and Thrasher 1977), all of which predictably lead to negative inotropic effects (Sitzler *et al.* 1996). However, in this trial, oestrogen caused a positive effect on LA contractility. Basal FOC of LA was increased at all oestrogen doses and was significant at 0.08 and 0.16 mg/kg/day although not significant at 0.32 mg/kg/day due to the large SEM values. The maximum LA FOCs mirrored basal FOC results, however only 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen treatment produced statistical significance. Response to Ca<sup>2+</sup> was not different between controls or for 0.08 mg/kg/day or 0.32 mg/kg/day treated mice but a highly significant increase in forces occurred for all Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations at 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen treatment.

Unlike the control C57 heart, the dystrophin deficient *mdx* heart is in a state of Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload (Alloatti et al. 1995) as a result of increased Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into cardiac cells (Lu and Hoey 2000b; Woolf et al. 2006) and altered  $Ca^{2+}$  handling. Reducing  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  may therefore improve cardiac function in DMD and the *mdx* heart. However, two human clinical trials with compounds which lower [Ca<sup>2+</sup>], have failed to substantiate this theory. Treatment with dantrolene (which inhibits Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the SR) provided no functional improvement in DMD boys after two years treatment (Bertorini et al. 1991) and a double-blind clinical trial of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> antagonist diltiazem proved to have no significant cardiac benefits in DMD boys after 24 to 32 months (Bertorini et al. 1988). Results of this study found a positive inotropic effect with oestrogen treatment which cannot be explained via the mechanisms by which oestrogen lowers [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>. Therefore, other oestrogen-induced physiological mechanisms must be considered to explain the positive cardiac inotropic results. These pathways involve the increase in cardiac eNOS expression and the resulting decrease in caveolin-3 expression and/or increased NO production as discussed below.

There is extensive research interest in the role of NOS and NO in DMD and the *mdx* mouse model of the disease. Nitric oxide synthases (NOS) are the products from three distinct genes; neuronal (nNOS or NOS1), inducible (iNOS or NOS2), and endothelial (eNOS or NOS3). All NOS isoforms are expressed in the heart: nNOS in cardiac conduction tissue and intracardiac neurones; iNOS in virtually all cardiac cells, often in conjunction with the expression of inflammatory cytokines; and eNOS is expressed in coronary endothelium, endocardium, and cardiac myocytes. It has been shown that eNOS regulates the tone of vascular smooth muscle cells; the permeability and platelet adhesion of endothelial cells; and the receptor-effector coupling, energetics, contractility, and apoptosis of cardiomyocytes (Song *et al.* 1996).

Dystrophin anchors F-actin to the DGC, which is associated with neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS). The enzyme nNOS (which produces NO) binds to the DGC in muscle and NO (a free radical) has been directly implicated in aspects of the pathogenesis of DMD. For example, NO stimulates noradrenaline (NA) and acetylcholine (ACh) release from rat

hippocampal cells (Lonart, Wang and Johnson 1992) leading to the suggestion that the conduction defects seen in dystrophic hearts may be a result of decreased nNOS activity (Bia *et al.* 1999).

Sears *et al.* (2003) concluded that the role of nNOS in cardiac myocytes may involve the following four mechanisms; (i) inhibition of the L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels, (ii) inhibition of Sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase (SERCA), (iii) regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  through increasing PLB protein levels, and (iv) regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  dynamics through activation of the ryanodine receptor (RyR).

SERCA contributes to approximately 92% of the cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> removal workload in rat hearts. Phospholamban (PLB) is the main inhibitor of SERCA, acting to regulate SERCA function. An increase in PLB to SERCA ratio reduces the SERCA Ca<sup>2+</sup> affinity and activity, leading to prolonged relaxation and a reduced cardiac contractility (Ren *et al.* 2003). Rohman *et al.* (2003) showed a decrease in SERCA in *mdx* myocytes (Rohman *et al.* 2003). In addition, ovariectomised rats show a reduction in the SERCA which is reversible with oestrogen therapy (Ren *et al.* 2003). Therefore, oestrogen (via SERCA modification) has the potential to reduce the elevated calcium levels characteristic of dystrophic hearts (*mdx* and DMD) and potentially restore cardiac function to that of unaffected hearts.

The nNOS isoform is associated with the SR of cardiac muscle (Xu *et al.* 1999) and potentially with the RyR (Casadei and Sears 2003). RyRs are Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels that control  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in muscle by releasing Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the SR. RyRs are regulated by voltage-sensing surface membrane L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels known as dihydropyridine receptors (DHPRs) via a direct mechanical interaction. DHPRs are located within the cardiac T-tubule system, where dystrophin is ordinarily located (Peri *et al.* 1994). Woolf *et al.* (2006) studied 12 to 14 week old male *mdx* mice and was the first to demonstrate a reduced potency to both a DHPR agonist and antagonist in *mdx* myocytes. This was reflected by reduced receptor affinity, upregulation of DHPR mRNA and DHPR protein, together with a delayed inactivation of the L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> current. Therefore, as with the potential of nNOS to modify SERCA, there is also the potential (in dystrophic hearts) for oestrogen-mediated regulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> dynamics through activation of the RyR.

Aravamudan *et al.* (2003), in a study using caveolin-3 transgenic mice (which over-expressed caveolin-3), found that both eNOS and nNOS were equally expressed in control and caveolin-3 transgenic hearts. They concluded that because nNOS expression is reduced in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle tissue (DMD and *mdx*), nNOS functions may be differentially regulated in cardiac muscle (Aravamudan *et al.* 2003). However, although nNOS expression is reduced in the *mdx* mouse heart, and the physiological consequences of reduced nNOS expression are documented, current research has not shown whether oestrogen specifically increases or decreases nNOS expression in cardiac muscles. Therefore, it is not possible to deduce whether the positive effects of left atrial contractility elicited by oestrogen in this trial involved nNOS mediated pathways.

On the other hand, numerous studies have examined the effects of oestrogen on eNOS expression and function in various animal models. The development of, and subsequent experiments involving, eNOS knockout mice has led to the knowledge that the eNOS isoform is involved in modulation of cardiac contractility (Huang 1998; Huang and Lo 1998). Oestrogen is known to stimulate the expression of eNOS in neonatal and adult rat cardiomyocytes *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Nuedling *et al.* 1999) and Western blot analysis of cultured human coronary artery endothelial cells has also shown that oestrogen increases expression of eNOS whilst having no effect on  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  concentrations (Yang, Bae and Zhang 2000).

The precise molecular mechanism of oestrogen regulation of eNOS activity still remains unknown. eNOS activity appears to be under a complex and dynamic regulation and the effects of oestrogen on cardiac eNOS functional activity are not limited to simply an increase in eNOS protein expression. Oestrogen also reduces the association of cardiac eNOS with the inhibitory protein caveolin-3 and increases the association with the facilitator protein calmodulin (Wang and Abdel-Rahman 2002). Wang (2000) showed that ovariectomy in rats increased caveolin-3 expression and decreased calmodulin binding with eNOS. Subsequent oestrogen treatment of ovariectomised rats restored eNOS activity, eNOS expression, and the association of eNOS with caveolin-3 and calmodulin. Wang (2000) suggested

that oestrogen potentially reduces caveolin-3 expression via mechanisms which increase eNOS (Wang and Abdel-Rahman 2002).

It is known that caveolin-3 is over-expressed in the skeletal muscle of mdx mice (Vaghy et al. 1998). A study by Aravamudan et al. (2003) using caveloin-3 transgenic mice (which over-express caveolin-3 in similar proportions to the increased caveolin-3 expression in DMD and mdx skeletal muscle) showed that over-expression of caveolin-3 in cardiac tissues resulted in a number of histological and physiological changes including; (i) a significantly decreased expression of dystrophin,  $\alpha$ -sarcoglycan and  $\beta$ dystroglycan (down-regulation of the DGC) (ii) severe cardiac tissue degeneration, significant cardiac myocyte disorganisation, and chronic inflammation marked by increased cellular infiltrates due to muscle degeneration (evidenced by H&E staining of left ventricular and left atrial cardiac tissues), (iii) increased interstitial fibrosis (evidenced by trichrome staining of both left atrial and left ventricular areas of the heart), (iv) changes cardiac creatine kinase levels consistent with cardiac muscle in degeneration, (v) abnormal ECGs showing a prolonged QRS duration which may be indicative of either slowed conduction across the ventricles or delayed repolarisation, and (vi) reduced fractional shortening due to systolic (contraction) dysfunction (Aravamudan et al. 2003). This clearly suggests that an oestrogen induced decrease in caveolin-3 could potentially improve cardiac function in the *mdx* mouse heart.

Secondly, the oestrogen-mediated increased expression of eNOS and the subsequent eNOS mediated production of NO could further explain a positive inotropic effect. The actions of NO on the heart can be divided into direct effects on the cardiac myocytes and indirect effects on myocardial function (Shah *et al.* 1996). The regulation of cardiac muscle function by coronary vascular and endocardial NO has been reported in ferret papillary muscle preparations (Smith, Shah and Lewis 1991). Cardiac effects of NO include; (i) dilatation of cardiac blood vessels (Palmer, Ferrige and Moncada 1987), (ii) inhibition of platelet aggregation (Radomski, Palmer and Moncada 1987; Tanner *et al.* 2000) (iii) regulation of cardiac output via Frank-Starling mechanisms (Shah 1996) (iv) anti-inflammatory and anti-arteriosclerotic

properties *in vivo* (Moroi *et al.* 1998), (v) inhibition of  $\beta$ -adrenergicresponsiveness (Shah *et al.* 1996), and (vi) modulation of sarcolemmal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the SR (Kelly, Balligand and Smith 1996; Shah *et al.* 1996). Most importantly, research has shown that NO can induce both negative and positive inotropic effects. High levels of NO induce negative cardiac contractile responses via cGMP mediated pathways, whereas low levels of NO increase positive inotropic effects via cAMP (Vila-Petroff *et al.* 1999). The positive inotropic effects of NO donors have further been observed in isolated cat papillary muscles (Mohan *et al.* 1996) and rat ventricular myocytes (Kojda *et al.* 1996).

Furthermore, Wehling-Henricks et al. (2005) recently developed an mdx mouse model with myocardial expression of a nNOS transgene. This effectively translated to an elevated production of NO by the myocardium. Expression of the transgene prevented the characteristic progressive ventricular fibrosis seen in mdx mice and greatly reduced myocarditis. All of the characteristic ECG abnormalities of *mdx* mice (including deep Q-waves, diminished S:R ratios, polyphasic R-waves and frequent premature ventricular contractions) were either improved or corrected by nNOS transgene expression. In addition, defects in *mdx* cardiac autonomic function (i.e. decreased HR variability) were significantly reduced by the increased NO resulting from nNOS transgene expression (Wehling-Henricks et al. 2005). Therefore, the oestrogen-induced positive cardiac inotropic results in this trial can potentially be explained via mechanisms which increase cardiac eNOS expression and, in turn, decrease caveolin-3 and increase NO levels in the mdx heart. This is the first research to clearly demonstrate that oestrogen treatment can have a positive effect on basal and maximum cardiac contractility and improved responsiveness to Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD.

Individual skeletal muscles in the human body contain a unique composition of type-I (fast-glycolytic) and type-II (slow-oxidative) muscle fibres. Type-I fibres (predominate in EDL) are mainly responsible for movement whereas type-II fibres (predominate in SOL) are postural muscles. Physical inactivity (as progressively seen in DMD boys) places less metabolic demand on type-I muscles; however, the type-II muscles are still recruited to

maintain posture. Furthermore, an increase in BW (also seen in DMD boys) increases the metabolic load on type-II postural muscles. The higher metabolic demands on type-II muscles increase muscle free radical production and subsequent oxidative damage in DMD skeletal muscles.

With respect to sex differences, men express a higher percentage of type-I (fast-glycolytic) skeletal muscle fibres than women, whilst women have a higher expression of type-II (slow-oxidative) fibres. It is generally accepted that male skeletal muscles have a higher maximum power output than female skeletal muscles. Conversely, during eccentric contractions, female muscles are considered more fatigue resistant and recover faster, reflecting a higher proportion of type-II (slow-oxidative) fibres in females (Glenmark *et al.* 2004).

The effects of oestrogen on skeletal muscle are mediated by ligandactivated transcription factors known as oestrogen receptors (ERs) (Mangelsdorf *et al.* 1995). Human skeletal muscle cells express two functional ERs, ER $\alpha$  (Kahlert *et al.* 1997) and ER $\beta$  (Wiik *et al.* 2003), which are not isoforms of each other, but distinct proteins encoded by separate genes located on different chromosomes (Couse and Korach 1999).

Currently the specific effects of oestrogen on human skeletal muscle function are largely unknown. Two studies showed that oestrogen treatment in post-menopausal women increased force production in the adductor pollicis muscles (Skelton *et al.* 1999) and the isometric strength of back extensor muscles (Heikkinen *et al.* 1997). Other research (in pre-menopausal women) has shown no improved forces with increased oestrogen levels (Greeves *et al.* 1997).

Various animal studies have also reported conflicting results as to the effects of oestrogen on skeletal muscle function. Oestrogen protection against skeletal muscle damage in rats has been shown using an exercise model and yet the mechanism of this protection remains unclear (Bar *et al.* 1988). In studies using female rats, Suzuki and Yamamuro (1985) found that isomeric twitch and tetanic contractions in both EDL and SOL muscles were increased post-ovariectomy (Suzuki and Yamamuro 1985) whilst McCormick *et al.* (2004) found ovariectomy (Ovx) had no effect on maximal specific isometric force of SOL muscles (McCormick *et al.* 2004). However, in contrast to the findings of Suzuki and Yamamuro (1985) and McCormick *et* 

al. (2004), a number of studies have concluded that oestrogen can have positive effects on skeletal muscle contractility. Warren et al. (1996) found that maximal isometric tetanic force decreased in oestrogen depleted EDL muscles of female mice (Warren et al. 1996). In 1999 Wattanapermpool and Reiser found a  $\sim 20\%$  reduction in the maximum Ca<sup>2+</sup> induced FOC in single. permeabilised SOL fibres from Ovx rats (Wattanapermpool and Reiser 1999). In two separate trials, researchers showed that male and Ovx female rats had higher heat stress protein expression and exercise-induced skeletal muscle damage than control female rats and subsequent oestrogen treatment reversed these effects in both trials (Bar et al. 1988; Paroo, Dipchand and Noble 2002). A 2005 study determining the effects of oestrogen hormone removal on force-generating capacities and contractile proteins in SOL and EDL muscles of C57 female mice showed that SOL and EDL muscles from Ovx mice generated less maximal isometric force than did those from sham operated control mice. Total and contractile protein contents of SOL and EDL muscles were not different between Ovx and sham mice, indicating that protein synthesis was not affected by oestrogen removal. These results further suggest that oestrogen depletion has detrimental effects on skeletal muscle force-generating capacities which could be explained by altered actin-myosin interactions (Moran, Warren and Lowe 2005). A recent study by Moran, Warren, and Lowe (2006) on the effects of Ovx on EDL and SOL muscles of female rats showed that the removal of ovarian hormones increased muscle mass, resulted in no change in contractile protein expression (implying that the quantity of contractile machinery was not affected), and lowered isometric force generation. Moran, Warren, and Lowe (2006) concluded that ovarian hormones directly affect contractile protein function via altering myosin structural distribution during contraction (Moran, Warren and Lowe 2006). In addition, Sitnick et al. (2006) found that atrophied gastrocnemius muscles in Ovx rats failed to recover under reloading and concluded that oestrogen was essential to the recovery of atrophied muscle mass (Sitnick et al. 2006). Therefore, the most recent research evidence appears to support the theory that oestrogen is capable of improving force generation in both type-I (fast-glycolytic) and type-II (slowoxidative) skeletal muscles.

In this study, skeletal muscle functional results were encouraging in terms of the potential of oestrogen to improve force production in *mdx* EDL (type-I) and SOL (type-II) muscles. EDL sPo values in oestrogen-treated mice ranged from ~15% to ~34% higher than untreated controls but results were not significant. These results were reflected in SOL muscle sPo values. An oestrogen treatment of 0.32 mg/kg/day (despite producing no significant differences in muscle weight or CSA compared to controls) produced a ~29% increase in SOL specific muscle force compared to un-treated *mdx*. Oestrogen treatment clearly produced an overall increased FOC in both type-I (EDL) and type-II (SOL) skeletal muscles and these results further support studies which have shown that oestrogen can have a positive effect on skeletal muscle contractility.

The oestrogen-mediated mechanisms that potentially explain positive effects on skeletal muscle force generation include; (i) antioxidant/antiinflammatory effects, (ii) nNOS/NO mediated effects, (iii) the inhibition of GH action, (iv) muscle fibre-type switching and (v) decreases in skeletal muscle calpain activity. These mechanisms are discussed below;

The potential of oestrogen as an antioxidant (and membrane stabiliser) capable of protecting skeletal muscle is controversial. It has been shown that oestrogen has a potent antioxidant capacity that plays a protective role in cardiac muscle (Tiidus 2000); however, it is not fully understood as to whether this antioxidant capacity has the ability to protect skeletal muscle (Kendall and Eston 2002). Early studies by Amelink and Bar (1986) showed a significant in vivo and in vitro post-exercise reduction in muscle CK leakage and lowered serum CK levels in oestrogen-treated Ovx female rats (Amelink and Bar 1986). Measurements of CK released from skeletal muscles is not considered a good indicator of muscle damage but is considered a valid indicator of muscle sarcolemmal stability and Amelink and Bär (1986) concluded that oestrogen had a role in maintaining muscle membrane stability. Tiidus (2003) also concluded that a primary effect of oestrogen may be the protection of skeletal muscle membranes from exercise-induced muscle damage (Tiidus 2003). Persky (2000) showed oestrogen depletion in type-II muscles of female rats produced greater CK efflux in SOL muscles, suggesting that a lack of oestrogen increases

susceptibility to membrane and myofibril damage. Persky (2000) further demonstrated that SOL (type-II) muscles incur more damage in oestrogen deprivation than EDL (type-I) muscles and implied that oestrogen is more protective in type-II muscles than type-I muscles (Persky et al. 2000). Secondly, preferential protection by oestrogen may involve features of the metabolic differences in muscle fibre types. Type-II fibres have a greater supply of mitochondria, an higher oxygen dependence, and an increased ability to use fatty acids as a major energy source, causing increased free radical production. During oestrogen deprivation, there is a decline in the transport of glucose into muscle cells (Bishop and Simpkins 1995), an associated decreased in insulin sensitivity, increased fasting glucose levels (Senoz et al. 1996), and increased fasting insulin levels (further exacerbating free radical production and subsequent skeletal damage) (Poehlman, Toth and Gardner 1995), suggesting oestrogen may protect skeletal muscle via antioxidant pathways. However, a study examining the effects of oestrogen supplementation on markers of neutrophil infiltration and damage in the skeletal muscles of rats post-ischemia demonstrated that oestrogen did not attenuate neutrophil infiltration, thus questioning oestrogens antioxidant potential (Tiidus et al. 2005). Interestingly, it has been further suggested that if oestrogen does inhibit the inflammatory response process associated with the muscle damage and repair cycle, then it may actually have a negative role in restoring normal muscle function after muscle damage has occurred (Kendall and Eston 2002). Therefore, there remains guestionable evidence as to the potential of oestrogens to reduce muscle damage via antioxidant pathways and, although anti-oxidative pathways may play a role in limiting skeletal muscle damage, it appears likely that other mechanisms play a more significant role in processes involved in improving skeletal muscle contractility.

Oestrogen can improve skeletal muscle function via nNOS/NO mediated vasodilatation and the subsequent improved blood flow to skeletal muscles. In exercising skeletal muscle, vasoconstrictor responses to  $\alpha$ -adrenoceptor activation are attenuated in part by NO produced by nNOS, which is expressed constitutively in skeletal muscle cells. In skeletal muscle of pregnant animals, nNOS mRNA is upregulated, suggesting that muscle

nNOS expression is modulated by oestrogen (Fadel, Zhao and Thomas 2003). It is known that human skeletal muscle has the potential to synthesise oestrogen to the same extent as adipose tissue (Larionov et al. 2003). Fadel et al. (2003) revealed that skeletal muscle nNOS correlated directly with plasma 17β-oestradiol and inversely with the magnitude of sympathetic vasoconstrictor responses in contracting hind limbs of female rats. This implied that NO-dependent attenuation of sympathetic vasoconstriction in contracting skeletal muscle is impaired in oestrogen-deficient female rats, and that this impairment may be mediated by reduced skeletal muscle nNOS expression (Fadel, Zhao and Thomas 2003). The absence of dystrophin has been shown to correlate with a decrease in nNOS in skeletal muscle in both DMD patients (Brenman et al. 1995) and the mdx mouse (Lau et al. 1998). In the skeletal muscles of DMD patients, nNOS is absent from the sarcolemma and diffusely distributed at reduced levels in the cytoplasm (Brenman et al. 1995; Chang et al. 1996; Grozdanovic, Gosztonyi and Gossrau 1996). Brenman et al. (1995) found that, in mdx, nNOS was absent from the sarcolemma and the total nNOS activity was lowered. NOS activity was higher in a soluble fraction of mdx than C57s, suggesting that nNOS dissociates from the sarcolemma and accumulates in the cytosol of mdx muscle. However, Chang et al. (1996) noted that both the particulate and soluble nNOS levels were greatly reduced in mdx mice and nNOS mRNA levels were reduced in mdx muscle. Oestrogen treatment of Ovx rats has been shown to increase nNOS expression in hindlimb skeletal muscles (Fadel, Zhao and Thomas 2003). Therefore, it is feasible that, via oestrogenmediated increased nNOS and NO expression, blood flow to and function of skeletal muscles can be improved in the *mdx*.

It is known that an oestrogen-mediated increase in nNOS production can lead to an increase in NO expression. NO generated by skeletal muscle is believed to have a direct role in the regulation of force production. Recent work by Pouvreau and Jacquemond (2005) suggested that NO exerts an inhibitory control of Ca<sup>2+</sup> release channels possibly via the RyR (Pouvreau and Jacquemond 2005). This would limit Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry into *mdx* muscle cells (which are known to be in a state of Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload and impaired Ca<sup>2+</sup> handling) and may potentially have beneficial effects on skeletal muscle

force production. Increased NO could regulate excess Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into Ca<sup>2+</sup> overloaded cells (in the *mdx* mouse) and restore calcium handling to more functional levels.

In 1972 Rudman et al. proposed that there may be therapeutic potential for oestrogen in DMD due to oestrogens peripheral inhibition of the catabolic effect of endogenous GH in dystrophic muscle cells (Rudman et al. 1972). In 2003, a GH deficient patient (who was clinically asymptomatic in terms of DMD) was reported by Ghafoor et al., GH replacement therapy was initiated with the resultant emergence of clinical DMD symptoms including proximal muscle weakness and increased fatigability. Serum CK levels subsequently confirmed a diagnosis of DMD and it was concluded that GH exacerbated the pathology of DMD (Ghafoor, Mahmood and Shams 2003). In 2004 Leung et al. showed that oestrogen inhibits GH action (in a dosedependent manner) by suppressing GH receptor function (Leung et al. 2004). In this study, oestrogen treatment resulted in an increase in muscle contractility (EDL and SOL muscles), no anabolic effects (as would typically be evidenced by GH) with either no change in cell diameter (SOL muscles) or a decrease in cell diameter (EDL muscles), both of which are consistent with the effects of suppressed GH receptor function and inhibited GH action.

The composition of skeletal muscle fibres is not static, and fibres are capable of adapting their molecular composition by altering gene expression. This altered gene expression results in muscle fibre-type switching which involves morphological and biochemical changes that produce altered contractile properties and endurance capacities of the muscle (Zebedin *et al.* 2004). Riley *et al.* (1982) showed that (in female rats) the onset of puberty elicited a muscle type switch of the SOL muscle from type-I (fast-glycolytic) to type-II (slow-oxidative), concluding that the sex hormone oestrogen plays a key role in skeletal muscle fibre-type switching (Riley, Ellis and Bain 1982).

Despite some merit in the mechanisms discussed above (in terms of their possible role in improving skeletal muscle function in the *mdx* mouse) a more likely explanation of the results of this trial potentially involve the effects of oestrogen on skeletal muscle calpain activity. A 20-fold increase in the levels of the protease calpain is evident in DMD skeletal muscles (Laine and Montellano 1998) and Spencer, Croall, and Tidball (1995) reported elevated

calpain levels in both four and 14 week old mdx mice (Spencer, Croall and Tidball 1995). Carnwath and Shotten (1987) showed that at the peak of mdx muscle necrosis, ~7% of the muscle cross-section (in EDL and SOL muscles) is occupied by degenerating fibres (Carnwath and Shotton 1987). Spencer (1995) further argued that, if the majority of the increased calpain activity occurs in these fibres, then the actual increase in calpain activity may be as high as 20 to 30-fold in degenerating mdx fibres (Spencer, Croall and Tidball 1995).

It has been hypothesised that calpains (ubiquitous calciumdependent cysteine proteases) may be responsible for initiation of the proteolytic cascade leading to cell death in dystrophic muscle (Tidball and Spencer 2000). Elevation of  $Ca^{2+}$  levels in unaffected muscle leads to elevation in calpains and initiates proteolysis (Zeman *et al.* 1985). Also, Zdisc disruption is an early event in muscle degeneration in DMD and *mdx* mouse muscles (Cullen and Jaros 1988) and Z-disc proteins are particularly susceptible to the proteolytic effects of calpains (Goll *et al.* 2003). In 2002, Spencer and Mellgren generated an *mdx* mouse line with muscle-specific over-expression of calpastatin (the endogenous inhibitor of calpains) and showed that transgene expression ameliorated muscle necrosis and reduced the size of muscle lesions. In addition, they concluded that the beneficial effects occurred without reducing the efflux of  $Ca^{2+}$  into muscle fibres, which indicated that calpain-mediated pathology in *mdx* muscle is an event that occurs downstream of membrane damage (Spencer and Mellgren 2002).

A 2001 study by Tiidius *et al.* demonstrated that oestrogen attenuated post-exercise muscle calpain activity in Ovx rats (Tiidus *et al.* 2001). The results of this trial support the theory that oestrogen can reduce calpain activity. This trial showed two important results; (a) oestrogen increased skeletal muscle force generation in EDL (non-significant) and SOL muscles, indicating reduced muscle damage and (b) oestrogen treatment resulted in a trend of decreased percentage of CNFs in both EDL (non-significant) and SOL muscles, further suggesting a possible reduction in calpain activity.

Furthermore, it has been noted that oestrogen treatment can increase nNOS expression in Ovx rats (Fadel, Zhao and Thomas 2003).

nNOS is a calpain-sensitive protein, therefore, oestrogen potentially has the dual benefit of decreasing both the proteolytic effects of calpains together with limiting further calpain-mediated decreases in nNOS in dystrophic muscles.

Histological results showed oestrogen treatment produced a decreased percentage of CNFs in both EDL (non-significant) and SOL muscles. A dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen resulted in a 41% decrease (p<0.05) in SOL CNFs. Percentage of CNFs and specific force production (sPo) results were not mirrored by cell diameter results. Oestrogen treatment resulted in a trend towards decreased EDL cell diameters (significant for a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day only). No differences in SOL cell diameters with oestrogen treatment was consistent with the findings of McCormick et al. (2004) who conducted a study of seven week old female rats and showed that Ovx had no effect on BW or SOL muscle fibre diameter, further suggesting that oestrogen may actually inhibit skeletal muscle growth when it is the only ovarian hormone present (McCormick et al. 2004). This effect may actually be advantageous in DMD where muscle hypertrophy potentially leads to increased sarcolemmal damage and exacerbation of the vicious cycle (Figure 2-13) of muscle regeneration and degeneration typical of the disease. All muscles cells in the study had diameters less than 25 µm but cell diameter did not reflect a specific functional benefit in either EDL or SOL muscles.

This unique study produced a number of results which indicate that further research into the potential therapeutic role of oestrogen in DMD be undertaken. It is clear that oestrogen treatment could increase both basal and maximum FOC in the LA of *mdx* male mice and that oestrogen also improves responsiveness to exogenous Ca<sup>2+</sup> in *mdx* left atria. In terms of skeletal muscle responses, type-I fast-twitch (EDL) and type-II slow-twitch (SOL) muscles responded positively to oestrogen treatment. Oestrogen produced higher (albeit non-significant) specific forces in EDL muscles and significantly higher specific forces in SOL muscles. The positive effects of oestrogen on skeletal muscle function may have been due to antioxidant/antiinflammatory processes, nNOS/NO mediated effects, GH inhibition, fibre-type switching, and/or reduction in calpain activity.

Furthermore, oestrogen does not compete for glucocorticoid sites in skeletal muscle (Snochowski, Dahlberg and Gustafsson 1980), unlike testosterone which displaces glucocorticoids from the glucocorticoid receptor (Danhaive and Rousseau 1986; Danhaive and Rousseau 1988), thus suggesting the potential for concomitant oestrogen and glucocorticoid therapy in DMD.

# 7 Influence of age trial

#### 7.1 Influence of age on body weight

Both mouse strains showed a general increase in BW with increasing age although 330 day old *mdx* had a 9% lower BW than 180 day old *mdx*. In only five of the ten age groups studied were there significant differences in BW between strains (Figure 7-1). At ages 19 (p<0.01), 21 (p<0.05), and 23 (p<0.05) days old C57s were significantly heavier than *mdx*. This trend continued up to 90 days of age when the situation reversed and *mdx* mice were heavier than C57s (significant at 90 days (p<0.05) and 330 days (p<0.01)).



Figure 7-1 Body weight comparison between C57 and *mdx* male mice at varying ages. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 5-10 mice.

# 7.2 Influence of age on testes weights

In both mouse strains there was an increase in testes weight with age from 14 days old until 180 days old, with 330 day old mice having lower testes weights than 180 day old mice (Figure 7-2). In all ages, C57 testes were heavier than mdx, however, this was only significant at 21 days, 23 days, and 27 days of age (p<0.05).





# 7.3 Influence of age on cardiac characteristics

#### 7.3.1 Cardiac morphometry

At 14 days of age there were no differences in body and cardiac weights between strains (Table 7-1).

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	5.61±0.30	6.49±0.41
HW (mg)	31.77±3.08	33.81±2.68
HW% (%)	0.56±0.02	0.52±0.02
RA weight (mg)	1.27±0.26	0.8±0.17
LA weight (mg)	0.47±0.06	0.61±0.07
RV weight (mg)	7.09±0.62	8.16±0.58
LV+S weight (mg)	22.94±2.33	24.24±2.17

 Table 7-1
 Body and cardiac weights of 14 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

At 19 days of age significant differences began to emerge between strains. BW (p<0.01), HW (p<0.01), and LV+S weight (p<0.05) were 23%, 18%, and 20% lower in the *mdx* compared to C57s, respectively (Table 7-2).

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	8.43±0.25	6.53±0.53**
HW (mg)	50.24±1.62	41.44±2.36**
HW% (%)	0.60±0.02	0.65±0.04
RA weight (mg)	1.84±0.26	1.38±0.15
LA weight (mg)	1.09±0.10	0.84±0.20
RV weight (mg)	9.29±0.61	8.80±0.79
LV+S weight (mg)	38.03±1.53	30.43±2.32*

Table 7-2Body and cardiac weights of 19 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

The differences between strains observed at 19 days of age continued at 21 days old with the addition of a 34% lower LA weight in *mdx* compared to C57s (p<0.05). At 21 days *mdx* body, heart, and left ventricles were 21% (p<0.05), 19% (p<0.05), and 22% (p<0.01) lower than C57s, respectively (Table 7-3).

Table 7-3Body and cardiac weights of 21 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	9.53±0.45	7.49±0.75*
HW (mg)	53.33±2.04	42.94±3.75*
HW% (%)	0.56±0.02	0.58±0.02
RA weight (mg)	1.93±0.10	1.51±0.23
LA weight (mg)	0.89±0.08	0.59±0.10*
RV weight (mg)	9.38±1.14	8.87±0.85
LV+S weight (mg)	41.14±0.89	31.97±2.70**

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 7-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

The differences in LA weight observed at 21 days of age were no longer evident at 23 days old. However, body, heart, and left ventricle weights continue to be significantly lower in the *mdx* by 17% (p<0.05), 20% (p<0.01), and 18% (p<0.05), respectively. At 23 days a difference in RV weight emerges with *mdx* RV weight being 30% (p<0.01) (Table 7-4).

Table 7-4	Body an	d cardiad	: weights	of 23	day	<sup>,</sup> old male	mice.
-----------	---------	-----------	-----------	-------	-----	-----------------------	-------

C57	mdx
10.74±0.24	8.89±0.65*
58.29±1.02	46.51±3.71**
0.55±0.02	0.52±0.02
1.31±0.11	1.45±0.19
0.98±0.10	0.76±0.10
14.18±0.78	9.99±0.84**
41.83±0.84	34.31±2.89*
	C57 10.74±0.24 58.29±1.02 0.55±0.02 1.31±0.11 0.98±0.10 14.18±0.78 41.83±0.84

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

There was no significant difference in the body and cardiac weights between strains in 27 day old mice (Table 7-5), 34 day old mice (Table 7-6), or 40 day old mice (Table 7-7).

 Table 7-5
 Body and cardiac weights of 27 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx	
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	14.76±1.14	11.82±0.81	
HW (mg)	67.35±4.78	61.98±2.51	
HW% (%)	0.46±0.01	0.53±0.02	
RA weight (mg)	2.20±0.18	1.88±0.27	
LA weight (mg)	0.80±0.13	0.90±0.11	
RV weight (mg)	14.33±1.08	13.16±1.58	
LV+S weight (mg)	50.03±3.78	46.04±3.09	

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 5-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

 Table 7-6
 Body and cardiac weights of 34 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
4		
BW (g) '	17.53±0.64	15.40±1.18
HW (mg)	74.04±2.26	68.45±6.83
HW% (%)	0.42±0.01	0.44±0.03
RA weight (mg)	2.25±0.20	1.75±0.21
LA weight (mg)	0.99±0.08	0.93±0.09
RV weight (mg)	15.89±0.64	16.01±1.92
LV+S weight (mg)	54.91±1.98	49.76±5.02

\*p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

Table 7-7	Body a	and cardiac	weights	of 40	day	old male	e mice.
-----------	--------	-------------	---------	-------	-----	----------	---------

mouse strain	C57	mdy
mouse stram	007	mux
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	19.30±1.36	17.68±0.88
HW (mg)	90.01±6.96	79.18±3.65
HW% (%)	0.47±0.00	0.45±0.02
RA weight (mg)	2.79±0.23	2.61±0.22
LA weight (mg)	1.06±0.06	1.46±0.36
RV weight (mg)	19.58±1.92	15.93±1.33
LV+S weight (mg)	66.59±5.54	59.18±2.63

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

At 90 days of age significant differences between strains reemerged albeit with a reversal of trend. At 90 days old *mdx* body, LA, and LV+S weights were heavier than C57s by 8% (p<0.05), 33% (p<0.01), and 6% (p<0.05), respectively (Table 7-8).

 Table 7-8
 Body and cardiac weights of 90 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	25.93±0.43	28.33±0.77*
HW (mg)	109.22±0.90	114.79±2.90
HW% (%)	0.42±0.01	0.41±0.01
RA weight (mg)	2.63±0.22	3.06±0.16
LA weight (mg)	0.96±0.08	1.43±0.12**
RV weight (mg)	22.74±0.93	21.95±1.62
LV+S weight (mg)	82.89±0.79	88.35±1.95*

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8-9 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

Despite no significant difference in the BWs of 180 day old mice, mdx mice had significantly lower HW (-13%, p<0.05), HW% (p<0.01), and LV+S (p<0.01) weights compared to C57s (Table 7-9).

 Table 7-9
 Body and cardiac weights of 180 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	31.82±0.76
HW (mg)	139.24±6.58	121.10±4.46*
HW% (%)	0.45±0.01	0.38±0.01**
RA weight (mg)	3.45±0.30	3.34±0.26
LA weight (mg)	1.06±0.11	1.12±0.13
RV weight (mg)	25.31±1.62	25.82±1.51
LV+S weight (mg)	109.42±6.12	90.81±3.28*

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 9-10 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

At 330 days old *mdx* mouse BW was 16% (p<0.01) higher than C57s. As there was no difference in HWs between strains, the difference in BW may account for the observed difference in HW% observed, in which *mdx* mice were 10% (p<0.01) lower than C57s. In addition, the *mdx* RV was 18% heavier than C57s (p<0.05) (Table 7-10).

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	29.44±0.73	35.16±0.82**
HW (mg)	142.73±1.89	153.08±4.44
HW% (%)	0.49±0.01	0.44±0.01**
RA weight (mg)	3.12±0.31	3.68±0.39
LA weight (mg)	1.55±0.20	1.96±0.19
RV weight (mg)	25.05±1.38	30.49±1.33*
LV+S weight (mg)	112.97±3.14	116.95±3.26

Table 7-10Body and cardiac weights of 330 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-8 mice. <sup>1</sup>This information is described in Figure 7-1.

#### 7.3.2 Cardiac function

At 14 days basal FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) was significantly (p<0.05) higher in C57s than *mdx*. This trend reversed from 19 to 23 days of age where *mdx* forces were higher than C57s (non-significant). Subsequently, from 27 to 180 days of age, C57 forces were consistently higher than *mdx* (significant at 90 days, p<0.05). At 330 days, *mdx* forces were higher than C57s (non-significant) (Figure 7-3).



Figure 7-3 Basal FOC of the LA across ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 5-10 mice.

Ca<sup>2+</sup> CRCs showed no significant differences in response to exogenous Ca<sup>2+</sup> from basal forces in 14 day (Figure 7-4A), 23 day (Figure 7-4D), 27 day (Figure 7-4E), 34 day (Figure 7-4F), 40 day (Figure 7-4G),180 day (Figure 7-4I), and 330 day old mice (Figure 7-4J) between strains. However, the trend was not consistent, with C57 forces being greater than *mdx* force s at 14, 27, 34, 40, 90 and 180 days of age whereas at 19, 21, 23 and 330 days of age, *mdx* forces were generally greater than C57s (non-significant). At 21 days of age (Figure 7-4C) all C57 forces were higher than *mdx* forces but only significant at Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations of 9.0 mM and 12.0 mM (p<0.05). Figure 7-4H specifically shows that at age 90 days, C57 values were significantly greater than *mdx* values across all Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations.





Figure 7-4 Concentration response curves to calcium across varying ages in male mice.

A = 14 days old, B = 19 days old, C = 21 days old, D = 23 days old, E = 27 days old, F = 34 days old, G = 40 days old, H = 90 days old, I = 180 days old, J = 330 days old. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 5-10 mice.

At 14 days (p<0.05) and 90 days (p<0.01) of age, maximum FOC of the LA (normalised for LA weight) was greater in C57s than *mdx* mice. Conversely, at 21 days of age, *mdx* force was greater than C57s (p<0.05). Over the ages studied there was less variability in values for *mdx* than C57s (Figure 7-5).



Figure 7-5 Maximum FOC of the LA across ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 5-10 mice.

### 7.4 Influence of age on skeletal muscle

#### morphometry

There were no differences in the parameters measured between strains at 14 days of age (Table 7-11).

 Table 7-11
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 14 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	5.61±0.30	6.49±0.41
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	1.44±0.25	1.97±0.23
EDL Lo (mm)	6.00±0.58	6.73±0.41
EDL CSA $(mm^2)^3$	0.51±0.05	0.63±0.06
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	1.52±0.31	1.86±0.25
SOL Lo (mm)	7.19±0.47	6.60±0.97
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.27±0.04	0.37±0.03

 <sup>\*</sup> p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 3-5 mice (EDL), n = 5 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

At 19 day of age, significant differences between strains emerge. *Mdx* EDL weights were 23% lower than C57s which was consistent with the overall difference in BW between strains (Table 7-12).

Table 7-12Skeletal muscle morphometry of 19 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	8.43±0.25	6.53±0.53**
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	3.09±0.08	2.39±0.22*
EDL Lo (mm)	7.72±0.27	6.99±0.48
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	0.86±0.04	0.74±0.06
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	1.97±0.25	2.31±0.33
SOL Lo (mm)	6.60±0.31	7.10±0.32
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.39±0.05	0.44±0.07

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 7-8 mice (EDL), n = 7 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

At 21 days of age, mdx EDL weight and CSA remain lower than C57s (non-significant) whereas EDL Lo was 6% lower than C57s (p<0.05). Mdx SOL Lo is greater than C57s (non-significant) whilst SOL weight and SOL CSA were 20% and 22% respectively lower than C57s (p<0.01) (Table 7-13).

 Table 7-13
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 21 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	9.53±0.45	7.49±0.75*
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	3.29±0.18	2.72±0.22
EDL Lo (mm)	7.46±0.07	7.01±0.17*
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	0.95±0.05	0.83±0.07
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	3.16±0.10	2.53±0.17**
SOL Lo (mm)	7.00±0.11	7.22±0.33
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.60±0.02	0.47±0.04**

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-8 mice (EDL), n = 7-8 mice (SOL). <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

At 23 days of age, all measured EDL parameters were significantly lower in *mdx* compared to C57s. EDL weight, Lo, and CSA were 27% (p<0.01), 9% (p<0.05), and 21% (p<0.05) respectively lower than C57s. Interestingly, there was no significant difference between strains with respect to SOL muscle parameters measured (Table 7-14).
mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	10.74±0.24	8.89±0.65*
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	3.97±0.14	2.89±0.28**
EDL Lo (mm)	7.95±0.17	7.21±0.25*
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	1.07±0.04	0.85±0.06*
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	2.90±0.10	3.04±0.55
SOL Lo (mm)	7.44±0.11	7.17±0.30
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.52±0.02	0.55±0.08

 Table 7-14
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 23 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8 mice (EDL), n = 7-8 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

There were no differences in the parameters measured between strains at 27 days of age (Table 7-15).

Table 7-15Skeletal muscle morphometry of 27 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	14.76±1.13	11.82±0.81
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	5.35±0.43	4.30±0.21
EDL Lo (mm)	8.12±0.23	7.81±0.45
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	1.41±0.10	1.19±0.05
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	4.24±0.37	3.80±0.32
SOL Lo (mm)	8.21±0.17	8.79±0.37
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.69±0.06	0.59±0.08

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 5-8 mice (EDL), n = 5-8 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

At 34 days of age, despite no significant difference in EDL weight, mdx EDL Lo is 15% longer (p<0.05) than C57s whilst CSA is reduced 26% (p<0.01) compared to C57s. There were no differences in SOL muscle parameters measured (Table 7-16).

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	17.53±0.64	15.40±1.18
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	5.99±0.21	5.00±0.40
EDL Lo (mm)	7.58±0.08	8.73±0.39*
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	1.69±0.05	1.25±0.12**
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	4.61±0.28	4.43±0.60
SOL Lo (mm)	8.04±0.13	8.37±0.38
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.76±0.04	0.70±0.09

 Table 7-16
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 34 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 7-8 mice.  $\otimes$  described in Figure 8-1. <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

Any significant differences observed in skeletal muscle parameters between strains of mice aged 14 to 34 were no longer evident in mice at 40 days of age (Table 7-17).

Table 7-17Skeletal muscle morphometry of 40 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	19.30±1.36	17.68±0.87
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	6.66±0.86	6.79±0.49
EDL Lo (mm)	9.07±0.33	8.44±0.49
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	1.55±0.16	1.73±0.09
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	5.58±0.47	5.66±0.64
SOL Lo (mm)	8.80±0.35	9.16±0.39
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	0.83±0.04	0.81±0.07

p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8 mice. <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

At 90 days of age clear and significant differences emerge between strains. *Mdx* EDL muscles were 31% heavier than C57s with a CSA 22% greater than C57s (p<0.01). The *mdx* SOL weight, Lo, and CSA were 50% (p<0.01), 18% (p<0.05), and 25% (p<0.01) greater than C57s (Table 7-18).

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	25.93±0.43	28.33±0.77*
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	10.09±0.17	13.21±0.40**
EDL Lo (mm)	9.78±0.35	10.43±0.30
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	2.23±0.09	2.72±0.08**
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	6.83±0.18	10.26±0.49**
SOL Lo (mm)	8.76±0.54	10.31±0.23*
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	1.06±0.06	1.33±0.07*

 Table 7-18
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 90 day old male mice.

The general trends observed at 90 days of age continued at 180 days of age. *Mdx* EDL weight, Lo, and CSA were 30% (p<0.01), 1% (non-significant), and 27% (p<0.05) higher than C57s. *Mdx* SOL weight remains significantly heavier than C57s (23%, p<0.05) whilst, although non-significant, *mdx* Lo and CSA were 5% and 16% greater than C57s, respectively (Table 7-19).

 Table 7-19
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 180 day old male mice.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	30.74±0.54	31.82±0.76
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	12.79±0.66	16.66±0.99**
EDL Lo (mm)	10.19±0.35	10.30±0.25
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	2.73±0.18	3.46±0.18*
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	10.47±0.52	12.89±1.03*
SOL Lo (mm)	9.21±0.21	9.68±0.28
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	1.52±0.08	1.76±0.11

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 9-10 mice. <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

The greatest difference between strains was observed at 330 days of age where all skeletal muscle parameters measured showed *mdx* values significantly greater than C57s (p<0.01). EDL weight, Lo, and CSA were 73%, 16%, and 49% greater than C57s whilst equivalent SOL parameters measured were 113%, 22%, and 75% higher, respectively. Both skeletal muscle weight differences (percentage wise) were greater than BW difference between strains (Table 7-20).

 <sup>\*</sup> p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 8-9 mice (EDL), 7-8 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

mouse strain	C57	mdx
BW (g) <sup>1</sup>	29.44±0.73	35.16±0.82**
EDL weight (mg) <sup>2</sup>	10.80±0.21	18.73±0.41**
EDL Lo (mm)	10.14±0.22	11.80±0.22**
EDL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>3</sup>	2.29±0.06	3.41±0.11**
SOL weight (mg) <sup>4</sup>	7.48±0.50	15.94±0.85**
SOL Lo (mm)	9.24±0.30	11.27±0.28**
SOL CSA (mm <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>5</sup>	1.08±0.07	1.89±0.13**

 Table 7-20
 Skeletal muscle morphometry of 330 day old male mice.

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-8 mice (EDL), 5-8 mice (SOL).</li>
 <sup>1</sup>described in Figure 7-1. <sup>2</sup>described in Figure 7-8. <sup>3</sup>described in Figure 7-9. <sup>4</sup>described in Figure 7-6. <sup>5</sup>described in Figure 7-7.

From 14 to 23 days of age *mdx* SOL were heavier (significant at 21 days, p<0.01) than C57 SOL muscles. However, at 27 and 34 days of age the *mdx* SOL has a lower weight than that of C57s (non-significant). Then, from 40 to 330 days of age the situation is reversed and the *mdx* SOL were consistently heavier than that of age matched C57s (significant at 90 (p<0.01), 180 (p<0.05), and 330 (p<0.01) days of age) (Figure 7-6).



Figure 7-6 SOL weight between strains across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 5-10 mice.

Figure 7-7 shows that at 14, 19, and 23 days *mdx* SOLs have a higher CSA than age matched C57s (non-significant). However, at 21 days, *mdx* SOL have a significantly (p<0.01) lower CSA than C57s. At 27, 34, and 40 days *mdx* CSA is lower (non-significant). The situation reversed from 90 days when *mdx* CSA were consistently higher than age matched C57s (significant at 330 days of age, p<0.01).



Figure 7-7 SOL CSA between strains across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 5-10 mice.

Figure 7-8 shows that at 14 days of age mdx EDL were heavier (non-significant) than C57 EDL. However, from 19-34 days of age the mdx SOL had a lower weight than that of C57s (significant at 23 days, p<0.01). Then, from 40-330 days of age the situation was reversed and the mdx EDL were consistently heavier than that of age matched C57s (significant at 90, 180, and 330 days of age, p<0.01).



Figure 7-8 EDL weight between strains across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 6-10 mice.

At 14 days of age mdx EDL had a larger CSA (non-significant) than C57 EDL. However, from 19 to 34 days of age the mdx EDL had a lower CSA than that of C57s (significant at 23 days (p<0.05) and 34 days (p<0.01)). Then, from 40 to 330 days of age, the situation was reversed and mdx EDL were of consistently higher CSA than that of age matched C57s (significant at 180 days (p<0.05) and 330 days (p<0.01) of age) (Figure 7-9).



Figure 7-9 EDL CSAs between strains across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 6-10 mice.

### 7.5 Influence of age on EDL characteristics

#### 7.5.1 EDL function

Only at 14 days of age *mdx* twitch force s (normalised) were 63% greater than C57s (non-significant). However, at 19, 21, 23, 27, 34, 40, 90, 180, and 330 days of age *mdx* force s were 12%, 43% (p<0.01), 62% (p<0.01), 52% (p<0.01), 17%, 18%, 1%, 16%, and 30% (p<0.01), respectively lower than C57s (Figure 7-10).



Figure 7-10 EDL sPt across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.

The results of EDL twitch force generated were somewhat mirrored in the results of tetanic forces in which 14, 34, and 90 day old *mdx* mice produced higher forces than C57s (non-significant). At 19, 21, 23, 27, 40, 180 and 330 days of age, *mdx* EDL tetanic force s were 36% (p<0.05), 42% (p<0.01), 67% (p<0.01), 56% (p<0.01), 24%, 11%, and 33% (p<0.01) lower than C57s (Figure 7-11).



Figure 7-11EDL sPo across varying ages in male mice.\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.</td>

## 7.5.2 EDL histology

At all ages younger than 27 days (14, 19, 21, and 23 days of age), the percentage of EDL CNFs did not vary significantly between strains. However, from 27 days of age *mdx* mice had significantly higher (p<0.01) percentages of EDL CNFs compared to C57s. The trend in EDL CNF percentage differences between strains was not mirrored in the comparison of sPo values (Figure 7-12).





\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.

*Mdx* EDL cell diameters were larger than C57s in 330 day old mice. At all other ages there was no difference between strains (Figure 7-13).



Figure 7-13 EDL cell diameters across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.

## 7.6 Influence of age on SOL characteristics

#### 7.6.1 SOL function

At four specific ages, 19 days (p<0.01), 21 days (p<0.05), 23 days (p<0.01), and 330 days (p<0.01) *mdx* sPt forces were 45%, 40%, 82%, and 31% respectively lower than C57s (Figure 7-13). At 14 days of age *mdx* forces were lower than C57 forces albeit non-significant. At 27, 40, 90, and 180 days of age *mdx* SOL sPt were actually greater than C57s (non-significant).



Figure 7-14 SOL sPt across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.

The only significant (p<0.01) differences in SOL sPo were specifically at three ages (19, 21, and 23 days of age) when *mdx* forces were 53%, 49%, and 85% lower than C57 equivalents. At all other ages (both younger and older) there were no significant differences in sPo between strains (Figure 7-15).



Figure 7-15 SOL sPo across varying ages in male mice. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 between strain comparison. n = 6-10 mice.

#### 7.6.2 SOL histology

The percentage of SOL CNFs was relatively constant across the ages in C57s. In contrast, *mdx* mice showed relatively constant CNF percentages from 14 to 23 days of age, a significant increase in CNF percentages from 23 days old to 27 days old and a subsequent further increase in CNF percentages with increasing age.

There was no difference in the percentage of centrally nucleated SOL fibres between strains at or younger than 23 days of age (14, 19, 21, or 23 days of age), whilst *mdx* mice from 27 days old (27, 34, 40, 90, 180, and 330 days of age) had 10.5-, 32-, 50-, 65-, 2.58-, and 36.5-fold increase in CNFs than age matched C57s (p<0.01). The trend in percentage of CNFs was not mirrored in the tetanic force results for either mouse strain (Figure 7-16).



Figure 7-16 SOL percentage of CNFs and sPo across varying ages in male mice. Mouse strain comparison; \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 6-10 mice.

*Mdx* SOL cell diameters were larger than C57s at 330 days of age. At all other ages studied there was no significant difference in cell diameters between strains (Figure 7-17).



Figure 7-17SOL cell diameters across varying ages in male mice.Mouse strain comparison; \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n = 6-10 mice.</td>

#### 7.7 Discussion

Both mouse strains showed a generalised age-related increase in BW from 14 to 180 days of age. At 19, 21, and 23 days old, C57s were significantly heavier than age-matched *mdx*. The results for 21 day old mice are consistent with the findings of Laws (2005) however, these results (albeit for male mice only) were in contrast to Dupont-Versteegden and McCarter (1992) who found no significant differences between *mdx* and C57s in terms of BW in male and female mice ranging in ages from 14 days to two years of age (Dupont-Versteegden and McCarter 1992).

This study found no difference in BW at 180 days of age which concurred with the findings of Pastoret (1995) (Pastoret and Sebille 1995b) and Lynch *et al.* (2001). Age had a differential effect in strains beyond 180 days of age. Lynch *et al.* (2001) found *mdx* mouse BWs declined linearly beyond 180 days of age and showed a continuing increase in weight for corresponding ages in C57s. Conversely, Hayes and Williams in a 1998 study of male mice aged eight to 10 months old, found no difference in BW between *mdx* and C57s. Laws (2005) found that from 12 months of age *mdx* showed declining weight relative to C57s, and this study showed *mdx* being significantly heavier than C57s at 330 days of age. At 330 days of age, *mdx* males were heavier than controls, whereas C57s showed a decrease in BW from 180 to 330 days old.

The BW results were not mirrored in the testes weight results. At all ages, C57 testes were heavier than corresponding *mdx* testes (significant at 21, 23, and 27 days of age). At 19 days of age C57s were heavier than *mdx* but there was no difference in testes weight. At 21 and 23 days of age both BW and testes weights were higher in C57s compared to *mdx* and, conversely, at 27 days of age C57 testes weight was heavier than *mdx* despite no difference in BW (Figure 8-2). No comparative studies were found with respect to testes weights across the ages in *mdx*.

In 1836 the first case describing clinical evidence of cardiac disease in DMD was reported (Nigro *et al.* 1990). Subsequently, extensive research has been conducted into the cardiac manifestations of the disease in humans and it is currently agreed that both the incidence and severity of cardiac

abnormalities in DMD increase progressively with age. There are significant discrepancies between the *mdx* mouse model and the human disease form and Grady *et al.* (1997) argued that the *mdx* mouse model was not a sound model of cardiomyopathy in DMD (Grady *et al.* 1997). Despite widespread use of the *mdx* mouse model in DMD research limited electrophysiological data is available on this species, and the relationship between age and cardiac manifestations has not been clearly defined. Therefore, the objective of the cardiac work in this study was to characterise LA function and responsiveness to Ca<sup>2+</sup> throughout the lifespan of both the *mdx* mouse model as DMD cardiac research tool. This study encompasses 10 age groups ranging from 14 days to 330 days of age.

Basal FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) was only significantly different between strains at two specific ages, namely 14 days and 90 days of age (Figure 7-3). C57 forces at 14 and 90 days of age were greater than *mdx* forces; however, at 21 days of age (an age corresponding to reportedly the peak necrotic period in skeletal muscles in *mdx*) *mdx* forces were actually greater than C57s (non-significant). At 21 days old, *mdx* LAs had a 34% lower weight than C57s, which may account for the increased normalised forces in *mdx*.

Lu and Hoey (2000) studied atrial function in 12 week old mdx and C57 males and showed significantly altered contractile activity and efficacy to Ca<sup>2+</sup> between strains (Lu and Hoey 2000b).

This study of *mdx* mouse cardiac function did not show a linear age related decline in function as is generally reported in human DMD research findings. In fact, at three ages studied (19, 21, and 330 days) *mdx* maximum FOC of LA (normalised for LA weight) values were actually greater than C57s (in direct contrast to human reports in which cardiac function in DMD patients is age-related and consistently lower than age-matched controls).

Skeletal muscle weights and CSAs were reflective of BW trends in both mouse strains. At two specific ages (19 days and 23 days) C57 SOLs were significantly heavier than *mdx* muscles. This situation was reversed at 90, 180, and 330 days of age where *mdx* EDL muscles were heavier than C57s. Results suggested atrophy of fast-twitch (EDL) muscles of *mdx* at

younger ages and hypertrophy at older ages. *Mdx* EDL CSAs were significantly lower than C57s at 23 and 34 days of age but higher at 180 and 330 days of age.

Slow-twitch (SOL) muscles showed a similar growth pattern to EDL muscles in that 21 day old C57s had heavier muscles than *mdx* whilst 90,180, and 330 day old *mdx* had heavier EDL muscles. CSAs were only significantly different between strains at 21 days (C57s heavier than *mdx*) and 330 days (*mdx* heavier than C57s).

Hayes and Williams (1998), in a study of male mice aged eight to 10 months old, found no difference in SOL or EDL weights between *mdx* and C57s, this is in contrast to the results of this study which showed both EDL and SOL skeletal muscles being heavier in 330 day old *mdx* mice compared to C57 controls.

Reports vary amongst researchers as to the period of peak necrosis in the male mdx mouse. Figure 7-16 is a schematic representation of indicators of peak skeletal muscle necrosis in mdx mice; Granchelli et al. (1995) reported histological evidence of necrosis in gastrocnemius (mixed type-I and type-II muscle fibres) muscles in *mdx* from two to eight weeks of age, Muntoni (1993) showed spontaneous motility and treadmill motor activity was grossly affected from the end of the second week of life up to the fifth week (Muntoni et al. 1993), Karpati (1988) observed that the number of CNFs in *mdx* limb muscles rises sharply from 20 to 60 days of age (Karpati, Carpenter and Prescott 1988), Spencer's group (1995) showed a significant rise in muscle calpain levels at four weeks of age (Spencer, Croall and Tidball 1995), Ridge (1994) noted that *mdx* muscle fibres displayed extensive disruption of surface (myotendinous junction) features at four weeks of age (Ridge et al. 1994), and in 2004 Salimina et al. concluded that skeletal muscles of male *mdx* mice show increased sarcolemmal permeability, numerous inflammatory foci, and marked deposition of the extracellular matrix components (ECM) type-I collagen and laminin at six weeks of age (Salimena, Lagrota-Candido and Quirico-Santos 2004).



Figure 7-18 Periods of peak skeletal muscle necrosis in the *mdx* mouse.

(A) (Granchelli, Pollina and Hudecki 1995) (B) (Muntoni *et al.* 1993) (C) (Karpati, Carpenter and Prescott 1988) (D) (Spencer, Croall and Tidball 1995)(E) (Ridge *et al.* 1994) (F) (Salimena, Lagrota-Candido and Quirico-Santos 2004) and (G) (Roma *et al.* 2004)

Roma (2004) found there was temporal correlation between the decline of utrophin at 15 days of age and the onset of muscle necrosis. Conversely, reappearance of utrophin, with a peak around 2 months of age, was followed by a progressive decline of necrosis. They concluded that, a lineal correlation between utrophin and  $\beta$ -dystroglycan levels, not seen in C57 controls, indicated that functional improvement in *mdx* may be due to utrophin binding to dystrophin-associated glycoproteins (Roma *et al.* 2004).

Lefaucheur *et al.* (1995) maintained that in dystrophanopathies, predominantly slow-twitch 'postural' skeletal muscles such as the SOL are affected to a greater degree than fast-twitch 'locomotion' muscles such as the EDL (Lefaucheur, Pastoret and Sebille 1995).

Lynch (2001) proposes that the measurement of power output of limb muscles in the *mdx* mouse is arguably the most important physiological measurement of skeletal muscle function. However, it is extremely difficult to make direct comparisons with the work conducted by other researchers due to the lack of consistency in experimental protocols (between researchers), particularly in skeletal muscle function studies, the problem being further escalated by the fact that there is limited research data available on force generation in *mdx* skeletal muscles (Deconinck *et al.* 1998; Lynch, Hinkle and Faulkner 2000).

Dangain (1984) maintained that muscle necrosis in the *mdx* was followed by subsequent regeneration and restoration of function (Dangain and Vrbova 1984). Pastoret and Sebille (1995) concluded that in the EDL muscles of *mdx* mice up to 12 months of age, necrosis is compensated for by vigorous regenerative processes (Pastoret and Sebille 1995a; Pastoret and Sebille 1995b). Therefore, one would expect to observe no significant differences in EDL contractile forces between strains within this age frame (and would encompass all experimental ages tested in this trial).

Dupont-Versteegden and McCarter (1992) found no age-related changes in the isometric contractile properties of SOL or EDL muscles in *mdx* or control C57 mice. However, the study was conducted using both male and female mice of ages 14 days to two years of age, thus not allowing for potential sex or age differences within strains (Dupont-Versteegden and McCarter 1992). Anderson *et al.* (1988) found that in *mdx* EDL at three weeks, twitch and tetanus tensions were significantly less, and time-to-peak twitch tensions were significantly faster than in control EDL. By 32 weeks, *mdx* EDL twitch and tetanus tensions expressed relative to muscle weight continued to be significantly lower than in age-matched controls, despite normal absolute tensions (Anderson, Bressler and Ovalle 1988).

This study found that at only five of the 10 ages tested (for EDL muscles) and four of the 10 ages tested (for SOL muscles) there were significant differences in specific force production (sPo) between strain. Fast-twitch (EDL) sPo forces were significantly greater in C57s compared to *mdx* specifically at 19, 21, 23, 27, and 330 days of age. This suggests that the use of the *mdx* model for functional studies on EDL muscle most appropriately would utilise mice at these ages.

Anderson *et al.* (1988) found that isometric twitch and tetanic tensions in SOL were significantly less than in controls at 4 weeks, but by 32 weeks, values were not different from age-matched controls. They also found that isometric twitch and tetanic forces produced by the SOL of *mdx* and controls at 32 weeks of age were not significantly different (Anderson,

Bressler and Ovalle 1988). This trial showed that slow-twitch (SOL) sPo forces were significantly higher in C57s at 19, 21, 23, and 330 days of age. This also suggests that the use of the *mdx* model for functional studies on SOL muscle is most appropriate at those specific ages. SOL results were not consistent with Anderson *et al.* (1988) who found no force production differences between strains in four week old mice. This study also reiterates the importance of choosing an appropriate age for studies in the *mdx* mouse and that specific ages may or may not be appropriate for the study of specific skeletal muscles.

Research reports of the histological features of *mdx* muscle across the ages vary; at 180 days old Lynch (2001) found that C57s had normal structure (peripherally located nuclei) whilst *mdx* EDL and SOL muscles had ~60% centrally located nuclei. This study concurred with Lynch (2001) on C57 structure and showed  $67\pm2\%$  and  $68\pm3\%$  CNFs in EDL and SOL muscles of *mdx*, respectively. Lynch (2001) also reported an increase in the number of CNFs in *mdx* mice over 180 days of age that was not evident in C57 controls. Laws and Hoey (2004) demonstrated significantly higher percentages of CNFs in the latissimus dorsi, longissimus dorsi, diaphragm, and intercostal muscles of 17 month old *mdx* mice compared to controls (Laws and Hoey 2004).

The most overwhelming histological finding in this study was the observation of high percentages of CNFs in *mdx* EDL and SOL specifically from 27 days of age through to the oldest mice studied at 330 days of age. This is consistent with other researchers including Bulfield *et al.* (1984), Carnwath and Shotton (1987), Coulton *et al.* (1988), Zacharias and Anderson (1991) and Pastoret and Sebille (1995).

Cell diameters between strains were not significantly different for either EDL or SOL muscles except at 330 days of age when *mdx* cell diameters were larger than C57s in both muscle types. This was inversely related to muscle function where C57s produced significantly greater specific forces (for both EDL and SOL) than *mdx* mice at the same age. The only group in which SOL and EDL muscles cell diameters were greater than 25  $\mu$ m was 330 day old *mdx* mice. All other groups in both mouse strains and for both EDL and SOL muscles had cell diameters below 25  $\mu$ m. This study (as

with all other trials in this project) was unable to support the theory of Karpati (1986) which proposed that there is a functional benefit in muscle cells below 20 to 25 microns in diameter.

The results of this ageing study support the hypothesis that the appropriateness of the *mdx* mouse model of DMD (and its use in comparative studies with the C57 control strain) is limited to specific muscles at specific ages. It may be argued that the *mdx* mouse model at 14 and 90 days of age is an appropriate model for atrial contractility studies; that from 19 to 27 days of age and at 330 days of age are the most appropriate ages for fast-twitch (EDL) functional studies; and that 19 to 23 days and 330 days are useful ages for studying slow-twitch (SOL) muscle function in the *mdx* mouse.

## 8 Conclusions and future directions

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked, recessive genetic disorder affecting one in 3500 live male births across all human cultures and socio-economic groups. The disease affects cardiac and skeletal muscles of the body, is progressive and ultimately fatal, and no cure is currently available. DMD is caused by mutations in the gene encoding the protein dystrophin, which is currently the largest identified human gene, and the precise mutation is specific to each individual patient. A unique clinical case involving a boy with idiopathic growth hormone deficiency and DMD showed an uncharacteristically benign progress of the disease. Furthermore, it is known that clinical disease symptoms of DMD are exacerbated with the onset of puberty (coinciding with a surge in circulating sex hormone levels) and clearly raises the question as to the specific role of sex hormones in the progression of the disease.

A number of both naturally occurring and engineered animal models of DMD exist, however they differ considerably in terms of their suitability for research of the human disease. Arguably, the *mdx* mouse remains the preferred DMD experimental animal model due to low cost, speed of reproduction, and wide availability, and was subsequently the model of choice in this research project. The implementation of standardised protocols for the assessment of cardiac function, skeletal muscle function, histological parameters, and treatment strategies using the *mdx* mouse model is imperative to the successful future DMD research.

This dissertation examined the role of sex hormone status in cardiac and skeletal muscle function in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD and is the first study to co-quantify muscle-, sex-, and age-specific differences in the *mdx* mouse. Initially, the effects of testosterone-treatment were examined, followed by an investigation of sex (gender) differences, determination of the effects of surgical castration, in addition to the effects of oestrogen treatment in both the *mdx* and C57 control strains. Furthermore, cardiac and skeletal muscle function was characterised across a range of ages in order to improve the applicability of the *mdx* mouse model for research.

Representative muscles included the left atrium (cardiac muscle), extensor digitorum longus (fast-twitch skeletal muscle, type-I), and soleus (slow-twitch skeletal muscle, type-II).

Cardiac muscle studies revealed that, at 35 days of age, mdx left atrial basal forces were 29% lower than C57s (when normalised for left atrial weight) however, results were not significant due to large variability in values (and subsequent standard errors) for mdx compared to C57s. These results show that left atrial basal contractility is compromised in the mdx mouse. Maximum left atrial forces generated by C57s were greater than mdx forces for controls, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day testosterone-treated mice (despite testosterone not altering maximum left atrial contractility within either strain). Calcium concentration response curves revealed a varied pattern of response between strains with mdx showing a more flattened curve (rather than the traditional sigmoid curve shown in C57s) and implying a dampened responsiveness to calcium in the mdx. Most importantly, testosterone treatments (1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg/kg/day) caused left atrial hypertrophy in the mdx (which was not evident in C57s) that did not translate to increased force generation. Sex (gender) differences in the mdx mouse model were investigated in order to provide research information directly applicable to female DMD carriers and to further elucidate the role of sex hormones (both male and female) in the disease. Cardiac studies found that left atrial forces in the *mdx* strain were not different between males and females at any age examined (90, 180, 330 days of age) and that both male and female mdx had a dampened left atrial responsiveness to calcium, suggesting that mdx mice of both sexes from 90 to 330 days of age have cardiac abnormalities relative to C57 control mice. Surgical castration of male mice (castration at 42 days of age, euthanasia at six months of age) caused no significant functional cardiac effect between strains whereas differences within strains were evident. C57 castrates showed higher left atrial forces than entires and yet mdx castrates showed consistently lower forces than entires. Having determined that testosterone-treatment caused left atrial hypertrophy without subsequent force increases, the fact that surgical castration (and the resultant sex hormone removal) produced decreased left atrial forces in the mdx, and that left atrial forces were not different between male and female

*mdx*, the cardiac effects of oestrogen-treatment in *mdx* males was examined. Oestrogen showed a significant and positive effect on left atrial contractility. Basal left atrial forces were increased at all oestrogen doses (significant at 0.08 and 0.16 mg/kg/day), maximum left atrial forces mirrored basal forces (significant at 0.16 mg/kg/day), and calcium concentration response curves showed a highly significant increase in left atrial forces for all calcium concentrations in *mdx* treated with a dose of 0.16 mg/kg/day oestrogen. This research showed that, in the *mdx*, cardiac function is compromised compared to C57s, that testosterone-treatment produces left atrial hypertrophy without functional benefit, that both male and females have reduced cardiac contractility without sex (gender) differences within the strain, and that oestrogen-treatment can produce improved responsiveness to calcium and increased left atrial contractility.

Skeletal muscle functional studies using extensor digitorum longus (fast-twitch, type-I) muscles and soleus (slow-twitch, type-II) muscles were conducted in the sex (gender), castration, and oestrogen trials. It was imperative that both muscle fibre-types were studied independently as it is known that different skeletal muscle fibre-types have distinctive roles; fast-twitch muscle fibres (as predominating in the EDL) are involved in locomotion and ambulation whereas slow-twitch fibres (as predominating in the SOL) are responsible for maintaining posture.

Both male and female mdx EDL muscles were hypertrophic compared to C57s but this muscle hypertrophy did not translate to increased force generation. Surgical castration (and the resultant removal of circulating sex hormones including testosterone) resulted in significantly larger EDL tetanic forces in both mdx and C57s (irrespective of lowered muscle weights). Despite a lack of statistical significance, results were encouraging in terms of the potential of oestrogen treatment to improve force production in mdx EDL muscles with oestrogen-treated mdx showing increases of between ~15% and ~34% compared to mdx controls.

The gender (sex) trial results for SOL muscles mirrored that of EDL muscles with *mdx* males and females showing muscle hypertrophy (compared to C57 equivalents) which failed to translate to greater forces than control C57s. However, surgical castration failed to result in increased force

production in the slow-twitch SOL muscle in the *mdx*. This was in contrast to the effect seen in the EDL muscles of *mdx* castrates and suggests that fastand slow-twitch skeletal muscles responded differently to surgical castration in the *mdx*. Once again, the results of oestrogen-treatment on SOL muscle function mirrored the effects produced in EDL muscles and an oestrogen treatment of 0.32 mg/kg/day (despite producing no significant differences in muscle weight compared to *mdx* controls) elicited a ~29% increase in SOL specific muscle force compared to un-treated *mdx*.

Few studies specifically characterise the *mdx* mouse model across many different ages. This study determined left atrial, EDL, and SOL muscle function at 10 ages ranging from 14 to 330 days of age with a view to improving the use of the *mdx* mouse model as a DMD research tool. Cardiac function studies showed that basal left atrial forces in the *mdx* were only significantly different between strains at two specific ages, 14 days and 90 days of age. Skeletal muscle studies (quantifying specific force production) isolated significant differences between *mdx* and C57s at 19, 21, 23, and 330 days of age in both EDL and SOL muscles, deeming these ages to be the most appropriate ages for use of the model in skeletal functional studies.

Clearly, this research has revealed a number of important findings. Firstly, testosterone-treatment does not produce functional benefits in cardiac muscle (left atria), fast-twitch (EDL) skeletal or slow-twitch (SOL) skeletal muscles in the mdx. It is evident that a hypertrophied muscle is not necessarily a muscle which can generate greater forces, and this challenges the use of androgenic compounds in the pharmacological treatment of DMD. In addition, the studies conducted show that oestrogen-treatment has therapeutic potential in the treatment of DMD through mechanisms which increase force generation in both cardiac and skeletal muscles. However, there are a number of psychosocial considerations that would need to be considered before oestrogenic drugs may be considered appropriate. Rather, future research should focus on the mechanisms underlying the benefits of oestrogenic treatments so that these mechanisms could be targeted effectively. Finally, this project further characterised the *mdx* mouse model concluding that the model can be used for the study of specific muscles most appropriately when it is at specific ages.

> *"Motion is life....."* Guillaume Benjamin Amand Duchenne de Boulogne

# 9 REFERENCES

- Aartsma-Rus, A, Janson, A, Kaman, W, Bremmer-Bout, M, Van Ommen, G, Den Dunnen, J and Van Deutekom, J (2004), 'Antisense-induced multiexon skipping for Duchenne muscular dystrophy makes more sense.' Am J Hum Genet, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 83-92.
- Adachi, K, Kawai, H, Saito, M, Naruo, T, Kimura, C, Mine, H, Inui, T, Kashiwagi, S and Akaike, M (1997), 'Plasma levels of brain natriuretic peptide as an index for evaluation of cardiac function in female gene carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Intern Med*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 497-500.
- Adamopoulos, S, Leftheriotis, D, Sbarouni, E, Karavolias, G and Kremastinos, D (2002), 'Acute haemodynamic effects of oestrogen administration in male patients with chronic heart failure.' *Eur J Heart Fail*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 719-726.
- Adams, GR and McCue, SA (1998), 'Localized infusion of IGF-1 results in skeletal muscle hypertrophy in rats.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 84, no. 5, pp. 1716-1722.
- Adams, R and Victor, M (1989), 'The muscular dystrophies.' in R Adams & M Victor (eds), *Principles of Neurology*, Fourth edn, *McGraw-Hill, New York,* pp. 1117-1132.
- Afifi, A, Bergman, R and Zellweger, H (1973), 'A possible role for electron microscopy in detection of carriers of Duchenne type muscular dystrophy.' *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 643-650.
- Aicardi, G, Milani, S, Imbimbo, B, Vignolo, M, Di Battista, E, Gusmano, R, Terragna, A, Cordone, G, Cottafava, F and Coppo, R (1991), 'Comparison of growth retarding effects induced by two different glucocorticoids in prepubertal sick children: An interim long-term analysis.' *Calcif Tissue Int*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 283-287.
- Alderton, JM and Steinhardt, RA (2000), 'Calcium influx through calcium leak channels is responsible for the elevated levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis in dystrophic myotubes.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 275, no. 13, pp. 9452-9460.
- Allamand, V and Campbell, KP (2000), 'Animal models for muscular dystrophy; valuable tools for the development of therapies.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 9, no. 16, pp. 2459-2467.
- Allen, N (1973), 'Hearing acuity in patients with muscular dystrophy.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 500-505.

- Alloatti, G, Pia Gallo, M, Penna, C and Levi, RC (1995), 'Properties of cardiac cells from the dystrophic mouse.' *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, vol. 27, pp. 1775-1779.
- Alman, B (2005), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy and steroids: Pharmacologic treatment in the absence of effective gene therapy.' *J Pediatr Orthop*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 554-556.
- Alman, BA, Raza, SN and Biggar, WD (2004), 'Steroid treatment and the development of scoliosis in males with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 519-524.
- Amelink, G and Bar, P (1986), 'Exercise-induced muscle protein leakage in the rat. Effects of hormonal manipulation.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 76, no. 1, pp. 61-68.
- Amelink, G, Kamp, H and Bar, P (1988), 'Creatine kinase isoenzyme profiles after exercise in the rat.' *Pflugers Arch*, vol. 412, no. 4, pp. 417-421.
- Anderson, J, Bressler, B and Ovalle, W (1988), 'Functional regeneration in the hindlimb skeletal muscle of the *mdx* mouse.' *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 499-515.
- Anderson, J, McIntosh, L and Poettcker, R (1996), 'Deflazacort but not prednisone improves both muscle repair and fiber growth in diaphragm and limb muscle *in vivo* in the *mdx* dystrophic mouse.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 1576-1585.
- Anderson, JE, Garrett, K, Moor, A, McIntosh, L and Penner, K (1998), 'Dystrophy and myogenesis in *mdx* diaphragm muscle.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 21, no. September, pp. 1153-1165.
- Andrade, FH, Porter, JD and Kaminski, HJ (2000), 'Eye muscle sparing by the muscular dystrophies: Lessons to be learned?' *Microsc Res Tech*, vol. 48, no. 3-4, pp. 192-203.
- Angelini, C, Pegoraro, E, Turella, E, Intino, MT, Pini, A and Costa, C (1994), 'Deflazacort in Duchenne dystrophy: Study of long-term effect.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 17, pp. 386-391.
- Antonio, J, Wilson, JD and George, FW (1999), 'Effects of castration and androgen treatment on androgen-receptor levels in rat skeletal muscles.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 2016-2019.
- Araki, E, Nakamura, K, Nakao, K, Kameya, S, Kobayashi, O, Nonaka, I, Kobayashi, T and Katsuki, M (1997), 'Targeted disruption of exon 52 in the mouse dystrophin gene induced muscle degeneration similar to that observed in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 238, no. 2, pp. 492-497.

- Aravamudan, B, Volonte, D, Ramani, R, Gursoy, E, Lisanti, MP, London, B and Galbiati, F (2003), 'Transgenic overexpression of caveolin-3 in the heart induces a cardiomyopathic phenotype.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 12, no. 21, pp. 2777-2788.
- Arizon, JM, Anguita, M, Valles, F, Lopez-Rubio, F, Lopez-Granados, A, Casares, J, Segura, J, Mesa, D, Munoz, I and Alados, P (1993), 'A randomized study comparing deflazacort and prednisone in heart transplant patients.' *J Heart Lung Transplant*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 864-868.
- Arizon, JM, Anguita, M, Valles, F, Montero, A, Sancho, M, Lopez-Rubio, F, Latre, JM, Calleja, F, Casares, J and Roman, M (1993), 'Preliminary experience with deflazacort, a new synthetic steroid with fewer undesirable side effects, in heart transplant patients.' *J Heart Lung Transplant*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 445-448.
- Ashford, MW, Jr, Liu, W, Lin, SJ, Abraszewski, P, Caruthers, SD, Connolly, AM, Yu, X and Wickline, SA (2005), 'Occult cardiac contractile dysfunction in dystrophin-deficient children revealed by cardiac magnetic resonance strain imaging.' *Circulation*, vol. 112, no. 16, pp. 2462-2467.
- Austin, L, Bower, JJ, Bennett, TM, Lynch, GS, Kapsa, R, White, JD, Barnard, W, Gregorevic, P and Byrne, E (2000), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor ameliorates muscle fiber degeneration in the *mdx* mouse.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 23, pp. 1700-1705.
- Bach, J, Ishikawa, Y and Kim, H (1997), 'Prevention of pulmonary morbidity for patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Chest*, vol. 112, no. 4, pp. 1024-1028.
- Bachrach, L (2005), 'Taking steps towards reducing osteoporosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 86-87.
- Bakker, E, Veenema, H, Den Dunnen, J, van Broeckhoven, C, Grootscholten, P, Bonten, E, van Ommen, G and Pearson, P (1989), 'Germinal mosaicism increases the recurrence risk for 'new' Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutations.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 553-559.
- Ball, E and Sanwal, B (1980), 'A synergistic effect of glucocorticoids and insulin on the differentiation of myoblasts.' *J Cell Physiol*, vol. 102, no. 1, pp. 27-36.
- Bar, P, Amelink, G, Oldenburg, B and Blankenstein, M (1988), 'Prevention of exercise-induced muscle membrane damage by oestradiol.' *Life Sci*, vol. 42, no. 26, pp. 2677-2681.

- Baral, E, Kwok, S and Berczi, I (1991), 'The influence of estradiol and tamoxifen on the mixed lymphocyte reaction in rats.' *Immunopharmacology*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 191-197.
- Bark, TH, McNurlan, MA, Lang, CH and Garlick, PJ (1998), 'Increased protein synthesis after acute IGF-1 or insulin infusion is localized to muscle in mice.' *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 275, no. 1, pp. E118-123.
- Barnard, W, Bower, J, Brown, M, Murphy, M and Austin, L (1994), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) infusion stimulates skeletal muscle regeneration after injury: Injured muscle expresses lif mRNA.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 123, no. 1-2, pp. 108-113.
- Barohn, R, Levine, E, Olson, J and Mendell, J (1988), 'Gastric hypomotility in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *N Engl J Med*, vol. 319, no. 1, pp. 15-18.
- Bartlett, R, Stockinger, S, Denis, M, Bartlett, W, Inverardi, L, Le, T, thi Man, N, Morris, G, Bogan, D, Metcalf-Bogan, J and Kornegay, J (2000), 'In vivo targeted repair of a point mutation in the canine dystrophin gene by a chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotide.' Nat Biotechnol, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 615-622.
- Bartlett, R, Winand, N, Secore, S, Singer, J, Fletcher, S, Wilton, S, Bogan, D, Metcalf-Bogan, J, Bartlett, W, Howell, J, Cooper, B and Kornegay, J (1996), 'Mutation segregation and rapid carrier detection of X-linked muscular dystrophy in dogs.' *Am J Vet Res*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 650-654.
- Barton, ER, Morris, L, Musaro, A, Rosenthal, N and Sweeney, HL (2002), 'Muscle-specific expression of insulin-like growth factor I counters muscle decline in *mdx* mice.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 157, no. 1, pp. 137-148.
- Barton-Davis, ER, Shoturma, DI, Musaro, A, Rosenthal, N and Sweeney, HL (1998), 'Viral mediated expression of insulin-like growth factor I blocks the aging-related loss of skeletal muscle function.' *PNAS*, vol. 95, no. 26, pp. 15603-15607
- Baydur, A, Gilgoff, I, Prentice, W, Carlson, M and Fischer, D (1990), 'Decline in respiratory function and experience with long-term assisted ventilation in advanced Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *Chest*, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 884-889.
- Beam, K (1988), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Localizing the gene product.' *Nature*, vol. 333, no. 6176, pp. 798-799.
- Beckman, J (1991), 'The double-edged role of nitric oxide in brain function and superoxide-mediated injury.' *J Dev Physiol*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 53-59.

- Beilharz, M, Lareu, R, Garrett, K, Grounds, M and Fletcher, S (1992), 'Quantitation of muscle precursor cell activity in skeletal muscle by northern analysis of myod and myogenin expression: Application to dystrophic (*mdx*) mouse muscle.' *Mol Cell Neurosci*, vol. 3, pp. 326-331.
- Beltran, W, Chahory, S, Gnirs, K, Escriou, C, Blot, S and Clerc, B (2001), 'The electroretinographic phenotype of dogs with golden retriever muscular dystrophy.' *Vet Ophthalmol*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 277-282.
- Bers, DM (2000), 'Calcium fluxes involved in control of cardiac myocyte contraction.' *Circulation Research*, vol. 87, pp. 275-281.
- Bers, DM (2002), 'Cardiac excitation-contraction coupling.' *Nature*, vol. 415, no. 6868, pp. 198-205.
- Bers, DM and Perez-Reyes, E (1999), 'Ca channels in cardiac myocytes: Structure and function in Ca influx and intracellular Ca release.' *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 42, pp. 339-360.
- Bertolotto, A, De Marchi, M, Doriguzzi, C, Mongini, T, Monnier, C, Palmucci, L, Schiffer, D and Verze, L (1981), 'Epidemiology of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in the province of Turin.' *Ital J Neurol Sci*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 81-84.
- Bertorini, T, Bhattacharya, S, Palmieri, G, Chesney, C, Pifer, D and Baker, B (1982), 'Muscle calcium and magnesium content in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 1088-1092.
- Bertorini, T, Palmieri, G, Griffin, J, Igarashi, M, McGee, J, Brown, R, Nutting, D, Hinton, A and Karas, J (1988), 'Effect of chronic treatment with the calcium antagonist diltiazem in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 609-665.
- Bertorini, TE, Palmieri, GM, Griffin, J, Igarashi, M, Hinton, A and Karas, JG (1991), 'Effect of dantrolene in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 503-507.
- Bessou, C, Giugia, J, Franks, C, Holden-Dye, L and Segalat, L (1998), 'Mutations in the caenorhabditis elegans dystrophin-like gene dys-1 lead to hyperactivity and suggest a link with cholinergic transmission.' *Neurogenetics*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 61-72.
- Bia, BL, Cassidy, PJ, Young, ME, Rafael, JA, Leighton, B, Davies, KE, Radda, GK and Clarke, K (1999), 'Decreased myocardial nNOS, increased iNOS and abnormal ECGs in mouse models of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, vol. 31, pp. 1857-1862.

- Bieber, F, Hoffman, E and Amos, J (1989), 'Dystrophin analysis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Use in fetal diagnosis and in genetic counseling.' *Am J Hum Genet*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 362-367.
- Biggar, W, Gingras, M, Fehlings, D, Harris, V and Steele, C (2001), 'Deflazacort treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Pediatr*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 45-50.
- Biggar, W, Politano, L, Harris, V, Passamano, L, Vajsar, J, Alman, B, Palladino, A, Comi, L and Nigro, G (2004), 'Deflazacort in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: A comparison of two different protocols.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 14, no. 8-9, pp. 476-482.
- Bishop, J and Simpkins, J (1995), 'Estradiol enhances brain glucose uptake in ovariectomized rats.' *Brain Res Bull*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 315-320.
- Bodensteiner, JB and Engel, AG (1978), 'Intracellular calcium accumulation in Duchenne dystrophy and other myopathies: A study of 567,000 muscle fibers in 114 biopsies.' *Neurology*, vol. 28, pp. 439-446.
- Bogdanovich, S, Perkins, K, Krag, T and Khurana, T (2004), 'Therapeutics for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Current approaches and future directions.' *J Mol Med*, vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 102-115.
- Bogdanovich, S, Krag, T, Barton, E, Morris, L, Whittemore, L, Ahima, R and Khurana, T (2002), 'Functional improvement of dystrophic muscle by myostatin blockade.' *Nature*, vol. 420, no. 6914, pp. 418-421.
- Boland, B, Silbert, P, Groover, R, Wollan, P and Silverstein, M (1996), 'Skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle failure in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Pediatr Neurol*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 7-12.
- Bonifati, MD, Ruzza, G, Bonometto, P, Bernardinelli, A, Gorni, K, Orcesi, S, Lanzi, G and Angelini, C (2000), 'A multicenter, double-blind, randomized trial of deflazacort versus prednisone in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 23, pp. 1344-1347.
- Bonuccelli, G, Sotgia, F, Schubert, W, Park, DS, Frank, PG, Woodman, SE, Insabato, L, Cammer, M, Minetti, C and Lisanti, MP (2003), 'Proteasome inhibitor (mg-132) treatment of *mdx* mice rescues the expression and membrane localization of dystrophin and dystrophinassociated proteins.' *Am J Pathol*, vol. 163, no. 4, pp. 1663-1675.
- Boyd, Y and Buckle, V (1986), 'Cytogenetic heterogeneity of translocations associated with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Clin Genet*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 108-115.
- Boyd, Y, Buckle, V, Holt, S, Munro, E, Hunter, D and Craig, I (1986), 'Muscular dystrophy in girls with X autosome translocations.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 484-490.

- Brainard, J and Burmaster, D (1992), 'Bivariate distributions for height and weight of men and women in the United States.' *Risk Anal*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 267-275.
- Brandstetter, AM, Pfaffl, MW, Hocquette, JF, Gerrard, DE, Picard, B, Geay, Y and Sauerwein, H (2000), 'Effects of muscle type, castration, age, and compensatory growth rate on androgen receptor mRNA expression in bovine skeletal muscle.' *J Anim Sci*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 629-637.
- Braun, N, Arora, N and Rochester, D (1983), 'Respiratory muscle and pulmonary function in polymyositis and other proximal myopathies.' *Thorax*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 616-623.
- Brenman, JE, Chao, DS, Xia, H, Aldape, K and Bredt, DS (1995), 'Nitric oxide synthase complexed with dystrophin and absent from skeletal muscle sarcolemma in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Cell*, vol. 82, pp. 743-752.
- Brenman, JE, Chao, DS, Gee, SH, McGee, AW, Craven, SE, Santillano, DR, Wu, Z, Huang, F, Xia, H, Peters, MF, Froehner, SC and Bredt, DS (1996), 'Interaction of nitric oxide synthase with the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 and α1-syntrophin mediated by PDZ domains.' *Cell*, vol. 84, no. March 8, pp. 757-767.
- Briguet, A, Courdier-Fruh, I, Foster, M, Meier, T and Magyar, J (2004), 'Histological parameters for the quantitative assessment of muscular dystrophy in the *mdx*-mouse.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 675-682.
- Brooke, M, Fenichel, G, Griggs, R, Mendell, J, Moxley, R, Florence, J, King, W, Pandya, S, Robison, J and SchierBecker, J (1989), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Patterns of clinical progression and effects of supportive therapy.' *Neurology*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 475-481.
- Brooke, MH (2000), Neurology in clinical practice, Third edition, vol. 2, *Butterworth-Heinnemann, New York.*
- Brooks, S and Faulkner, J (1988), 'Contractile properties of skeletal muscles from young, adult and aged mice.' *J Physiol (Lond)*, vol. 404, no. 1, pp. 71-82.
- Brown, R (1995), 'Free radicals, programmed cell death and muscular dystrophy.' *Curr Opin Neurol*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 373-378.
- Brown, R and Hoffman, E (1988), 'Molecular biology of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Trends Neurosci*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 480-484.

- Broyer, M, Terzi, F, Lehnert, A, Gagnadoux, M, Guest, G and Niaudet, P (1997), 'A controlled study of deflazacort in the treatment of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome.' *Pediatr Nephrol*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 418-422.
- Buetler, TM, Renard, M, Offord, EA, Schneider, H and Ruegg, UT (2002), 'Green tea extract decreases muscle necrosis in *mdx* mice and protects against reactive oxygen species.' *Am J Clin Nutr*, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 749-.
- Bulfield, G, Siller, W, Wight, P and Moore, K (1984), 'X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (*mdx*) in the mouse.' *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, vol. 81, no.4, pp. 1189-1192.
- Burmaster, D and Crouch, E (1997), 'Lognormal distributions for body weight as a function of age for males and females in the United States, 1976-1980.' *Risk Anal*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 499-505.
- Burrow, K, Coovert, D, Klein, C, Bulman, D, Kissel, J, Rammohan, K, Burghes, A and Mendell, J (1991), 'Dystrophin expression and somatic reversion in prednisone-treated and untreated Duchenne dystrophy. Cidd study group.' *Neurology*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 661-666.
- Bushby, K, Hill, A and Steele, J (1999), 'Failure of early diagnosis in symptomatic Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Lancet*, vol. 353, no. 9152, pp. 557-558.
- Call, G and Ziter, F (1985), 'Failure to thrive in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Pediatr*, vol. 106, no. 6, pp. 939-941.
- Cambridge, W and Drennan, J (1987), 'Scoliosis associated with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Pediatr Orthop*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 436-440.
- Carnwath, J and Shotton, D (1987), 'Muscular dystrophy in the *mdx* mouse: Histopathology of the soleus and extensor digitorum longus muscles.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 39-54.
- Caron, N, Asselin, I, Morel, G and Tremblay, J (1999), 'Increased myogenic potential and fusion of matrilysin-expressing myoblasts transplanted in mice.' *Cell Transplant*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 465-476.
- Carpenter, J, Hoffman, E, Romanul, F, Kunkel, L, Rosales, R, Ma, N, Dasbach, J, Rae, J, Moore, F and McAfee, M (1989), 'Feline muscular dystrophy with dystrophin deficiency.' *Am J Pathol*, vol. 135, no. 5, pp. 909-919.
- Carroll, N, Bain, R, Smith, P, Saltissi, S, Edwards, R and Calverley, P (1991), 'Domiciliary investigation of sleep-related hypoxaemia in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Eur Respir J*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 434-440.

- Carter, GT, Abresch, RT, Walsh, SA and Wineinger, MA (1997), 'The *mdx* mouse diaphragm: Exercise-induced injury.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 393-394.
- Casadei, B and Sears, C (2003), 'Nitric-oxide-mediated regulation of cardiac contractility and stretch responses.' *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 67-80.
- Cattanach, B, Iddon, C, Charlton, H, Chiappa, S and Fink, G (1977), 'Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone deficiency in a mutant mouse with hypogonadism.' *Nature*, vol. 269, no. 5626, pp. 338-340.
- Chamberlain, J, Pearlman, J, Muzny, D, Gibbs, R, Ranier, J, Caskey, C and Reeves, A (1988), 'Expression of the murine Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene in muscle and brain.' *Science*, vol. 239, pp. 1416-1418.
- Chang, W-J, Iannaccone, ST, Lau, KS, Masters, BSS, McCabe, TJ, McMillan, K, Padre, RC, Spencer, MJ, Tidball, JG and Stull, JT (1996), 'Neuronal nitric oxide synthase and dystrophin-deficient muscular Dystrophy.' *Proc Natl Acad Sci US*, vol. 93, no. 17, pp. 9142-9147.
- Chapman, VM, Miller, DR, Armstrong, D and Caskey, CT (1989), 'Recovery of induced mutations for X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy in mice.' *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, vol. 86, pp. 1292-1296.
- Charash, L (1965), 'Anabolic steroids in the management of muscular dystrophy.' *Pediatrics*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 402-405.
- Chaubourt, E, Fossier, P, Baux, G, Leprince, C, Israel, M and De La Porte, S (1999), 'Nitric oxide and I-arginine cause an accumulation of utrophin at the sarcolemma: A possible compensation for dystrophin loss in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurobiol Dis*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 499-507.
- Chaubourt, E, Voisin, V, Fossier, P, Baux, G, Israel, M and de La Porte, S (2000), 'The NO way to increase muscular utrophin expression?' *C R Acad Sci III*, vol. 323, no. 8, pp. 735-740.
- Chelly, J, Kaplan, J, Maire, P, Gautron, S and Kahn, A (1988), 'Transcription of the dystrophin gene in human muscle and non-muscle tissue.' *Nature*, vol. 333, no. 6176, pp. 858-860.
- Cheruvanky, T, Castro-Magana, M, Chen, S, Collipp, P and Ghavami-Maibodi, Z (1982), 'Effect of growth hormone on hair, serum, and urine zinc in growth hormone-deficient children.' *Am J Clin Nutr*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 668-670.

- Childers, M, Okamura, C, Bogan, D, Bogan, J, Petroski, G, McDonald, K and Kornegay, J (2002), 'Eccentric contraction injury in dystrophic canine muscle.' *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 83, no. 11, pp. 1572-1578.
- Christiansen, P (2002), 'Mass allometry of the appendicular skeleton in terrestrial mammals.' *J Morphol*, vol. 251, no. 2, pp. 195-209.
- Church, J (2004), 'Oxandrolone treatment of childhood hereditary angioedema.' *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 377-378.
- Chyatte, S, Rudman, D, Patterson, J, Ahmann, P and Jordan, A (1974), 'Human growth hormone in myopathy: Myotonic dystrophy, Duchenne muscular dystrophy, and limb-girdle muscular dystrophy.' *South Med J*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 170-172.
- Chyatte, S, Rudman, D, Patterson, J, Gerron, G, O'Beirne, I, Barlow, J, Jordan, A and Shavin, J (1973), 'Human growth hormone and estrogens in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 248-253.
- Cittadini, A, Ines Comi, L, Longobardi, S, Rocco Petretta, V, Casaburi, C, Passamano, L, Merola, B, Durante-Mangoni, E, Sacca, L and Politano, L (2003), 'A preliminary randomized study of growth hormone administration in Becker and Duchenne muscular dystrophies.' *Eur Heart J*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 664-672.
- Clancy, R, Leszczynska-Pizia, J and Abramson, S (1992), 'Nitric oxide, an endothelial cell relaxation factor, inhibits neutrophil superoxide anion production via a direct action on the NADPH oxidase.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 1116-1121.
- Clejan, S, Collipp, P and Maddaiah, V (1980), 'Hormones and liver mitochondria: Influence of growth hormone, thyroxine, testosterone, and insulin on thermotropic effects of respiration and fatty acid composition of membranes.' *Arch Biochem Biophys*, vol. 203, no. 2, pp. 744-752.
- Clejan, S, Maddaiah, V, Castro-Magana, M and Collipp, P (1981), 'Zinc deficiency-induced changes in the composition of microsomal membranes and in the enzymatic regulation of glycerolipid synthesis.' *Lipids*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 454-460.
- Clejan, S, Castro-Magana, M, Collipp, P, Jonas, E and Maddaiah, V (1982), 'Effects of zinc deficiency and castration on fatty acid composition and desaturation in rats.' *Lipids*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 129-135.
- Clerk, A, Strong, P and Sewry, C (1992), 'Characterisation of dystrophin during development of human skeletal muscle.' *Development*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 395-402.

- Clerk, A, Sewry, C, Dubowitz, V and Strong, P (1992), 'Characterisation of dystrophin in fetuses at risk for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 82-91.
- Clerk, A, Rodillo, E, Heckmatt, J, Dubowitz, V, Strong, P and Sewry, C (1991), 'Characterisation of dystrophin in carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 197-205.
- Coakley, J, Moorcraft, J, Hipkin, L, Smith, C, Griffiths, R and Edwards, R (1988), 'The effect of mazindol on growth hormone secretion in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 1551-1557.
- Coffey, A, Roberts, R, Green, E, Cole, C, Butler, R, Anand, R, Giannelli, F and Bentley, D (1992), 'Construction of a 2.6-mb contig in yeast artificial chromosomes spanning the human dystrophin gene using an STS-based approach.' *Genomics*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 474-484.
- Cohen, H, Molnar, G and Taft, L (1968), 'The genetic relationship of progressive muscular dystrophy (Duchenne type) and mental retardation.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 754-765.
- Colbert, A and Craig, C (1987), 'Scoliosis management in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Prospective study of modified Jewett hyperextension brace.' *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 68, no. 5 Pt 1, pp. 302-304.
- Collins, C and Morgan, J (2003), 'Duchenne's muscular dystrophy: Animal models used to investigate pathogenesis and develop therapeutic strategies.' *Int J Exp Pathol*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 165-172.
- Collipp, P, Castro-Magana, M, Petrovic, M, Thomas, J, Cheruvanky, T, Chen, S and Sussman, H (1982), 'Zinc deficiency: Improvement in growth and growth hormone levels with oral zinc therapy.' *Ann Nutr Metab*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 287-290.
- Connolly, A, SchierBecker, J, Renna, R and Florence, J (2002), 'High dose weekly oral prednisone improves strength in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 917-925.
- Cooper, B (1989), 'Animal models of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy.' *Br Med Bull*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 703-718.
- Cooper, B, Winand, N, Stedman, H, Valentine, B, Hoffman, E, Kunkel, L, Scott, M, Fischbeck, K, Kornegay, J and Avery, R (1988), 'The homologue of the Duchenne locus is defective in X-linked muscular dystrophy of dogs.' *Nature*, vol. 334, no. 6178, pp. 154-156.

- Corrado, G, Lissoni, A, Beretta, S, Terenghi, L, Tadeo, G, Foglia-Manzillo, G, Tagliagambe, L, Spata, M and Santarone, M (2002), 'Prognostic value of electrocardiograms, ventricular late potentials, ventricular arrhythmias, and left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Cardiol*, vol. 89, no. 7, pp. 838-841.
- Coulton, G, Curtin, N, Morgan, J and Partridge, T (1988), 'The *mdx* mouse skeletal muscle myopathy: Contractile properties.' *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 299-314.
- Courdier-Fruh, I, Barman, L, Briguet, A and Meier, T (2002), 'Glucocorticoidmediated regulation of utrophin levels in human muscle fibers.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12 Suppl 1, pp. S95-104.
- Courdier-Fruh, I, Barman, L, Wettstein, P and Meier, T (2003), 'Detection of glucocorticoid-like activity in traditional chinese medicine used for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 699-704.
- Couse, JF and Korach, KS (1999), 'Estrogen receptor null mice: What have we learned and where will they lead us?' *Endocr Rev*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 358-417.
- Cox, G, Phelps, S, Chapman, V and Chamberlain, J (1993), 'New *mdx* mutation disrupts expression of muscle and nonmuscle isoforms of dystrophin.' *Nat Genet*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 87-93.
- Cox, GF and Kunkel, LM (1997), 'Dystrophies and heart disease.' *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, vol. 12, pp. 329-343.
- Crosbie, R, Straub, V, Yun, H, Lee, J, Rafael, J, Chamberlain, J, Dawson, V, Dawson, T and Campbell, K (1998), '*Mdx* muscle pathology is independent of nNOS perturbation.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 823-829.
- Cullen, M and Fulthorpe, J (1975), 'Stages in fibre breakdown in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. An electron-microscopic study.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 179-200.
- Cullen, MJ and Jaros, E (1988), 'Ultrastructure of the skeletal muscle in the X chromosome-linked dystrophic *(mdx)* mouse.' *Acta Neuropathol*, vol. 77, pp. 69-81.
- Cullen, MJ and Watkins, SC (1993), 'Ultrastructure of muscular dystrophy: New aspects.' *Micron*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 287-307.
- Curl, C, Wendt, I and Kotsanas, G (2001), 'Effects of gender on intracellular calcium concentrations in rat cardiac myocytes.' *Pflugers Arch*, vol. 441, no. 5, pp. 709-716.
- Dangain, J and Vrbova, G (1984), 'Muscle development in *mdx* mutant mice.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 7, no. 700-704.
- Danhaive, PA and Rousseau, GG (1986), 'Binding of glucocorticoid antagonists to androgen and glucocorticoid hormones in rat skeletal muscle.' *J Steroid Biochem*, vol. 24, pp. 481-487.
- Danhaive, PA and Rousseau, GG (1988), 'Evidence for sex-dependent anabolic response to androgenic steroids mediated by muscle glucocorticoids receptors in the rat.' *J Steroid Biochem*, vol. 29, pp. 575-581.
- Davies, K (1997), 'Challenges in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 482-486.
- Davies, KE, Pearson, P.L., and Harper, P.S. (1983), 'Linkage analysis of two cloned DNA sequences flanking the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus on the short arm of the human X chromosome.' *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 11, pp. 2303-2312.
- Day, C, Buranapanitkit, B, Riano, F, Tomaino, M, Somogyi, G, Sotereanos, D, Kuroda, R and Huard, J (2002), 'Insulin growth factor-1 decreases muscle atrophy following denervation.' *Microsurgery*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 144-151.
- De Bruin, P, Ueki, J, Bush, A, Y Manzur, A, Watson, A and Pride, N (2001), 'Inspiratory flow reserve in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Pediatr Pulmonol*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 451-457.
- De Bruin, PF, Ueki, J, Bush, A, Khan, Y, Watson, A and Pride, NB (1997), 'Diaphragm thickness and inspiratory strength in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Thorax*, vol. 52, pp. 472-475.
- De la Porte, S, Morin, S and Koenig, J (1999), 'Characteristics of skeletal muscle in *mdx* mutant mice.' *Int Rev Cytol*, vol. 191, pp. 99-148.
- De Luca, A, Pierno, S, Liantonio, A, Cetrone, M, Camerino, C, Fraysse, B, Mirabella, M, Servidei, S, Ruegg, UT and Conte Camerino, D (2003), 'Enhanced dystrophic progression in *mdx* mice by exercise and beneficial effects of taurine and insulin-like growth factor-1.' *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, vol. 304, no. 1, pp. 453-463.
- De Ronde, W, Pols, H, van Leeuwen, J and de Jong, F (2003), 'The importance of oestrogens in males.' *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 529-542.
- Deconinck, AE, Rafael, JA, Skinner, JA, Brown, SC, Potter, AC, Metzinger, L, Watt, DJ, Dickson, JG, Tinsley, JM and Davies, KE (1997), 'Utrophin-

dytrophin-deficient mice as a model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Cell*, vol. 90, pp. 717-727.

- Deconinck, N, Rafael, JA, Beckers-Bleukx, G, Kahn, D, Deconinck, AE, Davies, KE and Gillis, JM (1998), 'Consequnce of the combined deficiency in dystrophin and utrophin on the mechanical properties and myosin composition of some limb and respiratory muscles of the mouse.' *Neuromusc Disord*, vol. 8, pp. 362-370.
- Demos, J, Dreyfus, J, Schapira, F and Schapira, G (1956), 'Enzyme activity in human muscles; research on comparative biochemistry in normal and myopathic men, and in rats.' *Clin Chim Acta*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 434-449.
- Demos, J, Tuil, D, Berthelon, M, Katz, P, Broyer, M, Riberi, P, Testard, R, Rognon, L, Pillet, J and Collin, P (1976), 'Progressive muscular dystrophy. Functional improvement after a renal allograft.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 41-53.
- Den Dunnen, J, Grootscholten, P, Bakker, E, Blonden, L, Ginjaar, H, Wapenaar, M, van Paassen, H, van Broeckhoven, C, Pearson, P and van Ommen, G (1989), 'Topography of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) gene: FIGE and cDNA analysis of 194 cases reveals 115 deletions and 13 duplications.' *Am J Hum Genet*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 835-847.
- Dickson, G, Love, D.R., Davies, K.E., Wells, K.E., Piper, T.A., and Walsh, F.S. (1991), 'Human dystrophin gene transfer: Production and expression of a functional recombinant DNA-based gene.' *Human Genetics*, vol. 88, pp. 53-58.
- Dooley, K and Zon, L (2000), 'Zebrafish: A model system for the study of human disease.' *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 252-256.
- Duboc, D, Meune, C, Lerebours, G, Devaux, J, Vaksmann, G and Becane, H (2005), 'Effect of perindopril on the onset and progression of left ventricular dysfunction in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 855-857.
- Dubowitz, V (1975), 'Neuromuscular disorders in childhood. Old dogmas, new concepts.' *Arch Dis Child*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 335-346.

Dubowitz, V (1978), *Muscle disorders in childhood*, W.B. Saunders, London.

Dubowitz, V, Kinali, M, Main, M, Mercuri, E and Muntoni, F (2002), 'Remission of clinical signs in early Duchenne muscular dystrophy on intermittent low-dosage prednisolone therapy.' *Eur J Paediatr Neurol*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 153-159.

- Dubrovsky, AL, Angelini, C, Bonifati, D, Pegoraro, E and Mesa, L (1998), 'Steroids in muscular dystrophy: Where do we stand?' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 8, pp. 380-384.
- Duchenne, GBA (1867), Physiologie des mouvements, *W.B. Saunders, London.*
- Duchenne, GBA (1868), 'Recherches sur la paralysie musculaire pseudohypertrophique ou paralysie myo-sclerosique.' *Arch Gen Med*, vol. 11, pp. 5-528.
- Dunant, P, Walter, M, Karpati, G and Lochmuller, H (2003), 'Gentamicin fails to increase dystrophin expression in dystrophin-deficient muscle.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 624-627.
- Dupont-Versteegden, E and McCarter, R (1992), 'Differential expression of muscular dystrophy in diaphragm versus hindlimb muscles of *mdx* mice.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 1105-1110.
- Durbeej, M and Campbell, K (2002), 'Muscular dystrophies involving the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex: An overview of current mouse models.' *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 349-361.
- Eagle, M, Mehta, JS, Bushby, KM and Gibson, MJ (2004), 'Improved survival in patients with scoliosis secondary to Duchenne muscular dystrophy: The role of spinal surgery and nocturnal ventilation.' *J Bone Joint Surg Br Proc*, vol. 86-B, no. Supplement II, p. 117.
- Eagle, M, Baudouin, S, Chandler, C, Giddings, D, Bullock, R and Bushby, K (2002), 'Survival in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Improvements in life expectancy since 1967 and the impact of home nocturnal ventilation.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 926-929.
- Ebashi, S, Toyokura, Y., Momoi, H., and Sugita, H. (1959), 'High creatine phosphokinase activity of sera of progressive muscular dystrophy.' *J Biochem (Tokyo)*, vol. 46, pp. 103-104.
- Emery, A (1980), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Genetic aspects, carrier detection and antenatal diagnosis.' *Br Med Bull*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 117-122.
- Emery, AEH and Burt, D (1980), 'Intracellular calcium and pathogenesis and antenatal diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Br Med J*, vol. 9 February, pp. 355-357.
- Emery, AEH (1993), *Duchenne muscular dystrophy*, Second edn, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

- Emery, AEH (2001), *The muscular dystrophies*, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Emery, AEH (2002), 'The muscular dystrophies.' *The Lancet*, vol. 359, no. 9307, pp. 687-695.
- Engel, AG, Yamamoto, M and Fischbeck, KH (1994), *Myology*, 2nd edn, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Ervasti, J and Campbell, K (1991), 'Membrane organization of the dystrophinglycoprotein complex.' *Cell*, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 1121-1131.
- Evans, M, Farrell, S, Greb, A, Ray, P, Johnson, M and Hoffman, E (1993), *'In utero* fetal muscle biopsy for the diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in a female fetus "suddenly at risk".' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 309-312.
- Evans, M, Greb, A, Kunkel, L, Sacks, A, Johnson, M, Boehm, C, Kazazian, H and Hoffman, E (1991), '*In utero* fetal muscle biopsy for the diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, vol. 165, no. 3, pp. 728-732.
- Fadel, PJ, Zhao, W and Thomas, GD (2003), 'Impaired vasomodulation is associated with reduced neuronal nitric oxide synthase in skeletal muscle of ovariectomized rats.' *J Physiol*, vol. 549, no. 1, pp. 243-253.
- Falcao-Conceicao, D, Goncalves-Pimente..., M, Baptista, M and Ubatuba, S (1983), 'Detection of carriers of x-linked gene for Duchenne muscular dystrophy by levels of creatine kinase and pyruvate kinase.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 62, no. 1-3, pp. 171-180.
- Fenichel, G, Pestronk, A, Florence, J, Robison, V and Hemelt, V (1997), 'A beneficial effect of oxandrolone in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: A pilot study.' *Neurology*, vol. 48, pp. 1225-1226.
- Fenichel, GM, Florence, JM, Pestronk, A, Mendell, JR, Moxley, RT, Griggs, RC, Brooke, MH, Miller, JP, Robison, J and King, W (1991), 'Longterm benefit from prednisone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 41, no. 12, pp. 1874-1877.
- Fenichel, GM, Mendell, JR, Moxley, RT, Griggs, RC, Brooke, MH, Miller, JP, Pestronk, A, Robison, J, King, W and Signore, L (1991), 'A comparison of daily and alternate-day prednisone therapy in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Arch Neurol*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 575-579.
- Fenichel, GM, Griggs, RC, Kissel, J, Kramer, TI, Mendell, JR, Moxley, RT, Pestronk, A, Sheng, K, Florence, J, King, WM, Pandya, S, Robison, VD and Wang, H (2001), 'A randomized efficacy and safety trial of

oxandrolone in the treatment of Duchenne dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 1075-1079.

- Fenichel, GM, Pestronk, FA, Miller, JP, Baty, J, Wilson, B, SchierBecker, J, Moxley, RT, Griggs, RC, Pandya, S, Mendell, JR, King, W, Signore, L, Brooke, MH and Robison, J (1991), 'Prednisone slows strength decline in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Two-year observation.' *Neurology*, vol. 166, p. 1825.
- Finkelstein, D, Bartlett, P, Horne, M and Cheema, S (1996), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor is a myotrophic and neurotrophic agent that enhances the reinnervation of muscle in the rat.' *J Neurosci Res*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 122-128.
- Finsterer, J and Stollberger, C (2003), 'The heart in human dystrophinopathies.' *Cardiology*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 1-19.
- Fisher, E, Wissinger, H, Gerneth, J and Danowski, T (1972), 'Ultrastructural changes in skeletal muscle of muscular dystrophy carriers.' *Arch Pathol*, vol. 94, no. 5, pp. 456-460.
- Fletcher, S, Honeyman, K, Fall, A, Harding, P, Johnsen, R and Wilton, S (2005), 'Dystrophin expression in the *mdx* mouse after localised and systemic administration of a morpholino antisense oligonucleotide.' J *Gene Med*, vol. 8, n. 2, pp. 207-216.
- Florini, J, Ewton, D and Coolican, S (1996), 'Growth hormone and the insulinlike growth factor system in myogenesis.' *Endocr Rev*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 481-517.
- Forbes, C, D. and Jackson, W, F. (1997), *Colour atlas and text of clinical medicine*, Second edn, Mosby-Wolfe, London.
- Fowler, EG, Graves, MC, Wetzel, GT and Spencer, MJ (2004), 'Pilot trial of albuterol in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 1006-1008.
- Fregly, M and Thrasher, T (1977), 'Response of heart rate to acute administration of isoproterenol in rats treated chronically with norethynodrel, ethinyl estradiol, and both combined.' *Endocrinology*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 148-154.
- Fukunaga, H, Okubo, R, Moritoyo, T, Kawashima, N and Osame, M (1993), 'Long-term follow-up of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy receiving ventilatory support.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 554-558.
- Furderer, S, Hopf, C, Zollner, J and Eysel, P (2000), 'Scoliosis and hip flexion contracture in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 131-135.

- Galasko, C and Delaney, C (1993), 'Severity of scoliosis in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy at the time of referral to an orthopedic clinic.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 433-434.
- Galasko, C, Delaney, C and Morris, P (1992), 'Spinal stabilisation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Bone Joint Surg Br*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 210-214.
- Galasko, C, Williamson, J and Delaney, C (1995), 'Lung function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Eur Spine J*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 263-267.
- Gamstorp, I (1964), 'Clinical evaluation of an anabolic steroid (methandrostenolone, dianabol ciba) in children with muscular weakness and wasting.' *Acta Paediatr*, vol. 53, pp. 570-577.
- Gardner, JD, Brower, GL and Janicki, JS (2005), 'Effects of dietary phytoestrogens on cardiac remodeling secondary to chronic volume overload in female rats.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 99, no. 4, pp. 1378-1383.
- Gaschen, F and Burgunder, J (2001), 'Changes of skeletal muscle in young dystrophin-deficient cats: A morphological and morphometric study.' *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 591-600.
- Gaschen, F, Hoffman, E, Gorospe, J, Uhl, E, Senior, D, Cardinet, G and Pearce, L (1992), 'Dystrophin deficiency causes lethal muscle hypertrophy in cats.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 110, no. 1-2, pp. 149-159.
- Gatta, V, Scarciolla, O, Gaspari, A, Palka, C, De Angelis, M, Di Muzio, A, Guanciali-Franchi, P, Calabrese, G, Uncini, A and Stuppia, L (2005), 'Identification of deletions and duplications of the DMD gene in affected males and carrier females by multiple ligation probe amplification (MLPA).' *Hum Genet*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 92-98.
- Gaud, A, Simon, J, Witzel, T, Carre-Pierrat, M, Wermuth, C and Segalat, L (2004), 'Prednisone reduces muscle degeneration in dystrophindeficient *caenorhabditis elegans*.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 365-370.
- Gayet, L (1999), 'Surgical treatment of scoliosis due to Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Chirurgie*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 423-431.
- Ghafoor, T, Mahmood, A and Shams, S (2003), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy with associated growth hormone deficiency.' *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 722-723.
- Gieseler, K, Grisoni, K and Segalat, L (2000), 'Genetic suppression of phenotypes arising from mutations in dystrophin-related genes in *caenorhabditis elegans.*' *Curr Biol*, vol. 10, no. 18, pp. 1092-1097.

- Gieseler, K, Grisoni, K, Mariol, M and Segalat, L (2002), 'Overexpression of dystrobrevin delays locomotion defects and muscle degeneration in a dystrophin-deficient *caenorhabditis elegans*.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 371-377.
- Gillis, JM (1996), 'The *mdx* mouse: Why diaphragm?' *Muscle and Nerve*, no. September, p. 1230.
- Gilroy, J, Cahalan, J, Berman, R and Newman, M (1963), 'Cardiac and pulmonary complications in Duchenne's progressive muscular dystrophy.' *Circulation*, vol. 1, pp. 484-493.
- Ginjaar, I, Bakker, E, van Paassen, M, den Dunnen, J, Wessels, A, Zubrzycka- Gaarn, E, Moorman, A and van Ommen, G (1991), 'Immunohistochemical studies show truncated dystrophins in the myotubes of three fetuses at risk for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 505-510.
- Glenmark, B, Nilsson, M, Gao, H, Gustafsson, J-A, Dahlman-Wright, K and Westerblad, H (2004), 'Difference in skeletal muscle function in males vs. Females: Role of estrogen receptor-β.' *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 287, no. 6, pp. E1125-1131.
- Golden, K, Marsh, J and Jiang, Y (2004), 'Testosterone regulates mRNA levels of calcium regulatory proteins in cardiac myocytes.' *Horm Metab Res*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 197-202.
- Golden, KL, Marsh, JD, Jiang, Y and Moulden, J (2005), 'Acute actions of testosterone on contractile function of isolated rat ventricular myocytes.' *Eur J Endocrinol*, vol. 152, no. 3, pp. 479-483.
- Golden, KL, Marsh, JD, Jiang, Y, Brown, T and Moulden, J (2003), 'Gonadectomy of adult male rats reduces contractility of isolated cardiac myocytes.' *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 285, no. 3, pp. E449-453.
- Goll, D, Thompson, V, Li, H, Wei, W and Cong, J (2003), 'The calpain system.' *Physiol Rev*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 731-801.
- Gooren, L and Toorians, A (2003), 'Significance of oestrogens in male (patho)physiology.' *Ann Endocrinol (Paris)*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 126-135.
- Gorospe, J, Tharp, M, Hinckley, J, Kornegay, J and Hoffman, E (1994), 'A role for mast cells in the progression of Duchenne muscular dystrophy? Correlations in dystrophin-deficient humans, dogs, and mice.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 44-56.

- Gosselin, L and McCormick, K (2004), 'Targeting the immune system to improve ventilatory function in muscular dystrophy.' *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 44-51.
- Gosselin, L, Barkley, J, Spencer, M, McCormick, K and Farkas, G (2003), 'Ventilatory dysfunction in *mdx* mice: Impact of tumor necrosis factor-α deletion.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 336-343.
- Gottrand, F, Guillonneau, I and Carpentier, A (1991), 'Segmental colonic transit time in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Arch Dis Child*, vol. 66, no. 10, p. 1262.
- Gowers, W (1888), A manual of diseases of the nervous system, *J* and *A Churchill, London.*
- Gowers, WR (1879a), Pseudo-hypertrophic muscular paralysis a clinical lecture, *J and A Churchill, London*.
- Gowers, WR (1879b), 'Clinical lecture on pseudo-hyprtrophic muscular paralysis.' *Lancet*, vol. 2, pp. 1-2, 37-39, 73-35, 113-116.
- Grady, RM, Teng, H, Nichol, MC, Cunningham, JC, Wilkinson, RS and Sanes, JR (1997), 'Skeletal and cardiac myopathies in mice lacking utrophin and dystrophin: A model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Cell*, vol. 90, pp. 729-738.
- Grain, L, Cortina-Borja, M, Forfar, C, Hilton-Jones, D, Hopkin, J and Burch, M (2001), 'Cardiac abnormalities and skeletal muscle weakness in carriers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies and controls.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 186-191.
- Granchelli, J, Pollina, C and Hudecki, M (1995), 'Duchenne-like myopathy in double-mutant *mdx* mice expressing exaggerated mast cell activity.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. 1-7.
- Gray, R, Doherty, S, Galloway, J, Coulton, L, de Broe, M and Kanis, J (1991), 'A double-blind study of deflazacort and prednisone in patients with chronic inflammatory disorders.' *Arthritis Rheum*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 287-295.
- Greeves, J, Cable, N, Luckas, M, Reilly, T and Biljan, M (1997), 'Effects of acute changes in oestrogen on muscle function of the first dorsal interosseus muscle in humans.' *J Physiol*, vol. 500, no. 1, pp. 265-270.
- Gregorevic, P, Plant, DR, Leeding, KS, Bach, LA and Lynch, GS (2002), 'Improved contractile function of the *mdx* dystrophic mouse diaphragm muscle after insulin-like growth factor-I administration.' *Am J Pathol*, vol. 161, no. 6, pp. 2263-2272.

- Griggs, RC, Moxley, RT, 3rd, Mendell, JR, Fenichel, GM, Brooke, MH, Pestronk, A and Miller, JP (1991), 'Prednisone in Duchenne dystrophy. A randomized, controlled trial defining the time course and dose response. Clinical investigation of Duchenne dystrophy group.' *Arch Neurol*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 383-388.
- Griggs, RC, Moxley, RT, Mendell, JR, Fenichel, GM, Brooke, MH, Miller, PJ, Mandel, S, Florence, J, Schier-Becker, J, Kaiser, KK, King, W, Pandya, S, Robison, J and Signore, L (1990), 'Randomized, doubleblind trial of mazindol in Duchenne dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 13, no. December, pp. 1169-1173.
- Griggs, RC, Moxley, RT, Mendell, JR, Fenichel, GM, Brooke, MH, Pestronk, A, Miller, JP, Cwik, VA, Pandya, S, Robison, J, King, W, Signore, L, SchierBecker, J, Florence, J, Matheson-Burden, N and Wilson, B (1993), 'Duchenne dystrophy: Randomized, controlled trial of prednisone (18 months) and azathioprine (12 months).' *Neurology*, vol. 43, pp. 520-527.
- Grohe, C, Kahlert, S, Lobbert, K, Stimpel, M, Karas, R, Vetter, H and Neyses, L (1997), 'Cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts contain functional estrogen receptors.' *FEBS Lett*, vol. 416, no. 1, pp. 107-112.
- Grounds, M and McGeachie, J (1992), 'Skeletal muscle regeneration after crush injury in dystrophic *mdx* mice: An autoradiographic study.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 580-586.
- Grounds, MD and Torrisi, J (2004), 'Anti-TNFα (remicade(R)) therapy protects dystrophic skeletal muscle from necrosis.' *FASEB J*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 676-682.
- Grozdanovic, Z, Gosztonyi, G and Gossrau, R (1996), 'Nitric oxide synthase I (NOS-I) is deficient in the sarcolemma of striated muscle fibers in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, suggesting an association with dystrophin.' *Acta Histochem*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 61-69.
- Gruemer, H, Miller, W, Chinchilli, V, Leshner, R, Blasco, P, Hassler, C and Nance, W (1985), 'Prediction of carrier status in Duchenne dystrophy by creatine kinase measurement.' *Am J Clin Pathol*, vol. 84, no. 5, pp. 655-658.
- Guerriero, V, Jr and Florini, J (1980), 'Dexamethasone effects on myoblast proliferation and differentiation.' *Endocrinology*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 1198-1202.
- Gulati, S, Saxena, A, Kumar, V and Kalra, V (2005), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Prevalence and patterns of cardiac involvement.' *Indian J Pediatr*, vol. 72, no. 5, pp. 389-393.

- Hamill, P, Drizd, T, Johnson, C, Reed, R, Roche, A and Moore, W (1979), 'Physical growth: National center for health statistics percentiles.' *Am J Clin Nutr*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 607-629.
- Hamilton, J (2001), 'Gentamicin in pharmacogenetic approach to treatment of cystic fibrosis.' *Lancet*, vol. 358, no. 9298, pp. 2014-2016.
- Hamrick, M, McPherron, A and Lovejoy, C (2002), 'Bone mineral content and density in the humerus of adult myostatin-deficient mice.' *Calcif Tissue Int*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 63-68.
- Hardiman, O, Sklar, R and Brown, R, Jr (1993), 'Methylprednisolone selectively affects dystrophin expression in human muscle cultures.' *Neurology*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 342-345.
- Harper, S, Hauser, M, DelloRusso, C, Duan, D, Crawford, R, Phelps, S, Harper, H, Robinson, A, Engelhardt, J, Brooks, S and Chamberlain, J (2002), 'Modular flexibility of dystrophin: Implications for gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Nat Med*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 253-261.
- Harrison, W and Smith, J (1980), 'Sex differences in cardiac function of a group of young adults.' *Cardiology*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 74-84.
- Hayden, JM, Bergen, WG and Merkel, RA (1992), 'Skeletal muscle protein metabolism and serum growth hormone, insulin, and cortisol concentrations in growing steers implanted with estradiol-17 beta, trenbolone acetate, or estradiol-17 beta plus trenbolone acetate.' *J Anim Sci*, vol. 70, no. 7, pp. 2109-2119.
- Heckmatt, J, Dubowitz, V and Leeman, S (1980), 'Detection of pathological change in dystrophic muscle with B-scan ultrasound imaging.' *Lancet*, vol. 1, no. 8183, pp. 1389-1390.
- Heckmatt, J, Pier, N and Dubowitz, V (1988), 'Real-time ultrasound imaging of muscles.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 56-65.
- Heckmatt, J, Dubowitz, V, Hyde, S, Florence, J, Gabain, A and Thompson, N (1985), 'Prolongation of walking in Duchenne muscular dystrophy with lightweight orthoses: Review of 57 cases.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 149-154.
- Heikkinen, J, Kyllonen, E, Kurttila-Matero, E, Wilen-Rosenqvist, G, Lankinen, K, Rita, H and Vaananen, H (1997), 'HRT and exercise: Effects on bone density, muscle strength and lipid metabolism. A placebo controlled 2-year prospective trial on two estrogen-progestin regimens in healthy postmenopausal women.' *Maturitas*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 139-149.

- Heller, K, Forst, R, Forst, J and Hengstler, K (1997), 'Scoliosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Aspects of orthotic treatment.' *Prosthet Orthot Int*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 202-209.
- Herrmann, F and Spiegler, A (1983), 'Carrier detection in X-linked Becker muscular dystrophy by muscle provocation test (MPT).' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 62, no. 1-3, pp. 141-146.
- Hinton, VJ, De Vivo, DC, Nereo, NE, Goldstein, E and Stern, Y (2000), 'Poor verbal working memory across intellectual level in boys with Duchenne dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2127-2132.
- Ho, A, Reitter, B, Stojakowits, S, Fiehn, W and Weisser, J (1980), 'Capping of lymphocytes for carrier detection in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Technical problems and a review of the literature.' *Eur J Pediatr*, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 211-216.
- Hoey, A, Woolf, P, Laws, N, Conlan, L, van Erp, C, Brown, L, Mann, C, Fletcher, S and Wilton, S (2002), 'Treatment: Therapeutic. New treatments for dystrophic muscle.' Paper presented to Parent Project, Muscular Dystrophy, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Hoffman, E (1996), 'Clinical and histopathological features of abnormalities of the dystrophin-based membrane cytoskeleton.' *Brain Pathol*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 49-61.
- Hoffman, E and Kunkel, L (1989), 'Dystrophin abnormalities in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy.' *Neuron*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1019-1029.
- Hoffman, E and Dressman, D (2001), 'Molecular pathophysiology and targeted therapeutics for muscular dystrophy.' *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 465-470.
- Hoffman, E, Brown, R and Kunkel, L (1987), 'Dystrophin: The protein product of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus.' *Cell*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 919-928.
- Hoffman, E, Hudecki, M, Rosenberg, P, Pollina, C and Kunkel, L (1988), 'Cell and fiber-type distribution of dystrophin.' *Neuron*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 411-420.
- Hoffman, E, Arahata, K, Minetti, C, Bonilla, E and Rowland, L (1992), 'Dystrophinopathy in isolated cases of myopathy in females.' *Neurology*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 967-975.
- Hoffman, EP and Gorospe, JR (1991), 'The animal models of Duchenne dystrophy: Windows on the pathophysiological consequences of dystrophin deficiency.' in MS Mooseker & JS Morrow (eds), *Ordering*

*the membrane-cytoskeleton trilayers: Topics in membranes*, Academic Press, New York, pp. 113-154.

- Hoffman, EP, Morgan, J, Watkins, S and Partridge, TA (1994), 'Somatic reversion/suppression of the mouse *mdx* phenotype *in vivo*.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 99, pp. 9-25.
- Hopf, C, Forst, R, Forst, J, Eysel, P and Reitter, B (1994), 'Multi-segmental fusion of scoliosis in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb*, vol. 132, no. 5, pp. 377-382.
- Howell, J, Fletcher, S, Kakulas, B, O'Hara, M, Lochmuller, H and Karpati, G (1997), 'Use of the dog model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy in gene therapy trials.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 325-328.
- Howell, JM, Kakulas, BA and Pass, DA (1994), 'The fulminating neonatal form of expression in the Golden Retriever dog model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. Suppl 1, p. S182.
- Huang, P (1998), 'Disruption of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene: Effect on vascular response to injury.' *Am J Cardiol*, vol. 82, no. 10, pp. 57S-59S.
- Huang, P and Lo, E (1998), 'Genetic analysis of NOS isoforms using nNOS and eNOS knockout animals.' *Prog Brain Res*, vol. 118, pp. 13-25.
- Hunsaker, RH, Fulkerson, PK, Barry, FJ, Lewis, RP, Leier, CV and Unverferth, DV (1982), 'Cardiac function in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy: Results of a 10-year follow-up study and non-invasive tests.' *The American Journal of Medicine*, vol. 73, no. August, pp. 235-238.
- Hunter, S (1980), 'The heart in muscular dystrophy.' *Br Med Bull*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 133-134.
- Huvos, A and Pruzanski, W (1967), 'Smooth muscle involvement in primary muscle disease. Progressive muscular dystrophy.' *Arch Pathol*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 234-240.
- Imbert, N, Vandebrouck, C, Duport, G, Raymond, G, Hassoni, AA, Constantin, B, Cullen, MJ and Cognard, C (2001), 'Calcium currents and transients in co-cultured contracting normal and Duchenne muscular dystrophy human myotubes.' *J Physiol*, vol. 534, no. 2, pp. 343-355.
- Inkley, S, Oldenburg, F and Vignos, P (1974), 'Pulmonary function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy related to stage of disease.' *Am J Med*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 297-306.

- Ionasescu, V, Burmeister, L and Hanson, J (1980), 'Discriminant analysis of ribosomal protein synthesis findings in carrier detection of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' Am J Med Genet, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 5-12.
- Ishihara, T (2004), 'Management of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *No To Hattatsu*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 130-135.
- Jackson, M, Jones, D and Edwards, R (1985), 'Measurements of calcium and other elements in muscle biopsy samples from patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Clin Chim Acta*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 215-221.
- Jacobs, S, Bootsma, A, Willems, P, Bar, P and Wokke, J (1996), 'Prednisone can protect against exercise-induced muscle damage.' *J Neurol*, vol. 243, no. 5, pp. 410-416.
- Jaffe, K, McDonald, C, Ingman, E and Haas, J (1990), 'Symptoms of upper gastrointestinal dysfunction in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Casecontrol study.' *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 71, no. 10, pp. 742-744.
- Jagadha, V and Becker, L (1988), 'Brain morphology in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: A golgi study.' *Pediatr Neurol*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 87-92.
- Jefferies, JL, Eidem, BW, Belmont, JW, Craigen, WJ, Ware, SM, Fernbach, SD, Neish, SR, Smith, EOB and Towbin, JA (2005), 'Genetic predictors and remodeling of dilated cardiomyopathy in muscular dystrophy.' *Circulation*, vol. 112, no. 18, pp. 2799-2804.
- Jennekens, F, ten Kate, L, de Visser, M and Wintzen, A (1991), 'Diagnostic criteria for Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy and myotonic dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 389-391.
- Jiang, B and Klueber, K (1989), 'Structural and functional analysis of murine skeletal muscle after castration.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 67-77.
- Johnson, BD, Zheng, W, Korach, KS, Scheuer, T, Catterall, WA and Rubanyi, GM (1997), 'Increased expression of the cardiac L-type calcium channel in estrogen receptor-deficient mice.' *J Gen Physiol*, vol. 110, no. 2, pp. 135-140.
- Jones, D, Round, J, Edwards, R, Grindwood, S and Tofts, P (1983), 'Size and composition of the calf and quadriceps muscles in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. A tomographic and histochemical study.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 307-322.
- Kahlert, S, Grohe, C, Karas, R, Lobbert, K, Neyses, L and Vetter, H (1997), 'Effects of estrogen on skeletal myoblast growth.' *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 232, no. 2, pp. 373-378.

- Kaladhar Reddy, B, Anandavalli, T and Reddi, O (1984), 'X-linked Duchenne muscular dystrophy in an unusual family with manifesting carriers.' *Hum Genet*, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 460-462.
- Kalin, M and Zumoff, B (1990), 'Sex hormones and coronary disease: A review of the clinical studies.' *Steroids*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 330-352.
- Kaminski, H, al-Hakim, M, Leigh, R, Katirji, M and Ruff, R (1992), 'Extraocular muscles are spared in advanced Duchenne dystrophy.' *Ann Neurol*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 586-588.
- Karagan, N, Richman, L and Sorensen, J (1980), 'Analysis of verbal disability in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Nerv Ment Dis*, vol. 168, no. 7, pp. 419-423.
- Karpati, G (1990), 'The principles and practice of myoblast transfer.' *Adv Exp Med Biol*, vol. 280, pp. 69-74.
- Karpati, G, Carpenter, S and Prescott, S (1988), 'Small-caliber skeletal muscle fibers do not suffer necrosis in *mdx* mouse dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 795-803.
- Karpati, G, Charuk, J, Carpenter, S, Jablecki, C and Holland, P (1986), 'Myopathy caused by a deficiency of Ca<sup>2+</sup> adenosine triphosphatase in sarcoplasmic reticulum (Brody's disease).' *Annals of Neurology*, vol. 20(1), pp. 38-49.
- Kawai, H, Adachi, K, Nishida, Y, Inui, T, Kimura, C and Saito, S (1993), 'Decrease in urinary excretion of 3-methylhistidine by patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy during glucocorticoid treatment.' *J Neurol*, vol. 240, no. 3, pp. 181-186.
- Kelch, R, Jenner, M, Weinstein, R, Kaplan, S and Grumbach, M (1972), 'Estradiol and testosterone secretion by human, simian, and canine testes, in males with hypogonadism and in male pseudohermaphrodites with the feminizing testes syndrome.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 51(4), no. April, pp. 824-830.
- Kelly, RA, Balligand, J-L and Smith, TW (1996), 'Nitric oxide and cardiac function.' *Circ Res*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 363-380.
- Kendall, B and Eston, R (2002), 'Exercise-induced muscle damage and the potential protective role of estrogen.' *Sports Med*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 103-123.
- Kennedy, J, Staples, A, Brook, P, Parsons, D, Sutherland, A, Martin, A, Stern, L and Foster, B (1995), 'Effect of spinal surgery on lung function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Thorax*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 1173-1178.

- Khan, Y and Heckmatt, J (1994), 'Obstructive apnoeas in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Thorax*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 157-161.
- Khurana, T, Prendergast, R, Alameddine, H, Tome, F, Fardeau, M, Arahata, K, Sugita, H and Kunkel, L (1995), 'Absence of extraocular muscle pathology in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy: Role for calcium homeostasis in extraocular muscle sparing.' *J Exp Med*, vol. 182, no. 2, pp. 467-475.
- Kim, S, Kim, W and Lee, M (1998), 'Interspecies pharmacokinetic scaling of a new carbapenem, DA-1131, in mice, rats, rabbits and dogs, and prediction of human pharmacokinetics.' *Biopharm Drug Dispos*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 231-235.
- Kinali, M, Mercuri, E, Main, M, Muntoni, F and Dubowitz, V (2002), 'An effective, low-dosage, intermittent schedule of prednisolone in the long-term treatment of early cases of Duchenne dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12 Suppl 1, pp. S169-174.
- Kissel, JT, Burrow, K and Rammohan, KW (1991), 'Mononuclear cell analysis of muscle biopsies in prednisone-treated Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 412, p. 1076.
- Kissel, JT, Lynn, DJ, Rammohan, KW, Klein, JP, Griggs, RC, Moxley, RT, Cwik, VA, Brooke, MH and Mendell, JR (1993), 'Mononuclear cell analysis of muscle biopsies in prednisone- and azathioprine-treated Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 43, pp. 532-536.
- Koenig, M, Monaco, A and Kunkel, L (1988), 'The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein.' *Cell*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 219-226.
- Koenig, M, Hoffman, E, Bertelson, C, Monaco, A, Feener, C and Kunkel, L (1987), 'Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals.' *Cell*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 509-517.
- Kojda, G, Kottenberg, K, Nix, P, Schluter, KD, Piper, HM and Noack, E (1996), 'Low increase in cGMP induced by organic nitrates and nitrovasodilators improves contractile response of rat ventricular myocytes'. *Circulation Research*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 91-101.
- Komulainen, J, Koskinen, S, Kalliokoski, R, Takala, T and Vihko, V (1999), 'Gender differences in skeletal muscle fibre damage after eccentrically biased downhill running in rats.' *Acta Physiol Scand*, vol. 165, no. 1, pp. 57-63.
- Kornegay, J, Tuler, S, Miller, D and Levesque, D (1988), 'Muscular dystrophy in a litter of Golden Retriever dogs.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 1056-1064.

- Kornegay, J, Sharp, N, Schueler, R and Betts, C (1994), 'Tarsal joint contracture in dogs with Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy.' *Lab Anim Sci*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 331-333.
- Kornegay, J, Sharp, N, Bartlett, R, Van Camp, S, Burt, C, Hung, W, Kwock, L and Roses, A (1990), 'Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy: Monitoring for success.' *Adv Exp Med Biol*, vol. 280, pp. 267-272.
- Kozicka, A, Prot, J and Wasilewski, R (1971), 'Mental retardation in patients with Duchenne progressive muscular dystrophy.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 209-213.
- Kubes, P and Granger, DN (1992), 'Nitric oxide modulates microvascular permeability.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 262, no. 2, pp. H611-615.
- Kueh, SL, Head, SI and Morley, JW (2004), 'A new colony of *mdx* dystrophic mice with genetically identical littermate controls.' Paper presented to Australian Physiological Society, Sydney.
- Kunkel, L (1986), 'Analysis of deletions in DNA from patients with Becker and Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Nature*, vol. 322, no. 6074, pp. 73-77.
- Kunkel, L, Monaco, A, Bertelson, C and Colletti, C (1986), 'Molecular genetics of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 349-351.
- Kunkel, LM, Monaco, A.P., Middlesworth, W., Ochs, H.D., and Latt, S.A. (1985), 'Specific cloning of DNA fragments absent from the DNA of a male patient with an X chromosome deletion.' *Proc Nat Acad Sci* (USA), vol. 82, pp. 4778-4782.
- Kurek, J, Bower, J, Romanella, M, Koentgen, F, Murphy, M and Austin, L (1997), 'The role of leukemia inhibitory factor in skeletal muscle regeneration.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 815-822.
- Laine, R and Montellano, PROd (1998), 'Neuronal nitric oxide synthase isoforms are closely related calpain-sensitive proteins.' *Mol Pharmacol*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 305-312.
- Lalic, T, Vossen, R, Coffa, J, Schouten, J, Guc-Scekic, M, Radivojevic, D, Djurisic, M, Breuning, M, White, S and den Dunnen, J (2005), 'Deletion and duplication screening in the DMD gene using MLPA.' *Eur J Hum Genet*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 1231-1234.
- Lane, R, Robinow, M and Roses, A (1983), 'The genetic status of mothers of isolated cases of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1-11.

- Lane, RJM, Gardner-Medwin, D and Roses, AD (1980), 'Electrocardiographic abnormalities in carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 30, pp. 497-501.
- Lange, K and Zatz, M (1979), 'A new method for the analysis of age trends in CPK levels with application to Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Hum Hered*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 154-160.
- Larionov, A, Vasyliev, D, Mason, J, Howie, A, Berstein, L and Miller, W (2003), 'Aromatase in skeletal muscle.' *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 485-492.
- Lau, K, Grange, R, Chang, W, Kamm, K, Sarelius, I and Stull, J (1998), 'Skeletal muscle contractions stimulate cgmp formation and attenuate vascular smooth muscle myosin phosphorylation via nitric oxide.' *FEBS Lett*, vol. 431, no. 1, pp. 71-74.
- Law, PK, Goodwin, TG, Fang, Q, Deering, MB, Duggirala, V, Larkin, C, Florendo, JA, Kirby, DS, Li, HJ, Chen, M, Cornett, J, Li, LM, Shirzad, A, Quinley, T, Yoo, TJ and Holcomb, R (1992), 'Feasibility, safety, and efficacy of myoblast transfer therapy on Duchenne muscular dystrophy boys.' *Cell Transplantation*, vol. 1, pp. 235-244.
- Law, PK, Goodwin, TG, Fang, Q, Deering, MB, Duggirala, V, Larkin, C, Florendo, JA, Kirby, DS, Li, HJ, Chen, M, Cornett, J, Li, LM, Shirzad, A, Quinley, T, Yoo, TJ and Holcomb, R (1993), 'Cell transplantation as an experimental treatment for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Cell Transplantation*, vol. 2, pp. 485-505.
- Laws, N (2005), 'Characterisation and strategic treatment of dystrophic muscle.' Thesis. *University of Southern Queensland, Australia*.
- Laws, N and Hoey, A (2004), 'Progression of kyphosis in *mdx* mice.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 1970-1977.
- Leary, A, Wong, G, Clark, S, Smith, A and Ogawa, M (1990), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor differentiation-inhibiting activity/human interleukin for DA cells augments proliferation of human hematopoietic stem cells.' *Blood*, vol. 75, no. 10, pp. 1960-1964.
- Lee, SJ and McPherron, AC (2001), 'Regulation of myostatin activity and muscle growth.' *PNAS*, vol. 98, no. 16, pp. 9306-9311.
- Lefaucheur, JP, Pastoret, C and Sebille, A (1995), 'Phenotype of dystrophinopathy in old *mdx* mice.' *Anat Rec*, vol. 242, no. 1, pp. 70-76.
- Leibowitz, D and Dubowitz, V (1981), 'Intellect and behaviour in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 577-590.

- Leon, S, Schuffler, M, Kettler, M and Rohrmann, C (1986), 'Chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction as a complication of Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *Gastroenterology*, vol. 90, no. 2, pp. 455-459.
- Leung, KC, Johannsson, G, Leong, GM and Ho, KKY (2004), 'Estrogen regulation of growth hormone action.' *Endocr Rev*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 693-721.
- Liao, D, Barnes, R, Chambless, L, Simpson, R, Sorlie, P and Heiss, G (1995), 'Age, race, and sex differences in autonomic cardiac function measured by spectral analysis of heart rate variability - the Aric study. Atherosclerosis risk in communities.' *Am J Cardiol*, vol. 76, no. 12, pp. 906-912.
- Liberman, B, Cesar, F and Wajchenberg, B (1979), 'Human growth hormone (HGH) stimulation tests: The sequential exercise and L-dopa procedure.' *Clin Endocrinol*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 649-654.
- Ligon, AH, Kashork, CD, Richards, CS and Shaffer, LG (2000), 'Identification of female carriers for Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies using a fish-based approach.' *Eur J Hum Genet*, vol. 8, pp. 293-298.
- Lin, A, McGill, H, Jr and Shain, S (1981), 'Hormone receptors of the baboon cardiovascular system. Biochemical characterization of myocardial cytoplasmic androgen receptors.' *Circ Res*, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 1010-1016.
- Lindenbaum, RH, Clarke, G., Patel, C., Moncrieff, M., and Hughes, J.T. (1979), 'Muscular dystrophy in an XP1 translocation female suggests that Duchenne locus is on X chromosome short arm.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 16, pp. 389-392.
- Liu, J, Okamura, C, Bogan, D, Bogan, J, Childers, M and Kornegay, J (2004), 'Effects of prednisone in canine muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*.
- Liu, PY, Death, AK and Handelsman, DJ (2003), 'Androgens and cardiovascular disease.' *Endocr Rev*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 313-340.
- Loftus, J, Allen, R, Hesp, R, David, J, Reid, D, Wright, D, Green, J, Reeve, J, Ansell, B and Woo, P (1991), 'Randomized, double-blind trial of deflazacort versus prednisone in juvenile chronic (or rheumatoid) arthritis: A relatively bone-sparing effect of deflazacort.' *Pediatrics*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 428-436.
- Lonart, G, Wang, J and Johnson, K (1992), 'Nitric oxide induces neurotransmitter release from hippocampal slices.' *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 220, no. 2-3, pp. 271-272.

- Longcope, C, Pratt, J, Schneider, S and Fineberg, S (1978), 'Aromatization of androgens by muscle and adipose tissue *in vivo.*' *J Clin Endocrinol. Metab*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 146-152.
- Louboutin, J, Fichter-Gagnepain, V, Thaon, E and Fardeau, M (1993), 'Morphometric analysis of *mdx* diaphragm muscle fibres. Comparison with hindlimb muscles.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 3, no. 5-6, pp. 463-469.
- Loveless, M, Kohlhepp, S and Gilbert, D (1984), 'The influence of aminoglycoside antibiotics on the *in vitro* function of rat liver ribosomes.' *J Lab Clin Med*, vol. 103, no. 2, pp. 294-303.
- Lu, S and Hoey, A (2000a), 'Changes in function of cardiac receptors mediating the effects of the autonomic nrevous system in the muscular dystrophy (*mdx*) mouse.' *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, vol. 32, pp. 143-152.
- Lu, S and Hoey, A (2000b), 'Age- and sex-associated changes in cardiac β<sub>1</sub>adrenoceptors from the muscular dystrophy (*mdx*) mouse.' *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1661-1668.
- Lucas-Heron, B (1997), 'A drug inhibits the mitochondrial protease inducing calmitine deficiency in skeletal muscle of patients with Duchenne's muscular dystrophy and dy/dy dystrophic mice.' *Biochem Biophys Res Com*, vol. 232, pp. 559-561.
- Lucas-Heron, B, Loirat, MJ, Ollivier, B and Leoty, C (1987), 'Calcium-related defects in cardiac and skeletal muscles of dystrophic mice.' *Comp Biochem Physio*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 295-301.
- Lynch, GS, Hinkle, RT and Faulkner, JA (2000), 'Power output of fast and slow skeletal muscles of *mdx* (dystrophic) and control mice after clenbuterol treatment.' *Exp Physiol*, vol. 85.3, pp. 295-299.
- Maddaiah, V, Clejan, S, Palekar, A and Collipp, P (1981), 'Hormones and liver mitochondria: Effects of growth hormone and thyroxine on respiration, fluorescence of 1-anilino-8-naphthalene sulfonate and enzyme activities of complex I and II of submitochondrial particles.' *Arch Biochem Biophys*, vol. 210, no. 2, pp. 666-677.
- Mahmood, I (1999a), 'Prediction of clearance, volume of distribution and halflife by allometric scaling and by use of plasma concentrations predicted from pharmacokinetic constants: A comparative study.' *J Pharm Pharmacol*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 905-910.
- Mahmood, I (1999b), 'Allometric issues in drug development.' *J Pharm Sci*, vol. 88, no. 11, pp. 1101-1106.

- Mahmood, I and Yuan, R (1999), 'A comparative study of allometric scaling with plasma concentrations predicted by species-invariant time methods.' *Biopharm Drug Dispos*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 137-144.
- Mahmood, I and Balian, J (1999), 'The pharmacokinetic principles behind scaling from preclinical results to Phase 1 protocols.' *Clin Pharmacokinet*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 1-11.
- Malfait, A-M, Malik, AS, Marinova-Mutafchieva, L, Butler, DM, Maini, RN and Feldmann, M (1999), 'The β2-adrenergic agonist salbutamol is a potent suppressor of established collagen-induced arthritis: Mechanisms of action.' *J Immunol*, vol. 162, no. 10, pp. 6278-6283.
- Mallouk, N, Jacquemond, V and Allard, B (2000), 'Elevated subsarcolemmal Ca<sup>2+</sup> in *mdx* mouse skeletal muscle fibers detected with Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channels.' *PNAS*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 4950-4955.
- Mangelsdorf, D, Thummel, C, Beato, M, Herrlich, P, Schutz, G, Umesono, K, Blumberg, B, Kastner, P, Mark, M, Chambon, P and Evans, R (1995), 'The nuclear receptor superfamily: The second decade.' *Cell*, vol. 83, no. 6, pp. 835-839.
- Mariol, M and Segalat, L (2001), 'Muscular degeneration in the absence of dystrophin is a calcium-dependent process.' *Curr Biol*, vol. 11, no. 21, pp. 1691-1694.
- Markham, L, Spicer, R, Khoury, P, Wong, B, Mathews, K and Cripe, L (2005), 'Steroid therapy and cardiac function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Pediatr Cardiol*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 768-771.
- Marletta, M (1994), 'Nitric oxide synthase: Aspects concerning structure and catalysis.' *Cell*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 927-930.
- Marsh, JD, Lehmann, MH, Ritchie, RH, Gwathmey, JK, Green, GE and Schiebinger, RJ (1998), 'Androgen receptors mediate hypertrophy in cardiac myocytes.' *Circulation*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 256-261.
- Massion, PB and Balligand, J-L (2003), 'Modulation of cardiac contraction, relaxation and rate by the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS): Lessons from genetically modified mice.' *J Physiol*, vol. 546, no. 1, pp. 63-75.
- Masubuchi, Y, Kumai, T, Uematsu, A, Komoriyama, K and Hirai, M (1982), 'Gonadectomy-induced reduction of blood pressure in adult spontaneously hypertensive rats.' *Acta Endocrinol*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 154-160.
- Matsuda, R, Nishikawa, A and Tanaka, H (1995), 'Visualization of dystrophic muscle fibers in *mdx* mouse by vital staining with Evans blue:

Evidence of apoptosis in dystrophin-deficient muscle.' *J Biochem*, vol. 118, no. 5, pp. 959-964.

- Matsumura, K, Ervasti, J, Ohlendieck, K, Kahl, S and Campbell, K (1992), 'Association of dystrophin-related protein with dystrophin-associated proteins in *mdx* mouse muscle.' *Nature*, vol. 360, no. 6404, pp. 588-591.
- Maunder-Sewry, C and Dubowitz, V (1979), 'Myonuclear calcium in carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. An X-ray microanalysis study.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 337-347.
- Maunder-Sewry, C and Dubowitz, V (1981), 'Needle muscle biopsy for carrier detection in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Part 1. Light microscopy-histology, histochemistry and quantitation.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 305-324.
- Mauras, N (1995a), 'Estrogens do not affect whole-body protein metabolism in the prepubertal female.' *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 80, no. 10, pp. 2842-2845.
- Mauras, N (1995b), 'Combined recombinant human growth hormone and recombinant human insulin- like growth factor 1: Lack of synergy on whole body protein anabolism in normally fed subjects.' *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 80, no. 9, pp. 2633-2637.
- Mauras, N and Beaufrere, B (1995), 'Recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-1 enhances whole body protein anabolism and significantly diminishes the protein catabolic effects of prednisone in humans without a diabetogenic effect.' *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 869-874.
- Mauras, N, Rogol, A and Veldhuis, J (1990), 'Increased HGH production rate after low-dose estrogen therapy in prepubertal girls with Turner's syndrome.' *Pediatr Res*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 626-630.
- McArdle, A, Edwards, RH and Jackson, MJ (1992), 'Accumulation of calcium by normal and dystrophin-deficient mouse muscle during contractile activity *in vitro*.' *Clin Sci*, vol. 82, no. 4, pp. 455-459.
- McCormick, K, Burns, K, Piccone, C, Gosselin, L and Brazeau, G (2004), 'Effects of ovariectomy and estrogen on skeletal muscle function in growing rats.' *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 21-27.
- McDearmon, EL, Burwell, AL, Combs, AC, Renley, BA, Sdano, MT and Ervasti, JM (1998), 'Differential heparin sensitivity of alphadystroglycan binding to laminins expressed in normal and dy/dy mouse skeletal muscle.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 273, no. 37, pp. 24139-24144.

- McPherron, AC and Lee, SJ (2002), 'Suppression of body fat accumulation in myostatin-deficient mice.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 109, no. 5, pp. 595-601.
- McPherron, AC, Lawler, AM and Lee, S-J (1997), 'Regulation of skeletal muscle mass in mice by a new TGF-β superfamily member.' *Nature*, vol. 387, no. 1 May, pp. 83-90.
- Meier, H (1958), 'Myopathies in the dog.' Cornell Vet, vol. 48, pp. 313-330.
- Mendell, J, Moxley, R, Griggs, R, Brooke, M, Fenichel, G, Miller, J, King, W, Signore, L, Pandya, S, Florence, J and et al. (1989), 'Randomized, double-blind six-month trial of prednisone in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 320, no. 24, pp. 1592-1597.
- Mendell, JR, Engel, WK and Derrer, EC (1971), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Functional ischaemia reproduces its charactristic lesions.' *Science*, vol. 172, pp. 1143-1145.
- Mendell, JR, Kissel, JT, Amato, AA, King, W, Signore, L, Prior, TW, Sahenk, Z, Benson, S, McAndrew, PE, Rice, R, Nagaraja, H, Stephens, R, Lantry, L, Morris, GE and Burghes, AHM (1995), 'Myoblast transfer in the treatment of Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *N Engl J Med*, vol. 333, no. 13, pp. 832-838.
- Mendez, J and Keys, A (1960), 'Density and composition of mammalian muscle.' *Metabolism*, vol. 9, pp. 184-188.
- Merlini, L, Cicognani, A, Malaspina, E, Gennari, M, Gnudi, S, Talim, B and Franzoni, E (2003), 'Early prednisone treatment in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 222-227.
- Meryon, E (1852), 'On granular and fatty degeneration of the voluntary muscles.' *Medico-Chirurgical Transactions (London)*, vol. 35, pp. 73-84.
- Metzger, D and Kerrigan, J (1994), 'Estrogen receptor blockade with tamoxifen diminishes growth hormone secretion in boys: Evidence for a stimulatory role of endogenous estrogens during male adolescence.' *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 513-518.
- Metzinger, L, Passaquin, A, Leijendekker, W, Poindron, P and Ruegg, U (1995), 'Modulation by prednisolone of calcium handling in skeletal muscle cells.' *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 116, no. 7, pp. 2811-2816.
- Meyer, R, Linz, K, Surges, R, Meinardus, S, Vees, J, Hoffmann, A, Windholz, O and Grohe, C (1998), 'Rapid modulation of L-type calcium current by acutely applied oestrogens in isolated cardiac myocytes from human, guinea-pig and rat.' *Exp Physiol*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 305-321.

- Miller, F, Moseley, C and Koreska, J (1992), 'Spinal fusion in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 775-786.
- Miller, G, Tunnecliffe, M and Douglas, P (1985), 'IQ, prognosis and Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Brain Dev*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 7-9.
- Miller, RG, Sharma, KR, Pavlath, GK, Gussoni, E, Mynhier, M, Yu, P, Lanctot, AM, Greco, CM, Steinman, L and Blau, HM (1997), 'Myoblast implantation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: The San Francisco story.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 20, pp. 469-478.
- Minajeva, A, Kaasik, A, Paju, K, Seppet, E, Lompre, A-M, Veksler, V and Ventura-Clapier, R (1997), 'Sarcoplasmic reticulum function in determining atrioventricular contractile differences in rat heart.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 273, no. 5, pp. H2498-2507.
- Miranda, A, Bonilla, E, Martucci, G, Moraes, C, Hays, A and Dimauro, S (1988), 'Immunocytochemical study of dystrophin in muscle cultures from patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy and unaffected control patients.' *Am J Pathol*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 410-416.
- Mizuno, Y (1984), 'Changes in superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione reductase activities and thiobarbituric acid-reactive products levels in early stages of development in dystrophic chickens.' *Exp Neurol*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 58-73.
- Moens, P, Baatsen, P and Marechal, G (1993), 'Increased susceptibility of edl muscles from *mdx* mice to damage induced by contractions with stretch.' *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 446-451.
- Mohan, P, Brutsaert, DL, Paulus, WJ and Sys, SU (1996), 'Myocardial contractile response to nitric oxide and cGMP.' *Circulation*, vol. 93, no. 6, pp. 1223-1229.
- Mokri, B and Engel, A (1975), 'Duchenne dystrophy: Electron microscopic findings pointing to a basic or early abnormality in the plasma membrane of the muscle fiber.' *Neurology*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1111-1120.
- Monaco, A, Walker, A, Millwood, I, Larin, Z and Lehrach, H (1992), 'A yeast artificial chromosome contig containing the complete Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene.' *Genomics*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 465-473.
- Monaco, A, Neve, R, Colletti-Feener, C, Bertelson, C, Kurnit, D and Kunkel, L (1986), 'Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene.' *Nature*, vol. 323, no. 6089, pp. 646-650.

- Monaco, AP, Bertelson, C.J., and Middlesworth, W. (1985), 'Detection of deletions spanning the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus using tightly linked DNA segment.' *Nature*, vol. 316, pp. 842-845.
- Moncada, S and Higgs, A (1993), 'The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway.' *N Engl J Med*, vol. 329, no. 27, pp. 2002-2012.
- Moran, AL, Warren, GL and Lowe, DA (2005), 'Removal of ovarian hormones from mature mice detrimentally affects muscle contractile function and myosin structural distribution.' *J Appl Physiol*, p. 01029-
- Moran, AL, Warren, GL and Lowe, DA (2006), 'Removal of ovarian hormones from mature mice detrimentally affects muscle contractile function and myosin structural distribution.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 548-559.
- Morano, I, Gerstner, J, Ruegg, J, Ganten, U, Ganten, D and Vosberg, H (1990), 'Regulation of myosin heavy chain expression in the hearts of hypertensive rats by testosterone.' *Circ Res*, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 1585-1590.
- Moroi, M, Zhang, L, Yasuda, T, Virmani, R, Gold, HK, Fishman, MC and Huang, PL (1998), 'Interaction of genetic deficiency of endothelial nitric oxide, gender, and pregnancy in vascular response to injury in mice.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 1225-1232.
- Moser, H (1984), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Pathogenetic aspects and genetic prevention.' *Hum Genet*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 17-40.
- Moser, H and Emery, A (1974), 'The manifesting carrier in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Clin Genet*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 271-284.
- Mukoyama, M, Kondo, K, Hizawa, K and Nishitani, H (1987), 'Life spans of Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients in the hospital care program in Japan.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 81, no. 2-3, pp. 155-158.
- Muller, B, Dechant, C, Meng, G, Liechti-Gallati, S, Doherty, R, Hejtmancik, J, Bakker, E, Read, A, Jeanpierre, M and Fischbeck, K (1992), 'Estimation of the male and female mutation rates in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD).' *Hum Genet*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 204-206.
- Muntoni, F, Fisher, I, Morgan, J and Abraham, D (2002), 'Steroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: From clinical trials to genomic research.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12 Suppl 1, pp. S162-165.
- Muntoni, F, Mateddu, A, Marchei, F, Clerk, A and Serra, G (1993), 'Muscular weakness in the *mdx* mouse.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 71-77.

- Murray, D and Burmaster, D (1992), 'Estimated distributions for total body surface area of men and women in the United States.' *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 451-461.
- Murray, JM, Davies, K.E., Harper, P.S., Meredith, L., Mueller, C.R., and Williamson, R. (1982), 'Linkage relationship of a cloned DNA sequence of the short arm of the X chromosome to Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Nature*, vol. 300, pp. 69-71.
- Musaro, A, McCullagh, K, Paul, A, Houghton, L, Dobrowolny, G, Molinaro, M, Barton, E, Sweeney, H and Rosenthal, N (2001), 'Localized IGF-1 transgene expression sustains hypertrophy and regeneration in senescent skeletal muscle.' *Nat Genet*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 195-200.
- Musaro, A, Giacinti, C, Borsellino, G, Dobrowolny, G, Pelosi, L, Cairns, L, Ottolenghi, S, Cossu, G, Bernardi, G, Battistini, L, Molinaro, M and Rosenthal, N (2004), 'Stem cell-mediated muscle regeneration is enhanced by local isoform of insulin-like growth factor 1.' *PNAS*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 1206-1210.
- Narita, S and Yorifuji, H (1999), 'Centrally nucleated fibers (cnfs) compensate the fragility of myofibers in *mdx* mouse.' *Neuroreport*, vol. 10, pp. 3233-3235.
- Nathan, C and Xie, Q (1994), 'Nitric oxide synthases: Roles, tolls, and controls.' *Cell*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 915-918.
- Neligan, G and Prudham, D (1969), 'Norms for four standard developmental milestones by sex, social class and place in family.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 413-422.
- Newsom-Davis, J (1980), 'The respiratory system in muscular dystrophy.' *Br Med Bull*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 135-138.
- Nguyen, HH, Jayasinha, V, Xia, B, Hoyte, K and Martin, PT (2002), 'Overexpression of the cytotoxic t cell galnac transferase in skeletal muscle inhibits muscular dystrophy in *mdx* mice.' *PNAS*, vol. 99, no. 8, pp. 5616-5621.
- Nicholson, L (1981), 'Serum myoglobin in muscular dystrophy and carrier detection.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 411-426.
- Nigro, G, Comi, LI, Politano, L and Bain, RJI (1990), 'The incidence and evolution of cardiomyopathy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Int J Cardiol*, vol. 26, pp. 271-277.
- Nishi, M, Yasue, A, Nishimatu, S, Nohno, T, Yamaoka, T, Itakura, M, Moriyama, K, Ohuchi, H and Noji, S (2002), 'A missense mutant myostatin causes hyperplasia without hypertrophy in the mouse muscle.' *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 293, no. 1, pp. 247-251.

- Nonaka, I (1998), 'Animal models of muscular dystrophies.' *Lab Anim Sci*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 8-17.
- Nonaka, I (2004), 'Muscular dystrophy: Advances in research works and therapeutic trials.' *Rinsho Shinkeigaku*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 901-904.
- Nudel, U, Robzyk, K and Yaffe, D (1988), 'Expression of the putative Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene in differentiated myogenic cell cultures and in the brain.' *Nature*, vol. 331, no. 6157, pp. 635-638.
- Nudel, U, Zuk, D, Einat, P, Zeelon, E, Levy, Z, Neuman, S and Yaffe, D (1989), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is not identical in muscle and brain.' *Nature*, vol. 337, no. 5 January, pp. 76-78.
- Nuedling, S, Kahlert, S, Loebbert, K, Doevendans, P, Meyer, R, Vetter, H and Grohe, C (1999), '17 β-estradiol stimulates expression of endothelial and inducible no synthase in rat myocardium *in-vitro* and *in-vivo*.' *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 666-674.
- Odedra, B, Bates, P, and Millward, D (1983). 'Time course of the effect of catabolic doses of corticosterone on protein turnover in rat skeletal muscle and liver.' *J Biochem*, vol. 214, no.2, pp. 617-627.
- Ogasawara, A (1989), 'Similarity of IQs of siblings with Duchenne progressive muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Ment Retard*, vol. 93, no. 5, pp. 548-550.
- Ohlendieck, K and Campbell, K (1991), 'Dystrophin-associated proteins are greatly reduced in skeletal muscle from *mdx* mice.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 1685-1694.
- Oliveira, A, Gabbai, A, Schmidt, B, Kiyomoto, B, Lima, J, Minetti, C and Bonilla, E (1992), 'Carrier detection of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy using muscle dystrophin immunohistochemistry.' *Arq Neuropsiquiatr*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 478-485.
- Pacioretty, LM, Cooper, BJ and Gilmour, RF (1992), 'Cellular electrophysiology of murine and canine cardiac muscle in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Biophys J*, vol. 61, pp. A306-A307.
- Palmer, R, Ferrige, A and Moncada, S (1987), 'Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor.' *Nature*, vol. 327, no. 6122, pp. 524-526.
- Panina-Bordignon, P, Mazzeo, D, Lucia, PD, D'Ambrosio, D, Lang, R, Fabbri, L, Self, C and Sinigaglia, F (1997), 'β 2-agonists prevent TH1 development by selective inhibition of interleukin 12.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 100, no. 6, pp. 1513-1519.

- Paroo, Z, Dipchand, ES and Noble, EG (2002), 'Estrogen attenuates postexercise HSP70 expression in skeletal muscle.' *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, vol. 282, no. 2, pp. C245-251.
- Partridge, TA, Morgan, J.E., Coulton, G.R., Hoffman, E.P., and Kunkel, L.M. (1989), 'Conversion of *mdx* myofibres from dystrophin-negative to positive by injection of normal myoblasts.' *Nature*, vol. 337, pp. 176-179.
- Pasquini, F, Guerin, C, Blake, D, Davies, K, Karpati, G and Holland, P (1995), 'The effect of glucocorticoids on the accumulation of utrophin by cultured normal and dystrophic human skeletal muscle satellite cells.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 105-114.
- Passaquin, A, Metzinger, L, Leger, J, Warter, J and Poindron, P (1993), 'Prednisolone enhances myogenesis and dystrophin-related protein in skeletal muscle cell cultures from *mdx* mouse.' *J Neurosci Res*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 363-372.
- Pastoret, C and Sebille, A (1993), 'Time course study of the isometric contractile properties of *mdx* mouse striated muscles.' *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 423-431.
- Pastoret, C and Sebille, A (1995a), 'Age-related differences in regeneration of dystrophic (*mdx*) and normal muscle in the mouse.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 1147-1154.
- Pastoret, C and Sebille, A (1995b), '*Mdx* mice show progressive weakness and muscle deterioration with age.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 129, no. 2, pp. 97-105.
- Patel, K, Voit, T, Dunn, M, Strong, P and Dubowitz, V (1988), 'Dystrophin and nebulin in the muscular dystrophies.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 87, no. 2-3, pp. 315-326.
- Patterson, M, Ong, H and Drake, A (1964), 'Intestine absorption in muscular dystrophy patients.' *Arch Int Med*, vol. 114, pp. 67-70.
- Patterson, V, Morrison, O and Hicks, E (1991), 'Mode of death in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Lancet*, vol. 337, no. 8744, pp. 801-802.
- Peri, V, Ajdukovic, B, Holland, P and Tuana, BS (1994), 'Dystrophin predominantly localizes to the transverse tubule/z-line regions of single ventricular myocytes and exhibits distinct associations with the membrane.' *Mol Cell Biochem*, vol. 130, no. 1, pp. 57-65.
- Perloff, J, Roberts, W, de Leon, A and O'Doherty, D (1967), 'The distinctive electrocardiogram of Duchenne's progressive muscular dystrophy. An electrocardiographic-pathologic correlative study.' *Am J Med*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 179-188.

- Persky, AM, Green, PS, Stubley, L, Howell, CO, Zaulyanov, L, Brazeau, GA and Simpkins, JW (2000), 'Protective effect of estrogens against oxidative damage to heart and skeletal muscle *in vivo* and *in vitro*.' *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, vol. 223, no. 1, pp. 59-66.
- Petrof, B, Lochmuller, H, Massie, B, Yang, L, Macmillan, C, Zhao, J, Nalbantoglu, J and Karpati, G (1996), 'Impairment of force generation after adenovirus-mediated gene transfer to muscle is alleviated by adenoviral gene inactivation and host CD8+ T cell deficiency.' *Hum Gene Ther*, vol. 7, no. 15, pp. 1813-1826.
- Petrof, BJ, Shrager, JB, Stedman, H, Kelly, AM and Sweeney, HL (1993), 'Dystrophin protects the sarcolemma from stresses developed during muscle contraction.' *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, vol. 90, pp. 3710-3714.
- Phillips, MF, Smith, PEM, Carroll, N, Edwards, RHT and Calverley, PMA (1999), 'Nocturnal oxygenation and prognosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, vol. 160, no. 1, pp. 198-202.
- Piperi, C, Papapanagiotou, A, Kalofoutis, C, Zisaki, K, Michalaki, V, Tziraki, A and Kalofoutis, A (2004), 'Altered long chain fatty acids composition in Duchenne muscular dystrophy erythrocytes.' *In Vivo*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 799-802.
- Poehlman, ET, Toth, MJ and Gardner, AW (1995), 'Changes in energy balance and body composition at menopause: A controlled longitudinal study.' *Ann Intern Med*, vol. 123, no. 9, pp. 673-675.
- Politano, L, Nigro, V, Nigro, G, Petretta, VR, Passamano, L, Papparella, S, Di Somma, S and Comi, LI (1996), 'Development of cardiomyopathy in female carriers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies.' *JAMA*, vol. 275, no. 17, pp. 1335-1338.
- Porreca, E, Guglielmi, M, Uncini, A, Di Gregorio, P, Angelini, A, Di Febbo, C, Pierdomenico, S, Baccante, G and Cuccurullo, F (1999), 'Haemostatic abnormalities, cardiac involvement and serum tumor necrosis factor levels in X-linked dystrophic patients.' *Thromb Haemost*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 543-546.
- Postlethwait, J and Talbot, W (1997), 'Zebrafish genomics: From mutants to genes.' *Trends Genet*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 183-190.
- Pouvreau, S and Jacquemond, V (2005), 'Nitric oxide synthase inhibition affects sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2<sup>+</sup> release in skeletal muscle fibres from mouse.' *J Physiol (Lond)*, vol. 567, no. 3, pp. 815-828.
- Prosser, EJ, Murphy, EG and Thompson, MW (1969), 'Intelligence and the gene for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 44, pp. 221-230.

- Pullen, IM (1984), 'Physical handicap.' in AEH Emery & IM Pullen (eds), Psychological aspects of genetic counselling. *Academic Press, London*, pp. 107-124.
- Radomski, M, Palmer, R and Moncada, S (1987), 'The anti-aggregating properties of vascular endothelium: Interactions between prostacyclin and nitric oxide.' *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 639-646.
- Rando, T (2001), 'Role of nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophies: A "two hit" hypothesis of the cause of muscle necrosis.' *Microsc Res Tech*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 223-235.
- Rando, T (2002), 'Oligonucleotide-mediated gene therapy for muscular dystrophies.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12 Suppl 1, pp. S55-60.
- Rapaport, D, Colletto, G, Vainzof, M, Duaik, M and Zatz, M (1991), 'Short stature in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Growth Regul*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 11-15.
- Ray, PN, Belfall, B., and Duff, C. (1985), 'Cloning of the breakpoint of an XP21 translocation associated with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Nature*, vol. 318, pp. 672-675.
- Ren, J, Hintz, KK, Roughead, ZKF, Duan, J, Colligan, PB, Ren, BH, Lee, KJ and Zeng, H (2003), 'Impact of estrogen replacement on ventricular myocyte contractile function and protein kinase b/AKT activation.' Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, vol. 284, no. 5, pp. H1800-1807.
- Resnick, J, Bixler, L, Cheng, L and Donovan, P (1992), 'Long-term proliferation of mouse primordial germ cells in culture.' *Nature*, vol. 359, no. 6395, pp. 550-551.
- Rideau, Y, Glorion, B and Duport, G (1983), 'Prolongation of ambulation in the muscular dystrophies.' *Acta Neurol (Napoli)*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 390-397.
- Rideau, Y, Gatin, G, Bach, J and Gines, G (1983), 'Prolongation of life in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *Acta Neurol (Napoli)*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 118-124.
- Ridge, J, Tidball, J, Ahl, K, Law, D and Rickoll, W (1994), 'Modifications in myotendinous junction surface morphology in dystrophin-deficient mouse muscle.' *Exp Mol Pathol*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 58-68.
- Rifai, Z, Welle, S, Moxley, R, Lorenson, M and Griggs, R (1995), 'Effect of prednisone on protein metabolism in Duchenne dystrophy.' *Am J Physiol*, vol. 268, no. 1, pp. E67-E74.

- Riley, D, Ellis, S and Bain, J (1982), 'Carbonic anhydrase activity in skeletal muscle fiber types, axons, spindles, and capillaries of rat soleus and extensor digitorum longus muscles.' *J Histochem Cytochem*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 1275-1288.
- Ringel, SP, Wilson, WB, Barden, MT and Kaiser, KK (1978), 'Histochemistry of human extraocular muscle.' *Arch Ophthalmol*, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 1067-1072.
- Rivier, F, Robert, A, Hugon, G and Mornet, D (1997), 'Different utrophin and dystrophin properties related to their vascular smooth muscle distributions.' *FEBS Lett*, vol. 408, no. 1, pp. 94-98.
- Robert, V, Massimino, ML, Tosello, V, Marsault, R, Cantini, M, Sorrentino, V and Pozzan, T (2001), 'Alteration in calcium handling at the subcellular level in *mdx* myotubes.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 276, no. 7, pp. 4647-4651.
- Roberts, R and Bobrow, M (1998), 'Dystrophins in vertebrates and invertebrates.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 589-595.
- Roberts, R, Coffey, A, Bobrow, M and Bentley, D (1993), 'Exon structure of the human dystrophin gene.' *Genomics*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 536-538.
- Rohman, M, Emoto, N, Takeshima, Y, Yokoyama, M and Matsuo, M (2003), 'Decreased mAKAP, ryanodine receptor, and SERCA 2a gene expression in *mdx* hearts.' *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 310, no. 1, pp. 228-235.
- Roma, J, Munell, F, Fargas, A and Roig, M (2004), 'Evolution of pathological changes in the gastrocnemius of the *mdx* mice correlate with utrophin and β-dystroglycan expression.' *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, vol. 108, no. 5, pp. 443-452.
- Rott, H, Breimesser, F and Rodl, W (1985), 'Imaging technics in muscular dystrophies.' *J Genet Hum*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 397-403.
- Rudel, R and Brinkmeier, H (2002), '76th ENMC international workshop: Pathophysiology and therapy in the *mdx* mouse 21-23 January 2000, Naarden, the Netherlands.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 415-420.
- Rudman, D, Chyatte, S, Patterson, J, Gerron, G, O'Beirne, I, Barlow, J, Jordan, A and Shavin, J (1972), 'Metabolic effects of human growth hormone and of estrogens in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Clin Invest*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 1118-1125.
- Ruegg, U and Gillis, J (1999), 'Calcium homeostasis in dystrophic muscle.' *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 20, no. 9, pp. 351-352.

- Ruegg, U, Nicolas-Metral, V, Challet, C, Bernard-Helary, K, Dorchies, O, Wagner, S and Buetler, T (2002), 'Pharmacological control of cellular calcium handling in dystrophic skeletal muscle.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12 Suppl 1, pp. S155-161.
- Ryan, K, Naftolin, F, Reddy, V, Flores, F and Petro, Z (1972), 'Estrogen formation in the brain.' *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 454-460.
- Sacco, P, Jones, D, Dick, J and Vrbova, G (1992), 'Contractile properties and susceptibility to exercise-induced damage of normal and *mdx* mouse tibialis anterior muscle.' *Clin Sci (Lond)*, vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 227-236.
- Sakuraba, H, Hori, S, Ohtani, S, Hanaka, S, Abe, T, Shimmoto, M and Suzuki, Y (1993), 'A case of Duchenne muscular dystrophy with truncated dystrophin. Significance of a cysteine-rich domain for functional expression of dystrophin protein.' *Brain Dev*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 222-225.
- Salimena, M, Lagrota-Candido, J and Quirico-Santos, T (2004), 'Gender dimorphism influences extracellular matrix expression and regeneration of muscular tissue in *mdx* dystrophic mice.' *Histochem Cell Biol*, vol. 122, no. 5, pp. 435-444.
- Sander, M, Chavoshan, B, Harris, SA, Iannaccone, ST, Stull, JT, Thomas, GD and Victor, RG (2000), 'Functional muscle ischemia in neuronal nitric oxide synthase-deficient skeletal muscle of children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *PNAS*, vol. 97, no. 25, pp. 13818-13823.
- Sansome, A, Royston, P and Dubowitz, V (1993), 'Steroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy; pilot study of a new low-dosage schedule.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 3, no. 5-6, pp. 567-569.
- Sanyal, S, Johnson, W, Dische, M, Pitner, S and Beard, C (1980), 'Dystrophic degeneration of papillary muscle and ventricular myocardium. A basis for mitral valve prolapse in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy.' *Circulation*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 430-438.
- Sasano, H, Uzuki, M, Sawai, T, Nagura, H, Matsunaga, G, Kashimoto, O and Harada, N (1997), 'Aromatase in human bone tissue.' *J Bone Miner Res*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 1416-1423.
- Satoyoshi, E (1992), 'Therapeutic trials on progressive muscular dystrophy.' *Intern Med*, vol. 31, no. 7, pp. 841-846.
- Schaible, T, Malhotra, A, Ciambrone, G and Scheuer, J (1984), 'The effects of gonadectomy on left ventricular function and cardiac contractile proteins in male and female rats.' *Circ Res*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 38-49.

- Schapira, F, Dreyfuss, J.C., and Demos, J. (1960), 'Etude de l'aldolase et de la creatine kinase du serum chez les meres de myopathes.' *Revue Francaise Etudes Cliniques et Biologiques*, vol. 5, pp. 990-994.
- Schatzberg, S, Anderson, L, Wilton, S, Kornegay, J, Mann, C, Solomon, G and Sharp, N (1998), 'Alternative dystrophin gene transcripts in Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 991-998.
- Schatzberg, S, Olby, N, Breen, M, Anderson, L, Langford, C, Dickens, H, Wilton, S, Zeiss, C, Binns, M, Kornegay, J, Morris, G and Sharp, N (1999), 'Molecular analysis of a spontaneous dystrophin 'knockout' dog.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 289-295.
- Scheuer, J, Malhotra, A, Schaible, T and Capasso, J (1987), 'Effects of gonadectomy and hormonal replacement on rat hearts.' *Circ Res*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 12-19.
- Schnabel, R, Hutter, H, Moerman, D and Schnabel, H (1997), 'Assessing normal embryogenesis in caenorhabditis elegans using a 4d microscope: Variability of development and regional specification.' *Dev Biol*, vol. 184, no. 2, pp. 234-265.
- Schorer, CE (1964), 'Muscular dystrophy and the mind.' *Psychosomatic Medicine*, vol. 26, pp. 5-13.
- Schuelke, M, Wagner, KR, Stolz, LE, Hubner, C, Riebel, T, Komen, W, Braun, T, Tobin, JF and Lee, S-J (2004), 'Myostatin mutation associated with gross muscle hypertrophy in a child.' *N Engl J Med*, vol. 350, no. 26, pp. 2682-2688.
- Schweikert, H, Milewich, L and Wilson, J (1975), 'Aromatization of androstenedione by isolated human hairs.' *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 413-417.
- Sciote, J, Horton, M, Zyman, Y and Pascoe, G (2001), 'Differential effects of diminished oestrogen and androgen levels on development of skeletal muscle fibres in hypogonadal mice.' *Acta Physiol Scand*, vol. 172, no. 3, pp. 179-187.
- Sekut, L, Champion, B, Page, K, Menius, J and Connolly, K (1995), 'Antiinflammatory activity of salmeterol: Down-regulation of cytokine production.' *Clin Exp Immunol*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 461-466.
- Sengupta, D, Mehdian, S, McConnell, J, Eisenstein, S and Webb, J (2002), 'Pelvic or lumbar fixation for the surgical management of scoliosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Spine*, vol. 27, no. 18, pp. 2072-2079.

- Senoz, S, Direm, B, Gulekli, B and Gokmen, O (1996), 'Estrogen deprivation, rather than age, is responsible for the poor lipid profile and carbohydrate metabolism in women.' *Maturitas*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 107-114.
- Shah, A (1996), 'Paracrine modulation of heart cell function by endothelial cells.' *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 847-867.
- Shah, A, Grocott-Mason, R, Pepper, C, Mebazaa, A, Henderson, A, Lewis, M and Paulus, W (1996), 'The cardiac endothelium: Cardioactive mediators.' *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 263-284.
- Sharma, KR, Mynhier, MA and Miller, RG (1993), 'Cyclosporine increases muscular force generation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Neurology*, vol. 43, pp. 527-532.
- Sharp, N, Kornegay, J, Van Camp, S, Herbstreith, M, Secore, S, Kettle, S, Hung, W, Constantinou, C, Dykstra, M and Roses, A (1992), 'An error in dystrophin mRNA processing in Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy, an animal homologue of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Genomics*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 115-121.
- Sicinski, P, Geng, Y, Ryder-Cook, AS, Barnard, EA, Darlison, MG and Barnard, PJ (1989), 'The molecular basis of muscular dystrophy in the *mdx* mouse: A point mutation.' *Science*, vol. 244, pp. 1578-1580.
- Silversides, C, Webb, G, Harris, V and Biggar, D (2003), 'Effects of deflazacort on left ventricular function in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Cardiol*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 769-772.
- Simmonds, AK, Muntoni, F, Heather, S and Fielding, S (1998), 'Impact of nasal ventilation on survival in hypercapnic Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Thorax*, vol. 53, pp. 949-952.
- Sinha-Hikim, I, Taylor, WE, Gonzalez-Cadavid, NF, Zheng, W and Bhasin, S (2004), 'Androgen receptor in human skeletal muscle and cultured muscle satellite cells: Up-regulation by androgen treatment.' *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 89, no. 10, pp. 5245-5255.
- Sinha-Hikim, I, Artaza, J, Woodhouse, L, Gonzalez-Cadavid, N, Singh, AB, Lee, MI, Storer, TW, Casaburi, R, Shen, R and Bhasin, S (2002), 'Testosterone-induced increase in muscle size in healthy young men is associated with muscle fiber hypertrophy.' *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 283, no. 1, pp. E154-.
- Sitnick, M, Foley, AM, Brown, M and Spangenburg, EE (2006), 'Ovariectomy prevents the recovery of atrophied gastrocnemius skeletal muscle mass.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 286-293.

- Sitzler, G, Lenz, O, Kilter, H, La Rosee, K and Bohm, M (1996), 'Investigation of the negative inotropic effects of 17 β-oestradiol in human isolated myocardial tissues.' *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 43-48.
- Skelton, D, Phillips, S, Bruce, S, Naylor, C and Woledge, R (1999), 'Hormone replacement therapy increases isometric muscle strength of adductor pollicis in post-menopausal women.' *Clin Sci (Lond)*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 357-364.
- Sklar, R and Brown, R (1991), 'Methylprednisolone increases dystrophin levels by inhibiting myotube death during myogenesis of normal human muscle *in vitro*.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 73-81.
- Smith, J and Schofield, P (1997), 'Stable integration of an *mdx* skeletal muscle cell line into dystrophic (*mdx*) skeletal muscle: Evidence for stem cell status.' *Cell Growth Differ*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 927-934.
- Smith, J, Shah, A and Lewis, M (1991), 'Factors released from endocardium of the ferret and pig modulate myocardial contraction.' *J Physiol*, vol. 439, no. 1, pp. 1-14.
- Smith, P, Edwards, R and Calverley, P (1989), 'Oxygen treatment of sleep hypoxaemia in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Thorax*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 997-1001.
- Smith, P, Calverley, P, Edwards, R, Evans, G and Campbell, E (1987), 'Practical problems in the respiratory care of patients with muscular dystrophy.' *N Engl J Med*, vol. 316, no. 19, pp. 1197-1205.
- Smith, R, Sibert, J and Harper, P (1990), 'Early development of boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 519-527.
- Snochowski, M, Dahlberg, E and Gustafsson, J (1980), 'Characterization and quantification of the androgen and glucocorticoid receptors in cytosol from rat skeletal muscle.' *Eur J Biochem*, vol. 111, no. 2, pp. 603-616.
- Song, KS, Scherer, PE, Tang, Z, Okamoto, T, Li, S, Chafel, M, Chu, C, Kohtz, DS and Lisanti, MP (1996), 'Expression of caveolin-3 in skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 271, no. 25 June 21, pp. 15160-15165.
- Sorachi, K, Kumagai, S, Sugita, M, Yodoi, J and Imura, H (1993), 'Enhancing effect of 17 β-estradiol on human NK cell activity.' *Immunol Lett*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 31-35.
- Spearow, JL, Doemeny, P, Sera, R, Leffler, R and Barkley, M (1999), 'Genetic variation in susceptibility to endocrine disruption by estrogen in mice.' *Science*, vol. 285, no. 5431, pp. 1259-1261.

- Spencer, M and Tidball, J (2001), 'Do immune cells promote the pathology of dystrophin-deficient myopathies?' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 11, no. 6-7, pp. 556-564.
- Spencer, M, Marino, M and Winckler, W (2000), 'Altered pathological progression of diaphragm and quadriceps muscle in TNF-deficient, dystrophin-deficient mice.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 612-619.
- Spencer, M, Montecino-Rodrigu..., E, Dorshkind, K and Tidball, J (2001), 'Helper (CD4(+)) and cytotoxic (CD8(+)) t cells promote the pathology of dystrophin-deficient muscle.' *Clin Immunol*, vol. 98, no. 2, pp. 235-243.
- Spencer, MJ and Mellgren, RL (2002), 'Overexpression of a calpastatin transgene in *mdx* muscle reduces dystrophic pathology.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 11, no. 21, pp. 2645-2655.
- Spencer, MJ, Croall, DE and Tidball, JG (1995), 'Calpains are activated in necrotic fibers from *mdx* dystrophic mice.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 270, no. 18, pp. 10909-10914.
- Stedman, HH, Sweeney, HL, Shrager, JB, Maguire, HC, Panettieri, RA, Petrof, B, Narusawa, M, Leferovich, JM, Sladky, JT and Kelly, AM (1991), 'The *mdx* mouse diaphragm reproduces the degenerative changes of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Nature*, vol. 352, no. 6335, pp. 536-539.
- Stern, L, Payne, C, Gruener, R, Anderson, R and Hannapel, L (1975), 'Intercostal muscle biopsy in human neuromuscular disease. Histochemical and electron microscopic studies.' *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 900-910.
- Stern, L, Caudrey, D, Clark, M, Perrett, L and Boldt, D (1985), 'Carrier detection in Duchenne muscular dystrophy using computed tomography.' *Clin Genet*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 392-397.
- Straub, V, Rafael, JA, Chamberlain, JS and Campbell, KP (1997), 'Animal models for muscular dystrophy show different patterns of sarcolemmal disruption.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 375-385.
- Stupka, N, Gregorevic, P, Plant, D and Lynch, G (2004), 'The calcineurin signal transduction pathway is essential for successful muscle regeneration in *mdx* dystrophic mice.' *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*.
- Sugita, H, Arahata, K., and Ishiguro, T. (1988), 'Negative immunostaining of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) and *mdx* muscle surface membrane with antibody against synthetic peptide fragment predicted from DMD cDNA.' *Proc Japan Acad*, vol. 64, pp. 37-39.

- Sussman, M (2002), 'Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 138-151.
- Sutherland, D, Olshen, R, Cooper, L, Wyatt, M, Leach, J, Mubarak, S and Schultz, P (1981), 'The pathomechanics of gait in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Dev Med Child Neurol*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 3-22.
- Suzuki, S and Yamamuro, T (1985), 'Long-term effects of estrogen on rat skeletal muscle.' *Exp Neurol*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 291-299.
- Takagi, A, Watanabe, T and Kojima, SE, Yuzo (1998), 'Effect of long-term administration of prednisolone on serum creatine kinase and muscle pathology of *mdx* mouse.' *Clinical Neurology*, vol. 38, pp. 724-728.
- Takeda, S (2004), 'Current status and perspective of gene therapy on dystrophic animal model.' *Rinsho Shinkeigaku*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 911-913.
- Tanabe, Y, Esaki, K and Nomura, T (1986), 'Skeletal muscle pathology in X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (*mdx*) mouse.' *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, vol. 69, no. 1-2, pp. 91-95.
- Tanner, FC, Meier, P, Greutert, H, Champion, C, Nabel, EG and Luscher, TF (2000), 'Nitric oxide modulates expression of cell cycle regulatory proteins : A cytostatic strategy for inhibition of human vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation.' *Circulation*, vol. 101, no. 16, pp. 1982-1989.
- Tatsumi, R, Hattori, A, Ikeuchi, Y, Anderson, JE and Allen, RE (2002), 'Release of hepatocyte growth factor from mechanically stretched skeletal muscle satellite cells and role of ph and nitric oxide.' *Mol Biol Cell*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 2909-2918.
- Taylor, RG, Abresch, RT, Lieberman, JS and Fowler Jr., WM (1980), 'Fast and slow skeletal muscles: Effect of secobarbital on contractility of muscles from mice.' *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 61, pp. 160-166.
- Thomas, GD, Sander, M, Lau, KS, Huang, PL, Stull, JT and Victor, RG (1998), 'Impaired metabolic modulation of α-adrenergic vasoconstriction in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle.' *PNAS*, vol. 95, no. 25, pp. 15090-15095.
- Tidball, JG and Spencer, MJ (2000), 'Calpains and muscular dystrophies.' *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, vol. 32, pp. 1-5.
- Tidball, JG and Spencer, MJ (2002), 'Expression of a calpastatin transgene slows muscle wasting and obviates changes in myosin isoform expression during murine muscle disuse.' *J Physiol*, vol. 545, no. 3, pp. 819-828.
- Tidball, JG and Wehling-Henricks, M (2004), 'Evolving therapeutic strategies for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Targeting downstream events.' *Pediatr Res,* vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 831-841.
- Tiidus, P (1995), 'Can estrogens diminish exercise induced muscle damage?' *Can J Appl Physiol*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 26-38.
- Tiidus, P (2000), 'Estrogen and gender effects on muscle damage, inflammation, and oxidative stress.' *Can J Appl Physiol*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 274-287.
- Tiidus, P (2003), 'Influence of estrogen on skeletal muscle damage, inflammation, and repair.' *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 40-44.
- Tiidus, P, Bestic, N and Tupling, R (1999), 'Estrogen and gender do not affect fatigue resistance of extensor digitorum longus muscle in rats.' *Physiol Res*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 209-213.
- Tiidus, P, Deller, M, Bombardier, E, Gul, M and Liu, X (2005), 'Estrogen supplementation failed to attenuate biochemical indices of neutrophil infiltration or damage in rat skeletal muscles following ischemia.' *Biol Res*, vol. 38, no. 2-3, pp. 213-223.
- Tiidus, P, Holden, D, Bombardier, E, Zajchowski, S, Enns, D and Belcastro, A (2001), 'Estrogen effect on post-exercise skeletal muscle neutrophil infiltration and calpain activity.' *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 400-406.
- Tinsley, JM, C., A, Phelps, SR, Fisher, R, Trickett, JI and Davies, KE (1996), 'Amelioration of the dystrophic phenotype of *mdx* mice using a truncated utrophin transgene.' *Nature*, vol. 384, no. 28, pp. 349-353.
- Tinsley, JM, Blake, DJ, Roche, A, Fairbrother, U, Riss, J, Byth, BC, Knight, AE, Kendrick-Jones, J, Suthers, GK, Love, DR, Edwards, YH and Davies, KE (1992), 'Primary structure of dystrophin-related protein.' *Nature*, vol. 360, no. 10, pp. 591-593.
- Tohgi, H, Kawamorita, A, Utsugisawa, K, Yamagata, M and Sano, M (1994), 'Muscle histopathology in myotonic dystrophy in relation to age and muscular weakness.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 1037-1043.
- Torres, L and Duchen, L (1987), 'The mutant *mdx*: Inherited myopathy in the mouse. Morphological studies of nerves, muscles and end-plates.' *Brain*, vol. 110, no. 2, pp. 269-299.
- Totsuka, T, Watanabe, K and Kiyono, S (1981), 'Masking of a dystrophic symptom in genotypically dystrophic-dwarf mice.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 24, pp. 567-572.

- Turner, G, Dunckley, M and Dickson, G (1997), 'Gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' in S Brown & J Lucy (eds), Dystrophin: Gene, protein, and cell biology.' *Cambridge University Press, Cambridge*, pp. 274-309.
- Turner, P, Fong, P, Denetclaw, W and Steinhardt, R (1991), 'Increased calcium influx in dystrophic muscle.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 1701-1712.
- Turner, PR (1991), 'Increased calcium influx in dystrophic muscle.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 1701-1712.
- Turner, PR, Westwood, T, Regen, CM and Steinhardt, RA (1988), 'Increased protein degradation results from elevated free calcium levels found in muscle from *mdx* mice.' *Nature*, vol. 335, pp. 735-738.
- Urban, RJ (1999), 'Effects of testosterone and growth hormone on muscle function.' *J Lab Clin Med*, vol. 134, pp. 7-10.
- Urtasun, M, Poza, J, Gallano, P, Lasa, A, Saenz, A, Cobo, A, Leturcq, F, Lopez de Munain, A and Garcia-Bragado, F (1998), 'Muscular dystrophy due to a mutation in the gene of α-sarcoglycan subunit of dystrophin associated protein complex.' *Med Clin (Barc)*, vol. 110, no. 14, pp. 538-542.
- Urtizberea, J, Fan, Q, Vroom, E, Recan, D and Kaplan, J (2003), 'Looking under every rock: Duchenne muscular dystrophy and traditional Chinese medicine.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 705-707.
- Usuki, F, Nakazato, O, Osame, M and Igata, A (1989), 'Hyperestrogenemia in neuromuscular diseases.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 89, no. 2-3, pp. 189-197.
- Vaghy, PL, Fang, J, Wu, W and Vaghy, LP (1998), 'Increased caveolin-3 levels in *mdx* mouse muscles.' *FEBS Letters*, vol. 431, pp. 125-127.
- Vainzof, M, Passos-Bueno, M, Man, N and Zatz, M (1995), 'Absence of correlation between utrophin localization and quantity and the clinical severity in Duchenne/Becker dystrophies.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 305-309.
- Valentine, B, Cummings, J and Cooper, B (1989), 'Development of Duchenne-type cardiomyopathy. Morphologic studies in a canine model.' *Am J Pathol*, vol. 135, no. 4, pp. 671-678.
- Valentine, B, Cooper, B, de Lahunta, A, O'Quinn, R and Blue, J (1988), 'Canine X-linked muscular dystrophy. An animal model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Clinical studies.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 88, no. 1-3, pp. 69-81.

- Vandebrouck, C, Imbert, N, Duport, G, Cognard, C and Raymond, G (1999), 'The effect of methylprednisolone on intracellular calcium of normal and dystrophic human skeletal muscle cells.' *Neuroscience Letters*, vol. 269, pp. 110-114.
- Vaughan, HS, Aziz-Ullah, Goldspink, G and Nowell, NW (1974), 'Sex and stock differences in the histochemical myofibrillar adenosine triphosphate reaction in the soleus of the mouse.' *J Histochem Cytochem*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 155-159.
- Veldhuis, JD, Anderson, SM, Patrie, JT and Bowers, CY (2004), 'Estradiol supplementation in postmenopausal women doubles rebound-like release of growth hormone (GH) triggered by sequential infusion and withdrawal of somatostatin: Evidence that estrogen facilitates endogenous GH-releasing hormone drive.' J Clin Endocrinol Metab, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 121-127.
- Verellen, C, Markovic, V., De Meyer, R., Freund, M., Laterre, C., and Worton, R. (1978), 'Expression of an X-linked recessive muscular dystrophy in a female due to translocation involving Xp21 and non-random inactivation of the normal X chromosome.' *Hum Genet*, vol. 67, pp. 115-191.
- Verfaillie, C and McGlave, P (1991), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor/human interleukin for da cells: A growth factor that stimulates the *in vitro* development of multipotential human hematopoietic progenitors.' *Blood*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 263-270.
- Vignos, PJ, Wagner, MB, Karlinchak, B and Katirji, B (1996), 'Evaluation of a program for long-term treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Experience at the University hospitals of Cleveland.' *J Bone Joint Surg*, vol. 78, no. 12, pp. 1844-1852.
- Vila-Petroff, MG, Younes, A, Egan, J, Lakatta, EG and Sollott, SJ (1999), 'Activation of distinct cAMP-dependent and cGMP-dependent pathways by nitric oxide in cardiac myocytes.' *Circ Res*, vol. 84, no. 9, pp. 1020-1031.
- Vizgirda, VM, Wahler, GM, Sondgeroth, KL, Ziolo, MT and Schwertz, DW (2002), 'Mechanisms of sex differences in rat cardiac myocyte response to β-adrenergic stimulation.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 282, no. 1, pp. H256-263.
- Voisin, V, Sebrie, C, Matecki, S, Yu, H, Gillet, B, Ramonatxo, M, Israel, M and De la Porte, S (2005), 'L-arginine improves dystrophic phenotype in *mdx* mice.' *Neurobiol Dis*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 123-130.
- Wagner, K, McPherron, A, Winik, N and Lee, S (2002), 'Loss of myostatin attenuates severity of muscular dystrophy in *mdx* mice.' *Ann Neurol*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 832-836.

- Walton, JN and Warrick, CJ (1954), 'Osseous changes in myopathy.' *Br J Radiol*, vol. 27, pp. 1-15.
- Wang, X and Abdel-Rahman, AA (2002), 'Estrogen modulation of enos activity and its association with caveolin-3 and calmodulin in rat hearts.' Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, vol. 282, no. 6, pp. H2309-H2315.
- Warren, GL, Lowe, DA, Inman, CL, Orr, OM, Hogan, HA, Bloomfield, SA and Armstrong, RB (1996), 'Estradiol effect on anterior crural musclestibial bone relationship and susceptibility to injury.' *J Appl Physiol*, vol. 80, no. 5, pp. 1660-1665.
- Watanabe, R (1988), 'Sex and age differences in the effect of verapamil on rat cardiac function.' *Nippon Yakurigaku Zasshi*, vol. 91, no. 4, pp. 187-196.
- Wattanapermpool, J and Reiser, PJ (1999), 'Differential effects of ovariectomy on calcium activation of cardiac and soleus myofilaments.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 277, no. 2, pp. H467-H473.
- Wehling, M, Spencer, MJ and Tidball, JG (2001), 'A nitric oxide synthase transgene ameliorates muscular dystrophy in *mdx* mice.' *J Cell Biol*, vol. 155, no. 1, pp. 123-132.
- Wehling-Henricks, M, Lee, J and Tidball, J (2004), 'Prednisolone decreases cellular adhesion molecules required for inflammatory cell infiltration in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 14, no. 8-9, pp. 483-490.
- Wehling-Henricks, M, Jordan, MC, Roos, KP, Deng, B and Tidball, JG (2005), 'Cardiomyopathy in dystrophin-deficient hearts is prevented by expression of a neuronal nitric oxide synthase transgene in the myocardium.' *Hum Mol Genet*, vol. 14, no. 14, pp. 1921-1933.
- Weller, B, Massa, R, Karpati, G and Carpenter, S (1991), 'Glucocorticoids and immunosuppressants do not change the prevalence of necrosis and regeneration in *mdx* skeletal muscles.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 14, no. August, pp. 771-774.
- White, J, Bower, J, Kurek, J and Austin, L (2001), 'Leukemia inhibitory factor enhances regeneration in skeletal muscles after myoblast transplantation.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 695-697.
- White, J, Davies, M, McGeachie, J and Grounds, M (2002), 'An evaluation of leukaemia inhibitory factor as a potential therapeutic agent in the treatment of muscle disease.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 909-916.

- Wiegand, V, Rahlf, G, Meinck, M and Kreuzer, H (1984), 'Cardiomyopathy in female carriers of the Duchenne gene.' *Z Kardiol*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 188-191.
- Wiik, A, Glenmark, B, Ekman, M, Esbjornsson-Lilje..., M, Johansson, O, Bodin, K, Enmark, E and Jansson, E (2003), 'Oestrogen receptor β is expressed in adult human skeletal muscle both at the mRNA and protein level.' *Acta Physiol Scand*, vol. 179, no. 4, pp. 381-387.
- Williams, R, Hilton, D, Pease, S, Willson, T, Stewart, C, Gearing, D, Wagner, E, Metcalf, D, Nicola, N and Gough, N (1988), 'Myeloid leukaemia inhibitory factor maintains the developmental potential of embryonic stem cells.' *Nature*, vol. 336, no. 6200, pp. 684-687.
- Wilschanski, M, Famini, C, Blau, H, Rivlin, J, Augarten, A, Avital, A, Kerem, B and Kerem, E (2000), 'A pilot study of the effect of gentamicin on nasal potential difference measurements in cystic fibrosis patients carrying stop mutations.' *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, vol. 161, no. 3, pp. 860-865.
- Wilton, S, Lloyd, F, Carville, K, Fletcher, S, Honeyman, K, Agrawal, S and Kole, R (1999), 'Specific removal of the nonsense mutation from the *mdx* dystrophin mRNA using antisense oligonucleotides.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 330-338.
- Winand, N, Edwards, M, Pradhan, D, Berian, C and Cooper, B (1994), 'Deletion of the dystrophin muscle promoter in feline muscular dystrophy.' *Neuromuscul Disord*, vol. 4, no. 5-6, pp. 433-445.
- Winder, SJ (1997), 'The membrane-cytoskeleton interface: The role of dystrophin and utrophin.' *J Musc Res Cell Mot*, vol. 18, pp. 617-629.
- Wink, D, Cook, J, Pacelli, R, Liebmann, J, Krishna, M and Mitchell, J (1995), 'Nitric oxide (NO) protects against cellular damage by reactive oxygen species.' *Toxicol Lett*, vol. 82-83, pp. 221-226.
- Wise, PM and Dubal, DB (2000), 'Estradiol protects against ischemic brain injury in middle-aged rats.' *Biol Reprod*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 982-985.
- Wolff, JA, Malone, R.W., and Williams, P. (1990), 'Direct gene transfer into mouse muscle *in vivo.*' *Science*, vol. 247, pp. 1465-1468.
- Wong, B and Christopher, C (2002), 'Corticosteroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: A reappraisal.' *J Child Neurol*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 183-190.
- Woo, M, Tanabe, Y, Ishii, H, Nonaka, I, Yokoyama, M and Esaki, K (1987), 'Muscle fiber growth and necrosis in dystrophic muscles: A comparative study between dy and *mdx* mice.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 82, no. 1-3, pp. 111-122.

- Woolf, P (2003), 'Cardiac calcium handling in the mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' Thesis, University of Southern Queensland, Australia.
- Woolf, PJ, Lu, S, Cornford-Nairn, RA, Watson, M, Xiao, X-H, Holroyd, SM, Brown, L and Hoey, AJ (2006), 'Alterations in dihydropyridine receptors in dystrophin-deficient cardiac muscle.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, p. 00844.02005.
- Wu, FCW and von Eckardstein, A (2003), 'Androgens and coronary artery disease.' *Endocr Rev*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 183-217.
- Xu, KY, Huso, DL, Dawson, TM, Bredt, DS and Becker, LC (1999), 'Nitric oxide synthase in cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum.' *PNAS*, vol. 96, no. 2, pp. 657-662.
- Yamasaki, Y, Kodama, M, Matsuhisa, M, Kishimoto, M, Ozaki, H, Tani, A, Ueda, N, Ishida, Y and Kamada, T (1996), 'Diurnal heart rate variability in healthy subjects: Effects of aging and sex difference.' Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, vol. 271, no. 1, pp. H303-310.
- Yang, J, Ratovitski, T, Brady, J, Solomon, M, Wells, K and Wall, R (2001), 'Expression of myostatin pro domain results in muscular transgenic mice.' *Mol Reprod Dev*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 351-361.
- Yang, L, Luo, J and Petrof, BJ (1998), 'Corticosteroid therapy does not alter the threshold for contraction-induced injury in dystrophic (*mdx*) mouse diaphragm.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 21, pp. 394-397.
- Yang, S, Bae, L and Zhang, L (2000), 'Estrogen increases eNOS and NOx release in human coronary artery endothelium.' *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 242-247.
- Yasuma, F, Kato, T, Matsuoka, Y and Konagaya, M (2001), 'Row-a-boat phenomenon: Respiratory compensation in advanced Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Chest*, vol. 119, no. 6, pp. 1836-1839.
- Yilmaz, O, Karaduman, A and Topaloglu, H (2004), 'Prednisolone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy prolongs ambulation and prevents scoliosis.' *Eur J Neurol*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 541-544.
- Yoshizawa, S, Fourmy, D and Puglisi, JD (1998), 'Structural origins of gentamicin antibiotic action.' *EMBO J.*, vol. 17, no. 22, pp. 6437-6448.
- Yun, H, Dawson, V and Dawson, T (1996), 'Neurobiology of nitric oxide.' *Crit Rev Neurobiol*, vol. 10, no. 3-4, pp. 291-316.

- Zacharias, J and Anderson, J (1991), 'Muscle regeneration after imposed injury is better in younger than older *mdx* dystrophic mice.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 104, no. 2, pp. 190-196.
- Zatz, M and Betti, RTB (1986), 'Benign Duchenne muscular dystrophy in a patient with growth hormone deficiency: A five years follow-up.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 24, pp. 567-572.
- Zatz, M, Betti, R and Levy, J (1981), 'Benign Duchenne muscular dystrophy in a patient with growth hormone deficiency.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 301-304.
- Zatz, M, Betti, R and Frota-Pessoa, O (1986), 'Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy with growth hormone inhibitors.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 549-566.
- Zatz, M, Vianna-Morgante, A, Campos, P and Diament, A (1981), 'Translocation in a female with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Implications for the localisation of the DMD locus.' *J Med Genet*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 442-447.
- Zatz, M, Shapiro, L, Campion, D, Oda, E and Kaback, M (1978), 'Serum pyruvate-kinase (PK) and creatine-phosphokinase (CPK) in progressive muscular dystrophies.' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 349-362.
- Zatz, M, Shapiro, L, Campion, D, Kaback, M and Otto, P (1980), 'Serum pyruvate-kinase (PK) and creatine-phosphokinase (CPK) in female relatives and patients with X-linked muscular dystrophies (Duchenne and Becker).' *J Neurol Sci*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 267-279.
- Zatz, M, Vainzof, M, Rapaport, D, da Rocha, J, Pavanello, RC and Betti, R (1987), 'Mazindol and growth hormone inhibition in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 993-995.
- Zatz, M, Rapaport, D, Pavanello, R, Rocha, J, Vainzof, M and Nicolau, W (1989), 'Nocturnal rhythm of growth hormone in Duchenne patients: Effect of different doses of mazindol and/or cyproheptadine.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 457-467.
- Zatz, M, Rapaport, D, Vainzof, M, Rocha, J, Pavanello, RC, Colletto, G and Peres, C (1988), 'Relation between height and clinical course in Duchenne muscular dystrophy.' *Am J Med Genet*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 405-410.
- Zebedin, E, Sandtner, W, Galler, S, Szendroedi, J, Just, H, Todt, H and Hilber, K (2004), 'Fiber type conversion alters inactivation of voltagedependent sodium currents in murine C2C12 skeletal muscle cells.' *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, vol. 287, no. 2, pp. C270-280.

- Zeman, RJ, Kameyama, T, Matsumoto, K, Bernstein, P and Etlinger, JD (1985), 'Regulation of protein degradation in muscle by calcium.' *J Biol Chem*, vol. 260, no. 25, pp. 13619-13624.
- Zhai, P, Eurell, TE, Cotthaus, R, Jeffery, EH, Bahr, JM and Gross, DR (2000), 'Effect of estrogen on global myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury in female rats.' *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 279, no. 6, pp. H2766-2775.
- Zhao, J, Bauman, W, Huang, R, Caplan, A and Cardozo, C (2004), 'Oxandrolone blocks glucocorticoid signaling in an androgen receptordependent manner.' *Steroids*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 357-366.
- Zhu, X, Hadhazy, M, Wehling, M, Tidball, J and McNally, E (2000), 'Dominant negative myostatin produces hypertrophy without hyperplasia in muscle.' *FEBS Lett*, vol. 474, no. 1, pp. 71-75.
- Zhuang, W, Eby, J, Cheong, M, Mohapatra, P, Bredt, D, Disatnik, M and Rando, T (2001), 'The susceptibility of muscle cells to oxidative stress is independent of nitric oxide synthase expression.' *Muscle and Nerve*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 502-511.
- Zimmers, TA, Davies, MV, Koniaris, LG, Haynes, P, Esquela, AF, Tomkinson, KN, McPherron, AC, Wolfman, NM and Lee, S-J (2002), 'Induction of cachexia in mice by systemically administered myostatin.' *Science*, vol. 296, no. 5572, pp. 1486-1488.
- Zubrzycka-Gaarn, EE, Bulman, DE, Karpati, G, Burghes, AHM, Belfall, B, Klamut, HJ, Talbot, J, Hodges, RS, Ray, PN and Worton, RG (1988), 'The Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is localized in sarcolemma of human skeletal muscle.' *Nature*, vol. 333, no. 2 June, pp. 466-469.

### **10APPENDIX I**

## 10.1 Krebs physiological salt solution (KPSS) recipe

KPSS Stock Solutions (in 1.0L milliQ H <sub>2</sub> O)				
	Final Concentration (mM)	Weight (g)		
STOCK A				
NaCl	118	137.9		
KCI	4.7	7		
MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	1.16	5.7		
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	1.18	3.2		
STOCK B				
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	25	42		
STOCK C				
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	2.5	7.35		
Working KPSS				
STOCK A	1	100mL		
STOCK B	1	100mL		
STOCK C	1	100mL		
Glucose (C <sub>6</sub> H	<sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> ) 4.0g			
(made up to total volume of 2.0 L with milliQ $H_20$ )				

## **10.2 Tyrode's physiological salt solution (TPSS)**

#### recipe

TPSS Stock Solutions					
	Final Concentration	ո [mM] V	/eight (g)		
STOCK A					
NaCl		136.90	160.00		
KCI		5.40	8.10		
MgCl <sub>2</sub> .H20		1.05	4.30		
NaHPO <sub>4</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> 0		0.42	1.30		
STOCK B			<u> </u>		
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>		22.60	38.00		
STOCK C					
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> 0		1.80	5.30		
Working TPSS					
Stock A		100mL			
Stock B		100mL			
Stock C	100mL		mL		
Glucose (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> )		2.0 g			
L- Ascorbic acid (C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>7</sub> O <sub>6</sub> Na)		0.2 g			
Na <sub>2</sub> EDTA (4.5%) 0.8mL		mL			
(made up to total volume of 2.0 L with milliQ $H_20$ )					

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis,

U.S.A. unless otherwise specified.

# 10.3 Haematoxylin stain (Mayer's Haematoxylin) recipe

Combine 0.5 g Mayer's Haematoxylin powder (Ajax Chemicals, Auburn, Australia) with 500 mL ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Heat at 50° C - 60° C on a magnetic stirrer until dissolved. Add 25 g aluminium potassium sulphate (AlK (SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>.12H<sub>2</sub>O, stir until dissolved. Add 100 mg sodium iodate (NaIO<sub>3</sub>). Cool overnight. Adjust pH by adding 0.5 g citric acid (HOC (COOH) (CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)) (Ajax Finechem, Seven Hills, Australia). Add 10 g chloral hydrate (CCl<sub>3</sub>CH (OH)<sub>2</sub>) (Asia Pacific Specialty Chemicals Limited, Seven Hills, Australia) to preserve solution. Store at 4° C. This volume is sufficient to stain approximately 500 slides (Paul Addison, University of Queensland, *personal communication*, 2003).

#### 10.4 Eosin stain recipe

Make up eosin stock solution by adding 2 g Eosin yellowish (eosin Y) powder (George T Gurr Ltd., London, England) to 40 mL ddH<sub>2</sub>O and 160 mL 95% EtOH. Mix until dissolved. To make up working solution add 150 mL eosin stock solution to 450 mL 80% EtOH. Mix well. Store at 4° C. This volume is sufficient to stain approximately 200 slides (Paul Addison, University of Queensland, *personal communication*, 2003).

#### 10.5 Scott's solution recipe

To 1000 mL ddH<sub>2</sub>O add 4.5 g magnesium sulphate (MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O) and 3.75 g sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>). Mix well. Store at 4° C to room temperature 22° C - 23° C.